Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: A multidisciplinary approach

Edited by

Ahmed Tabbabi, Thiago Vasconcelos Dos Santos, Khadija Bekhti, Najoua Haouas, Junxiong Pang and Miguel Angel Garcia Bereguiain

Published in Frontiers in Public Health Frontiers in Medicine Frontiers in Cellular and Infection Microbiology





FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source

acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-8325-4019-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-8325-4019-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: A multidisciplinary approach

Topic editors

Ahmed Tabbabi — Jichi Medical University, Japan Thiago Vasconcelos Dos Santos — Evandro Chagas Institute, Brazil Khadija Bekhti — Sidi Mohamed Ben Abdellah University, Morocco Najoua Haouas — University of Monastir, Tunisia Junxiong Pang — National University of Singapore, Singapore Miguel Angel Garcia Bereguiain — University of the Americas, Ecuador

Citation

Tabbabi, A., Vasconcelos Dos Santos, T., Bekhti, K., Haouas, N., Pang, J., Bereguiain, M. A. G., eds. (2023). *Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: A multidisciplinary approach*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-8325-4019-0



Table of contents

- 05 Editorial: Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: a multidisciplinary approach Ahmed Tabbabi, Thiago Vasconcelos dos Santos, Khadija Bekhti, Najoua Haouas, Pang Junxiong and Miguel Angel Garcia-Bereguiain
- 08 A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of temperature on the development and survival of the *Aedes* mosquito

Nik Muhammad Hanif Nik Abdull Halim, Nazri Che Dom, Rahmat Dapari, Hasber Salim and Nopadol Precha

24 Model-based risk assessment of dengue fever transmission in Xiamen City, China

Zhinan Guo, Weikang Liu, Xingchun Liu, Buasiyamu Abudunaibi, Li Luo, Sihan Wu, Bin Deng, Tianlong Yang, Jiefeng Huang, Shenggen Wu, Lei Lei, Zeyu Zhao, Zhuoyang Li, Peihua Li, Chan Liu, Meirong Zhan and Tianmu Chen

- 35 Mosquito-borne viruses causing human disease in Fennoscandia—Past, current, and future perspectives Lukas Wilkman, Clas Ahlm, Magnus Evander and Olivia Wesula Lwande
- 45 Severe Chagas disease in Ecuador: a countrywide geodemographic epidemiological analysis from 2011 to 2021 Jorge Vásconez-González, Juan S. Izquierdo-Condoy, Raul Fernandez-Naranjo, Esteban Gamez-Rivera, Andrea Tello-De-la-Torre, Galo S. Guerrero-Castillo, Carlos Ruiz-Sosa and Esteban Ortiz-Prado

 52 Pyrethroid genetic resistance in the dengue vector (Aedes aegypti) in Posadas, Argentina
Jessica V. Fay, Sonia L. Espinola, María V. Boaglio, María J. Blariza, Karen Lopez, Fabian Zelaya, Manisha A. Kulkarni, Carina F. Argüelles, Julian A. Ferreras and Marcos M. Miretti

59 Cutaneous leishmaniasis situation analysis in the Islamic Republic of Iran in preparation for an elimination plan

> Iraj Sharifi, Ahmad Khosravi, Mohammad Reza Aflatoonian, Ehsan Salarkia, Mehdi Bamorovat, Ali Karamoozian, Mahmoud Nekoei Moghadam, Fatemeh Sharifi, Abbas Aghaei Afshar, Setareh Agha Kuchak Afshari, Faranak Gharachorloo, Mohammad Reza Shirzadi, Behzad Amiri, Mohammad Zainali, Sara Doosti, Omid Zamani and Mohammad Mahdi Gouya

81 Epidemiological analysis and risk prediction of scrub typhus from 2006 to 2021 in Sichuan, China

> Yao Zhang, Mengyuan Zhang, Yao Qin, Lun Zhang, Dianju Kang, Rongjie Wei and Changhong Yang

91 A rare sugar, allose, inhibits the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in the *Anopheles* mosquito independently of midgut microbiota

Daiki Mizushima, Daisuke S. Yamamoto, Ahmed Tabbabi, Meiji Arai and Hirotomo Kato

- 102 Case report: First report on human infection by tick-borne Babesia bigemina in the Amazon region of Ecuador Manuel Calvopiña, María Montesdeoca-Andrade, Carlos Bastidas-Caldes, Sandra Enriquez, Richar Rodríguez-Hidalgo, Dayana Aguilar-Rodríguez and Philip Cooper
- 108 Malaria in pregnancy in India: a 50-year bird's eye Loick Pradel Kojom Foko and Vineeta Singh
- 134 Risky business: human-related data is lacking from Lyme disease risk models

Erica Fellin, Mathieu Varin and Virginie Millien

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Marc Jean Struelens, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

*CORRESPONDENCE Ahmed Tabbabi Izabbabiahmed@gmail.com Miguel Angel Garcia-Bereguiain Iz magbereguiain@gmail.com

RECEIVED 23 October 2023 ACCEPTED 31 October 2023 PUBLISHED 13 November 2023

CITATION

Tabbabi A, Vasconcelos dos Santos T, Bekhti K, Haouas N, Junxiong P and Garcia-Bereguiain MA (2023) Editorial: Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: a multidisciplinary approach. *Front. Public Health* 11:1326243. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1326243

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Tabbabi, Vasconcelos dos Santos, Bekhti, Haouas, Junxiong and Garcia-Bereguiain. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other

forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Editorial: Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: a multidisciplinary approach

Ahmed Tabbabi¹*, Thiago Vasconcelos dos Santos², Khadija Bekhti³, Najoua Haouas⁴, Pang Junxiong⁵ and Miguel Angel Garcia-Bereguiain⁶*

¹Division of Medical Zoology, Department of Infection and Immunity, Jichi Medical University, Shimotsuke, Tochigi, Japan, ²Parasitology Department, Evandro Chagas Institute (Secretary of Health and Environment Surveillance, Ministry of Health), Ananindeua, Pará, Brazil, ⁵Microbial Biotechnology and Bioactive Molecules Laboratory, FST, University of Sidi Mohammed Ben Abdeallah, Fes, Morocco, ⁴Laboratory of Medical and Molecular Parasitology-Mycology LP3M (Code LR12ES08), Department of Clinical Biology B, Faculty of Pharmacy, University of Monastir, Monastir, Tunisia, ⁵Centre for Outbreak Preparedness, SingHealth Duke-NUS Global Health Institute, Duke-NUS Medical School, National University of Singapore, Singapore, Singapore, ⁶One Health Research Group, Universidad de Las Américas, Quito, Ecuador

KEYWORDS

vector-borne diseases, pathogens, hosts, vectors, climate changes, susceptible human populations

Editorial on the Research Topic

Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: a multidisciplinary approach

Emerging and re-emerging vector-borne diseases are among the major public health concerns across the world. They are not directly transmissible among humans in most cases, but are mainly spread under suitable conditions as a result of the interaction of vectors, hosts, climate/environment, pathogens, and vulnerable human populations. Their impact has a significant toll on economies and restricts both rural and urban development. Burden is the highest in tropical and subtropical areas, and they disproportionately affect the poorest population.

This editorial summarizes collections on the Research Topic "Vector-borne diseases and consequences on human health: a multidisciplinary approach" which invites the latest research findings on these (re-) emerging diseases. Eleven articles from researchers across the globe (China, India, Japan, Iran, Malaysia, Argentina, Ecuador, Canada, and Sweden) were published.

The effect of global warming on public health and, more particularly, on the seasonal and geographical expansion of pathogens is still increasing due to the propagation of vectors. A systematic literature review and meta-analysis was conducted into the impacts of temperature on dengue vectors and authors revealed various data on the life cycle of *Aedes* mosquitoes at diverse temperatures which may be used for effective dengue management in Malaysia (Halim et al.). In China, the boosting regression tree model was

used to explore the intrinsic relationship of Scrub typhus (a bacterial disease transmitted by mites) with meteorological, environmental and social factors. Many counties in the Sichuan Province were evaluated to be receptive to Scrub typhus. Their findings may achieve the priorities of disease control and prevention to manage precise and effective allocation of resources (Zhang et al.). In the same context, a literature review focused on the use of risk maps to model distributions of Borrelia burgdorferi and its vector, the blacklegged tick Ixodes scapularis, in North America to compare variables employed to predict these spatial models (Fellin et al.). Environmental variables were classified to be the most widely used in risk spatial models, specifically temperature. Limited anthropic variables were considered, mainly in studies that predict future risk, although the purpose of these models directly or indirectly concentrate on health intervention strategies. Authors indicated that it is really hard to estimate how reliable these risk maps truly are without including human-related factors and taking into consideration these variables within risk map models.

In a grand challenges paper on vector borne diseases, many authors focused on the incidence and the spread of these (re-) emerging diseases. A countrywide geodemographic epidemiological analysis from 2011 to 2021 of severe Chagas disease (transmitted by triatomine species) in Ecuador was investigated by Vásconez-González et al.. A total of 118 patients have been hospitalized in Ecuador during this period due to Chagas disease. The overall in-hospital mortality percentage was 69.4%. The incidence rate of men was higher than women, despite women having a remarkably higher mortality rate than men which seemed to be more infected due to differences in work and sociocultural habits. Authors mentioned also the role of environmental change in the proliferation of disease-carrying vectors in previously unaffected areas. Several electronic databases were used to select articles treating malaria in pregnancy in India and its results on both mother and child (Foko and Singh). Their results showed that malaria in pregnancy was mostly due to Plasmodium falciparum and P. vivax, and rarely to P. ovale and P. malariae. The overall prevalence of malaria in pregnancy was ranging from 0.1 to 57.7% for peripheral malaria and from 0 to 29.3% for placental malaria. According to Wilkman et al., five different mosquito-borne viruses involved in human disease are well-known in Fennoscandia including Sindbis virus, Inkoo virus, Tahyna virus, Chatanga virus, and Batai virus. However, the incidence of mosquito-borne virus infections is still unknown, mainly due to underdiagnosing and lack of control efforts. Early detection of invasive viruses, would be remarkably supported by collaboration between clinicians and other key players applying a One Health approach as recommended by the authors. In the same context of incidence in vector borne diseases, Calvopiña et al. identified the first case caused by the zoonotic Babesia bigemina (responsible for a tick-borne disease known as babesiosis) in the Amazon region of Ecuador ensuring the existence of active transmission. The authors highlighted the need for alerting public health decision-making authorities on the emergence of this zoonosis and the need for research to determine strategies to reduce tick exposure.

Substantial progress has been made against many vectorborne diseases during the past decade. In this context, analyses of the epidemiological data during 1989–2020 indicated that Iran has made stable advance and remarkable progress over the past decade, yet persistent challenges exist to decrease the cutaneous leishmaniasis burden in the country (Sharifi et al.). Well-trained staff and experienced clinical practitioners should reinforce country-level capacity-building to support effective control strategies across the healthcare system as indicated by the authors.

Resistance to insecticides persists a major barrier not only for efficient control of malaria but also other vector-borne diseases. Fay et al. reported the first report of knockdown resistance (kdr) mutations in Aedes aegypti in the northeast region of Argentina. Authors demonstrate the relevance of kdr information for focused vector control interventions and public health initiatives to minimize both Aedes aegypti populations as well as insecticide use/misuse to reduce arboviral disease risks. In Xiamen city of China, a propagation dynamics model was used by Guo et al. to evaluate and estimate the risk of dengue fever. Authors emphasized that imported cases, community population, mosquito density and insecticide resistance have an important role in the transmission of local dengue fever. However, mosquito resistance to insecticide has been identified as the most serious variable for assessing dengue fever communication risks and applying management control systems.

The Research Topic of articles highlights some crucial advances in controlling mosquito-borne diseases, which will contribute to the development of new appropriate methods and tools in vector control. An example of such advances is the report of allose, a rare sugar, to inhibit the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in laboratory-reared *Anopheles* mosquitoes. As a first step to address the inhibition mechanism, Mizushima et al. revealed the non-involvement of the midgut microbiota in the recorded inhibition of *Plasmodium* parasites in the mosquito. This sugar may be a useful material for vector control of malaria as a "transmission-blocking sugar" in the future.

This Research Topic of articles covers ticks, mosquitoes, sand flies, mites, and triatomines bugs-borne pathogens through different continents which indicates their wide distribution and reveals the diversity of hosts and pathogens. An integrated One Health approach would promote a better understanding of the intrinsic complexity of disease transmission emphasizing interactions between human, animal, environmental health, and the importance of transdisciplinary efforts.

In conclusion, we hope that the papers collected in this Research Topic will expand the knowledge skills related diseases, base and to vector-borne of political, socioeconomic, particularly in the context environmental, and climate change factors, enabling the development of practicable solutions both at local and global scales.

Author contributions

AT: Writing – original draft, Writing – review & editing. TVS: Writing – review & editing. KB: Writing – review & editing. NH: Writing – review & editing. PJ: Writing – review & editing. MG-B: Writing – review & editing.

Funding

The author(s) declare that no financial support was received for the research, authorship, and/or publication of this article.

Acknowledgments

We thank all researchers contributing to this Research Topic, including the authors and reviewers.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher. Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Junxiong Pang, National University of Singapore, Singapore

REVIEWED BY Himmat Singh, National Institute of Malaria Research (ICMR), India Guilherme Liberato Da Silva, Universidade do Vale do Taquari -Univates, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Nazri Che Dom nazricd@uitm.edu.my

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases: Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal

Frontiers in Public Health RECEIVED 19 October 2022 ACCEPTED 28 November 2022 PUBLISHED 19 December 2022

CITATION

Nik Abdull Halim NMH, Che Dom N, Dapari R, Salim H and Precha N (2022) A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of temperature on the development and survival of the *Aedes* mosquito.

Front. Public Health 10:1074028. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1074028

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Nik Abdull Halim, Che Dom, Dapari, Salim and Precha. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A systematic review and meta-analysis of the effects of temperature on the development and survival of the *Aedes* mosquito

Nik Muhammad Hanif Nik Abdull Halim^{1,2}, Nazri Che Dom^{1,3,4}*, Rahmat Dapari⁵, Hasber Salim⁶ and Nopadol Precha⁷

¹Centre of Environmental Health & Safety, Faculty of Health Sciences, Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM), UITM Cawangan Selangor, Puncak Alam, Malaysia, ²Setiu District Health Office, Setiu, Malaysia, ³Integrated Mosquito Research Group (I-MeRGe), Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM), UITM Cawangan Selangor, Puncak Alam, Malaysia, ⁴Institute for Biodiversity and Sustainable Development (IBSD), Universiti Teknologi MARA, Shah Alam, Malaysia, ⁵Department of Community Health, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Universiti Putra Malaysia, Serdang, Malaysia, ⁶School of Biological Sciences, Universiti Sains Malaysia, Penang, Malaysia, ⁷Department of Environmental Health and Technology, School of Public Health, Walailak University, Nakhon Si Thammarat, Thailand

Introduction: The *Aedes* mosquito species, which are the vectors for the transmission of the dengue virus (DENV) to humans, are becoming increasingly susceptible to the formidable effects of influential factors, especially temperature. However, there are still very few studies that have systematically reviewed the existing literature. Hence, in the present study, a systematic literature review and meta-analysis was conducted into the effects of temperature on dengue vectors.

Method: Several research methodologies were incorporated into the current study, and a review was carried out using PRISMA as a guide. The publications for this study were chosen from two prominent databases, Scopus and Web of Science. All of the studies were assessed, reviewed, and evaluated independently by two reviewers. The meta-analysis tool, Review Manager (RevMan Copenhagen Version 5.4.1), was used to record the extracted data for the meta-analysis. Moran's I^2 and a funnel plot were utilized to measure heterogeneity, and publication bias was investigated. A 95% confidence interval (CI) and overall risk difference (RD) were estimated using a random-effects model.

Result and discussion: As a consequence of the search efforts, a total of 46 articles were selected for inclusion in the systematic review and metaanalysis. This review was divided into five major themes, based on a thematic analysis: (i) hatching rate, (ii) development time, (iii) longevity, (iv) survival rate, and (v) wing morphology. In addition, the development time, survival rate, and wing morphology revealed significantly higher risk differences between the maximum and minimum temperatures (RD: 0.26, 95% CI: 0.16, 0.36; p= < 0.00001; RD: 0.10, 95% CI: 0.05, 0.14; p < 0.0001; and RD: 0.07, 95% CI: 0.02, 0.12; p = 0.006, respectively). This study makes several substantial contributions to the body of knowledge and to practical applications. Finally, a number of recommendations are made at the conclusion of this research for the future reference of researchers.

KEYWORDS

Aedes, dengue (DENV), meta-analysis, temperature, effect

Introduction

Dengue fever (DF) is an arboviral disease that can spread rapidly through regions and nations, particularly in tropical areas, to cause mild to severe symptoms, including high fever, myalgia, arthralgia, malaise, and pain behind the eyes (1). Based on a 30-fold increase in the incidence of DF over the past five decades, dengue fever is now the most widespread re-emerging mosquito-borne disease and a national hazard. Khetarpal and Khanna (2) discovered that DF is being distributed and is expanding to 128 countries, putting 3.97 billion people at risk annually. Packierisamy et al. (3) initially identified continuous endemic instances of dengue fever (DF) that were harmful to public health in Malaysia in 1902 on Penang Island, while dengue haemorrhagic fever (DHF) was first documented by Kumarasamy (4) in 1962. In addition, since the late 1980s, when the incidence of dengue cases rose sharply, endemic outbreaks of emerging and re-emerging dengue fever (DF) cases have persisted in Malaysia despite disease prevention and control efforts by the government, non-governmental organizations (NGO), and the public.

With the Aedes species as the biological vector of DF, there are a number of influential factors that contribute to the incidence of dengue, such as vector density, vector survivability, socioeconomic factors, rainfall distribution, and environmental factors. Rao et al. (1) summarized these into four major factors: epidemiological, virus risk, abiotic risk, and human risk factors. Socioeconomic factors influence the level of dengue awareness of a population (5), whereas Maamor et al. (6) demonstrated that the survival of vectors as a result of their diet and the availability of breeding water may cause a DF outbreak within a 200-m radius of a residential area. In addition, Reinhold et al. (7) hypothesized that an increase in environmental temperature alters the gonotrophic cycle of mosquitoes, resulting in an increase in the rate of disease transmission over a shorter period of time. In light of the fact that everything is directly or indirectly tied to a DF epidemic, which may pose a severe public health risk, preventing, and controlling DF is a challenge.

The ecology of mosquitos is occasionally investigated as they are vectors for DF. Thus far, in Malaysia, studies have confirmed that the ecology of mosquitoes is influenced by rapid unplanned urbanization with defective water supply and solid waste management (8), while artificial light affects the reproductive activities of the Aedes mosquito by lengthening its gonotrophic cycle (9). Other essential elements of the ecology of the mosquito, as referred to by Ahmad et al. (10), include a distinct preference for human habitats and skip oviposition behavior, as well as environmental factors such as heavy rainfall and high temperatures, which are reported to have a strong correlation with the breeding of vector mosquitos and the size of the *Aedes* population (11).

When the mosquito ecology is stratified within a narrow scope, it has been demonstrated that temperature is a crucial determinant influencing the biology of mosquito vectors such as larval development and survivability (9). Shahrudin et al. (12) stated that when exposed to higher constant temperatures, Aedes albopictus embryos develop swiftly and their mortality increases, as verified by Rozilawati et al. (13), resulting in a decrease in mosquito fecundity and body mass. Meanwhile, the research by Wang et al. (14) on the impact of a large diurnal temperature range (DTR) on the development of the mosquito population revealed findings that contradicted the findings of many studies that linked temperature with the spread of DF. Despite the contradictory results from studies on temperature and the Aedes species, Yeap et al. (15) suggested that normal thermal exposure in field temperatures modifies the morphometric features of the female Aedes aegypti. In general, the wings of Aedes mosquitoes are shorter at higher temperatures than at lower temperatures (16), and smaller adults are associated with faster larval development at higher temperatures (17). As a result, smaller Aedes females are better able to select a breeding site and increase the rate of dengue virus infection and spread (18).

Unpredictable weather patterns are becoming more common as a result of climate change. As a result, Brady et al. (19) built a modeling framework on DF cases in relation to the factor of temperature. However, the results showed that the persistence and competence of the *A. aegypti* and *A. albopictus* with regard to the transmission of the dengue virus are not affected by temperature, but rather by the geographical area and type of species. However, temperature is often considered as the main driver that contributes to the development and survival of the *Aedes* species, and it is necessary to explain adequately the variation in temperature that affects these vectors. Temperature range considered suitable for mosquito development, and variations that can positively or negatively affect this development. To test this hypothesis, empirical data is needed with regard to the development and survival of the mosquitos in response to various ranges of temperature. It may be challenging to collect data on such a wide scale in a single experiment or study. However, a meta-analysis of a collection of published estimates of effects with regard to diverse temperature ranges might be used to approach such a dataset. In this way, the phenotype of the effect on the *Aedes* species in response to temperature may be evaluated across a broader range of situations and geographical boundaries. With this background, a meta-analysis of data from studies on the *Aedes* species was conducted in order to summarize the effects of different temperature conditions on the hatching, length of development, survival rate, longevity, and wing morphology of the *Aedes* mosquito and to determine how they affect each other.

Materials and methods

Literature search and study selection

This section discusses the method that was used to retrieve articles in relation to the effects of temperature on dengue vectors. This method was employed to run the systematic review on two resources (Scopus and Web of Science) with eligibility and exclusion criteria, while the steps in the review process consisted of identification, screening, and eligibility as well as data abstraction and analysis.

This review was guided by the method known as PRISMA or Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. It is a published standard protocol for conducting a systematic literature review and meta-analysis. In general, this publication standard is used as a guide in the evaluation and examination of the quality and purity of a review with the necessary and related information provided. Moreover, PRISMA highlights a report of the review, evaluating randomized trials that can also be the basis for other types of research in reporting systematic reviews (20). On the other hand, PRISMA is also suitable for the field of environmental management since it clearly emphasizes on research questions with regard to the need for systematic reviews, and it is also a fact that PRISMA has always been used in medical studies, especially for public health, as it can be a tool to identify the inclusion and exclusion criteria for a particular study (21). Furthermore, PRISMA also extensively examines databases if a literature review is unavailable at a particular time in order to allow searching for the accurate term in relation to the effects of climatic and environmental factors on dengue vectors. In addition, the use of PRISMA enhances the coded information for involvement in future environmental management services. The results of this review were presented following the PRISMA flow diagram as in Figure 1. The protocol for this systematic review and meta-analysis was not registered.



Resources

The method for the present review was conducted using two main databases; (i) Scopus and (ii) Web of Science (WoS). These two databases were used as they are the leaders in systematic reviews among all the databases, and they mostly cover more than 256 fields of study or subject categories, including environmental science. The WoS database consists specifically of more than 33,000 journals and 256 subject categories related to environmental studies, social science, and interdisciplinary social science and development planning issues. It also covers over 100 years of comprehensive back files and citation data established by Clarivate Analysis and ranks them by three components, namely papers, citations, and citations per paper. The second database that was used in this review was Scopus, which is recognized as one of the largest abstract and citation databases of peer-reviewed articles with more than 22,800 journals from 5,000 publishers across the

world covering various subject categories, for instance, social science, environmental science and biological science.

Formulation of research question

In this review, the formulation of a suitable research question was developed using PICO as an assistant tool. PICO is comprised of three components, namely Population or Problem, Interest and Context. Three aspects were covered in this review based on these three components, namely effect (problem), temperature (interest) and dengue vectors (context), which were then used as a guide in the development of the main research question—What are the effects of temperature on the development and survival of the *Aedes* mosquito?

Systematic searching strategies/systematic review process

Three main steps were involved in the systematic searching process to select the relevant articles for this review, namely identification, screening and eligibility. The first stage of identification involved identifying variations of the main keywords. This was followed by the process of searching for any synonyms and related terms based on dictionaries, thesauri, encyclopedia, and relying on past studies and keywords from experts. This process was carried out to obtain more options so as to search for more articles for the review. Next, the existing keywords and search strings were enriched based on Boolean operators, phrase searching, truncations, wild cards and filed code functions on the main databases of Scopus and Web of Science (WoS), which were developed in January 2022 after all the related keywords had been fully accessed.

This review screened all the selected articles retrieved from the identification process by choosing the criteria for the selected articles. This was done automatically based on the sorting function in the database. The first step in the screening process was to remove duplicate articles. During this process, some of the articles were excluded, while the rest were screened for the second step based on several inclusion and exclusion criteria. In this review, the first criterion considered the type of publication, which included only articles with complete empirical data that had been published in a journal as a primary source rather than published in the form of a systematic review, meta-analysis, chapters in books and conference proceedings in order to ensure the quality of the review. Moreover, this review only focused on articles that were published in English to avoid any confusion in understanding. In addition, a timeline of between 2012 to 2021 was included as one of the inclusion criteria. This timeline of 10 years back was chosen since search should be as wide as possible to maximize the likelihood of capturing all relevant data and the publication related to Aedes mosquitoes rise in this period of time. As it was impossible to conduct a search of all the published

articles, thus, a fixed period was determined to enable the review to be carried out (22).

All the remaining articles were prepared for the third step, namely, eligibility. During this process, the articles were presented to two experts for a quality assessment to ensure that the contents of the articles were of good quality. Most importantly, the titles, abstracts, and the main contents of the articles were examined clearly to ensure they fulfilled and matched all the inclusion criteria so as to accomplish the objective of the review. Consequently, all the remaining articles selected from the last stage were further analyzed by means of a qualitative analysis.

Quality appraisal/risk of bias assessment

In order to ensure the quality of the contents, the remaining articles from the previous process were presented to two experts for a quality assessment. The experts ranked the articles according to three indicators, namely, low, moderate and high bias. Consequently, only low and moderately biased articles were selected for the review. To determine the quality of the articles, both the experts ranked their quality based on the methodology of the article. Both the authors had to mutually agree that at least a moderate quality article was included in the review. Any argument that came up during the assessment was discussed among them before a decision was made in terms of the inclusion or exclusion criteria for further analysis.

The Joanna Briggs Institute Tool (JBI) tool 29 criteria was used to assess the quality of the articles chosen for this study. There were eight questions on the checklist, namely: (A) Were the criteria for inclusion in the sample clearly defined? (B) Were the study subjects and setting described in detail? (C) Was the exposure measured in a valid and reliable way? (D) Were objective standard criteria used for measuring the conditions? (E) Were confounding factors identified? (F) Were strategies to deal with confounding factors stated? (G) Were the outcomes measured in a valid and reliable way? and (H) Was an appropriate statistical analysis used? The questions were checked against the 46 articles, and answers were given based on the indication of (+) for "Yes" or (-) for "No." The risk of bias in the selected studies was assessed using robvis (visualization tools). Two authors separately evaluated the possibility of bias in each publication. The checklist consisted of five questions. The risk of bias was classified as "low risk," "high risk," or "unclear risk" (Figure 2A). A summary bar chart was constructed using the same dataset (Figure 2B).

Data abstraction

This review relied on an integrative review, a technique that requires the analysis and synthesis of diverse research

11



designs. This means that quantitative, qualitative and mixedmode approaches were included in this review. A good approach would be to analyse the integrative data using qualitative or mixed mode techniques so as to enable a comprehensive comparison to be made across the data sources by the authors (23). In this review, all the articles selected in the abstract, results and discussion sections were read thoroughly. The data abstraction process was conducted based on the research question. The data obtained from the reviewed studies were those that were able to answer the research question, and they were, then, summarized in the form of a table. Next, a thematic analysis was performed to determine the themes and subthemes in order to present the patterns, counting and clustering, and to identify the similarities and associations existing in the summarized data (24). A thematic analysis was considered since it is the most applicable for synthesizing integrative or mixed research designs (25). This kind of descriptive study reduces the flexible mode data that have been merged with other techniques of data analysis (26).

The initial step in the thematic analysis was to generate the themes, and to identify the patterns that appeared in the summarized data of all reviewed articles. Any similarities between the reviewed data were pooled together under one theme. Then, the themes were scrutinized once again and other sub-themes were identified. Next, the process was continued by reviewing the efficiency of the themes. In this step, all the main themes and sub-themes that were generated were scrutinized to ensure the effectiveness and accuracy of the data representation. During this process, some themes might be excluded due to the inclusion criteria that were determined for this study. The next stage was choosing the proper names for the main themes as well as their sub-themes. Within the theme development process, this technique included the involvement of corresponding authors and co-authors in identifying the most relevant themes related to the objective of this review. The group of authors discussed any ideas, inconsistencies, similarities and associations with the data interpretation until a point of agreement was reached on the development of the themes. Following this, the developed themes and their sub-themes were presented to two panel experts, both of whom were experts in qualitative studies. These experts were asked to classify all the themes developed instinctively and decide whether the themes and sub-themes were relevant and appropriate for the review results.

Statistical analysis

The remaining articles were assessed and evaluated. The focus of the research efforts was on specific studies that provided answers to the posed issues. The Review Manager (RevMan Copenhagen Version 5.4.1: The Nordic Cochrane Centre, 2012), which is a meta-analysis tool, was used to record the data

extracted from the 46 papers in order to conduct a metaanalysis. Before the data could be submitted into RevMan, a lot of work had to be done. A considerable amount of time was required for the literature search. Since a meta-analysis relies on data from publications, certain data must be transformed. The outcomes of the analysis were represented as forest plots. Subgroup analyses were utilized to stratify the studies that employed distinct or a combination of interventions. Cochrane's *Q* (Chisquare) and Moran's *I*² (Inconsistency) tests were used to assess heterogeneity. If the *p*-value was <0.05, then, heterogeneity was considered to be statistically significant, while *I*² values of 25, 50, and 75% were deemed to reflect low, moderate, and high levels of heterogeneity, respectively.

Results

General findings and background of selected articles

More specifically, it should be noted that of the 46 studies that were included, 11 studies were geographically located in the United States, 10 in Argentina, five in Malaysia, three each in Brazil and India, two each in France and Thailand, and one each in China, Germany, Italy, Japan, Mauritius, Mexico, Nepal, South Africa, Taiwan, and the United Kingdom. As mentioned in this study, a combination of experimental and field study designs was mostly selected to determine the goal of the study in relation to dengue vector studies compared to the application of either a field or experimental study design. Furthermore, 21 studies were experimental studies, while only two were field studies. The remaining 23 studies were a combination of both experimental and field studies. It was not the goal of this study to present a list of the best study designs to assess the studies related to dengue vectors in terms of the robustness of the methods. However, on considering the types of research designs that were identified during the analysis, it was noted that there was an interesting balance between experimental and field studies. On the other hand, the results also represented the key elements of the study with regard to the mosquito strains that were selected for further analysis, where 29 articles reported on the A. aegypti, nine articles examined the A. albopictus, and seven articles considered both the A. aegypti and A. albopictus, while 1 article studied a combination of the A. aegypti and Culex spp., respectively. Table 1 summarizes the findings, research period, location, type of study, study design, and variables observed in the evaluated studies on the effects of climatic and environmental conditions on dengue vectors. Based on the thematic analysis, five themes were developed regarding the effects of temperature on dengue vectors, namely, the hatching rate (%), development time (days), survival rate (%), longevity (days), and wing morphology (mm).

NIK	
Abdu	-
m et	
al.	

ID	Author	Study location	Mos	quito str	ain Stu	dy desig	gn		Effect	on den	gue vect	tors				Indep	endent	variab	les		
		AE	AL	LW	FW	Hatching	Development time	Longevity	Survival	Wing size	Seasonal	Diet	Container	Competence	RH	Wind speed	Density	Altitude	Light	Insecticide	
ID1	Alomar et al. (27)			V						\checkmark											
ID2	Alto and Bettinardi (28) USA		1	\checkmark		_	\checkmark	\checkmark	1	\checkmark										
ID3	Awang et al. (29)	Malaysia		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark													
ID4	Awang and Dom (30)	Malaysia	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark				
ID5	Bagny Beilhe et al. (31)	France	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark				\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark			
ID6	Buckner et al. (32)	USA	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark								
ID7	Byttebier et al. (33)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark							\checkmark							
ID8	Campos et al. (34)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark										
ID9	Carrington et al. (35)	USA	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark										
ID10	Couret et al. (36)	USA	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark					\checkmark					\checkmark			
ID11	De Majo et al. (37)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark											
ID12	De Majo et al. (38)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark											
ID13	De Majo et al. (39)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark										
ID14	Ezeakacha and Yee (40)	USA		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark							\checkmark						
ID15	Farjana et al. (41)	Japan	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark						
ID16	Garzón et al. (42)	Argentina	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark				\checkmark										
ID17	Goindin et al. (43)	France	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark													
ID18	Grech et al. (44)	Argentina	V		\checkmark	$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$		\checkmark		$\mathbf{\nabla}$	_										
ID19	Gutiérrez e al. (45)	USA	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark										
ID20	Huxley et al. (46)	UK	\checkmark	_	\checkmark	_		\checkmark	_				\checkmark								
ID21	Iyaloo et al. (47)	Mauritius	_	V	_	N		_	V		_								_		
ID22	Kramer et al. (48)	Nepal	V	\checkmark	\checkmark	Q		\checkmark	\checkmark	-	\checkmark			-	-				\checkmark		
ID23	Krol et al. (49)	S. Africa	\checkmark			\checkmark				\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark						

10.3389/fpubh.2022.1074028

TABLE 1 (Continued)

ID	Author	Study location	Mos	quito str	ain Stu	dy desig	'n		Effect	on den	gue vect	tors				Indep	endent	variab	les		
	AE	AL	LW	FW	Hatching	Development time	Longevity	Survival	Wing size	Seasonal	Diet	Container	Competence	RH	Wind speed	Density	Altitude	Light	Insecticide		
ID24	Kumar et al. (50)	India	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark						\checkmark							
ID25	Loetti et al. (16)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark									\checkmark	
ID26	Marinho et al. (51)	Brazil	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark												
ID27	Marini et al. (52)	Italy		\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark										\checkmark		
ID28	Moura et al. (17)	Brazil	\checkmark		\checkmark				\checkmark		\checkmark										\checkmark
ID29	Moura et al. (18)	Brazil	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark													\checkmark
ID30	Muttis et al. (53)	Argentina	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark												
ID31	Muturi et al. (54)	USA	\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark				\checkmark			\checkmark			
ID32	Phanitchat et al. (55)	Thailand		N	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark													
ID33	Phanitchat et al. (56)	Thailand		\checkmark				\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark										
ID34	Reiskind and Zarrabi	USA		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark								
	(57)		_		_	_		_		_			_	_							
ID35	Reiskind and Janairo	USA	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		\checkmark			\checkmark	\checkmark							
	(58)		-	-	_	-		-	-		-										
ID36	Rozilawati et al. (13)	Malaysia	\Box	ব	N	Ŋ		\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark										
ID37	Salinas et al. (59)	Mexico	V	\checkmark		\checkmark				d V											\checkmark
ID38	Sasmita et al. (60)	Taiwan	d I		N			N N	1 1 1	V	\checkmark		\checkmark								
ID39	Shahrudin et al. (12)	Malaysia	V		V			₹ N	V												
ID40	Simoy et al. (61)	Argentina	V		$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$	\checkmark		V		\checkmark											
ID41	Sivan et al. (62) Sivan et al. (63)	India India	V		1 I	V	1 1 1			N N											
ID42 ID43	Sivan et al. (63) Sukiato et al. (64)	India Malaysia	$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$		1 I		N	\checkmark		1 I I	\checkmark									\checkmark	
ID43 ID44	Thomas et al. (65)	Germany	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$	\checkmark	$\overline{\mathbf{V}}$	\checkmark	المت	ليتنا		Z	ليت									ك	
ID44 ID45	Upshur et al. (66)	USA	$\overline{\mathbf{A}}$	_	V	_		\checkmark	\checkmark	_	\checkmark		\checkmark								
ID46	Yang et al. (67)	China	\checkmark		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	_	<u> </u>		_		_								
		:				DIIl.tis			_												

AE, Aedes aegypti; AL, Aedes albopictus; LW, experimental studies; FW, field works; RH, relative humidity.

10.3389/fpubh.2022.1074028

Effects of temperature on *Aedes* mosquitoes

Hatching rate

Out of the 46 studies that were analyzed, 11 studies, which gave information about the effect of the hatching rate on dengue vectors using the risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures, were included in one meta-analysis (Figure 3). The overall estimate of heterogeneity across the studies was also very low, with $I^2 = 4\%$, and this was probably due to the small number of studies that were included for further analysis. The hatching rate showed a higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures without any significant effect on the dengue vectors. More specifically, based on the analysis, the studies by Sivan et al. (63), Sivan et al. (62), Phanitchat et al. (55), Yang et al. (67), and De Majo et al. (38) showed no significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum. On the other hand, studies by Bagny Beilhe et al. (31), Byttebier et al. (33), Campos et al. (34), De Majo et al. (37), Garzón et al. (42), and Muttis et al. (53) showed that there was no significant lower risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures respectively.

Development time

After pooling 34 articles for further analysis on the risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures that affects dengue vectors, the development time was also revealed to have a higher significant risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures with a high heterogeneity across the studies. More specifically, based on the meta-analysis shown in Figure 4, the studies by Phanitchat et al. (55), Bagny Beilhe et al. (31), Alomar et al. (27), Carrington et al. (35), Couret et al. (36), Ezeakacha and Yee (40), Farjana et al. (41), Huxley et al. (46), Kumar et al. (50), Marinho et al. (51), Muturi et al. (54), Reiskind and Zarrabi (57), Sasmita et al. (60), and Simoy et al. (61) showed a higher significant risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures, respectively. Conversely, other studies by Marini et al. (52) and Upshur et al. (66) revealed a significant lower risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures. However, the analytical results of other studies by Rozilawati et al. (13), Loetti et al. (16), Garzón et al. (42), Awang et al. (29), Awang and Dom (30), Buckner et al. (32), De Majo et al. (39), Goindin et al. (43), Phanitchat et al. (56), and De Majo et al. (38) presented a higher risk difference that was not significant between the maximum and minimum temperatures. Other studies by Shahrudin et al. (12), De Majo et al. (37), Marini et al. (52), Alto and Bettinardi (28), Grech et al. (44), and Kramer et al. (48) showed a lower risk difference that was not significant between the maximum and minimum temperatures.

Longevity

Out of the total number of studies that were analyzed, 18 studies provided information about the effect of the maximum and minimum temperature on the longevity of dengue vectors in the meta-analysis (Figure 5). The longevity showed no significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures that affected the dengue vectors. However, the overall estimate of heterogeneity across the studies was very high which was probably due to the large number of studies that were included in the analysis. More specifically, based on the analysis, studies by Moura et al. (18), Carrington et al. (35), Huxley et al. (46), Iyaloo et al. (47), Marinho et al. (51), Muttis et al. (53) and Rozilawati et al. (13) revealed a significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures. Also, a significant lower risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures was revealed in three studies by De Majo et al. (39), Kramer et al. (48), and Sasmita et al. (60). On the other hand, a few studies by Loetti et al. (16), Phanitchat et al. (55), and Yang et al. (67) presented a higher risk difference with no significance between the maximum and minimum temperatures, whereas a few remaining studies by Shahrudin et al. (12), Goindin et al. (43), Gutiérrez e al. (45), Marini et al. (52), and Upshur et al. (66) demonstrated a lower risk difference without any significance between the maximum and minimum temperatures.

Survival rate

Figure 6 shows the results of the effect of the maximum and minimum temperatures on the survival of dengue vectors after 21 articles were analyzed out of the total number of articles selected for the meta-analysis. Only two studies by Carrington et al. (35) and Farjana et al. (41) showed a significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures. Conversely, studies by Loetti et al. (16), Sivan et al. (63), Bagny Beilhe et al. (31), Garzón et al. (42), Couret et al. (36), Huxley et al. (46), Muturi et al. (54), Reiskind and Zarrabi (57), De Majo et al. (39), Phanitchat et al. (56), Alto and Bettinardi (28), Krol et al. (49), Salinas et al. (59), De Majo et al. (38), and Sasmita et al. (60) revealed a higher risk difference without any significance between the maximum and minimum temperatures. On the other hand, other studies by Sivan et al. (63), De Majo et al. (37), Grech et al. (44), and Reiskind and Janairo (58) demonstrated a lower risk difference without any significance between the maximum and minimum temperatures. The overall estimate of heterogeneity across all the studies was very low which was probably due to the small number studies that were included in the analysis. There was a significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures, thereby indicating their effect on the survival rate of the dengue vectors, while individual researches that had no significant effect of the summary results were excluded.



Forest plot of comparison of the effect of minimum temperature vs. maximum temperature on the hatching rate of Aedes mosquito.

Wing morphology

After pooling 13 articles for a further analysis of the effect of the risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures on the wing morphology of dengue vectors, it was revealed that there was a higher significant risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures. However, there was a low heterogeneity across the studies. More specifically, based on the meta-analysis shown on Figure 7, most of the studies by Rozilawati et al. (13), Loetti et al. (16), Moura et al. (18), Alomar et al. (27), Farjana et al. (41), Huxley et al. (46), Muturi et al. (54), Sasmita et al. (60), De Majo et al. (39), Alto and Bettinardi (28), Kramer et al. (48), and Sukiato et al. (64) revealed a non-significant higher risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures, whereas only one study by Upshur et al. (66) showed a non-significant lower risk difference between the maximum and minimum temperatures.

Discussion

The present study was carried out to systematically analyse the existing literature on the various effects of temperature on dengue vectors, specifically for the *A. aegypti* and *A. albopictus*, and how these factors affect both these species of mosquitoes. A proper review in relation to the effects of temperature on dengue vectors was conducted on 46 articles sourced from two databases. The findings revealed that these factors affect dengue vectors in various ways. Five themes emerged from the thematic analysis that was performed within the scope of this review. Hence, this section presents further discussions on the developed themes. Based on this review and meta-analysis, temperature is becoming one of the important factors affecting the biology, population continuation and growth of the mosquito. Before a mosquito reaches adulthood, it goes through a few stages in its life cycle. However, both internal and external factors determine whether each stage is successfully completed. Being poikilothermic (cold-blooded) organisms, mosquitoes are sensitive to changes in the ambient temperature, which directly affects their body temperature. Temperature is therefore one of the most significant elements that might affect the insect survival, adult longevity, immature growth, vectorial capacity and other aspects of the life history of the *A. aegypti* and *A. albopictus* (13, 53, 61, 62, 68).

Hatching rate

Temperature is an essential hatching signal (42, 69). Temperate juvenile *A. aegypti* have successfully acclimated to cooler environments compared to subtropical populations. The eggs of temperate *A. aegypti*, for example, hatch faster at 5°C, 12° C, and 15° C (52). As a result, the spread of the *A. aegypti* to colder regions appears to be possible in the future (8, 48, 63). Another study discovered that during winter the egg hatching rate of the *A. albopictus* at 25° C fell at 11° C (67). Garzón et al. (42) discovered that the percentage of hatching in the *A. aegypti* was higher at 27° C than at 16° C. Most crucially, a temperature threshold of 37° C resulted in a drastically reduced hatching rate for the *A. aegypti*, with the upper limit occurring between 38 and 42° C (70). However, the fact that some larvae

		Risk Difference	Risk Difference
Study or Subgroup	Weight	M-H, Random, 95% Cl	M-H, Random, 95% Cl
Alomar et al., 2021	2.8%	0.42 [0.16, 0.67]	
Alto et al., 2013	3.0%	-0.05 [-0.27, 0.17]	
Awang et al., 2019	2.9%	0.24 [0.00, 0.48]	
Awang et al., 2020	2.9%	0.15 [-0.09, 0.38]	+
Bagny Beilhe et al., 2013	3.1%	0.51 [0.32, 0.70]	
Buckner et al., 2016	2.8%	0.20 [-0.06, 0.46]	+
Carrington et al., 2013	3.1%	0.50 [0.31, 0.68]	
Couret et al., 2014	2.8%	0.43 [0.18, 0.68]	
De Majo et al., 2016	3.0%	0.11 [-0.11, 0.32]	
De Majo et al., 2017	3.2%	-0.03 [-0.18, 0.13]	
De Majo et al., 2021	2.9%	0.24 [-0.00, 0.48]	
Ezeakacha et al., 2019	2.9%	0.46 [0.21, 0.70]	
Farjana et al., 2012	3.2%	0.71 [0.55, 0.88]	
Garzon et al., 2021	2.9%	0.11 [-0.12, 0.34]	
Goindin et al., 2015	2.9%	0.17 [-0.06, 0.40]	
Grech et al., 2015	2.8%	0.00 [-0.26, 0.26]	
Huxley et al., 2021	3.0%	0.59 [0.36, 0.81]	
<ramer 2021<="" al.,="" et="" td=""><td>2.9%</td><td>-0.16 [-0.40, 0.08]</td><td></td></ramer>	2.9%	-0.16 [-0.40, 0.08]	
<umar 2016<="" al.,="" et="" td=""><td>2.9%</td><td>0.34 [0.10, 0.58]</td><td></td></umar>	2.9%	0.34 [0.10, 0.58]	
_oetti et al., 2021	2.9%	0.24 [-0.00, 0.48]	
Marinho et al., 2016	2.9%	0.67 [0.44, 0.90]	
Marini et al., 2020	3.0%	-0.27 [-0.47, -0.07]	
Moura et al., 2021	3.0%	0.03 [-0.18, 0.25]	
Muttis et al., 2018	2.7%	0.17 [-0.11, 0.45]	
Muturi et al., 2012	2.9%	0.47 [0.22, 0.71]	
Phanitchat et al., 2017	3.0%	0.60 [0.39, 0.80]	
Phanitchat et al., 2019	2.9%	0.13 [-0.11, 0.37]	
Reiskind et al., 2012	3.0%	0.43 [0.22, 0.64]	
Reiskind et al., 2015	2.8%	0.30 [0.05, 0.56]	
Rozilawati et al., 2016	3.1%	0.10 [-0.10, 0.29]	
Sasmita et al., 2019	3.1%	0.72 [0.54, 0.90]	
Shahrudin et al., 2019	2.8%	-0.08 [-0.33, 0.17]	
Simoy et al., 2015	3.1%	0.58 [0.39, 0.78]	
Jpshur et al., 2019	2.9%	-0.39 [-0.63, -0.16]	
Fotal (95% CI)	100.0%	0.26 [0.16, 0.36]	◆
Total events			
Heterogeneity: Tau² = 0.08 Test for overall effect: Z = 4		6.71, df = 33 (P < 0.00001); l² = 86% 00001)	-1 -0.5 0 0.5 1 Min temperature Max temperature
			winitemperature waxtemperature

still hatched suggests a potential physiological adaptation to high water temperatures of above $39^{\circ}C$ (51).

Development time

As expected, the development time of the *A. aegypti* and *A. albopictus* mosquito is affected by changes in the temperature of the surrounding environment when it exceeds the lower critical development threshold (71). The results showed that changes in the temperature could alter the stage of development starting from the larva stage until the emergence

of the adult (30, 36, 64). Estimates of the development time were strongly temperature sensitive and negatively related to temperatures from 35° C until 40° C. Beyond this point, the rate of development slowed and reproduction ceased. Thus, this situation was very harmful to the mosquitoes and increased the mortality rate in both the *A. aegypti* and *A. albopictus* species (34, 41). Larval development was halted, resulting in larval death of 100% as the mosquito larvae then suffered stress as a result of a rise in temperature, which may have caused abnormalities at the cellular level in the larvae. Higher temperatures also stimulated rapid growth, leading to fewer nutrient reserves, which led to molting failure (50). On the same



note, the detrimental effect of higher temperatures on culicid vector development (68, 72) suggested that this approached the lethal temperature range for the Aedes mosquito (36, 51).

Survival rate and longevity

Temperature also had an effect on the lifespan on the Aedes adult (17, 60). Temperature extremes of 16°C and 36°C significantly reduced adult longevity and female fertility (51). In terms of sexes, at the most temperatures, the males have shorter lifespan than female. This pattern could be related to the intensity of oviposition, which is both energetically and likely to limit longevity (51). Male longevity decreases mating possibilities, while female longevity decreases gonotrophic cycles (17). According to Muttis et al. (53), the lifetime of the mosquito is more dependent on temperature than on population-related parameters such as density. As a result, it was anticipated that mosquito larvae would live shorter lives at high temperatures. Other than that, it was inferred that the daily temperature dynamics and ambient temperature are significant in an endemic area, which may help with the selection of mosquitoes that can survive at high temperatures, thereby enhancing their ability to transmit diseases (63).

Wing morphology

Temperature is one of the extrinsic elements that directly influence insect development. Literature suggests that wing and body size are influenced by other environmental conditions such as population density in breeding containers (73, 74) and competence (75). Our results suggest that warmer temperatures also lead to smaller adult sizes and vice versa, a phenomenon known as the temperature-size rule or the "hotter is smaller" rule (76). The estimation of the wing length reveals the mosquito body size that can epidemiologically affect relevant qualities by indicating the responsiveness of the adult mosquito to the development of the juvenile stages. The change in weight and wing length allometry at a particular temperature may be advantageous in a number of different ways. One hypothesis is that the elasticity of wing length and weight may result in lower wing loadings at low temperatures, which could be advantageous at colder operating temperatures due to the increased energy required for a given flying output (57). Measurements of the wing size were performed in order to analyse the impact of variations in the wing size on the ability of the mosquito to select a breeding location and engage in blood feeding in field conditions. The larger size of the female mosquito may indicate that it has a longer flight range than a little mosquito, finds hosts more frequently, feeds successfully on blood, and has superior location skills for oviposition, all of which boost fertility. In light



Forest plot of comparison of the effect of minimum temperature vs. maximum temperature on the survival of dengue vectors.



FIGURE 7

Forest plot of comparison of the effect of minimum temperature vs. maximum temperature on the wing morphology of dengue vectors.

of this, it was determined that the fecundity rate and the capacity to fly to an oviposition site are higher at lower temperatures and decrease as temperatures rise (12).

These findings are necessary for the adoption of dengue outbreak systems and minimization of the adverse effects of the transmission of the dengue virus by its two main vectors, the A. aegypti and A. albopictus. It is critical to have knowledge of what and how environmental and climatic conditions can affect dengue vectors. However, this study had its limitations, and a number of recommendations have been made that may be beneficial for future research while conducting a metaanalysis, such as the fact that only English-language papers were examined, which might have introduced a linguistic bias into the findings. Then, it was discovered that variations in heterogeneity at several stages of the gonotrophic cycle, including hatchability, development time, survival, longevity, and wing shape, might have been responsible for this heterogeneity. This heterogeneity analysis was impacted by the small sample size, which included the number of studies that were taken into account for the review and meta-analysis. It was demonstrated that the development periods of the A. aegypti and A. albopictus were shortened, larval and pupal mortality were increased, and hatchability was dramatically reduced as a result of rising temperatures. The Aedes population will likely increase in the subtropical and temperate zones, and not necessarily in the tropical areas, due to global warming, and the distribution and seasonal duration will increase. Furthermore, new pandemic hotspots will be appearing. This range for this species has already widened to include greater latitudes and altitudes. As a result, epidemics are more prone to occur and spread over wider areas.

Therefore, information on the life cycle of Aedes mosquitoes at different temperatures was important for planning effective dengue control. The ability of Aedes to survive at different water temperatures showed that the vector is highly adaptable to the ever-changing environment. This study also found that development time and wing morphology accelerate when temperature is increased. This Aedes life data could also serve as an advance warning and is necessary from an epidemiological perspective to identify the pattern of results due to seasonal changes throughout the year. Vector control efforts and population dynamics models will be improved if realistic parameter estimates of mosquito populations are incorporated into future surveillance activities and research projects.

Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

Author contributions

NN, RD, and NC wrote the manuscript. HS collected the data and did the analysis. NP proofread and edited the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by Geran Penyelidikan Khas (GPK) [600-RMC/GPK 5/3 (110/2020)].

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, the authors would like to express deep and sincere gratitude to all organizations which were involved in this project. We would also like to offer thanks to the Faculty of Health Sciences, Universiti Teknologi MARA (UiTM) for the technical assistance rendered.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

References

1. Rao MRK, Padhy RN, Das MK. Episodes of the epidemiological factors correlated with prevailing viral infections with dengue virus and molecular characterization of serotype-specific dengue virus circulation in eastern India. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2018) 58:40–9. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2017.12.005

2. Khetarpal N, Khanna I. Dengue fever: causes, complications, and vaccine strategies. J Immunol Res. (2016) 2016:6803098. doi: 10.1155/2016/6803098

3. Packierisamy PR, Ng CW, Dahlui M, Inbaraj J, Balan VK, Halasa YA, et al. Cost of dengue vector control activities in Malaysia. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2015) 93:1020. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.14-0667

4. Kumarasamy V. Dengue fever in Malaysia: time for review? *Med J Malaysia*. (2006) 61:1-3.

5. Wong LP, Shakir SMM, Atefi N, AbuBakar S. Factors affecting dengue prevention practices: nationwide survey of the Malaysian public. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0122890. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.012 2890

6. Maamor WNFW, Dom NC, Megat MA. Effect of diet regime on the development and survival of *Aedes albopictus* (Skuse) (Diptera: Culicidae). *Pertanika J Sci Technol.* (2019) 27:1589–602.

7. Reinhold JM, Lazzari CR, Lahondère C. Effects of the environmental temperature on *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* mosquitoes: a review. *Insects*. (2018) 9:158. doi: 10.3390/insects9040158

8. Kraemer MU, Reiner RC, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Gilbert M, Pigott DM, et al. Past and future spread of the arbovirus vectors *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus*. *Nat Microbiol.* (2019) 4:854–63. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0376-y

9. Dom NC, Ahmad AH, Ismail R. Habitat characterization of *Aedes* sp. breeding in urban hotspot area. *Procedia Soc Behav Sci.* (2013) 85:100–9. doi: 10.1016/j.sbspro.2013.08.342

10. Ahmad R, Suzilah I, Wan Najdah WMA, Topek O, Mustafakamal I, Lee HL. Factors determining dengue outbreak in Malaysia. *PLoS ONE.* (2018) 13:e0193326. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193326

11. Madi M, Ahmad R, Kulaimi NAM, Ali WNWM, Ismail S, Lee HL. Climatic influences on Aedes mosquito larvae population. *Malays J Sci.* (2012) 31:36–44. doi: 10.22452/mjs.vol31no1.4

12. Shahrudin NA, Dom NC, Ishak AR. Temperature stress effect on the survival of *Aedes albopictus* (Skuse) (Diptera: Culicidae) adult mosquito: an experimental study. *Malays J Med Sci.* (2019) 15:106–13.

13. Rozilawati H, Masri SM, Tanaselvi K, Zairi J, Nazn W, Lee H. Effect of temperature on the immature development of *Aedes albopictus* Skuse. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health.* (2016) 47:731–46.

14. Wang X, Tang S, Cheke RA. A stage structured mosquito model incorporating effects of precipitation and daily temperature fluctuations. *J Theor Biol.* (2016) 411:27–36. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2016.09.015

15. Yeap HL, Endersby NM, Johnson PH, Ritchie SA, Hoffmann AA. Body size and wing shape measurements as quality indicators of *Aedes aegypti* mosquitoes destined for field release. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2013) 89:78. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.12-0719

16. Loetti V, De Majo MS, Campos RE, Di Battista CM, Fischer S. Effect of parental photoperiod on body size and developmental time of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Buenos Aires City. *J Med Entomol.* (2021) 58:1638–42. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjab026

17. Moura L, de Nadai BL, Corbi JJ. What does not kill it does not always make it stronger: high temperatures in pyriproxyfen treatments produce *Aedes aegypti* adults with reduced longevity and smaller females. *J Asia Pac Entomol.* (2020) 23:529–35. doi: 10.1016/j.aspen.2020.04.001

18. Moura L, de Nadai BL, Bernegossi AC, Felipe MC, Castro GB, Corbi JJ. Be quick or be dead: high temperatures reduce *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) larval development time and pyriproxyfen larvicide efficiency in laboratory conditions. *Int J Trop Insect Sci.* (2021) 41:1667–72. doi: 10.1007/s42690-020-00367-6

19. Brady OJ, Golding N, Pigott DM, Kraemer MU, Messina JP, Reiner RCJr, et al. Global temperature constraints on *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* persistence and competence for dengue virus transmission. *Parasit Vectors*. (2014) 7:1–17. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-338

20. Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: the PRISMA statement. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2009) 62:1006e1012. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2009.06.005

21. Sierra-Correa PC, Kintz JRC. Ecosystem-based adaptation for improving coastal planning for sea-level rise: a systematic review for mangrove coasts. *Mar Policy.* (2015) 51:385–93. doi: 10.1016/j.marpol.2014. 09.013

22. Okoli C. A guide to conducting a standalone systematic literature review. Commun Assoc Inf Syst. (2015) 37:43. doi: 10.17705/1CAIS.03743

23. Whittemore R, Knafl K. The integrative review: updated methodology. J Adv Nurs. (2005) 52:546–53. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2648.2005.03621.x

24. Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qual Res Psychol.* (2006) 3:77–101. doi: 10.1191/1478088706qp0630a

25. Flemming K, Booth A, Garside R, Tunçalp Ö, Noyes J. Qualitative evidence synthesis for complex interventions and guideline development: clarification of the purpose, designs and relevant methods. *BMJ Glob Health*. (2019) 4(Suppl 1):e000882. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2018-000882

26. Vaismoradi M, Turunen H, Bondas T. Content analysis and thematic analysis: implications for conducting a qualitative descriptive study. *Nurs Health Sci.* (2013) 15:398–405. doi: 10.1111/nhs.12048

27. Alomar AA, Eastmond BH, Alto BW. Juvenile hormone analog enhances Zika virus infection in *Aedes aegypti. Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:1–9. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-00432-1

28. Alto BW, Bettinardi D. Temperature and dengue virus infection in mosquitoes: independent effects on the immature and adult stages. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2013) 88:497. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.12-0421

29. Awang MF, Rogie AMA, Hussain H, Dom NC. Effect of temperature on the embryronic development of *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Malaysian J Fundam Appl Sci.* (2019) 15:178–81. doi: 10.11113/mjfas.v15n2.1131

30. Awang MF, Dom NC. The effect of temperature on the development of immature stages of Aedes spp. against breeding containers. *Int J Glob Warming*. (2020) 21:215–33. doi: 10.1504/IJGW.2020.108671

31. Bagny Beilhe L, Delatte H, Juliano SA, Fontenille D, Quilici S. Ecological interactions in *Aedes* species on Reunion Island. *Med Vet Entomol.* (2013) 27:387–97. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2915.2012.01062.x

32. Buckner EA, Alto BW, Lounibos LP. Larval temperature-food effects on adult mosquito infection and vertical transmission of dengue-1 virus. J Med Entomol. (2016) 53:91-8. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjv145

33. Byttebier B, De Majo MS, Fischer S. Hatching response of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) eggs at low temperatures: effects of hatching media and storage conditions. *J Med Entomol.* (2014) 51:97–103. doi: 10.1603/ME13066

34. Campos RE, Zanotti G, Di Battista CM, Gimenez JO, Fischer S. Differential inhibition of egg hatching in *Aedes aegypti* populations from localities with different winter conditions. *Bull Entomol Res.* (2021) 111:323–30. doi: 10.1017/S0007485320000681

35. Carrington LB, Armijos MV, Lambrechts L, Barker CM, Scott TW. Effects of fluctuating daily temperatures at critical thermal extremes on *Aedes aegypti* life-history traits. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e58824. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0058824

36. Couret J, Dotson E, Benedict MQ. Temperature, larval diet, and density effects on development rate and survival of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e87468. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0087468

37. De Majo MS, Montini P, Fischer S. Egg hatching and survival of immature stages of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) under natural temperature conditions during the cold season in Buenos Aires, Argentina. *J Med Entomol.* (2017) 54:106–13. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjw131

 De Majo MS, Zanotti G, Campos RE, Fischer S. Effects of constant and fluctuating low temperatures on the development of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) from a temperate region. *J Med Entomol.* (2019) 56:1661– 8. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjz087

39. De Majo MS, Zanotti G, Gimenez JO, Campos RE, Fischer S. Comparative study on the thermal performance of three *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) populations from Argentina. *J Med Entomol.* (2021) 58:1733–9. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjab017

40. Ezeakacha NF, Yee DA. The role of temperature in affecting carry-over effects and larval competition in the globally invasive mosquito *Aedes albopictus*. *Parasit Vectors*. (2019) 12:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3391-1

41. Farjana T, Tuno N, Higa Y. Effects of temperature and diet on development and interspecies competition in *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus. Med Vet Entomol.* (2012) 26:210–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2915.2011.00971.x

42. Garzón MJ, Maffey L, Lizuain A, Soto D, Diaz PC, Leporace M, et al. Temperature and photoperiod effects on dormancy status and life cycle parameters in *Aedes albopictus* and *Aedes aegypti* from subtropical Argentina. *Med Vet Entomol.* (2021) 35:97–105. doi: 10.1111/mve.12474

43. Goindin D, Delannay C, Ramdini C, Gustave J, Fouque F. Parity and longevity of *Aedes aegypti* according to temperatures in controlled conditions and consequences on dengue transmission risks. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0135489. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0135489

44. Grech MG, Sartor PD, Almirón WR, Ludueña-Almeida FF. Effect of temperature on life history traits during immature development of *Aedes aegypti* and *Culex quinquefasciatus* (Diptera: Culicidae) from Córdoba city, Argentina. *Acta Trop.* (2015) 146:1–6. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2015.02.010

45. Gutiérrez EH, Walker KR, Ernst KC, Riehle MA, Davidowitz G. Size as a proxy for survival in *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquitoes. *J Med Entomol.* (2020) 57:1228–38. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjaa055

46. Huxley PJ, Murray KA, Pawar S, Cator LJ. The effect of resource limitation on the temperature dependence of mosquito population fitness. *Proc R Soc B.* (2021) 288:20203217. doi: 10.1098/rspb.2020.3217

47. Iyaloo DP, Facknath S, Bheecarry A. Investigating the effects of low temperature and compaction on the quality of adult radio-sterilised *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) males in view of their optimal transport to the pilot sterile release site in Mauritius. *Int J Trop Insect Sci.* (2020) 40:53–62. doi: 10.1007/s42690-019-00050-5

48. Kramer IM, Pfeiffer M, Steffens O, Schneider F, Gerger V, Phuyal P, et al. The ecophysiological plasticity of *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* concerning overwintering in cooler ecoregions is driven by local climate and acclimation capacity. *Sci Tot Environ.* (2021) 778:146128. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146128

49. Krol L, Gorsich EE, Hunting ER, Govender D, Van Bodegom PM, Schrama M. Eutrophication governs predator-prey interactions and temperature effects in *Aedes aegypti* populations. *Parasit Vectors*. (2019) 12:1-10. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3431-x

50. Kumar G, Singh RK, Pande V, Dhiman RC. Impact of container material on the development of *Aedes aegypti* larvae at different temperatures. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2016) 53:144.

51. Marinho RA, Beserra EB, Bezerra-Gusmão MA, Porto VDS, Olinda RA, Dos Santos CA. Effects of temperature on the life cycle, expansion, and dispersion of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) in three cities in Paraiba, Brazil. *J Vector Ecol.* (2016) 41:1–10. doi: 10.1111/jvec.12187

52. Marini G, Manica M, Arnoldi D, Inama E, Rosà R, Rizzoli A. Influence of temperature on the life-cycle dynamics of *Aedes albopictus* population established at temperate latitudes: a laboratory experiment. *Insects.* (2020) 11:808. doi: 10.3390/insects11110808

53. Muttis E, Balsalobre A, Chuchuy A, Mangudo C, Ciota AT, Kramer LD, et al. Factors related to *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) populations and temperature determine differences on life-history traits with regional implications in disease transmission. *J Med Entomol.* (2018) 55:1105–12. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjy057

54. Muturi EJ, Blackshear Jr M, Montgomery A. Temperature and densitydependent effects of larval environment on *Aedes aegypti* competence for an alphavirus. *J Vector Ecol.* (2012) 37:154–61. doi: 10.1111/j.1948-7134.2012.00212.x

55. Phanitchat T, Apiwathnasorn C, Sumroiphon S, Samung Y, Naksathit A, Thawornkuno C, et al. The influence of temperature on the developmental rate and survival of *Aedes albopictus* in Thailand. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health*. (2017) 48:799–808.

56. Phanitchat T, Apiwathnasorn C, Sungvornyothin S, Samung Y, Dujardin S, Dujardin JP, et al. Geometric morphometric analysis of the effect of temperature on wing size and shape in *Aedes albopictus. Med Vet Entomol.* (2019) 33:476– 84. doi: 10.1111/mve.12385

57. Reiskind MH, Zarrabi AA. Is bigger really bigger? Differential responses to temperature in measures of body size of the mosquito, *Aedes albopictus. J Insect Physiol.* (2012) 58:911–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jinsphys.2012.04.006

58. Reiskind MH, Janairo MS. Late-instar behavior of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) larvae in different thermal and nutritive environments. *J Med Entomol.* (2015) 52:789–96. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjv088

59. Salinas WS, Feria-Arroyo TP, Vitek CJ. Temperatures influence susceptibility to insecticides in *Aedes aegypti* and *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) mosquitoes. *Pathogens*. (2021) 10:992. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10080992

60. Sasmita HI, Tu WC, Bong LJ, Neoh KB. Effects of larval diets and temperature regimes on life history traits, energy reserves and temperature tolerance of male *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae): optimizing rearing techniques for the sterile insect programmes. *Parasit Vectors*. (2019) 12:1–16. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3830-z

61. Simoy MI, Simoy MV, Canziani GA. The effect of temperature on the population dynamics of *Aedes aegypti. Ecol Modell.* (2015) 314:100–10. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2015.07.007

62. Sivan A, Shriram AN, Vanamail P, Sugunan AP. Impact of temperature variant on survival of *Aedes albopictus* Skuse (Diptera: Culicidae): implications on thermotolerance and acclimation. *Neotrop Entomol.* (2019) 48:561–71. doi: 10.1007/s13744-019-00680-x

63. Sivan A, Shriram AN, Vanamail P, Sugunan AP. Thermotolerance and acclimation in the immature stages of *Aedes aegypti* (L)(Diptera: Culicidae) to simulated thermal stress. *Int J Trop Insect Sci.* (2021) 41:333–44. doi: 10.1007/s42690-020-00211-x

64. Sukiato F, Wasserman RJ, Foo SC, Wilson RF, Cuthbert RN. The effects of temperature and shading on mortality and development rates of *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Vector Ecol.* (2019) 44:264–70. doi: 10.1111/jvec. 12358

65. Thomas SM, Obermayr U, Fischer D, Kreyling J, Beierkuhnlein C. Lowtemperature threshold for egg survival of a post-diapause and non-diapause European aedine strain, *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae). *Parasit Vectors*. (2012) 5:1–7. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-5-100

66. Upshur IF, Bose EA, Hart C, Lahondère C. Temperature and sugar feeding effects on the activity of a laboratory strain of *Aedes aegypti*. *Insects*. (2019) 10:347. doi: 10.3390/insects101 00347

67. Yang D, He Y, Ni W, Lai Q, Yang Y, Xie J, et al. Semi-field life-table studies of *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae) in Guangzhou, China. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0229829. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0229829

68. Mohammed A, Chadee DD. Effects of different temperature regimens on the development of *Aedes aegypti* (L)(Diptera: Culicidae) mosquitoes. *Acta Tropica*. (2011) 119:38–43. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2011. 04.004

69. Diniz DFA, de Albuquerque CMR, Oliva LO, de Melo-Santos MAV, Ayres CFJ. Diapause and quiescence: dormancy mechanisms that contribute to the geographical expansion of mosquitoes and their evolutionary success. *Parasit Vectors*. (2017) 10:1–13. doi: 10.1186/s13071-017-2235-0

70. Eisen L, Monaghan AJ, Lozano-Fuentes S, Steinhoff DF, Hayden MH, Bieringer PE. The impact of temperature on the bionomics of *Aedes aegypti* (Stegomyia), with special reference to the cool geographic range margins. *J Med Entomol.* (2014) 51:496–516. doi: 10.1603/ME13214

71. Yang HM, Macoris MDLDG, Galvani KC, Andrighetti MTM, Wanderley DMV. Assessing the effects of temperature on the population of *Aedes aegypti*, the vector of dengue. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2009) 137:1188–202. doi: 10.1017/S0950268809002040

72. Zequi JAC, Lopes J. Development of the immature stages of *Culex* (*Culex*) saltanensis Dyar (Diptera, Culicidae) under laboratory conditions. *Rev Bras Entomol.* (2012) 56:106–10. doi: 10.1590/S0085-5626201200500 0005

73. Walsh RK, Facchinelli L, Ramsey JM, Bond JG, Gould F. Assessing the impact of density dependence in field populations of *Aedes aegypti. J Vector Ecol.* (2011) 36:300–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1948-7134.2011.00170.x

74. Jirakanjanakit N, Leemingsawat S, Thongrungkiat S, Apiwathnasorn C, Singhaniyom S, Bellec C, et al. Influence of larval density or food variation on the geometry of the wing of *Aedes* (Stegomyia) aegypti. *Trop Med Int Health.* (2007) 12:1354–60. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2007.01919.x

75. Giatropoulos A, Papachristos D, Michaelakis A, Kapranas A, Emmanouel N. Laboratory study on larval competition between two related mosquito species: *Aedes* (Stegomyia) albopictus and *Aedes* (Stegomyia) cretinus. *Acta Trop.* (2022) 230:106389. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2022.106389

76. Kingsolver JG, Huey RB. Size, temperature, and fitness: three rules. *Evol Ecol Res.* (2008) 10:251–68.

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Thiago Vasconcelos Dos Santos, Evandro Chagas Institute, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Wenyi Zhang, Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention, China Ana Clara Gomes da Silva, Universidade de Pernambuco, Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Meirong Zhan ⊠ 37831433@qq.com Tianmu Chen ⊠ 13698665@qq.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases: Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 25 October 2022 ACCEPTED 25 January 2023 PUBLISHED 13 February 2023

CITATION

Guo Z, Liu W, Liu X, Abudunaibi B, Luo L, Wu S, Deng B, Yang T, Huang J, Wu S, Lei L, Zhao Z, Li Z, Li P, Liu C, Zhan M and Chen T (2023) Model-based risk assessment of dengue fever transmission in Xiamen City, China. *Front. Public Health* 11:1079877. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1079877

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Guo, Liu, Liu, Abudunaibi, Luo, Wu, Deng, Yang, Huang, Wu, Lei, Zhao, Li, Li, Liu, Zhan and Chen. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Model-based risk assessment of dengue fever transmission in Xiamen City, China

Zhinan Guo^{1†}, Weikang Liu^{2†}, Xingchun Liu^{2†}, Buasiyamu Abudunaibi^{2†}, Li Luo², Sihan Wu¹, Bin Deng², Tianlong Yang², Jiefeng Huang², Shenggen Wu³, Lei Lei¹, Zeyu Zhao², Zhuoyang Li², Peihua Li², Chan Liu², Meirong Zhan^{3*} and Tianmu Chen^{2*}

¹Xiamen Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Xiamen, Fujian, China, ²State Key Laboratory of Molecular Vaccinology and Molecular Diagnostics, School of Public Health, Xiamen University, Xiamen, Fujian, China, ³Fujian Provincial Center for Disease Control and Prevention, Fuzhou, Fujian, China

Background: Quantitative assessment of the risk of local transmission from imported dengue cases makes a great challenge to the development of public health in China. The purpose of this study is to observe the risk of mosquito-borne transmission in Xiamen City through ecological and insecticide resistance monitoring. Quantitative evaluation of mosquito insecticide resistance, community population and the number of imported cases affecting the transmission of dengue fever (DF) in Xiamen was carried out based on transmission dynamics model, so as to reveal the correlation between key risk factors and DF transmission.

Methods: Based on the dynamics model and combined with the epidemiological characteristics of DF in Xiamen City, a transmission dynamics model was built to simulate the secondary cases caused by imported cases to evaluate the transmission risk of DF, and to explore the influence of mosquito insecticide resistance, community population and imported cases on the epidemic situation of DF in Xiamen City.

Results: For the transmission model of DF, when the community population is between 10,000 and 25,000, changing the number of imported DF cases and the mortality rate of mosquitoes will have an impact on the spread of indigenous DF cases, however, changing the birth rate of mosquitoes did not gain more effect on the spread of local DF transmission.

Conclusions: Through the quantitative evaluation of the model, this study determined that the mosquito resistance index has an important influence on the local transmission of dengue fever caused by imported cases in Xiamen, and the Brayton index can also affect the local transmission of the disease.

KEYWORDS

dengue fever, mathematical model, risk assessment, vector investigation, insecticide resistance monitoring

Introduction

Dengue fever (DF) is a viral infectious disease transmitted by *Aedes albopictus* and *Aedes aegypti*. There are four types of serotype for DF virus, namely DENV-1, DENV-2, DENV-3, and DENV-4 (1, 2). People infected with dengue virus can have fever, dengue hemorrhagic fever, and other clinical symptoms. For severe cases, they suffer from dengue shock syndrome and death (3, 4). One recent research indicates that there are 390 million (95% credible interval 284–528

million) new DF cases per year in the world, of which about 12,000 death (1, 5). More researches have estimated that the incidence of DF as increased nearly 30 times compared with 50 years ago, and about one third of the world's population are at risk of DF infection (6–8). At the same time, due to the lack of specific treatment and effective vaccination against DF, the epidemic of DF has become one of the major global public health problem, causing serious disease burden to many countries and regions (2).

In recent years, the annual reported incidence of DF in China has shown an obvious upward trend (9). Besides Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan, and other areas, which are with high incidence of DF, the central and northern regions of China also have reported cases of DF (10, 11). Xiamen City, as a special economic zone in China approved by the State Council, has frequent personnel exchanges with countries and regions with high incidence of DF cases in Southeast Asia. Therefore, Xiamen City is facing a grim situation of prevention and control of imported DF cases. Meanwhile, located in the subtropical maritime monsoon climate zone, Xiamen City has suitable temperature and humidity for mosquito-borne transmission. Thus, when dengue virus is imported in the right season, the risk of disease transmission was higher. Consequently, the epidemic prevention departments need to quantitatively understand the potential risk factors of DF transmission, accordingly, promote the formulation of more effective control strategies and early warning surveillance.

Prior to this study, there have been many researches on DF by using mathematical models (12-14). A study established a human-vector coupled dynamic model to evaluate the effect of intervention measures taken in DF outbreak (12). In another study, the generalized mixed linear equation was introduced into the SIR dynamics model, which emphasized the influence of meteorological conditions on Ae. albopictus and discussed the influence of meteorological factors on DF propagation (13). In the meantime, the researchers, via time series regression tree analysis, have found that the timeliness of DF monitoring system in DF transmission in Zhongshan City, China and meteorological factors have influenced the local DF incidence (14). Nevertheless, in the research of potential factors affecting DF communication, there is no quantitative evaluation of DF potential communication risk factors based on communication dynamics model in China.

In this paper, we developed a Hosts-Vectors Susceptible– Exposed–Infectious–Asymptomatic–Recovered (SEIAR) transmission dynamics model to quantitatively evaluate the influence of mosquito insecticide resistance and imported cases on DF transmission in Xiamen City. In addition, through SEIAR model, it will help guiding public health departments in Xiamen City and other areas to put forward scientific strategies and early warning and forecasting systems for controlling DF transmission.

Materials and methods

Study area

Xiamen (118°04′04″E, 24°26′46″N), located in the southeast of China, is a coastal city with a population of 4.29 million. It is an important city in Fujian Province and occupies an area of 1,700.61 square kilometers. The city has six districts under its jurisdiction, including 26 streets, 12 towns, 361 communities, and 147 villages. The city belongs to is subtropical monsoon climate with a yearly average temperature of 21°C and an average annual rainfall of about 1,315 mm, most of which is mainly concentrated from May to August. According to the dengue surveillance data from 2005 to 2019 in Xiamen City, *Ae. Albopictus* was the only vector species in the city, and imported DF cases were the majority cases (15).

Case definition and case-finding

In the study, an indigenous case was defined as an individual who are infected with DF and have not left this city (current address) within 14 days before the onset of disease. An imported DF cases was defined as an infected patient who had been to DF epidemic regions within 14 days after the onset of disease.

All the DF cases were identified following the diagnostic criteria announced by National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China (WS216-2008) (16):

- (a) Suspected case: an individual who had been to DF epidemic regions within 14 days or there has been a DF case around his/her residence or workplace (within a radius of 200 m) within 1 month, along with having one or more symptoms, and no specific diagnosis has been confirmed as other diseases.
- (b) Clinically diagnosed case: a suspected case with leucopenia or thrombocytopenia, or a suspected case whose serum specific immunoglobulin IgG or IgM test is positive.
- (c) Laboratory-confirmed case: a clinically diagnose case has one or more of the following test results:
 - I. Serum tested positive for DENV RNA by real-time PCR;
 - II. An IgG titer in the recovery period is 4-fold higher than that in the acute period;
 - III. Isolation of the DENV from the blood, tissue or cerebrospinal fluid of a patient with acute infection.

Vector investigation and insecticide resistance monitoring

In order to obtain the relevant parameters in the model, we have assessed the density of *Ae. albopictus* in Xiamen City by three ecological monitoring methods: Brayton index method, Container index method and Human-baited double net trapping method. And mosquito surveillance was performed twice a month in two districts (Huli and Xiang'an) of Xiamen City from May to November in 2020.

Brayton index

An investigation of BI was conducted from May 1st to November 1st in Xiamen City. In four residential areas of different

Abbreviations: DF, Dengue fever; SEIAR, Susceptible–Exposed–Infectious– Asymptomatic–Recovered; SEI, Susceptible-Exposed-Infectious; CDC, Center for Disease Control and Prevention; BI, Brayton index; CI, Container index; HDN, Human-baited double net trapping; WHO, World Health Organization.

geographical locations, there were no <100 households selected in each monitoring district. For other habitats, such as park, bamboo forests, old tire dumps, waste collecting stations, 50 households need to be collected. Then we recorded the occurrence of *Ae. albopictus* larvae in all indoor and outdoor water containers (17). For identifying the species, we collected the larvae and brought them back to Center for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) laboratory for breeding to adult mosquitoes and thereby making the identification (Supplementary Text S1, p. 1). Finally, we use the following formula to calculate the BI:

$$BI = \frac{\text{Number of positive containers of Ae.albopictus}}{\text{Number of households surveyed}} \times 100\%$$

Container index

The site selected for monitoring Container index is consistent with the above-mentioned site, and should be used to monitoring the CI first. In each monitoring district, it has to be no <100 containers in four residential areas in different geographical locations for 4 days, and the distance between each container is 25–30 m. On the fourth day, the adult mosquitoes were monitored, and the species were identified after larvae grow up (Supplementary Text S1, p. 1, 2). We used the following formula to calculate the CI:

$$CI = \frac{\text{Number of positive containers}}{\text{Number of effective containers}} \times 100\%$$

Human-baited double net trapping

Adult mosquito monitoring mainly adopts the method of human-baited double net trapping. We have selected four different habitats, each with two nets more than 100 meters apart. In the afternoon (15:00–18:00), when the vector activity was at its peak, the attractor had both legs exposed in an internal closed mosquito net, and the collector was in trousers (18). Mosquito repellent was not used during the monitoring process. An electric mosquito absorber was used to quickly collect vector Aedes that fell on the mosquito net, then then leave as soon as possible. The monitoring lasted for 30 min and the vector Aedes were collected from each mosquito net (Supplementary Text S1, p. 2). We use the formula to calculate the inducement index:

HDN = $\frac{\text{Number of female mosquitoes captured}}{\text{Number of mosquito nets } \times 30 \text{ minutes}} \times 60 \text{ minutes/hours}$

Insecticide resistance monitoring

It was mainly the end of 3rd instar to the beginning of 4th instar larvae that were chosen to monitor the insecticide resistance. And we adopted the impregnation technique recommended by WHO (refer to GB/T26347-2010) to determine LC50 and calculate RR (17). In the meantime, the WHO recommended contact tube method (refer to GB/T26347-2010) was used to monitor the resistance of adult mosquitoes to insecticides, and thereby the mortality of adult mosquitoes at diagnostic dose was determined. We selected 11 different types of pesticides, namely: 0.2% bendiocarb, 0.2% fenitrothion, 0.03% deltamethrin, 0.04% permethrin, 0.5% propoxur, 0.5% malathion, 0.08% beta-cypermethrin, 0.07% lambda-cyhalothrin, 2% chlorpyrifos, 0.4%

TABLE 1 Variables in the SEIAR-SEI model.

Variables	Description	Unit
Sp	Susceptible individuals	Individuals
E_p	Exposed individuals	Individuals
I_p	Infectious individuals	Individuals
A_p	Asymptomatic individuals	Individuals
R _p	Recovered/removed individuals	Individuals
Sm	Susceptible vectors	Individuals
Em	Exposed vectors	Individuals
I_m	Infectious vectors	Individuals
A_i/I_i	Imported infectious/asymptomatic individuals	Individuals

beta-cypermethrin. See Supplementary Text S1, p. 3–6 for specific experimental methods.

Dynamic model of DF transmission

In this study, we has built a dynamics model based on SEIAR to simulate the transmission of the dengue virus (9, 12, 19). And in this model, people were divided into the following five compartments: susceptible (S_p), exposed (E_p), infectious (I_p), asymptomatic (A_p), removed (R_p). A_i/I_i refers to imported DF cases. Vectors were divided into the following three compartments: susceptible (S_m), exposed (E_m), infectious (I_m), see Table 1. And the interaction between the human and vector is presented in Figure 1.

This model is based on the following assumptions:

- (1) The model assumes that the propagation coefficient of S_p and I_m after effective propagation is β_{mp} , the transmission rate from A_i/I_i to S_m is β_i , and the transmission rate from S_m to I_p and A_p is β_{pm} . Therefore, at time *t*, the number of newly infected DF is $\beta_{pm}S_pI_m$, and the number of newly infected vectors is $\beta_iS_mI_i + \beta_{pm}S_m (A_p + I_p)$.
- (2) The model assumes that the proportion of recessive infection is q and the latency is $\frac{1}{\omega}$. So at time *t*, the number of individual who changed from E_p to A_p and I_p were $q\omega_p E_p$ and $(1-q)\omega_p E_p$.
- (3) The model assumes that the time interval from onset to first diagnosis of case I_p was $\frac{1}{\gamma}$, so at time *t*, the number of people who changed from I_p to R_p is γI_p . In addition, we assume that the infection period of asymptomatic infected person A is $\frac{1}{\gamma'}$, so at time *t*, the number of people who changed from A to R is $\gamma' A_p$.
- (4) The model assumes that the natural vectors mortality rate is *b*, the natural birth rate is *a*, and the vertical transmission ratio of dengue virus by mosquitoes is *n*.

The mathematical model is described by the following ordinary differential equations (ODE):

$$\frac{dS_p}{dt} = -\beta_{mp}S_pI_m$$
$$\frac{dE_p}{dt} = \beta_{mp}S_pI_m - \omega_pE_p$$
$$\frac{dI_p}{dt} = (1-q)\omega_pE_p - \gamma I_p$$



$$\begin{aligned} \frac{dA_p}{dt} &= q\omega_p - \gamma' A_p \\ \frac{dR_p}{dt} &= \gamma' A_p + \gamma I_p \\ \frac{dS_m}{dt} &= ac \left(N - nI_m\right) - \left[\beta_i I_i + \beta_{pm} \left(A_p + I_p\right)\right] S_m - b_m \\ \frac{dE_m}{dt} &= \left[\beta_i I_i + \beta_{pm} \left(A_p + I_p\right)\right] S_m - (\omega_m + b) E_m \\ \frac{dI_m}{dt} &= \omega_m E_m + acn I_m - b I_m \\ \frac{dI_i}{dt} &= -\varepsilon I_i - \beta_i S_m I_i \\ N_m &= S_m + E_m + I_m \\ N_p &= S_p + E_p + I_p \end{aligned}$$

where the seasonality parameter can be modeled by a trigonometric function, according to existing studies (12). We assume the following function for the parameter c:

$$c = \cos\left[\frac{2\pi(t-\tau)}{T}\right]$$

Parameter estimation

There are fifteen parameters in this model (β_i , β_{pm} , β_{mp} , ω_m , ω_p , ε , γ , γ' , a, b, c, q, n) according to the literature, see Table 2. The incubation period of dengue virus in human body is usually 4–8 days (9), therefore we selected the value of 6 days as the average, with $\omega_p = 0.1667$. It usually takes 8–12 days for imported dengue virus to enter mosquito host and cause its onset (19), thus the value of 10 days was chosen in the model, with $\omega_m = 0.1000$ per day. The proportion of asymptomatic infections is usually 68.75% (21), so q = 0.6875. The infectious period is 3–14 days (19, 20), we selected 7 days in the simulation, thus $\gamma = \gamma' = 0.1429$. Based on a previous study, the initial values of birth and mortality rate of mosquitoes was set as a = b = 0.0714 (19). In addition, with the constant change of *a* and *b* to 1/50–1/14 according to our study. The vertical transmission rate of

dengue virus DENV-1 through vertical infection ranged from 1.4 to 17.4% (22), which was assumed it to be 10.0%, so n = 0.1000.

Evaluate the risk of DF transmission in different conditions

We assessed the transmission risk of DF in Xiamen City through SEIAR model. According to practical experience and previous studies, we included the following factors as transmission risk factors into our research: community population, the number of imported cases, larvae density, adult vector density, mosquito insecticide resistance (23, 24). Consequently, in this study, BI method was used to assess the larvae density of the vector and light-trap method was used to measure assess the adult vector density. The changes in mosquito mortality reflect the intensity of mosquito-borne insecticide resistance.

According to the community situation of indigenous cases in Xiamen City in 2019, the community population was set as 10,000, 15,000, 20,000, and 25,000, and the parameter of imported cases were 1–60. Our previous studies on insecticide resistance have determined that the mosquito birth and mortality rate would be set as 1/50, 1/38, 1/26, and 1/14 (12, 23). Simultaneously, the number of susceptible mosquito-borne could be reflected by changing the mosquito density, which was 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, respectively, in BI. Therefore, we have set the following scenarios to quantitatively assess the transmission risk of DF in Xiamen City:

Scenario 1: We set the community population as 10,000, and BI values were 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5. The mortality rates of mosquitoes were set as 1/50, 1/38, 1/26, and 1/14, respectively. And to see how many dengue cases were imported, which could cause the spread of indigenous secondary cases.

Scenario 2: We set the community population as 15,000, BI values were 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, respectively; The mortality rates of mosquitoes were set as 1/50, 1/38, 1/26, and 1/14, respectively. And to see how many dengue cases were imported, which could cause the spread of indigenous secondary cases.

Parameter	Description	Unit	Value	Range	Method	
β_i	Transmission relative rate from input case to mosquitoes	1	5.11892×10^{-6}	≥ 0	Curve fitting	
β_{pm}	Transmission relative rate from human to mosquitoes	1	8.01142×10^{-6}	≥ 0	Curve fitting	
β_{mp}	Transmission relative rate from mosquitoes to human	1	1.24107×10^{-5}	≥ 0	Curve fitting	
ω_m	Incubation relative rate of mosquitoes infection	Day^{-1}	1/10	0.0833-0.1250	(19)	
ω_p	Incubation relative rate of human infection	Day^{-1}	1/6	0.1250-0.2500	(9)	
ε	Input case recovery ratio	1	0.1429	0.0714-0.3333	Curve fitting	
γ	Removed relative rate of infectious individuals	Day^{-1}	1/7	1/7 0.0714-0.3333		
γ'	Removed relative rate of asymptomatic individuals	Day^{-1}	1/7	0.0714-0.3333	(19, 20)	
а	Daily birth rate of mosquitoes	Day^{-1}	1/14	0-1/14	(19, 20)	
b	Daily mortality rate of mosquitoes	Day^{-1}	1/14	0-1/14	(19, 20)	
с	Seasonality parameter of the mosquitoes population	1	See text	0-1	Curve fitting	
τ	Simulation delay of the initial time in the whole season	Day	242	≥ 0	Analysis on the reported data	
Т	Duration of the cycle	Day	365	≥ 0	Analysis on the reported data	
9	Proportion of human asymptomatic infection	1	0.6875	0-1	(21)	
n	Proportion of transovarial transmission	1	0.1	0.0140-0.1740	(22)	

TABLE 2 Parameter definitions and values

Scenario 3: We set the community population as 20,000, BI values were 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, respectively; The mortality rates of mosquitoes were set as 1/50, 1/38, 1/26, and 1/14, respectively. And to see how many dengue cases were imported, which could cause the spread of indigenous secondary cases.

Scenario 4: We set the community population as 25,000, BI values were 1, 2, 3, 4, and 5, respectively; The mortality rates of mosquitoes were set as 1/50, 1/38, 1/26, and 1/14, respectively. And to see how many dengue cases were imported, which could cause the spread of indigenous secondary cases.

Simulation and statistical analysis

We used Berkeley Madonna ver.8.3.18 (developed by Robert Macey and George Oster of the University of California at Berkeley, CA, USA) for parameter fitting and model simulation. The goodness-of-fitting was assessed by least root-mean-square error between simulated and observed number of new indigenous cases per day between August 24th and November 5th. The simulation method was the Runge–Kutta method of order four. Differential equations were solved by the step of 0.02. Meanwhile, the goodness of fit was judged by the coefficient of determination (R^2) value.

Results

Epidemiological characteristics of DF in Xiamen City

In 2019, a total of 138 cases of DF were reported in Xiamen City, and there were 19 indigenous cases and 119 imported cases. The distribution of all DF cases in Xiamen City is shown in

Figure 2, among which indigenous cases were mainly reported in Huli District, Siming District and Jimei District. But the imported cases were reported in all districts of Xiamen City. The number of new cases in Xiamen City per month is shown in Figure 3. The first indigenous case was reported in the Jinshan community of Huli District on August 24th, 2019. The peak of DF incidence was from July to October, and the number of DF cases reported in these 4 months accounts for 75% of the total reported cases in the whole year. The population distribution of DF cases in Xiamen City in 2019 is shown in Table 3. Male patients predominate in imported cases, while females outnumber males in local cases. Meanwhile, most of the reported cases of DF were most reported in people aged between 20 and 50 years old, with no cases reported in people younger than 10 years old. In addition, a higher proportion of cases were reported in commercial services and domestic activities.

Investigation on mosquito-borne ecology and insecticide resistance monitoring

We conducted a household survey of *Ae. Albopictus* between May and October 2020. A total of 9,060 *Ae. Albopictus* were captured, and 693 Aedes larvae were positive in water accumulation of Aedes larvae were found, see Figure 4A. The average value of BI is 7.6, among which the average value of BI in Huli District is 9.3 and that in Xiang'an District is 6.1. The monitoring results of BI are shown in Table 3. It is noticeable that the BI index of Xiamen City is higher than the threshold value of 5 from May to October 2020. Besides, from May to October 2020, we have placed a total of 9,840 mosquito container in Xiamen City. Among them, 8,893 were recovered with rate of 90.4%. The results showed that there were 518 positive traps, and the average index of CI was 5.8, which was higher than the safety level of 5 from June to



FIGURE 2

Geographical location of the study area and distribution of DF cases in Xiamen in 2019. Filled red circle represents the indigenous cases and filled green circle represents the imported cases.



October. Therefore, it can be found that the change trend of CI is similar to that of BI, its the value is generally lower than BI, see Figure 4B.

For the monitoring of adult mosquito, we have the Human-baited double net trapping technique. From May to October, a total of 276 double-layered accounts were deployed. Finally, it was calculated that 1.7 mosquito nets were detected per hour, of which the highest was 2.2 in July, and the threshold value was higher than 2 in both June and July, see Figure 4C.

Therefore, we monitored the insecticide resistance of *Ae. albopictus* in Xiamen City, the results demonstrated that knockdown rate of mosquitoes at 1 h, the corrected mortality rate for 24 h and the insecticide resistance are shown in Table 4. Furthermore, the resistance times and resistance result of *Ae.* *albopictus* larvae exposed to parathion, prepoxur and pyriproxyfen are shown in Table 5. The adult *Ae. albopictus* in Huli District is sensitive to insecticides such as oxymoron, fenitrothion, residual carbofuran, malathion and chlorpyrifos, and high resistance to pyrethroid insecticides such as deltamethrin, high efficiency cypermethrin and high efficiency cyfluthrin. The larvae of *Ae. albopictus* are sensitive to disulfiram, with low resistance to residual carbofuran and medium resistance to pyriproxyfen. Adult *Ae. albopictus* is sensitive to oxytetracycline, fenitrothion and chlorpyrifos, possibly resistant to residual chlorpyrifos and malathion, and highly resistant to deltamethrin, cypermethrin, deltamethrin, cypermethrin and other pyrethroid insecticides in the Xiang'an District. Larvae of *Ae. albopictus* are sensitive to disulfoton and residual chlorpyrifos and moderately resistant to imidacloprid.

TABLE 3	The population	distribution	of DF cases in	Xiamen City in 2019.
---------	----------------	--------------	----------------	----------------------

		Indigenous cases	Imported cases		
Gender	Male	8	94		
	Female	11	25		
Age	≤10	-	-		
	11-20	2	4		
	21-30	6	39		
	31-40	2	39		
	41-50	5	34		
	51-60	1	2		
	≥61	3	1		
Occupation	Commercial service	7	21		
	Student	2	4		
	Staff member	3	1		
	Worker	2	2		
	Housework and unemployment	4	18		
	Farmer	_	1		
	Catering food industry	-	7		
	Others	1	64		

Risk assessment of different transmission models

In this study, by adjusting different parameters in the model, we observed whether different imported cases can cause the transmission of indigenous DF cases, and quantitatively assessed the transmission risk of DF in Xiamen City, as shown in Figure 5. In scenario 1, we set the community population to 10,000. At this point, by changing BI value, birth rate and mortality rate of mosquitoes, we found that 58 DF cases imported from the community can cause indigenous DF cases when mosquito mortality rate is 1/14 and BI value is 1. With the BI values changing from 2, 3, 4-5, the imported case parameters are set to 29, 19, 14, and 11 cases, respectively, which can generate indigenous secondary cases. On the other hand, when the BI value is fixed at 1, the mosquito mortality rate changes to 1/50, so it takes 10 imported cases to cause the spread of indigenous cases. However, when changing the birth rate parameters, the impact on the model is limited, and the input of dengue cases within the set range cannot produce local secondary cases. As mosquito mortality declines and BI value increases, so did the number of imported cases that can cause the spread of local dengue cases, see Figure 5A.

In scenario 2, the community population is 15,000. At this time, the BI value is set to 1, the mosquito mortality rate is 1/14, and 25 imported cases are needed to produce local secondary cases. However, when the mortality rate is 1/14 and the BI value is 5, or when the mortality rate is 1/50 and the BI value is 1, only five imported cases are needed to produce local secondary cases. At the same time, we also found that when the BI value increased, the mortality dropped to a certain range, and only one imported case



could cause local dengue fever cases, and the risk of DF transmission was relatively high at this time, see Figure 5B.

In Scenarios 3 and 4, the community population reaches 20,000 and 25,000, respectively. The results showed that under the same BI value and mosquito mortality conditions, the larger the community population, the smaller the number of imported cases needed to cause local dengue fever transmission, and the higher the transmission risk. Moreover, we changed the BI value and mosquito mortality, and found that the lower the mortality rate, the higher the BI, the higher the transmission risk of dengue fever. Especially when the BI value is above 3 and the mortality rate is <1/26, only one dengue fever case is needed to produce an indigenous DF case, see Figures 5C, D.

Discussion

DF cases was first reported in Foshan city in China in 1978. The dengue virus then spread widely to Guangdong, Guangxi, Hainan and Fujian province, causing hundreds of thousands of patients (25). As a main economic city in Fujian Province, Xiamen has a suitable climate and a large population mobility, resulting in a heavy public health burden caused by DF. In this study, we used the transmission dynamics model to quantitatively evaluate the

TABLE 4 Insecticide resistance of Ae. albopictus.

Pesticides	(Adjusted)	mortality rate	Population determine				
	Huli	Xiang'an	Huli	Xiang'an			
0.2% bendiocarb	100%	100%	Sensitive species	Sensitive species			
0.2% fenitrothion	96%	99.24%	Likely resistant species	Sensitive species			
0.03% deltamethrin	93%	24.07%	Likely resistant species	Resistant species			
0.04% permethrin	64%	53.57%	Resistant species	Resistant species			
0.5% propoxur	100%	95.71%	Sensitive species	Likely resistant species			
0.5% malathion	99%	99.31%	Sensitive species	Sensitive species			
0.08% beta-cypermethrin	38%	30.89%	Resistant species	Resistant species			
0.07% lambda-cyhalothrin	75%	66.67%	Resistant species	Resistant species			
2% chlorpyrifos	100%	100%	Sensitive species	Sensitive species			
0.4% beta-cypermethrin	43%	68.87%	Resistant species	Resistant species			

TABLE 5 Insecticide resistance of Ae. albopictus larvae.

Pesticide	Population	Regression equation	LC50 (mg/L)	95% CI	Resistance multiple
Disulphion	Sensitive strain	y = 21.47 + 8.71x	$3.43 imes 10^{-3}$	$3.31 \times 10^{-3}, 3.55 \times 10^{-3}$	
	Huli	y = 9.65 + 4.1x	4.42×10^{-3}	4.12×10^{-3} , 4.71×10^{-3}	1.29
	Xiang'an	y = 9.17 + 4.13x	$5.98 imes 10^{-3}$	5.57×10^{-3} , 6.48×10^{-3}	1.74
Propoxur	Sensitive strain	y = 7.23x - 0.15	1.05	0.95, 1.13	
	Huli	y = 4.62x - 2.38	3.27	3.08, 3.49	3.12
	Xiang'an	y = 3.33x - 1.64	3.11	2.84, 3.42	2.97
Pyripropoxyfen	Sensitive strain		$1.01 imes 10^{-5}$	$6.24 \times 10^{-6}, 1.45 \times 10^{-5}$	
	Huli	y = 1.907 + 0.531x	$2.57\times10\times10^{-4}$	$1.54 \times 10^{-4}, 4.03 \times 10^{-4}$	25.55
	Xiang'an	y = 2.837 + 0.740x	$1.48 imes 10^{-4}$	$9.4 imes 10^{-5}, 2.24 imes 10^{-4}$	14.71

influence of community population, mosquito density and mosquitoborne insecticide resistance on DF transmission in Xiamen City, so as to promote the formulation of more effective prevention and control strategies.

Population risk assessment

In 2019, the distribution of DF cases in Chinese mainland has expanded significantly, with 1,066 regions reporting imported cases and 550 regions reporting indigenous cases (26). From 2005 to 2019, the imported cases of DF in Xiamen City showed a rapid upward trend. In 2019, Xiamen reported a total of 119 imported cases from multiple regions and countries, mainly distributed in Huli and Siming District. The public health and epidemic prevention departments of these two administrative districts need to pay extra attention to the transmission of imported cases to secondary cases in the local areas. The indigenous cases were reported mainly from August to October, for the main reason may be that the temperature and humidity in summer are suitable for mosquito-borne growth and reproduction, leading to the local spread of dengue virus (12, 27). Imported cases have also been reported in 11 months except March. We believe that Xiamen City, as a coastal city, has frequent communication with Southeast Asian countries and regions, and there are many imported cases reported during the high incidence of DF in summer. Accordingly, the customs and epidemic prevention departments should pay attention to the movement of personnel from areas with high incidence of DF and do a good job of port education on DF prevention, which can effectively reduce the local spread and even outbreak of DF. The reported cases are mainly concentrated in the middle-aged and young people aged 21–50, and the majority of them are professional engaged in commercial services. According to the study, these people are more susceptible to DF infection due to their active work. Therefore, the education and medical investigation of these people should be strengthened as part of daily prevention work.

Mosquito vector risk assessment

According to our research, we selected Huli District and Xiang'an District of Xiamen City to investigate mosquito-borne ecology and monitor insecticide resistance. The results showed that the average value of BI and CI in Huli District were 9.3, 5.3, then 6.1 and 6.4 in Xiang'an District, all of which were higher than the safety level of 5. In this cases, larvae proliferated rapidly, increasing the risk of dengue virus transmission (27). At this point, when imported cases occur in the jurisdiction, DF might spread or even spread locally. At the same time, we measured the number of adult mosquitoes by HDN method, and the results showed that the average of HDN in



Huli District was 3.4, which gradually decreased after August, while the HDN in Xiang'an District was always at a low level, just similar to the number of indigenous cases. As previously monitored, Ae. albopictus in Xiamen is sensitive to malathion and propoxur, and has high resistance to pyrethroid insecticides such as deltamethrin, betacypermethrin, and beta-cypermethrin. Thus, we selected mosquitoes in two districts to carry out insecticide resistance tests. The results illustrated that Ae. albopictus in Huli District was sensitive to warfarin, fenitrothion, propoxur, malathion, and chlorpyrifos, and had higher resistance to other insecticides. Ae. albopictus in Xiang'an District was only sensitive to warfarin, fenitrothion, and chlorpyrifos, showing different resistance levels to other insecticides. Based on previous studies, mosquito resistance to chemical insecticides is inevitable, so we need to avoid using chemical insecticides blindly (28, 29). The local public health authorities can scientifically assess the risk of mosquito-borne transmission on the basis of experiments, rationally select sensitive and low-resistance pesticides, and use them in crop rotation on an annual basis. This can effectively present the increase of resistance and achieve the purpose of reducing mosquito density.

Model evaluation

In this study, the ODE dynamics model was used to investigate the impact of potential risk factors such as community population,

number of imported cases, mosquito vector density and mosquito insecticide resistance on the local transmission of DF in Xiamen. We set up four scenarios with simulated community population of 10,000, 15,000, 20,000, and 25,000, and input different numbers of DF cases to quantitatively evaluate the spread of indigenous DF cases. In the model, the density of mosquito vectors is reflected by the change of BI index, while the insecticide resistance of mosquitoes is assumed to change the birth rate and mortality rate of mosquitoes. According to our simulation results, when the community population is 10,000, the mortality rate of mosquitoes is 1/14 of the highest value in the set range, and the BI index is 1, both insecticide resistance and mosquito vector density of mosquitoes are at the lowest value, so 58 imported DF cases are needed to cause the spread of indigenous DF cases. As the density of mosquito vectors gradually increases, the number of imported cases required for indigenous DF transmission gradually decreases. Similarly, when the mortality rate of mosquitoes is reduced to 1/50, that is, mosquito resistance to insecticide is very high, the results show that only 10 imported cases can result in secondary local cases. This result suggests that public health departments should do a good job in killing mosquito vectors and choose sensitive and low-resistance chemical. In addition, in the model, we found that the birth rate of mosquitoes has little influence on the model, when we change the birth rate parameters, a certain number of dengue cases are input within the set range, which cannot cause the spread of indigenous cases.

When the community population gradually increased to 15,000, 20,000, and 25,000, the results of model simulation showed that when the mosquito mortality rate was 1/14 and BI value was 1, the number of imported cases needed to cause indigenous DF cases was 25, 14, and 9, respectively, that is, when mosquito-borne insecticide resistance and mosquito-borne density were consistent, the community population base had a great influence on local transmission of DF. Therefore, CDC should do well in health education and health prevention and control in large communities to effectively improve the prevention and control effect of DF. In the meantime, we found that when the community population is more than 20,000, the mosquito density is more than 3, and the mortality rate of mosquitoes is <1/38, only one case can be imported, which can cause the spread of indigenous DF. At this time, the risk of transmission is very high, so mosquito prevention and control work mainly in large communities is needed to prevent the synergistic effect of these key factors from causing the spread of indigenous DF.

The prevention and control of dengue fever is a social work, that requires the participation of health and epidemic prevention departments and the public. For places where DF is less threatening, we can mobilize the masses to carry out environmental prevention and control measures through community departments, so as to reduce the mosquito density in the external environment. For places where DF is a great threat, we suggest that public health departments should adopt chemical control during the high incidence period of DF (July to October) to reduce the risk of DF transmission, and select sensitive and low-resistance chemical insecticides to reduce the risk of DF transmission.

Limitation

It is worth noting that there are some limitations to our research. First of all, infectious disease outbreak assessment includes three steps and two factors, but in this study, we did not discuss the impact of environmental factors on mosquito vectors. Secondly, because DF is transmitted through vector, we can't evaluate the transmission ability of dengue fever by calculating R_0 (the basic reproduction number) or R_{eff} (the effective reproduction number). In the future work, we will also explore a feasible way to solve these problems.

Conclusions

In this study, propagation dynamics model was used to assess and predict the risk of DF. We emphasize that imported cases, community population, mosquito density and insecticide resistance play a key role in local DF transmission. Mosquito insecticide resistance has been identified as the most critical factor for evaluating DF communication risks and implementing management control measures. So public health authorities in China should pay more attention to mosquito control. The change of mosquito-borne birth rate and mortality rate can be regarded as indicators of mosquitoborne insecticide resistance. We suggest that detection of threshold effects of the number of imported cases, mosquito density and the changes of birth rate and mortality rate of local mosquito vectors tested by the transmission dynamics model can be used to predict and evaluate the risk of dengue fever epidemic. The identified factors are beneficial to the establishment of early warning and monitoring system of infectious diseases.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding authors.

Author contributions

TC, ZG, WL, and XL designed research. ZG, WL, XL, BA, SiW, BD, TY, JH, LLe, and ZZ analyzed data. WL, ZG, BA, LLu, and SiW completed the experiment. TC, ZG, WL, XL, BA, BD, LLe, ZZ, ZL, PL, CL, and LLu conducted the research and analyzed the results. TC, ZG, WL, XL, BA, and LLu wrote the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

Funding

This work was partly supported by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (INV-005834), Guiding projects of Science and Technology Program in Fujian Province (2019D014), Self-supporting Program of Guangzhou Laboratory (SRPG22-007), and Bureau of Science and Technology of Xiamen 2022 general science and technology project (35022022YJ07).

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to the staff members at the hospitals, local health departments, and municipal and county-level Center for Disease Control and Prevention offices for their valuable assistance in coordinating the data collection.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1079877/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. *Nature*. (2013) 496:504-7. doi: 10.1038/nature12060

 Khetarpal N, Khanna I. Dengue fever: causes, complications, and vaccine strategies. J Immunol Res. (2016) 2016;6803098. doi: 10.1155/2016/6803098

3. Murphy BR, Whitehead SS. Immune response to dengue virus and prospects for a vaccine. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2011) 29:587–619. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101315

4. Endy TP, Yoon IK, Mammen MP. Prospective cohort studies of dengue viral transmission and severity of disease. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* (2010) 338:1-13. doi: 10.1007/978-3-642-02215-9_1

5. Lee HS, Nguyen-Viet H, Nam VS, Lee M, Won S, Duc PP, et al. Seasonal patterns of dengue fever and associated climate factors in 4 provinces in Vietnam from 1994 to 2013. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2017) 1:218. doi: 10.1186/s12879-017-2326-8

6. Chen Y, Zhao Z, Li Z, Li W, Li Z, Guo R, et al. Spatiotemporal transmission patterns and determinants of dengue fever: a case study of Guangzhou, China. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2019) 16:14. doi: 10.3390/ijerph161 42486

7. Brady OJ, Gething PW, Bhatt S, Messina JP, Brownstein JS, Hoen AG, et al. Refining the global spatial limits of dengue virus transmission by evidence-based consensus. *PLoS Neglect Trop Dis.* (2012) 6:8. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0001760

8. Chen R, Vasilakis N. Dengue-quo tu et quo vadis? Viruses. (2011) 9:1562-608. doi: 10.3390/v3091562

9. Cheng Q, Jing Q, Spear RC, Marshall JM, Yang Z, Gong P. Climate and the timing of imported cases as determinants of the dengue outbreak in Guangzhou, 2014: evidence from a mathematical model. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2016) 2:e0004417. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0004417

10. Li C, Lu Y, Liu J, Wu X. Climate change and dengue fever transmission in China: evidences and challenges. *Sci Total Environ*. (2018) 622-3:493-501. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.11.326

11. Lai S, Huang Z, Zhou H, Anders KL, Perkins TA, Yin W, et al. The changing epidemiology of dengue in China, 1990-2014: a descriptive analysis of 25 years of nationwide surveillance data. *BMC Med.* (2015) 13:100. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0336-1

12. Yi B, Chen Y, Ma X, Rui J, Cui JA, Wang H, et al. Incidence dynamics and investigation of key interventions in a dengue outbreak in Ningbo City, China. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2019) 8:e0007659. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007659

13. Li R, Xu L, Bjornstad ON, Liu K, Song T, Chen A, et al. Climate-driven variation in mosquito density predicts the spatiotemporal dynamics of dengue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2019) 116:3624–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1806094116

14. Liu KK, Wang T, Huang XD, Wang GL, Xia Y, Zhang YT, et al. Risk assessment of dengue fever in Zhongshan, China: a time-series regression tree analysis. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2017) 145:451–61. doi: 10.1017/S095026881600265X

15. Lambrechts L, Scott TW, Gubler DJ. Consequences of the expanding global distribution of Aedes albopictus for dengue virus transmission. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2010) 4:e646. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000646

16. Peng HJ, Lai HB, Zhang QL, Xu BY, Zhang H, Liu WH, et al. A local outbreak of dengue caused by an imported case in Dongguan China. *BMC Public Health.* (2012) 12:83. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-83

17. Liu H, Liu L, Cheng P, Yang L, Chen J, Lu Y, et al. Bionomics and insecticide resistance of Aedes albopictus in Shandong, a high latitude and high-risk dengue transmission area in China. *Parasit Vec.* (2020) 1:11. doi: 10.1186/s13071-020-3880-2

18. Tangena JA, Thammavong P, Hiscox A, Lindsay SW, Brey PT. The human-baited double net trap: an alternative to human landing catches for collecting outdoor biting mosquitoes in Lao PDR. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 9:e0138735. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138735

19. Andraud M, Hens N, Marais C, Beutels P. Dynamic epidemiological models for dengue transmission: a systematic review of structural approaches. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e49085. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0049085

20. Tang B, Xiao Y, Tang S, Wu J. Modelling weekly vector control against Dengue in the Guangdong Province of China. J Theor Biol. (2016) 410:65-76. doi: 10.1016/j.jtbi.2016.09.012

21. Wang T, Wang M, Shu B, Chen XQ, Luo L, Wang JY, et al. Evaluation of inapparent dengue infections during an outbreak in Southern China. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2015) 9:e0003677. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003677

22. Bosio CF, Thomas RE, Grimstad PR, Rai KS. Variation in the efficiency of vertical transmission of dengue-1 virus by strains of *Aedes albopictus* (Diptera: Culicidae). *J Med Entomol.* (1992) 6:985–9. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/29.6.985

23. Liu X, Zhang M, Cheng Q, Zhang Y, Ye G, Huang X, et al. Dengue fever transmission between a construction site and its surrounding communities in China. *Parasit Vect.* (2021) 1:22. doi: 10.1186/s13071-020-04463-x

24. Zhang M, Huang JF, Kang M, Liu XC, Lin HY, Zhao ZY, et al. Epidemiological characteristics and the dynamic transmission model of dengue fever in Zhanjiang City, Guangdong Province in 2018. *Trop Med Infect Dis.* (2022) 7:9. doi: 10.3390/tropicalmed7090209

25. Mu D, Cui JZ, Yin WW Li Y, Chen QL. Epidemiological characteristics of dengue fever outbreaks in China, 2015-2018. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi*. (2020) 5:685–9. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112338-20190715-00523

26. Li J, Xiong Y, Wu W, Liu X, Qu J, Zhao X, et al. Zika virus in a traveler returning to China from Caracas, Venezuela, February 2016. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 6:1133–6. doi: 10.3201/eid2206.160273

27. Williams CR, Mincham G, Ritchie SA, Viennet E, Harley D. Bionomic response of Aedes aegypti to two future climate change scenarios in far north Queensland, Australia: implications for dengue outbreaks. *Parasit Vect.* (2014) 7:447. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-447

28. Dusfour I, Vontas J, David JP, Weetman D, Fonseca DM, Corbel V, et al. Management of insecticide resistance in the major Aedes vectors of arboviruses: advances and challenges. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2019) 10:e0007615. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007615

29. Achee NL, Grieco JP, Vatandoost H, Seixas G, Pinto J, Ching-Ng L, et al. Alternative strategies for mosquito-borne arbovirus control. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2019) 1:e0006822. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006822

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Miguel Angel Garcia Bereguiain, University of the Americas, Ecuador

REVIEWED BY

Alberto Orlando, National Institute of Public Health and Research (Ecuador), Ecuador Nicolas Leveque, University of Poitiers, France

*CORRESPONDENCE Olivia Wesula Lwande ⊠ olivia.lwande@umu.se

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases: Pathogenesis and Therapy, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 27 January 2023 ACCEPTED 07 March 2023 PUBLISHED 27 March 2023

CITATION

Wilkman L, Ahlm C, Evander M and Lwande OW (2023) Mosquito-borne viruses causing human disease in Fennoscandia—Past, current, and future perspectives. *Front. Med.* 10:1152070. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2023.1152070

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Wilkman, Ahlm, Evander and Lwande. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Mosquito-borne viruses causing human disease in Fennoscandia— Past, current, and future perspectives

Lukas Wilkman¹, Clas Ahlm^{1,2}, Magnus Evander^{1,2} and Olivia Wesula Lwande^{1,2}*

¹Department of Clinical Microbiology, Umeå University, Umeå, Sweden, ²Umeå Centre for Microbial Research, Umeå, Västerbotten, Sweden

Five different mosquito-borne viruses (moboviruses) significant to human disease are known to be endemic to Fennoscandia (Sindbis virus, Inkoo virus, Tahyna virus, Chatanga virus, and Batai virus). However, the incidence of mosquito-borne virus infections in Fennoscandia is unknown, largely due to underdiagnosing and lack of surveillance efforts. The Fennoscandian moboviruses are difficult to prevent due to their method of transmission, and often difficult to diagnose due to a lack of clear case definition criteria. Thus, many cases are likely to be mis-diagnosed, or even not diagnosed at all. Significant long-term effects, often in the form of malaise, rashes, and arthralgia have been found for some of these infections. Research into mobovirus disease is ongoing, though mainly focused on a few pathogens, with many others neglected. With moboviruses found as far north as the 69th parallel, studying mosquito-borne disease occurring in the tropics is only a small part of the whole picture. This review is written with the objective of summarizing current medically relevant knowledge of moboviruses occurring in Fennoscandia, while highlighting what is yet unknown and possibly overlooked.

KEYWORDS

arbovirus, mosquito-borne virus, mobovirus, epidemiology, Fennoscandia, Sindbis virus

Introduction

During the last decade, emerging viral diseases have increased considerably in incidence in regions all over the world, many of these previously neglected as sporadically occurring viruses of limited importance to public health. Of these viral diseases, arboviruses (**ar**thropod-**bo**rne) have seen the greatest global spread in recent times, with dengue, chikungunya, Zika and yellow fever seeing unprecedented spread from 2015 onwards (1). The global burden of vector-borne viruses cannot be overstated; with 80% of the population at risk for one or more vector-borne disease, and already causing 17% of the global burden of communicable disease, including 700,000 deaths annually, their impact on human society is clear (1).

Arboviruses are defined as viruses replicating within arthropods and are then spread to vertebrate hosts. These viruses, belonging to a group of between 500 and 600 viruses including the families of *Peribunyaviridae*, *Phenuiviridae*, *Flaviviridae*, *Reoviridae*, *Rhabdoviridae*, and *Togaviridae*. Viruses belonging to *Peribunya-*, *Phenui-*, *Flavi-*, and *Togaviridae* are known to be transmitted by hematophagous (i.e., blood-feeding) insects and other arthropods ranging from ticks to mosquitoes (2–4). For example, most flaviviruses in Fennoscandia are transmitted by ticks with a key example being the tick-borne
encephalitis virus (TBEV). This review focuses on the viruses spread by mosquitoes, known as **mo**squito-**bo**rne **viruses**, or moboviruses.

While the number of mosquito-borne diseases and their incidence in Europe is far lower than those of tropical regions, they are nevertheless a substantial contributor to infectious disease morbidity (5). With changing climates, future outbreaks may occur in areas where populations are immunologically naïve, and public health systems are unprepared (1, 3, 6, 7). Historically, mosquito-borne pathogens have been a major source of disease in Europe, with malaria being widespread as far north as Fennoscandia until the mid to late nineteenth century (8, 9). In more recent times, moboviruses belonging to the California encephalitis group of genus Orthobunyavirus, family Peribunyaviridae have been isolated as far north as the Finnmark region of Norway, in the village of Masi (69°26'N) (10). With appropriate, competent vectors found throughout Fennoscandia, it may only be a matter of time before mosquito-borne disease returns to be the major public health concern it once was in Fennoscandia, and currently is in more temperate regions.

Fennoscandia is the geographical peninsula that includes Scandinavia, in addition to Finland, Karelia and the Kola peninsula. This is distinct from Fenno-Scandinavia, which is simply Finland and Scandinavia. For the purposes of this review the term Fennoscandia, as well as the region it represents was used because of the relative ecological unity in the subarctic climate of the area in respect to which vectors are present, and which viruses they carry. This ecological unity would not be as clear if Iceland or Denmark were included, or Finland omitted.

The mosquitoes (*Culicidae*) have ever since they were first identified as the vectors of yellow fever (11), been at the center of medico-entomological research due to their significance as efficient vectors of both human and animal disease (4). Mosquitoes are very adaptable vectors, capable of thriving in a large variety of environments; from lakes to water-filled footprints, there's hardly any aquatic habitat unsuitable for mosquito larvae (4). Large areas in Fennoscandia are covered by forests and there are a multitude of wetlands and water bodies. This in combination with a relative high precipitation makes the area favorable for mosquitoes (12). Finland features 43 different recorded blood-sucking mosquito species, and Norway 38. In Sweden there are around 50 different species, with most of the additional species being found further south than the southernmost regions of Finland and Norway (12–15).

In our changing climate, it is possible for invasive species of mosquitoes to spread disease previously unknown to that area, as was observed in Europe when the chikungunya outbreak occurred in Italy in 2007 (16). Further autochthonous cases have been detected in southern Europe since then, especially in areas where the invasive species *Ae. albopictus* has been established (7, 17).

As previously highlighted, there are many gaps in the present knowledge of the transmission of moboviruses, and the diseases they cause in humans. By furthering the research into these viruses, and the way they are spread, better diagnostic criteria and new treatment options may be developed. Through this, cases of human infection may be detected earlier, and morbidity as well as mortality reduced. Through improved early surveillance, case series may be prevented before they develop into outbreaks. Together, all these steps may lead us onto our ultimate goal, reducing patient suffering, by coming up with useful therapeutics and vaccines for the management and prevention of disease spread.

Viral genetics and structure

The Fennoscandian arboviruses known to be human pathogens fall under the families *Peribunya-*, *Flavi-*, and *Togaviridae*. Of these, the ones spread by mosquitoes all fall under either the genera *Orthobunyavirus*, in the family *Peribunyaviridae*; or *Alphavirus*, the sole genus in the family *Togaviridae*, while the flaviviruses are transmitted by ticks. (18, 19). Accordingly, only these two genera will be further described in this review.

Alphaviruses are enveloped viruses with a single-stranded positive sense RNA genome of 10–12kb housed in spherical virions, around 70 nm wide. They are characterized by their impressive host range, including vertebrate hosts such as humans, non-human primates, equids, birds, amphibians, rodents, and pigs, as well as sea mammals and fish. Sindbis virus is the sole member of *Alphavirus* found in Fennoscandia (2, 20).

Orthobunyaviruses have a segmented genome, with three segments of negative-sense RNA (S, M and L) of 12.4kb in total; housed in enveloped, spherical virions of 80–120 nm in diameter. It is the largest and most diverse genus in the family, with a wide range of vertebrate hosts including squirrels, bats, rabbits, ungulates, sloths, and birds. The orthobunyaviruses found in Fennoscandia are Chatanga virus, Inkoo virus, Tahyna virus, and Batai virus. Of these four, all but Batai virus falls under the California serogroup, grouped together by their similarity to the prototypical California encephalitis virus (CEV) (21, 22). The phylogeny of relevant viruses in the genus *Orthobunyavirus* is summarized in Figure 1.

Regarding viral characteristics of transmission, the two genera differ in their method of genetic recombination. The positive sense single-stranded genomes of alphaviruses undergo frequent recombination, associated with genetic diversity (25). The segmented genome of *orthobunyaviruses* allow for reassortment to occur, while recombination is rare. This has been implied to play an important role in *Orthobunyavirus* emergence and virulence, especially though interspecies transmission. (26).

Epidemiology and disease

Sindbis virus

Sindbis virus (SINV) is the most clinically important of the Fennoscandic arboviruses (19), and is the sole member of the genus *Alphavirus* present in Fennoscandia. SINV was first isolated in 1952 near the village of Sindbis in Egypt, with the first case of human disease reported in 1961 (27). In Sweden, SINV was first isolated in the Swedish village of Ockelbo in 1982 and therefore called Ockelbo virus. It is very closely related to SINV-I, the only genotype out of six recognized (I-VI) associated with human disease (28), in both structure, pathogenicity, and antigenicity. It differs from the other SINV strains found in mainland Europe in that it is most closely related to the South African, suggesting that SINV was likely introduced to Fennoscandia by migratory birds, which have been observed to act as amplifying hosts to SINV, rather than spreading *via* mainland Europe (29, 30). The South African origin has however been challenged, due to a suggested origin in Central Africa found by Ling et al. (28).

The human disease caused by SINV, known as 'Ockelbo fever' (Sweden), 'Pogosta disease' (Finland), 'Karelian fever' (Russia), and generally as 'Sindbis fever'. Other terms include "August–September



disease" (*augusti-september-sjukan*) and "berry-pickers disease" (*bärplockarsjukan*, *bærplukkersyken*), named after the time-period and population in which it is mostly diagnosed (31). SINV causes occasional epidemics in Fennoscandia, characterized by a febrile maculopapular rash with myalgia and polyarthritis, of which the last symptom often persists the longest (32). Despite the avian SINV seroprevalence being widespread in Australasia and Africa, human SINV infection only appears clinically apparent in Northern Europe (mainly 60°–64°N) and South Africa, where the SINV-I genotype is dominant (27, 30, 33, 34).

SINV has an incubation period of 5–7 days before the onset of symptoms, after which IgM and IgG are detectable within 8 and 11 days respectively, resulting in a delay of 2–3 weeks between initial virus acquisition and the time a serological diagnosis can be made (35), at which point the extra articular symptoms have usually diminished. The articular symptoms may however persist for several months, in some cases even several years (36, 37). In Fennoscandia, SINV is mainly vectored by the ornithophilic mosquitoes *Aedes communis, Ae. cinereus, Ae. excrucians, Coquillettidia richiardii, Culex pipiens, Cx. torrentium*, and *Culiseta morsitans*. Additionally, it has also been found in *Anopheles maculipennis sensu* lato (18, 38–41). Of these species, *Ae. communis, Ae. cinereus, Ae. exrucians, Cq. richiardii* also readily feed on humans (42).

The present literature is unclear whether the variants of human disease (Ockelbo fever, Pogosta disease, and Karelian fever) represent separate entities caused by different strains or are simply local variants in nomenclature. Though fever and rash are present in all three, some characteristics vary between the diseases, suggesting that they may indeed be separate; such as paresthesia being reported only in Ockelbo disease, while Karelian fever rarely features chronic arthritis or arthralgia (2). Sequence analysis of regional samples has not proven the three diseases to be caused by distinct viral strains, see Figure 2. While human infection tends to be subclinical more often than evident, the ratio between subclinical to clinical infection appears to vary by region, with ratios of 20:1-40:1 reported in Sweden and 17:1 in Finland (27). It is worth noting that in Fennoscandia, SINV is a notifiable disease only in Finland (28). In the clinical setting, diagnosis may be made more difficult by a non-specific array of these symptoms, where the rash might be confused for one caused by rubella virus in Pogosta disease, and parvovirus B19 in Ockelbo disease (2, 30, 45).

Incidence rates also vary between countries, with reported figures ranging from 2.9/100000 for Ockelbo fever, 2.7/100000 for Pogosta

disease, and 18/100000 for Karelian fever in their respective regions, see Table 1 (30, 34). Seroprevalence is similar, 2.9% in northern Sweden, and 2.5% for Finland; the studies also found increasing seroprevalence with age (34, 46, 47). The SINV infections are all more commonly observed in late summer to early fall. Pogosta disease features an additional pattern of larger endemic outbreaks every 7 years, a pattern not reported in the other regional variants. This remarkable pattern of cyclical outbreaks held true from the first outbreak in 1974 until 2009, when case numbers, although slightly higher than previous years, were significantly lower than those 597 seven cases reported in 2002 (30, 48). The cyclical pattern has not yet returned, it is not yet known what caused the cyclical pattern, or what caused it to cease. Several previously held theories were disproven by the cycle breaking, however grouse populations, a non-migratory bird and important vertebrate host for SINV in Finland, were at a record low in 2009, and did not recover until 2018, which might offer a partial explanation (32). The pattern may have returned, as a new major outbreak occurred in the fall of 2021, when 556 cases were recorded in Finland (49).

Inkoo virus

Inkoo virus (INKV), as well as the later mentioned viruses, all belong to the Orthobunyavirus genus, INKV is within the California serogroup, a group of serologically and genetically related orthobunyaviruses, all of which are presumed arboviruses, and many recognized human pathogens (50). INKV seropositivity has been recorded in northern Sweden as being significantly higher in men (46.9%) than in women (34.8%), weighted average 40.9% (51). The equivalent figure in Finland was 51.3% (52). Seroprevalence in Norway has not been extensively studied in humans, though a 1985 survey of seroprevalence in Norwegian soldiers 22% of the recruits tested displayed antibodies to California serogroup viruses (53). High IgG seroprevalence has been reported in reindeer (22). Human disease caused by INKV is often asymptomatic, with evident disease characterized by an influenza-like illness. INKV has been linked to cases of neuroinvasive disease in both adults and children, were the latter appeared to have a more severe form of the disease (23, 54). First isolated in Aedes communis and Ae. punctor in Finland in 1964, INKV has later been found in Ae. hexodontus, Culex torrentum, Cx. Pipiens and Culiseta morsitans as well. Ae. communis and Ae. punctor have been observed to have the capacity to act as vectors (23, 27, 38, 55).



Phylogenetic tree based on whole genome sequences of Sinbis virus (SINV) isolates in Finland, Sweden and Russia. The sequences were downloaded from NCBI Virus (43). Analysis was performed by ClustalW alignment and phylogram constructed by a maximum likelihood algorithm, both implemented in MEGA11 (44).

INKV, along with the related Tahyna virus, are two of the most common mosquito-borne California group viruses in Eurasia, and have therefore been recommended for close public health surveillance by the World Health Organization (3) Despite of this, INKV is not highly represented in the literature, with only 27 results in PubMed in the last 20 years.¹

Tahyna virus

Tahyna virus (TAHV) is closely related to La Crosse virus (LACV), first isolated in the Ťahyňa and Križany villages in what is now Slovakia in 1958 (56), the first mosquito-borne virus to be isolated in Europe (57, 58), TAHV now occurs in most countries of continental Europe (18, 55), with high TAHV antibody prevalence (60%–80%) in human populations in endemic regions, suggesting it to be widespread (59). Yet, only a few isolates have been produced in Fennoscandia (10, 18, 27, 39). Human disease caused by TAHV, known as 'Valtice fever' has been documented to cause an influenza like illness, characterized by fever and respiratory symptoms, and in rare cases central nervous

¹ PubMed search:" Inkoo OR INKV," results by year: 2002–2022. Retrieved 2022-07-05.

Virus	First isolate in Fennoscandiaª	Known distribution	Main symptoms or effects of human disease	Seroprevalence in population (%)	Incidence/ year (per 100,000)	Incubation period (days)
SINV	1982 (Sweden)	Norway, Sweden, Finland	Fever, rash, arthralgia	2.5 (Finland, Sweden)	2.7 (Finland)	5–7
INKV	1964 (Finland)	Norway, Sweden, Finland	Fever, influenza-like illness; encephalitis	51 (Finland) 41 (Sweden)	-	-
TAHV	1978 (Norway)	Norway, Sweden	Influenza-like illness; respiratory disease, meningoencephalitis	-	-	3-7
CHATV	2007 (Finland)	Finland	Fever, influenza-like illness; encephalitis	-	-	-
BATV	1985 (Sweden)	Norway, Sweden, Finland	Influenza-like illness	<1 (Norway, Sweden, Finland)	-	-

TABLE 1 Epidemiology of mosquito-borne viruses in Fennoscandia summarized.

SINV, Sindbis virus; INKV, Inkoo virus; CHATV, Chatanga virus; BATV, Batai virus; TAHV, Tahyna virus. *First isolates in mosquitoes.

system involvement in the form of meningoencephalitis. The disease appears more common in children than adults (18, 55, 56, 59). An incubation period of 3–7 days has been recorded (60).

According to the literature, cases appear limited to mainland Europe, with no reported cases of human disease caused by TAHV reported within Fennoscandia. Due to limited data, it is unclear whether this variance is due to limited TAHV spread, or factors related to the virus itself. TAHV is mainly spread by *Aedes* spp., principally *Ae. vexans* or *Ae. cantans*, though it has also been isolated in other species, such as *Culiseta annulata* and *Culex modestus*. The anthropophilic nature of *Ae. vexans* has been proposed to account for the high antibody rates found in human populations living in endemic areas (3, 54, 57).

Chatanga virus

Originally isolated in Russia in 1987, Chatanga virus (CHATV) was first isolated in Fennoscandia from *Aedes* spp. mosquitoes collected in Finland in 2007 (52). It has been conjectured that CHATV may be more widespread than previously indicated, due to its antigenic similarity to the more widely studied INKV, which has been reported to have a significant seroprevalence in endemic regions (52). CHATV is described very little in the literature,² but is suspected to behave similarly to INKV in human disease. Putkuri, et al. reported two patients hospitalized with symptoms of fever, headache and nausea were confirmed to be CHATV infections by plaque reduction neutralization testing (PRNT) (23). The patients showed no signs of neuroinvasive disease, as seen in INKV infection.

Batai virus

Batai virus (BATV) is notable amongst the European orthobunyaviruses in that, unlike the others, it is not a member of

the California serogroup, but rather the Bunyamwera serogroup (61). Originally isolated in Malaysia in 1955, BATV was first isolated in Sweden from Ae. communis mosquitoes collected in central Sweden 1983-1985 (38). BATV is one of the most geographically widespread orthobunyaviruses, ranging from Malaysia, and India, to most countries in central Europe. Evidence for Fennoscandic circulation has been reported in Norway, Sweden and Finland, with a seroprevalence of around 1% (61). The role of BATV in human disease is not entirely clear, with some cases of disease similar to other orthobunyaviruses being reported in China, though these were identified to involve naturally occurring reassortments with S and L segments from Bunyamwera virus (2, 62). In Africa and Asia, BATV has been described as a non-specific febrile illness, while European cases have been influenza-like in character (63). Fever, bronchopneumonia, tonsilitis and gastritis have all been associated with human BATV infection in former Czechoslovakia (27, 64).

Pathophysiology of mosquito-borne viral arthralgia and neuroinvasion

As previously discussed, the morbidity of these viral infections in humans is primarily caused by arthralgia, as well as the potential longterm effects of neuroinvasive disease. In many cases the mechanisms behind these effects are poorly understood and understudied, with research in these areas having been mostly focused on the arthralgia of Chikungunya virus (genus Alphavirus) and the neuroinvasive disease of West Nile virus (genus Flavirus). (65, 66). Several mechanisms have however been identified. These include direct invasion of the joint, joint involvement by immune complex formation, and immune modulation causing a chronic inflammatory response occurring after the transient viremia of the acute phase of the disease. The specific mechanism varies by virus (66). For alphaviruses, who all share a similar mechanism of infection and replication, much of the inflammation is thought to be caused by pro-inflammatory cytokines and matrix metalloproteinases released by infected macrophages in the articular synovium. An inflammatory cycle is then continued by resident cells, who in are in turn infected themselves (67). In sequence alignment studies, another mechanism has been proposed, by which structural proteins in arthritogenic alphaviruses

² PubMed search "(Chatanga OR CHATV) AND virus," returned 6 results. Retrieved 2022-07-06. Ovid MEDLINE search "(Chatanga OR CHATV) AND virus, returned 2 text results. Retrieved 2022-07-06.

are able to activate T cells similar to endogenous proteins implicated in rheumatoid arthritis (68).

Neuroinvasive disease requires the virus to evade the innate and adaptive immune response such that it may gain entry to the central nervous system (CNS); this is possible through either the neural route, the olfactory route, or the blood-brain barrier. (66) Neural transmission along the axon has not been associated with any mosquito-borne virus. The olfactory route, through infection of olfactory receptor cells in the nasal cavity, has however been demonstrated for both, alphaviruses such as the Venezuelan equine encephalitis virus and the Semliki Forest virus, and orthobunyaviruses such as the La Crosse virus (69, 70). Invasion of the blood-brain barrier, either by adherence to erythrocytes or by pinocytosis has been observed for several alphaviruses, including the Semliki Forest virus (69). Once within the CNS, neurons serve as the main target cells for both encephalitic alphaviruses and orthobunyaviruses (69). This infection triggers an inflammatory response in the neurons, releasing inflammatory cytokines such as interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, and tumor necrosing factor (TNF)-α, potentially exacerbating the neuroinflammation (71).

Transmission dynamics and vector competence

For an arbovirus to be successfully transmitted, a complicated series of events and interactions involving the virus, arthropod vector, vertebrate reservoir host and human, all depending on environmental and ecological factors must take place. It is these factors that limit the physiological ability of a species to act as a vector for a specific virus, it is this ability that is known as *vector competence.* In the prospective vector, a series of events of just as complex must take place. Virions acquired by the female mosquito during blood-feeding must pass through the gastro-intestinal system, first entering by passing the midgut infection barrier, through the midgut escape barrier, and into the hemolymph, through which it spreads into the other organs, ultimately into the salivary glands where it may replicate see Figure 3. If it successfully replicates and can pass through the salivary gland escape barrier, it may then be passed onto the vertebrate from which the mosquito takes its next blood meal. If the virus fails to pass through any of these barriers, the mosquito is simply a dead-end vessel for the virus, a so-called mechanical vector (58, 72). Because of this, one must keep in mind that a mere virus detection in a species does not necessarily mean that the species is a competent vector. A vector is only truly competent if the ingested virus passes through the organism as previously described such that viremia occurs in, and escapes from, the salivary glands. Thus, vector competence can only truly be determined if viremia in the saliva is measured, detection of virus in any other way might only indicate that the mosquito ingested a blood meal from an infected host (58). Therefore, confirming a species as a vector of a certain virus with certainty is a scientifically rigorous process requiring an infection study of several stages of in vivo and in vitro study. Vector competence studies have been performed on SINV with wild caught mosquitoes in Sweden (73-75), though no other studies have been performed yet in the rest of Fennoscandia, or on any of the orthobunyaviruses. Another special case is the so-called reservoir host. This occurs when an organism is infected by a vector but shows little susceptibility to the pathological effects of the virus. This organism may then develop sufficient viremia for a new vector to acquire the virus during blood feeding, without developing significant disease itself. Reservoir hosts may then maintain the endemic state of a virus, acting as sources for a virus even if the vectors are not themselves carrying the virus, such as during periods of climate to harsh for the mosquito vectors to survive in aduult form. This creates an ecological system, in which the virus may survive indefinitely (76).

Host-vector transmission as above requires that the infected mosquito was to feed first on an infected host, and then take a second blood-meal from a new host, with enough time in between to develop sufficient viremia itself. There are however a number of viruses capable of being transmitted from the infected female to the next generation (known as *transovarial transmission*) whereby only a single



blood-feeding would be sufficient. This will also amplify the effect, as it is not only a single mosquito that is infected, but possibly all of the brood which it lays. This also allows the virus to overwinter in species where the adults do not survive the winter. Of the 18 California serogroup viruses known, 9 have so far been shown to be transovarially transmitted by their mosquito vectors, including the aforementioned La Crosse virus, California encephalitis virus, Jamestown Canyon virus, Tahyna virus, Inkoo virus, as well as the Snowshoe hare virus, Keystone virus, Trivittatus virus, and Morro Bay virus (24, 50). This has also been demonstrated in SINV (77).

Diagnosis

As previously mentioned, for most of these mosquito-borne viruses, the diagnostic criteria that are to be used when assessing whether to include a suspected infection amongst to differential diagnoses are practically non-existent. These principles of inadequate diagnostic criteria are relevant even outside the scope of Fennoscandian arbovirus infections. The La Crosse virus (LACV) is a major cause of pediatric viral encephalitis in the United States, with a reported case fatality of up to 1.9% of confirmed cases (78). LACV encephalitis has been reported to often be mistaken for herpes simplex (HSV) or meningoencephalitis due to similar case presentations and can so often evade correct diagnosis (23, 78). Other viruses in the same California serogroup, e.g., Jamestown Canyon Virus, have also been reported to cause neuroinvasive disease, though these are reported more rarely, and are studied even less than LACV (23).

Diagnostics should be performed in a two-tiered approach, first testing for common and/or treatable etiologies, as well as those suspected based on specific risk factors. The second tier consists of broader, more invasive tests if previous diagnostic measures remain unsuccessful. Available methods for collecting material for laboratory diagnosis (Polymerase chain reaction; PCR, PRNT, antibody panels etc.) are sampling of blood, CSF by lumbar puncture when involvement of the central nervous system is suspected, serological testing for general malaise, and puncture of vesicles with sampling of exudate in vesicular rashes (79). These tests are then usually sent away for laboratory analysis at larger hospital laboratories. Although simpler kits for viral analysis are available, they are for research use only, and not rated for diagnostic use.

Due to the close genetic and antigenic relationships the orthobunyaviruses form, especially those in the California serogroup, cross reactivity in serology diagnostics makes differentiation between the viruses difficult, necessitating the use of neutralization assays (e.g., PRNT). These assays are not routinely used in clinical practice, except for in certain cases, eg. when certain notifiable diseases are suspected, as they are expensive and usually only available at some university hospitals (22). Some of these infections have well developed serological criteria, such as SINV, in which sensitivities of IgM and IgG enzyme immunoassays were reported as 97.6 and 100%; specificities were 95.2% and 97.6%, respectively (80).

Indeed, in many cases the diagnoses is only possible after the fact, often once an outbreak has already occurred and an increase in similar case presentations appear, a phenomenon observed in the SINV outbreak in Sweden in 2013. IgG may then be used to confirm seroprevalence. (36).

Treatment

Treatment of the acute infection is of these moboviruses are strictly limited to the symptomatic, as no specific treatment is available. Also, no vaccine or prophylactic medication has of yet been made available (81).

Though most of the human infections caused by these viruses are generally mild in symptoms, the long-term effects may cause significant morbidity. In a follow-up study of patients with serologically confirmed Pogosta disease, only 50% of patients were found to be symptomless 2.5 years after onset (82). In a study conducted in northern Sweden, seropositivity for SINV was found to be an independent predictor of having had a stroke, odds ratio 4.3 (36, 46).

It is not clear why only some patients infected with orthobunyaviruses develop symptoms. In the case of INKV, it has been theorized that underlying disease or trauma may be a prerequisite for causing entry across the blood–brain barrier, whereby neuroinvasive infection may then occur (23).

So far, there has been little research into the treatment of infections caused by these moboviruses. Limited by few cases being identified in the early stages, very little has been done in situations resembling randomized-control trials. As such, not much is known about optimal treatment, as most infections in the literature were treated either symptomatically, or as the more common disease the infection was mistaken for.

Insights from a clinician's perspective

When discussing the subject of this review with Fennoscandian colleagues in medicine, not specifically engaged in infectious medicine, the first question is inevitably: "Hold on, are there mosquito-borne diseases around here?"

The true incidence of California serogroup virus infections in Fennoscandia is unknown, largely due to underdiagnosing and lack of surveillance efforts (23). It is therefore impossible to estimate the effects of these viruses in the human population, as many cases are likely to be misdiagnosed, or even not diagnosed at all. One could easily imagine a case of INKV going undetected, as most patients will not seek medical care for a fever without complications. Should a patient in their early 60's develops arthritis, one could easily imagine that the symptoms would just be thought of as "a part of normal aging" and no more would be thought of that. In comparing the reported seroprevalence with incidence of human disease for SINV, it becomes evident that the disease is either unreported in many areas, or the disease may take a different form itself. With present diagnostic criteria and case reporting, it is not clear which, if any, is closer to the truth.

It is especially important for general practitioners, who are most likely to see these cases first, to pay attention to infections presenting as fever, rash and/or joint symptoms, especially during late summer to early fall, i.e., from August to September in the Northern Hemisphere. As previously discussed, these infections lack clear case criteria, and can often mask as more commonly seen infections, such as parvovirus B19 or other virus infections with rash in younger patients. In these younger patients, mosquito borne infections are generally not considered as readily, due to the reputation many of these infections have of only occurring in women of late middle-age, which is not the case (2, 83). As many of these infections, particularly SINV, generally occur in outbreaks, being aware of how many patients in the area have presented with similar symptoms may be of great value.

Future perspectives

One must keep an eye open for the possibility of novel moboviruses being established in Fennoscandia, with viruses such as the Usutu virus and antibodies to West Nile virus already having been found in avian hosts in Sweden (84, 85), human cases may appear soon, although no autochthonous cases has been recorded yet. Early detection of invasive moboviruses, would be greatly aided by cooperation between clinicians and other key players, such as medical researchers, entomologists, veterinarians, and policy makers, using a One Health perspective.

Only with increased awareness of the diseases may the morbidity caused by prolonged infections be reduced. These developments, when in place, will also make the healthcare system more adaptable through preparedness, should a previously unknown virus become endemic in the future or indeed, an endemic mobovirus may, e.g., find more potent vectors and/or more suitable climate, and cause outbreaks (12).

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

References

1. World Health Organization. *Global Vector Control Response 2017–2030*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2017).

2. Laine M, Luukkainen R, Toivanen A. Sindbis viruses and other alphaviruses as cause of human arthritic disease. *J Intern Med.* (2004) 256:457–71. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2796.2004.01413.x

3. Gratz NGWorld Health Organization. Regional Office for Europe. *The vector-borne human infections of Europe: their distribution and burden on public health*. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe (2004).

4. Becker N, Petric D, Zgomba M, Boase C, Madon M, Dahl C, et al. *Mosquitoes and their control*. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Science & Business Media (2010).

5. Calzolari M. Mosquito-Borne diseases in Europe: an emerging public health threat. *Rep Parasitol.* (2016) 5:1. doi: 10.2147/RIP.S56780

6. Colón-González FJ, Sewe MO, Tompkins AM, Sjödin H, Casallas A, Rocklöv J, et al. Projecting the risk of Mosquito-Borne diseases in a warmer and more populated world: a multi-model, multi-scenario Intercomparison modelling study. *Lancet Planet Health*. (2021) 5:e404–14. doi: 10.1016/S2542-5196(21)00132-7

7. Caputo B, Russo G, Manica M, Vairo F, Poletti P, Guzzetta G, et al. A comparative analysis of the 2007 and 2017 Italian chikungunya outbreaks and implication for public health response. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2020) 14:e0008159. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0008159

8. Chen TT, Ljungqvist FC, Castenbrandt H, Hildebrandt F, Ingholt MM, Hesson JC, et al. The spatiotemporal distribution of historical malaria cases in Sweden: a climatic perspective. *Malar J.* (2021) 20:212. doi: 10.1186/s12936-021-03744-9

9. Reiter P. Global warming and malaria: knowing the horse before hitching the cart. *Malar J.* (2008) 7:S3. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-7-s1-s3

10. Traavik T, Mehl R, Wiger R. California encephalitis group viruses isolated from mosquitoes collected in southern and Arctic Norway. *Acta Pathol Microbiol Scand B*. (1978) 86B:335–41. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1978.tb00053.x

11. Reed W, Caroll J, Agramonte A. The etiology of yellow fever. J Am Med Assoc. (1901) XXXVI:431. doi: 10.1001/jama.1901.52470070017001f

Author contributions

LW, CA, ME, and OL conceived, designed, and coordinated the writing of the whole manuscript. LW and OL contributed to data collection. All authors contributed to critically revised and approved the final version of this manuscript.

Funding

This work was financially supported by the Formas grant no. 2020-01056, the Basic Science-Oriented Biotechnology Research at the Faculty of Medicine, Umeå University and the Swedish Research Council grant no. 2019-00773.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

12. Culverwell CL, Uusitalo RJ, Korhonen EM, Vapalahti OP, Huhtamo E. Harbach RE. The mosquitoes of Finland: updated distributions and bionomics. *Med Vet Entomol.* (2021) 35:1–29. doi: 10.1111/mve.12475

13. Lundström J, Schäfer M, Hesson J, Blomgren E, Lindström A, Wahlqvist P, et al. The geographic distribution of Mosquito species in Sweden. *J Eur Mosquito Control Assoc.* (2013) 31:35.

14. Wilkerson RC, Linton Y-M, Strickman D. *Mosquitoes of the world*. Baltimore, MD: Johns Hopkins University Press (2021).

15. Aagaard K, Dolmen D. Limnofauna Norvegica: Katalog over Norsk Ferskvannsfauna: Tapir. Norway: Tapir Academic Press (1996).

16. Rezza G, Nicoletti L, Angelini R, Romi R, Finarelli AC, Panning M, et al. Infection with chikungunya virus in Italy: an outbreak in a temperate region. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:1840–6. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(07)61779-6

17. Calba C, Guerbois-Galla M, Franke F, Jeannin C, Auzet-Caillaud M, Grard G, et al. Preliminary report of an autochthonous chikungunya outbreak in France, July to September 2017. *Euro Surveill.* (2017) 22:17-00647. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917. Es.2017.22.39.17-00647

18. Mosquito-Borne HZ. Viruses in Europe. Parasitol Res. (2008) 103:29-43. doi: 10.1007/s00436-008-1064-7

19. Schoch CL, Ciufo S, Domrachev M, Hotton CL, Kannan S, Khovanskaya R, et al. Ncbi taxonomy: a comprehensive update on curation, resources and tools. *Database* (*Oxford*). (2020) 2020:baaa062. doi: 10.1093/database/baaa062

20. Chen R, Mukhopadhyay S, Merits A, Bolling B, Nasar F, Coffey LL, et al. Ictv virus taxonomy profile: Togaviridae. J Gen Virol. (2018) 99:761–2. doi: 10.1099/jgv.0.001072

21. Smith D. *Genus: orthobunyavirus* International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (2021). Available at: ictvonline.org, URL: https://talk.ictvonline.org/ictv-reports/ictv_online_report/negative-sense-rna-viruses/w/peribunyaviridae/ 1238/genus-orthobunyavirus (Accessed June 22, 2021).

22. Shakya R, Tryland M, Vikse R, Romano JS, Åsbakk K, Nymo IH, et al. Inkoo and Sindbis viruses in blood sucking insects, and a serological study for Inkoo virus in semi-

domesticated Eurasian tundra reindeer in Norway. Virol J. (2022) 19:99. doi: 10.1186/ s12985-022-01815-0

23. Putkuri N, Kantele A, Levanov L, Kivistö I, Brummer-Korvenkontio M, Vaheri A, et al. Acute human Inkoo and Chatanga virus infections, Finland. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 22:810–7. doi: 10.3201/eid2205.151015

24. Lwande OW, Bucht G, Ahlm C, Ahlm K, Näslund J, Evander M. Mosquito-Borne Inkoo virus in northern Sweden—isolation and whole genome sequencing. *Virol J.* (2017) 14:61. doi: 10.1186/s12985-017-0725-5

25. Pérez-Losada M, Arenas M, Galán JC, Palero F, González-Candelas F. Recombination in viruses: mechanisms, methods of study, and evolutionary consequences. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2015) 30:296–307. doi: 10.1016/j. meegid.2014.12.022

26. Vijaykrishna D, Mukerji R, Smith GJD. Rna virus Reassortment: an evolutionary mechanism for host jumps and immune evasion. *PLoS Pathog.* (2015) 11:e1004902. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004902

27. Medlock JM, Snow KR, Leach S. Possible ecology and epidemiology of medically important Mosquito-Borne arboviruses in Great Britain. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2007) 135:466–82. doi: 10.1017/s0950268806007047

28. Ling J, Smura T, Lundström JO, Pettersson JH, Sironen T, Vapalahti O, et al. Introduction and dispersal of Sindbis virus from Central Africa to Europe. *J Virol*. (2019) 93:e00620-19. doi: 10.1128/jvi.00620-19

29. Shirako Y, Niklasson B, Dalrymple JM, Strauss EG, Strauss JH. Structure of the Ockelbo virus genome and its relationship to other Sindbis viruses. *Virology*. (1991) 182:753–64. doi: 10.1016/0042-6822(91)90616-j

30. Brummer-Korvenkontio M, Vapalahti O, Kuusisto P, Saikku P, Manni T, Koskela P, et al. Epidemiology of Sindbis virus infections in Finland 1981-96: possible factors explaining a peculiar disease pattern. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2002) 129:335–45. doi: 10.1017/s0950268802007409

31. Norwegian Institute of Public Health. (2018). Bærplukkersyke - Veileder for Helsepersonell. Available at: https://www.fhi.no/nettpub/smittevernveilederen/ sykdommer-a-a/barplukkersyke---veileder-for-helse (Accessed June 7, 2022).

32. Uusitalo R, Siljander M, Culverwell CL, Hendrickx G, Lindén A, Dub T, et al. Predicting spatial patterns of Sindbis virus (Sinv) infection risk in Finland using vector, host and environmental data. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:7064. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18137064

33. Jupp PG, Blackburn NK, Thompson DL, Meenehan GM. Sindbis and West Nile virus infections in the Witwatersrand-Pretoria region. *S Afr Med J.* (1986) 70:218–20.

34. Lundström JO, Vene S, Espmark A, Engvall M, Niklasson B. Geographical and temporal distribution of Ockelbo disease in Sweden. *Epidemiol Infect.* (1991) 106:567–74. doi: 10.1017/s0950268800067637

35. Kurkela S, Manni T, Myllynen J, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O. Clinical and laboratory manifestations of Sindbis virus infection: prospective study, Finland, 2002-2003. J Infect Dis. (2005) 191:1820–9. doi: 10.1086/430007

36. Gylfe Å, Ribers Å, Forsman O, Bucht G, Alenius GM, Wållberg-Jonsson S, et al. Mosquitoborne Sindbis virus infection and long-term illness. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2018) 24:1141-2. doi: 10.3201/eid2406.170892

37. Kurkela S, Helve T, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O. Arthritis and arthralgia three years after Sindbis virus infection: clinical follow-up of a cohort of 49 patients. *Scand J Infect Dis.* (2008) 40:167–73. doi: 10.1080/00365540701586996

38. Francy DB, Jaenson TG, Lundstrom JO, Schildt EB, Espmark A, Henriksson B, et al. Ecologic studies of mosquitoes and birds as hosts of Ockelbo virus in Sweden and isolation of Inkoo and Batai viruses from mosquitoes. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (1989) 41:355–63. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.1989.41.355

39. L'Vov SD, Pogorelyi IA, Skvortsova TM, Kiseleva LV, Berezina LK. Isolation of the Tahyna Bunyavirus in the Arctic. *Vopr Virusol.* (1985) 30:736–40.

40. Öhlund P, Hayer J, Lundén H, Hesson JC. Blomström AL. Viromics reveal a number of novel Rna viruses in Swedish mosquitoes. *Viruses*. (2019) 11:1027. doi: 10.3390/v11111027

41. Jöst H, Bialonski A, Storch V, Günther S, Becker N, Schmidt-Chanasit J. Isolation and phylogenetic analysis of Sindbis viruses from mosquitoes in Germany. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2010) 48:1900–3. Epub 20100324. doi: 10.1128/jcm.00037-10

42. Lindström A, Eklöf D. Stickmyggor I Nordeuropa - En Fälthandbok. 1st ed. Stockholm: Entomologiska föreningen i Stockholm (2022). 208 p.

43. Brister JR, Ako-Adjei D, Bao Y, Blinkova O. Ncbi viral genomes resource. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (2015) 43:D571-7. doi: 10.1093/nar/gku1207

44. Tamura K, Stecher G, Kumar S. Mega11: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 11. *Mol Biol Evol*. (2021) 38:3022–7. doi: 10.1093/molbev/msab120

45. Vene S, Franzén C, Niklasson B. Development of specific antibody patterns and clinical symptoms following Ockelbo virus infection. *Arch Virol.* (1994) 134:61–71. doi: 10.1007/bf01379107

46. Ahlm C, Eliasson M, Vapalahti O, Evander M. Seroprevalence of Sindbis virus and associated risk factors in northern Sweden. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2014) 142:1559–65. Epub 20130913. doi: 10.1017/s0950268813002239

47. Kurkela S, Rätti O, Huhtamo E, Uzcátegui NY, Nuorti JP, Laakkonen J, et al. Sindbis virus infection in resident birds, migratory birds, and humans, Finland. *Int Conf Emerg Infect Dis.* (2008) 14:41–7. doi: 10.3201/eid1401.070510

48. Sane J, Guedes S, Kurkela S, Lyytikäinen O, Vapalahti O. Epidemiological analysis of Mosquito-Borne Pogosta disease in Finland, 2009. *Euro Surveill*. (2010) 15:19462. doi: 10.2807/ese.15.02.19462-en

49. Finnish Institute for Health and Welfare. Pogostantaudin Esiintyvyys Suomessa [prevalence of Pogosta disease in Finland]. Available at: https://thl.fi/fi/web/ infektiotaudit-ja-rokotukset/taudit-ja-torjunta/taudit-ja-taudinaiheuttajat-a-o/ pogostantauti/pogostantaudin-esiintyvyys-suomessa: THL (2022). Available at: https:// thl.fi/fi/web/infektiotaudit-ja-rokotukset/taudit-ja-torjunta/taudit-ja-taudinaiheuttajata-o/pogostantauti/pogostantaudin-esiintyvyys-suomessa (Accessed June 7, 2022).

50. Evans AB, Peterson KE. Throw out the map: neuropathogenesis of the globally expanding California serogroup of Orthobunyaviruses. *Viruses*. (2019) 11:794. doi: 10.3390/v11090794

51. Evander M, Putkuri N, Eliasson M, Lwande OW, Vapalahti O, Ahlm C. Seroprevalence and risk factors of Inkoo virus in northern Sweden. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2016) 94:1103–6. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.15-0270

52. Putkuri N, Kurkela S, Levanov L, Huhtamo E, Vaheri A, Sironen T, et al. Isolation and characterization of a California encephalitis serogroup Orthobunyavirus from Finnish mosquitoes. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2014) 22:164–73. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2014.01.023

53. Traavik T, Mehl R, Wiger R. Mosquito-Borne arboviruses in Norway: further isolations and detection of antibodies to California encephalitis viruses in human, sheep and wildlife sera. *J Hyg.* (1985) 94:111–22. Epub 2009/10/19. doi: 10.1017/S0022172400061180

54. Demikhov VG, Chaĭtsev VG. Neurologic characteristics of diseases caused by Inkoo and Tahyna viruses. *Vopr Virusol.* (1995) 40:21–5.

55. Lundström JO. Mosquito-Borne viruses in Western Europe: a review. *J Vector Ecol.* (1999) 24:1–39.

56. Bardos V, Danielova V. The Tahyna virus--a virus isolated from mosquitoes in Czechoslovakia. J Hyg Epidemiol Microbiol Immunol. (1959) 3:264–76.

57. Kilian P, Růžek D, Danielová V, Hypša V, Grubhoffer L. Nucleotide variability of Ťahyňa virus (Bunyaviridae, Orthobunyavirus) small (S) and medium (M) genomic segments in field strains differing in biological properties. *Virus Res.* (2010) 149:119–23. doi: 10.1016/j.virusres.2010.01.005

58. Sick F, Beer M, Kampen H, Wernike K. Culicoides biting midges-underestimated vectors for arboviruses of public health and veterinary importance. *Viruses*. (2019) 11:376. doi: 10.3390/v11040376

59. Li W, Cao Y, Fu S, Wang J, Li M, Jiang S, et al. Tahyna virus infection, a neglected Arboviral disease in the Qinghai-Tibet plateau of China. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2014) 14:353–7. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2013.1351

60. Butenko AM, Demikhov VG, Nedialkova MS, Lavrova NA. Serodiagnosis and epidemiology of a California encephalitis Group of Infections in the Ryazan' region. *Vopr Virusol.* (1995) 40:17–21.

61. Dutuze MF, Nzayirambaho M, Mores CN, Christofferson RC. A review of Bunyamwera, Batai, and Ngari viruses: understudied Orthobunyaviruses with potential one health implications. *Front Vet Sci.* (2018) 5:5. doi: 10.3389/fvets.2018.00069

62. Liu H, Shao XQ, Hu B, Zhao JJ, Zhang L, Zhang HL, et al. Isolation and complete nucleotide sequence of a Batai virus strain in Inner Mongolia, China. *Virol J.* (2014) 11:1–8. doi: 10.1186/1743-422x-11-138

63. Albornoz A, Hoffmann AB, Lozach PY, Tischler ND. Early Bunyavirus-host cell interactions. *Viruses.* (2016) 8:143. doi: 10.3390/v8050143

64. Sluka F. Proceedings of the symposium at Smolenice. Bratislava: Slovak Academy of Sciences (1966).

65. Tiwari V, Bergman MJ. Viral arthritis. Statpearls. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing (2022).

66. Amor S. Chapter 48—virus infections of the central nervous system In: GC Cook and AI Zumla, editors. *Manson's tropical diseases (twenty-second edition)*. London: W.B. Saunders (2009). 853–83.

67. Suchowiecki K, Reid SP, Simon GL, Firestein GS, Chang A. Persistent joint pain following arthropod virus infections. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* (2021) 23:26. doi: 10.1007/s11926-021-00987-y

68. Venigalla SSK, Premakumar S, Janakiraman V. A possible role for autoimmunity through molecular mimicry in alphavirus mediated arthritis. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:938. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-55730-6

69. Salimi H, Cain MD, Klein RS. Encephalitic arboviruses: emergence, clinical presentation, and Neuropathogenesis. *Neurotherapeutics*. (2016) 13:514–34. doi: 10.1007/s13311-016-0443-5

70. Bennett RS, Cress CM, Ward JM, Firestone CY, Murphy BR, Whitehead SS. La Crosse virus infectivity, pathogenesis, and immunogenicity in mice and monkeys. *Virol J.* (2008) 5:25. Epub 20080211. doi: 10.1186/1743-422x-5-25

71. Li F, Wang Y, Yu L, Cao S, Wang K, Yuan J, et al. Viral infection of the central nervous system and Neuroinflammation precede blood-brain barrier disruption during Japanese encephalitis virus infection. *J Virol.* (2015) 89:5602–14. doi: 10.1128/jvi.00143-15

72. Calisher CH. Medically important arboviruses of the United States and Canada. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (1994) 7:89–116. doi: 10.1128/cmr.7.1.89

73. Lwande OW, Näslund J, Lundmark E, Ahlm K, Ahlm C, Bucht G, et al. Experimental infection and transmission competence of Sindbis virus in Culex Torrentium and Culex Pipiens mosquitoes from northern Sweden. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2019) 19:128–33. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2018.2311

74. Hesson JC, Lundin E, Lundkvist Å, Lundström JO. Surveillance of Mosquito vectors in southern Sweden for Flaviviruses and Sindbis virus. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol.* (2019) 9:1698903. doi: 10.1080/20008686.2019.1698903

75. Bergman A, Hesson JC. Wolbachia prevalence in the vector species Culex Pipiens and Culex Torrentium in a Sindbis virus-endemic region of Sweden. *Parasit Vectors*. (2021) 14:428. doi: 10.1186/s13071-021-04937-6

76. Haydon DT, Cleaveland S, Taylor LH, Laurenson MK. Identifying reservoirs of infection: a conceptual and practical challenge. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2002) 8:1468–73. doi: 10.3201/eid0812.010317

77. Dahl E, Öborn L, Sjöberg V, Lundkvist Å, Hesson JC. Vertical transmission of Sindbis virus in Culex mosquitoes. *Viruses*. (2022) 14:1915. doi: 10.3390/v14091915

78. Haddow AD, Odoi A. The incidence risk, clustering, and clinical presentation of La Crosse virus infections in the eastern United States, 2003-2007. *PLoS One.* (2009) 4:e6145. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006145

79. Messacar K, Fischer M, Dominguez SR, Tyler KL, Abzug MJ. Encephalitis in us children. *Infect Dis Clin N Am.* (2018) 32:145–62. Epub 20171208. doi: 10.1016/j. idc.2017.10.007

80. Manni T, Kurkela S, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O. Diagnostics of Pogosta disease: antigenic properties and evaluation of Sindbis virus Igm and igg enzyme immunoassays. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2008) 8:303–12. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2007.0623

81. European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control. (2020). Facts about Sindbis fever. Solna, Sweden: ECDC.

82. Laine M, Luukkainen R, Jalava J, Ilonen J, Kuusistö P, Toivanen A. Prolonged arthritis associated with Sindbis-related (Pogosta) virus infection. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*). (2000) 39:1272–4. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/39.11.1272

83. Kurkela S, Brummer-Korvenkontio M, Vaheri A, Vapalahti O. Sindbis-related (Pogosta) virus epidemics every seventh year--does the biblical cycle come true again? *Duodecim.* (2002) 118:1439–44.

84. SVA In: M Propst, editor. *Fågelprojekt Upptäckte Virus*. Uppsala Sweden: sva.se: Statens Veterinärmedicinska Anstalt (2019)

85. Jourdain E, Olsen B, Lundkvist Å, Hubalek Z, Šikutová S, Waldenström J, et al. Surveillance for West Nile virus in wild birds from northern Europe. *Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2011) 11:77–9. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2009.0028

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Thiago Vasconcelos Dos Santos, Evandro Chagas Institute, Brazil

REVIEWED BY Mauricio Xavier Salas Rueda, Salesian Polytechnic University, Ecuador Fred Luciano Neves Santos, Gonçalo Moniz Institute (IGM), Brazil

*CORRESPONDENCE Esteban Ortiz-Prado ⊠ e.ortizprado@gmail.com

RECEIVED 24 February 2023 ACCEPTED 04 April 2023 PUBLISHED 18 April 2023

CITATION

Vásconez-González J, Izquierdo-Condoy JS, Fernandez-Naranjo R, Gamez-Rivera E, Tello-De-la-Torre A, Guerrero-Castillo GS, Ruiz-Sosa C and Ortiz-Prado E (2023) Severe Chagas disease in Ecuador: a countrywide geodemographic epidemiological analysis from 2011 to 2021. *Front. Public Health* 11:1172955. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1172955

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Vásconez-González, Izquierdo-Condoy, Fernandez-Naranjo, Gamez-Rivera, Tello-De-la-Torre, Guerrero-Castillo, Ruiz-Sosa and Ortiz-Prado. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Severe Chagas disease in Ecuador: a countrywide geodemographic epidemiological analysis from 2011 to 2021

Jorge Vásconez-González¹, Juan S. Izquierdo-Condoy¹, Raul Fernandez-Naranjo¹, Esteban Gamez-Rivera¹, Andrea Tello-De-la-Torre¹, Galo S. Guerrero-Castillo¹, Carlos Ruiz-Sosa² and Esteban Ortiz-Prado^{1*}

¹One Health Research Group, Faculty of Health Science, Universidad de Las Americas, Quito, Ecuador, ²Postgraduate in Gastroenterology and Digestive Endoscopy, Faculty of Medicine, Pontificia Universidad Católica del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador

Background: Chagas disease is a neglected and often forgotten tropical disease caused by the *Trypanosoma cruzi*. This parasite can be transmitted through the direct contact of human skin with feces and urine of the triatomine insect. According to the World Health Organization (WHO), an estimated 6–7 million people are infected worldwide, killing at least 14,000 every year. The disease has been reported in 20 of the 24 provinces of Ecuador, with El Oro, Guayas, and Loja being the most affected.

Methodology: We analyzed the morbidity and mortality rates of severe Chagas disease in Ecuador on a nationwide, population-based level. Hospitalization cases and deaths were also examined based on altitude, including low (<2,500m) and high (>2,500m) altitudes, according to the International Society. Data was retrieved from the National Institute of Statistics and Census hospital admissions and in-hospital mortality databases from 2011 to 2021.

Results: A total of 118 patients have been hospitalized in Ecuador since 2011 due to Chagas disease. The overall in-hospital mortality rate was 69.4% (N=82). Men have a higher incidence rate (4.8/1,000,000) than women, although women have a significantly higher mortality rate than men (6.9/1,000,000).

Conclusion: Chagas disease is a severe parasitic condition that primarily affects rural and poorer areas of Ecuador. Men are more likely to be infected due to differences in work and sociocultural activities. Using average elevation data, we conducted a geodemographic analysis to assess incidence rates by altitude. Our findings indicate that the disease is more common at low and moderate altitudes, but recent increases in cases at higher altitudes suggest that environmental changes, such as global warming, could be driving the proliferation of disease-carrying vectors in previously unaffected areas.

KEYWORDS

Chagas disease, parasites, neglected disease, high altitude, tropical, *Trypanosoma cruzi* (*T. cruzi*)

1. Introduction

Chagas disease (CD) is a neglected and often forgotten anthropozoonotic disease, first described by Chagas (1). This vectorborne disease is caused by a protozoan euglenoid parasite named *Trypanosoma cruzi*, which enters the human body after close contact with feces or urine from its vector, the triatomine insect also known as the "kissing bug" (2). Triatomes are arthropods from the Reduviidae family, comprising 128 recognized species classified as 17 genera in five tribes (3–5).

This disease, also called American trypanosomiasis, is endemic to Latin America and has been described in at least 21 countries. Although some reports suggest that CD has spread, rarely in the United States, Canada, Europe, and the Eastern Mediterranean region (4), the cases reported in these countries come mostly from emigrants from endemic countries and from people who traveled to countries where the disease is endemic and ended up catching it (6, 7). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), approximately 70 million people live in areas of high risk of infection; at least 6 to 7 million people are infected by this parasite each year, and roughly 30,000 new cases, including 9,000 newborns are diagnosed during prenatal and post-natal periods and around 14,000 deaths are attributed to this disease each year (2).

Transmission of CD occurs through direct contact with feces and urine from the triatomine insect (8). Once this type of arthropod bites a human, it defecates and urinates near the lesion (9). The parasites enter the body when the human instinctively scratches the bite and tears the skin's integrity, allowing the insect's feces to enter the inner tissues (10). Although other forms of transmission have been described, such as vertical transmission (congenital), through blood transfusion and organ donation, and even via contaminated food, the most common mechanism is vector-borne in endemic countries (11–15).

Ecuador is one of the South American nations with the worst CD burden, according to WHO (16). It has been estimated that 2.5% of the population in Ecuador has CD, which is higher than the 1.6% regional average (2, 17). In this sense, it is crucial to study CD in Ecuador not only because, according to the WHO, more than 370,000 people could be at risk of being infected by this parasite but also because of the impact on public health and its consequences on the cardiovascular and digestive systems are evident (2, 17).

Between 2013 and 2019, and based on the data of the Epidemiological Surveillance System (SIVE) of the Ministry of Public Health, 439 confirmed cases of Chagas disease were reported in Ecuador, with chronic cases (n=331, 75.4%) being more common than acute cases (n=108, 24.6%) (18). The disease has been reported in 20 of the 24 provinces, with El Oro (n=104, 23.69%), Guayas (n=64, 14.58%), and Loja (n=60, 13.67%) being the most affected (17). Chagas disease has a high incidence in rural communities, with houses featuring thatched roofs, adobe or cracked walls, and no electricity, providing a suitable environment for the triatomine insect to reproduce (19). In a study of *Triatoma dimidiata* in the southern coastal region of Ecuador, 72% of the insects were infected with trypanosomes, and 95:77 were collected inside homes (20).

This study aimed to analyze the epidemiological characteristics of severe Chagas based on hospital admission data as a proxy for the incidence and mortality of CD in Ecuador.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study design

We conducted a cross-sectional countrywide study to determine the demographic and spatial distribution patterns of CD in Ecuador using hospital discharge and in-hospital mortality data as a proxy of incidence and mortality from 2011 until 2021.

2.2. Sample and setting

The study was conducted in Ecuador, the smallest country in the Andean region in South America. The country is divided into four geographical regions: the coast, mountains, Amazon, and Galapagos Islands. The political division contains 24 provinces and 221 cantons (cantons are political subdivisions of a province). Despite its small geographic size, Ecuador has an important climatic diversity characterized by a humid tropical climate in transition zones toward the coast and the Amazon, semi-humid to humid in the inter-Andean zone, hot and dry in the inter-Andean valleys and cold in the high mountains above 3,000 m altitude (21). According to the National Institute of Statistics and Census (INEC) in 2022, the population of Ecuador was 18,034,344 inhabitants (22).

The hospitalization cases of CD were defined according to the operational definitions outlined by the Ministry of Health of Ecuador, which can be found in Supplementary file 1 (23).

2.3. Data source and description

All hospitalization cases of CD B560 (Trypanosomiasis due to *Trypanosoma cruzi*), B561 (South American trypanosomiasis), B572 (American trypanosomiasis), B5721/I412 (American trypanosomiasis with heart injury/American trypanosomiasis with specified organ damage, Not classified elsewhere), and B575 (Brazilian trypanosomiasis) according to the 3-digit ICD-10 classification, were retrieved from National Institute of Statistics and Census (INEC).

Continuous and categorical data were acquired at a national level. In addition, when available, data was collated for the above-diagnosed cases during 11 years from the 24 provinces and the 221 cantons in the country. The data in our study includes information from both public healthcare providers (such as those with universal coverage and social security pension plans) and private healthcare providers (including both for-profit and non-profit entities).

2.4. Data analysis

We analyzed the following variables: age, sex, place of residence, and year of hospital admission. The incidence, mortality, and case-fatality rates were sex-and-age-standardized using projection data by canton and province according to the 2010 census. Incidence was calculated by dividing the number of hospitalization cases per year by the total population at risk each year for every age group. The incidence and mortality rates were computed by age, sex, geographic location, and corresponding population. All cases were classified across 17 age groups. The incidence and mortality of CD by the altitude of residence were also analyzed. The classification of low altitude <2,500 m and high altitude >2,500 m was used as a cut-off point for exposure to altitude. The analysis was also carried out using the classification offered by the International Society of Mountain Medicine low altitude (<1,500 m), moderate altitude (1,500 m – 2,500 m), high altitude (2,500–3,500 m).

3. Results

One hundred eighteen patients were hospitalized in Ecuador from 2011 to 2021 due to CD. The overall in-hospital mortality rate was 69.4% (N=82). Men have a higher incidence rate (4.8/1,000,000) than women, although women have a significantly higher mortality rate than men (6.9/1,000,000).

3.1. Age and sex analysis

The average age of analyzed cases was 61.49 years (SD 23.84) for men and 60.58 years (SD 25.14) for women. From 2011 to 2021, in Ecuador, the incidence of CD has had an oscillating behavior without a clear predominance for one of the sexes, represented by incidence rates ranging from 3/ 1,000,000 in the years with fewer cases to 12/1,000,000 in 2017 with the highest number of cases.

3.2. Incidence rates

The overall sex-specific adjusted incidence rate was higher for men (4.8/1,000,000). In the analysis by age group, among women, the

most affected were those over 75 years of age; on the other hand, among men, it is observed that CD predominantly occurs in younger groups (65 years and older) (Table 1).

3.3. Mortality rate

The overall mortality rate shows that women are more affected by CD [6.9/1,000,000 (5.1-8.7)]. However, among young populations (0-49 years), males are the only ones who suffer death from the disease. On the other hand, both groups share an increase in mortality rates as the age of the patients increases, reaching the highest rates among those older than 80 years (Male Mortality Rate = 12/1,000,000 (10.7-13.4); Female Mortality Rate = 18.4/1,000,000 (17.1-19.6).

3.4. Geographic distribution

3.4.1. Trends by province

Ecuador's provinces with the highest Chagas adjusted incidence rates per 1,000,000 inhabits per the patient's recorded residence are Zamora Chinchipe, El Oro, and Orellana, with 145.3, 116.3, and 78.2, respectively. On the contrary, Ecuador's provinces with the lowest adjusted incidence rates are Pichincha, Guayas, and Manabí, with 5.3, 5.6, and 15.0, respectively (Figure 1 and Supplementary file 2).

According to mortality due to CD, Ecuador's provinces with the highest adjusted mortality rates per 1,000,000 inhabits per the patient's recorded residence are Orellana, El Oro, Santo Domingo De Los Tsachilas with 199.5, 156.2, and 58.8/1,000,000, respectively. On the contrary, Ecuador's provinces with the lowest adjusted mortality rates

TABLE 1 Incidence and mortality rates per 1,000,000 population by sex and age-specific groups in Ecuador, from 2011 to 2021.

Age (years)		Women		Men			
	Cases (n)	Incidence rate	Mortality rate	Cases (n)	Incidence rate	Mortality rate	
<1	-	-	_	1	5.8	-	
1-4	1	1.5	-	2	1.4	_	
5-9	-	-	-	2	1.2	_	
10-14	3	1.9	-	1	1.2	_	
15–19	1	1.3	-	1	1.3	1.3	
20-24	1	1.4	-	1	1.5	1.4	
25–29	1	1.5	-	1	1.4	_	
30-34	-	-	_	1	1.6	1.8	
40-44	2	1.8	-	3	3.5	2.3	
45-49	3	2.2	-	9	3.8	2.4	
50-54	1	2.4	2.5	2	3.0	2.7	
55–59	3	3.0	3.1	6	4.6	5.0	
60–64	6	7.2	3.4	4	4.3	8.1	
65–69	3	4.6	4.2	3	8.3	5.6	
70–74	2	5.9	11	6	11.3	11.6	
75–79	4	8.8	9.0	14	18.4	13.5	
>80	12	11.7	12.0	18	20.0	18.4	
Total	43	3.7	6.9	75	4.8	5.5	

are Pichincha, Guayas, and Los Rios, with 5.9, 8.1, and 17.3 per 1,000,000, respectively (Figure 1 and Supplementary file 2).

3.4.2. Trends by canton

Ecuador's cantons with the highest CD incidence rates per 1,000,000 population, as per the patient's recorded residence, are Chinchipe, Atahualpa, and Chaguarpamba, with 687.1, 512.8, and 341.9, respectively. In contrast, Ecuador's cantons with the lowest incidence rates are Quito, Guayaquil, and Cuenca, with 6.2, 9.6, and 7.3 per 1,000,000, respectively.

Ecuador's cantons with the highest CD mortality rates per 1,000,000 population as per the patient's recorded residence are Balsas, Portovelo, and Atahualpa, with 716.4, 532.72, and 509.16, respectively. On the contrary, Ecuador's cantons with the lowest mortality rates are Quito, Guayaquil, and Cuenca, with 6.7, 12.5, and 49.9, respectively.

3.5. Altitude analysis

3.5.1. Classic classification

Ecuador's altitude regions with the highest CD adjusted incidence rates per 1,000,000 inhabits as per the patient's recorded place of residence, were located at low altitudes (<2,500 m) adjusted incidence rate (AIR): 33.88/1,000,000 compared to the highlanders (>2,500 m) respectively (Table 2).

Related to deaths, the highest adjusted mortality rates per 1,000,000 inhabits were found in low altitudes (<2,500 m) with adjusted mortality rate (AMR): 51.45/1,000,000 (Table 2).

3.5.2. ISMM (International Society of Mountain Medicine) classification

Within this analysis, Ecuador's altitude groups with the highest adjusted incidence rates per 1,000,000 inhabits were Moderate altitude (1,500–2,500 m) and low altitude (<1,500 m), with 73.42 and 36.49, respectively. On the other hand, according to deaths, the adjusted mortality rates per 1,000,000 inhabits rates showed a trend like an incidence with AMR: 83.68 in Moderate altitude (1,500–2,500 m) and AMR: 57.51 in low landers (<1,500 m) (Table 3).

4. Discussion

Chagas disease is a significant public health issue in Latin America, with an estimated 6–7 million people infected and approximately 65 million at risk of infection (2). The disease is endemic in 21 Latin American countries, where poverty, poor housing



TABLE 2 Distribution of incidence, and mortality rates per 1,000,000 inhabits according to altitude ranges from 2011 to 2021.

Altitude range	Cases (n)	CIR	AIR	Deaths (n)	CMR	AMR
Low altitude <2,500 m	105	63.7	338.8	82	84.9	514.5
High altitude >2,500 m	13	16.4	137.0	5	8.1	19.9

CIR, crude incidence rate; AIR, adjusted incidence rate; CMR, crude mortality rate; AMR, adjusted mortality rate.

Altitude range	Cases n	CIR	AIR	Deaths n	CMR	AMR
Low altitude (< 1,500 m)	98	61.5	364.9	76	83.4	575.1
Moderate altitude (1,500– 2,500 m)	7	116.8	734.2	6	110.1	836.8
High altitude (2,500–3,500 m)	13	16.4	136.9	5	8.1	20.0

TABLE 3 Distribution of incidence, and mortality rates per 1,000,000 inhabits according to ISMM altitude classification from 2011 to 2021.

CIR, crude incidence rate; AIR, adjusted incidence rate; CMR, crude mortality rate; AMR, adjusted mortality rate.

conditions, and inadequate healthcare infrastructure contribute to its high prevalence (24). In Ecuador, limited epidemiological research has been conducted despite active monitoring by the Minister of Public Health. While some studies have analyzed CD distribution in specific regions and provinces of the country, few comprehensive analyses are available. Our research underscores the ongoing burden of CD in Ecuador, particularly as revealed through hospitalization and mortality data recorded in the Ecuadorian Institute of Statistics and Census (INEC) public databases. Despite previous studies dating back over 60 years (25), there remains a dearth of research investigating the epidemiological impact of this vector-borne disease.

Our analysis revealed that Chagas disease hospitalizes an average of 15 patients annually in Ecuador. Notably, the incidence of hospitalization is highest among adults and older adults, likely due to the chronic and long-term effects of the disease on the heart and gastrointestinal system (26, 27). Regarding the severity of hospitalization cases, our findings suggest that most severe cases, as indicated by hospital mortality rates, occur in individuals over 70. In addition, our study revealed a higher mortality rate among adult men than women, a trend observed in other studies (28).

Additionally, our study highlights that CD cases are highest in provinces with warm climates and located at low or moderate altitudes, even after adjusting for the patient's place of residence. On the other hand, provinces located in the highlands of Ecuador have lower rates of both incidence and mortality. These findings provide important insights for targeted interventions and resource allocation to address the burden of CD in Ecuador.

Research conducted in Ecuador, particularly in the field of entomology, has identified at least 17 species that have the potential to transmit *T. cruzi*. Among these species, nine are of particular concern, including *Triatoma dimidiata, Triatoma carrioni, Rhodnius pictipes, Rhodnius ecuadorensis, Rhodnius robustus, Panstrongylus rufotuberculatus, Panstrongylus chinai, Panstrongylus geniculatus*, and *Pastrongylus howardi* (29–31). These species are widely distributed throughout the country, taking advantage of Ecuador's equatorial location and favorable climate conditions in the tropic of cancer. These findings underscore the importance of continued surveillance and control measures to prevent the spread of CD in Ecuador.

Castelle et al. reported that CD in Ecuador had been successfully controlled, as no new cases were reported in children under five in 2010 (32), However, subsequent studies indicate a different trend. Between 2013 and 2019, 10 cases were reported in children aged 1–4 years old and 11 cases in children aged 5–9. Additionally, two cases were reported in infants under 1 year old between 2015 and 2016 (33); Moreover, a study conducted in the Ecuadorian Amazon from 2015 to 2018, which analyzed the seroprevalence of CD, found nine cases in children aged 10 years old (34). In another study by Quinde-Calderón et al., which analyzed data from 2004 to 2014, a total of 915 human cases of CD were reported in Ecuador. Notably, there was a

significant increase in reported cases over the years, followed by a decrease in 2013 and 2014 (35).

Our study observed that the number of hospitalizations for CD in Ecuador showed an increasing trend until 2017, followed by a decrease in subsequent years. However, our findings are inconsistent with the data from the Ministry of Public Health's epidemiological surveillance system, which reported an increase in the number of CD cases from 2018 to 2021, with 74, 167, 113, and 170 cases reported each year, respectively (32). This suggests that there may be a gap between hospitalization data and disease surveillance data and highlights the need for further investigation into the epidemiology of CD in Ecuador.

Our study revealed higher incidence rates of CD among men in several age groups, consistent with the results of a similar study conducted in Mexico in 2018 (3) This trend can be explained by the higher involvement of men in agricultural activities during their productive years. However, our analysis also revealed that the overall mortality rate per 1,000,000 inhabitants was higher among women, despite higher mortality rates among men in most age groups. Previous studies in neighboring countries have yielded conflicting results on this variable. For instance, da Nóbrega et al. (36), found that 86% of deaths from CD in Brazil occurred in men and were associated with heart disease, while a 40-year investigation in Colombia showed that the highest mortality rates from CD were found in men over 65 years old (37). On the other hand, a systematic review with a metaanalysis conducted in 2016 did not find a significant difference in CD mortality related to sex (38).

We conducted a novel analysis to investigate the incidence and mortality of CD at different altitudes. Ecuador's unique topography, with 221 cities situated at varying elevations ranging from sea level to 4,300 m, provides an exceptional opportunity to study the burden of diseases at different altitudes (39-41). Our study found that the majority of CD cases (n = 107) were concentrated at elevations below 2,500 m. To provide a more nuanced analysis, we also employed the International Society of Mountain Medicine classification, which classifies altitudes into different categories, and observed that the highest incidence and mortality rates were found at low and moderate altitudes. We hypothesize that this pattern may be attributed to the warmer temperatures that promote the growth and survival of Triatomes, as documented in prior research (42, 43). While our investigation did not explicitly aim to explore the relationship between climate change and the emergence of CD, our data suggest that the likelihood of discovering Triatomes at higher elevations may increase as temperatures continue to rise.

Our study highlights that ongoing efforts are crucial to control the spread of CD in Ecuador, particularly in provinces with warmer climates and low to moderate altitudes, where the disease incidence is concentrated. Strengthening disease control measures, such as implementing vector control strategies and health education programs, could reduce the burden of CD in these areas. Moreover, increasing funding and resources for research and surveillance programs could enhance our understanding of the disease and facilitate the development of more effective prevention and control measures (44-46).

This study establishes crucial precedents regarding the cost of caring for patients suffering from serious cardiovascular and gastrointestinal problems related to CD, such as cardiomegaly or megacolon, by using hospitalization data. Although several published studies in Ecuador exist, analyzing the epidemiological burden of different clinical presentations of CD is significant because it enables us to estimate the healthcare expenses incurred by the health system for treating these patients. On average, the Ecuadorian public healthcare system incurs a cost of over \$300 per day of hospitalization, with patients staying in the hospital for three to 6 days, resulting in substantial financial losses for the Ministry of Public Health of Ecuador (47).

5. Limitations

When interpreting the results, one must consider several limitations of our study. These limitations include the observational and ecological study design, which limits the ability to establish causal relationships for the entire population. Additionally, the lack of information on the type of complication experienced by each hospitalized patient and the treatment given to them restricts the ability to draw specific conclusions about the disease burden of CD. Moreover, the nature of the data analyzed prevents the distinction between re-hospitalizations and single occasion hospitalizations.

Another limitation of our study is that we only included hospital discharge data and did not account for cases of CD that were mild or moderate and did not require hospitalization. This exclusion may have led to an underestimation of the actual disease burden and could have limited the generalizability of our findings to the entire population.

Despite these limitations, we believe that our study offers valuable insights into the burden of CD in Ecuador, particularly in terms of the incidence and mortality rates among different age and gender groups and at different altitudes. However, we need further research to obtain a more comprehensive understanding of the disease burden and to develop effective prevention and treatment strategies.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found at: https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/ camas-y-egresos-hospitalarios/.

References

1. Chagas C. Nova tripanozomiaze humana: estudos sobre a morfolojia e o ciclo evolutivo do *Schizotrypanum cruzi* n. gen., n. sp., ajente etiolojico de nova entidade morbida do homem. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* (1909) 1:159–218.

2. WHO. Chagas disease (American trypanosomiasis). (2023). Available at: https:// www.who.int/health-topics/chagas-disease (Accessed February 16, 2023).

Author contributions

JV-G, JI-C, and EO-P contributed to the conception and design of the entire project, gained full access to data from the National Statistical Institutes in Ecuador, was primarily responsible for all aspects of the work, and ensure the completeness and accuracy of the investigation. RF-N, JI-C, EG-R, AT-D-I-T, GG-C, CR-S, and EO-P contributed to data acquisition and review of the available literature and initial writing of the manuscript. RF-N, JI-C, and EO-P contributed to the statistical analysis and internal validity of the study. JV-G, EG-R, AT-D-I-T, GG-C, and CR-S developed the draft version of the manuscript. JI-C and EO-P critically reviewed and edited the manuscript to its final complete version and provided input to the data report and its interpretation. All authors reviewed and approved the final version of the manuscript.

Acknowledgments

We would like to express our sincere gratitude to Gabriela Davila for her invaluable support and guidance in the creation of the incidence rate map. Gabriela's expertise and dedication were instrumental in helping us to develop a clear and accurate representation of the data.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1172955/ full#supplementary-material

4. Irish A, Whitman JD, Clark EH, Marcus R, Bern C. Updated estimates and mapping for prevalence of Chagas disease among adults, United States. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2022) 28:1313–20. doi: 10.3201/eid2807.212221

5. Cruz-López L, Malo EA, Rojas JC, Morgan ED. Chemical ecology of triatomine bugs: vectors of Chagas disease. *Med Vet Entomol.* (2001) 15:351–7. doi: 10.1046/j.0269-283x.2001.00340.x

6. Antinori S, Galimberti L, Bianco R, Grande R, Galli M, Corbellino M. Chagas disease in Europe: a review for the internist in the globalized world. *Eur J Intern Med.* (2017) 43:6–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ejim.2017.05.001

^{3.} Ibáñez-Cervantes G, León-García G, Castro-Escarpulli G, Mancilla-Ramírez J, Victoria-Acosta G, Cureño-Díaz MA, et al. Evolution of incidence and geographical distribution of Chagas disease in Mexico during a decade (2007–2016). *Epidemiol Infect.* (2018) 147:e41. doi: 10.1017/S0950268818002984

7. Plourde PJ, Kadkhoda K, Ndao M. Congenitally transmitted Chagas disease in Canada: a family cluster. *CMAJ*. (2017) 189:E1489–92. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.170648

 Nguyen T, Waseem M. "Chagas Disease," in *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing (2022). Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/ NBK459272

9. Zingales B, Bartholomeu DC. *Trypanosoma cruzi* genetic diversity: impact on transmission cycles and Chagas disease. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* (2022) 117:e210193. doi: 10.1590/0074-02760210193

10. Clavijo-Baquet S, Cavieres G, González A, Cattan PE, Bozinovic F. Thermal performance of the Chagas disease vector, *Triatoma infestans*, under thermal variability. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:e0009148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0009148

11. Kaplinski M, Jois M, Galdos-Cardenas G, Rendell VR, Shah V, Do RQ, et al. Sustained domestic vector exposure is associated with increased Chagas cardiomyopathy risk but decreased parasitemia and congenital transmission risk among young women in Bolivia. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2015) 61:918–26. doi: 10.1093/cid/civ446

12. Alarcón de Noya B, Díaz-Bello Z, Colmenares C, Ruiz-Guevara R, Mauriello L, Zavala-Jaspe R, et al. Large urban outbreak of orally acquired acute Chagas disease at a school in Caracas, Venezuela. *J Infect Dis.* (2010) 201:1308–15. doi: 10.1086/651608

13. Shikanai-Yasuda MA, Carvalho NB. Oral transmission of Chagas disease. Clin Infect Dis. (2012) 54:845–52. doi: 10.1093/cid/cir956

14. Whitman JD, Bulman CA, Gunderson EL, Irish AM, Townsend RL, Stramer SL, et al. Chagas disease serological test performance in US blood donor specimens. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2019) 57:e01217–9. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01217-19

15. Scapellato PG, Bottaro EG, Rodríguez-Brieschke MT. Mother-child transmission of Chagas disease: could coinfection with human immunodeficiency virus increase the risk? *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop.* (2009) 42:107–9. doi: 10.1590/S0037-86822009000200002

16. OPS. Enfermedad de Chagas-OPS/OMS. Organización Panamericana de la Salud. (2021). Available at: https://www.paho.org/es/temas/enfermedad-chagas (Accessed February 23, 2023).

17. Bonifaz MAT, Paladines PRS, San LSF, Moran MRT. Caracterización epidemiológica de la enfermedad de Chagas, en la provincia de Guayas del Ecuador. *RECIMUNDO*. (2021) 5:149–57. doi: 10.26820/recimundo/5.(2).julio.2021.149-157

18. Llumiquinga Marcayata J, Freites Mata M, Alvear ML. Enfermedad de Chagas en niño residente en zona urbana a 2850 metros sobre el nivel del mar: Reporte de Caso. *REV-SEP.* (2021) 22:1–5. doi: 10.52011/92

19. PUCE. PUCE en continua lucha contra la enfermedad de Chagas. Conexión PUCE (2022). Available at: https://puceapex.puce.edu.ec/conexionpuce/puce-en-continua-lucha-contra-la-enfermedad-de-chagas/ (Accessed March 7, 2023).

20. Mantilla B, Lascano MS, Jiménez F, Quinde L, Espinoza M, Guevara Á, et al. Perfil epidemiológico de la enfermedad de Chagas en la costa sur del Ecuador: estudio piloto de la infección de Trypanosoma cruzi en el vector Triatoma dimidiata. ACI Avan Cien Ingen. (2014) 6:1–6. doi: 10.18272/aci.v6i2.170

21. Varela A, Ron S. Geografía y clima. Available at: https://bioweb.bio/faunaweb/ amphibiaweb/GeografiaClima/ (Accessed September 9, 2022).

22. INEC. Camas y Egresos Hospitalarios. Instituto Nacional de Estadística y Censos. Available at: https://www.ecuadorencifras.gob.ec/camas-y-egresos-hospitalarios/ (Accessed September 9, 2022).

23. Ministerio de Salud Pública del Ecuador (MSP). Subsecretaría Nacional de Vigilancia de la Salud Pública. Dirección nacional de vigilancia epidemiológica. Sistema integrado de vigilancia epidemiológica. Manual de procedimientos del subsistema de alerta acción SIVE-ALERTA. (2013). Available at: https://aplicaciones.msp.gob.ec/salud/archivosdigitales/documentosDirecciones/dnn/archivos/manual_de_procedimientos_sive-alerta.pdf

24. Franco-Paredes C, Von A, Hidron A, Rodríguez-Morales AJ, Tellez I, Barragán M, et al. Chagas disease: an impediment in achieving the millennium development goals in Latin America. *BMC Int Health Hum Rights.* (2007) 7:1–6. doi: 10.1186/1472-698X-7-7

25. León LA. Información sobre el problema de la enfemedad de chagas en el Ecuador. Bol Ofic Sanit Panam. (1949) 28:569–583.

26. de Alcantara LN, Martin DT, de Castro RL, Ladzinski A, Ring A, Vos D, et al. Hospitalization for Chagas heart disease in the United States from 2002 to 2017. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2021) 4:-e2129959. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.29959

27. Bierrenbach AL, Quintino ND, Moreira CHV, Damasceno RF, Nunes M, do CP BNR, et al. Hospitalizations due to gastrointestinal Chagas disease: national registry. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2022) 16:e0010796. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0010796

28. Lima-Costa MF, Peixoto SV, Ribeiro ALP. Chagas disease and mortality in old age as an emerging issue: 10 year follow-up of the Bambuí population-based cohort study (Brazil). *Int J Cardiol.* (2010) 145:362–3. doi: 10.1016/j.ijcard.2010.02.036

29. Bender A, Python A, Lindsay SW, Golding N, Moyes CL. Modelling geospatial distributions of the triatomine vectors of *Trypanosoma cruzi* in Latin America. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2020) 14:e0008411. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008411

30. Gorla D, Noireau F. Geographic distribution of Triatominae vectors in America In: J Telleria and M Tibayrenc, editors. *American trypanosomiasis Chagas disease*. Amsterdam: Elsevier (2017). 197–221.

31. Vaca-Moyano F, Enríquez S, Arrivillaga-Henríquez J, Villacrés-Guevara E, Araujo P, Benítez-Ortíz W. Actualización de la distribución geográfica de Triatoma dispar (Hemiptera: Reduvildae: Triatominae) en Ecuador. *Rev Colomb Entomol.* (2017) 43:255–61. doi: 10.25100/socolen.v43i2.5952

32. Gestal MC, Holban AM, Escalante S, Cevallos M. Epidemiology of tropical neglected diseases in Ecuador in the last 20 years. *PLoS One.* (2015) 10:e0138311. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0138311

33. Oma MVD, Tutillo PAQ, Mackenzie DDS, Ordoñez JCC, Pérez HRV. Enfermedad de Chagas en el Ecuador: una revisión sistemática de los aspectos epidemiológicos y entomológicos. *INSPILIP*. (2021) 5:1–17. doi: 10.31790/inspilip.v5i1.2

34. Quito S. Seroprevalencia de la enfermedad de Chagas en Aguarico, provincia de Orellana. Selva amazónica ecuatoriana (2008-2015). *INSPILIP*. (2017) 1:1–21. doi: 10.31790/inspilip.v1i1.21

35. Quinde-Calderón L, Rios-Quituizaca P, Solorzano L, Dumonteil E. Ten years (2004-2014) of Chagas disease surveillance and vector control in Ecuador: successes and challenges. *Tropical Med Int Health.* (2016) 21:84–92. doi: 10.1111/tmi.12620

36. da Nóbrega AA, de Araújo WN, Vasconcelos AMN. Mortality due to Chagas disease in Brazil according to a specific cause. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2014) 91:528–33. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.13-0574

37. Olivera MJ, Porras-Villamil JF, Villar JC, Herrera EV, Buitrago G. Chagas diseaserelated mortality in Colombia from 1979 to 2018: temporal and spatial trends. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop.* (2021) 54:e07682020. doi: 10.1590/0037-8682-0768-2020

38. Cucunubá ZM, Okuwoga O, Basáñez M-G, Nouvellet P. Increased mortality attributed to Chagas disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Parasit Vectors*. (2016) 9:42. doi: 10.1186/s13071-016-1315-x

39. Ortiz-Prado E, Espinosa PS, Borrero A, Cordovez SP, Vasconez E, Barreto A, et al. Stroke related mortality at different altitudes: a 17-year nationwide populationbased analysis from Ecuador. *Front Physiol.* (2021) 12:733928. doi: 10.3389/ fphys.2021.733928

40. Ortiz-Prado E, Fernandez R, Vascones JE, Simbana-Rivera K, Correa-Sancho T, Lister A, et al. Analysis of excess mortality data at different altitudes during the COVID-19 outbreak in Ecuador. *High Alt Med Biol.* (2021) 22:406–16. doi: 10.1089/ham.2021.0070

41. Ortiz-Prado E, Fernandez-Naranjo R, Vásconez JE, Vallejo-Janeta AP, Morales-Jadan D, Rivera-Olivero IA, et al. A comparative analysis of SARS-CoV-2 viral load across different altitudes. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:1–12. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-20516-w

42. González-Rete B, Gutiérrez-Cabrera AE, de Fuentes-Vicente JA, Salazar-Schettino PM, Cabrera-Bravo M, Córdoba-Aguilar A. Higher temperatures reduce the number of *Trypanosoma cruzi* parasites in the vector Triatoma pallidipennis. *Parasit Vectors*. (2021) 14:385. doi: 10.1186/s13071-021-04872-6

43. Tamayo LD, Guhl F, Vallejo GA, Ramírez JD. The effect of temperature increase on the development of Rhodnius prolixus and the course of *Trypanosoma cruzi* metacyclogenesis. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2018) 12:e0006735. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006735

44. MSP. Subsecretaria Nacional de Vigilancia de la Salud Pública Dirección Nacionalde Vigilancia Epidemiológca ENFFERMEDADES TRANSMITIDAS POR VECTORES. (2022). Available at: https://www.salud.gob.ec/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/Gacetas-Vectores-SE-02.pdf (Accessed September 13, 2022).

45. Dumonteil E, Herrera C, Martini L, Grijalva MJ, Guevara AG, Costales JA, et al. Chagas disease has not been controlled in Ecuador. *PLoS One*. (2016) 11:e0158145. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158145

46. Aguilar VHM, Abad-Franch F, Racines VJ, Paucar CA. Epidemiology of Chagas disease in Ecuador. A brief review. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* (1999) 94:387–93. doi: 10.1590/S0074-02761999000700076

47. MSP. Tarifario de Prestaciones para el Sistema Nacional de Salud. Ecuador-Guía Oficial de Trámites y Servicios. Available at: https://www.gob.ec/regulaciones/tarifarioprestaciones-sistema-nacional-salud (Accessed March 16, 2023) Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Thiago Vasconcelos Dos Santos, Evandro Chagas Institute, Brazil

REVIEWED BY

Lanjiao Wang, Rega Institute for Medical Research, KU Leuven, Belgium Himmat Singh, National Institute of Malaria Research (ICMR), India

*CORRESPONDENCE Marcos M. Miretti ⊠ mmiretti@fceqyn.unam.edu.ar

[†]These authors share last authorship

RECEIVED 14 February 2023 ACCEPTED 14 March 2023 PUBLISHED 27 April 2023

CITATION

Fay JV, Espinola SL, Boaglio MV, Blariza MJ, Lopez K, Zelaya F, Kulkarni MA, Argüelles CF, Ferreras JA and Miretti MM (2023) Pyrethroid genetic resistance in the dengue vector (*Aedes aegypti*) in Posadas, Argentina. *Front. Public Health* 11:1166007. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1166007

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Fay, Espinola, Boaglio, Blariza, Lopez, Zelaya, Kulkarni, Argüelles, Ferreras and Miretti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Pyrethroid genetic resistance in the dengue vector (*Aedes aegypti*) in Posadas, Argentina

Jessica V. Fay¹, Sonia L. Espinola¹, María V. Boaglio¹, María J. Blariza¹, Karen Lopez², Fabian Zelaya², Manisha A. Kulkarni³, Carina F. Argüelles¹, Julian A. Ferreras^{1†} and Marcos M. Miretti^{1*†}

¹Laboratorio GIGA, Facultad de Ciencias Exactas, Químicas y Naturales, Instituto de Biología Subtropical, Universidad Nacional de Misiones—Consejo Nacional de Investigaciones Científicas y Técnicas, Posadas, Misiones, Argentina, ²Centro de Zoonosis, Secretaría de Planeamiento Ambiental, Ministerio de Salud de Misiones, Posadas, Argentina, ³School of Epidemiology and Public Health, University of Ottawa, Ottawa, ON, Canada

Pyrethroids are extensively used to control adult populations of the arboviral vector Aedes aegypti, raising concerns regarding the increasing frequency and distribution of insecticide resistance mutations (kdr: knock-down resistance) in the voltage-gated sodium channel gene (Nav). The widespread use of pyrethroids imposes a threat to the success of mosquito control and the environment. In this study, we investigated the presence of two kdr mutations (V1016I and F1534C) in the Nav gene and their distribution across four neighborhoods in Posadas, Argentina, with different Ae. aegypti abundance and contrasting socioeconomic status (SES). Alleles at each locus were interrogated using TagMan SNP genotyping assays in DNA extracted from adult females collected in a longitudinal study. We report the presence of both pyrethroid resistance alleles (kdr 1016I = 29.08%; kdr 1534C = 70.70%) among adult females. The frequency of combined kdr genotypes reveals that approximately 70% of local adult females have enhanced resistance to pyrethroids. Both, the proportion of resistant adult females (with at least one kdr allele in each locus) and Ae. aegypti abundance showed an uneven distribution between neighborhoods with different SES (p < 0.001). In high-SES neighborhoods, we found more mosquitoes and a higher frequency of pyrethroid resistance, possibly as a consequence of different public health interventions, social habits, and insecticide use. This is the first report of kdr mutations in Ae. Aegypti in the northeast region of Argentina. Our results focus on the need for within-population (city) distribution analyses of kdr mutations and highlight the relevance of incorporating insecticide resistance monitoring within the Integrated Vector Management initiative.

KEYWORDS

Aedes aegypti, pyrethroid resistance, knock-down resistance (kdr), arboviral vector, dengue vector surveillance, vector abundance

Introduction

Aedes aegypti, the primary vector of arboviral diseases such as Zika, dengue, yellow fever, and chikungunya, is unquestionably adapted to anthropogenic environments, and it is one of the most threatening species to human health worldwide (1). Hundreds of millions of dengue infections every year inflict a huge public health burden in tropical and subtropical countries, a consequence of an ever-expanding range of arboviral infections and vector populations during the last 50 years (2–4). During the 2019–2020 dengue epidemic, Misiones Province,

located in the northeast region of Argentina (NEA), registered most of the cases (5). An arboviral survey during 2019–2021 confirmed the circulation of three dengue virus serotypes in the main districts of Misiones, but Zika or chikungunya viruses were not found (6). The recent report of more than 2,000 chikungunya cases 10 miles away across the Paraná River (7) and the circulation of all dengue serotypes in the bordering countries (8), represent major risk factors in Misiones Province considering the high local *Aedes aegypti* larvae index, egg counts, and active fed females documented year-round (9).

Arboviral disease prevention and mitigation strategies are primarily addressed to control the vector by insecticide spraying and eliminating breeding sites and, more recently, by incorporating biotechnologically modified vectors. The rather intense and widespread use of pyrethroid insecticides led to the development of insecticide resistance due to the dissemination of genetic resistance in vector populations worldwide (10–12). Pyrethroids interrupt the mosquito's nerve function by binding to the voltagedependent sodium channel proteins (11). Its neurotoxic activity is diminished by non-synonymous knock-down-resistant (kdr) mutations introducing amino acid changes in the pyrethroid target protein (13, 14), a predominant mechanism of genetic insecticide resistance.

Several kdr mutations have been identified in *Ae. aegypti*, two of them consistently associated with pyrethroid resistance, i.e., a Valto-Ile amino acid change at protein position p.1016 (kdr V1016I) and the Phe-to-Cys amino acid change at p.1534 (kdr F1534C) (1, 15). Studies validated the association between these mutations and permethrin resistance (14, 16), showing that at both positions, homozygous kdr genotypes (II/CC) are more resistant than the wild-type homozygous kdr genotypes (VV/FF), with heterozygous genotypes displaying a range of intermediate resistance phenotypes (1, 17, 18). Reports also showed that the kdr V1016I mutation may synergize with the kdr F1534C in generating more resistant phenotypes (1, 15, 17).

Countries in the Americas, i.e., Venezuela, Mexico, USA, Costa Rica, and Brazil, reported increasing kdr V1016I and F1534C frequencies during the last decade, with kdr alleles reaching fixation in some cities (1, 11, 19–21). However, the distribution of kdr alleles within cities remains to be explored, particularly in different demographic and socio-economic settings.

Two insecticide sensitivity studies in Argentina showed incipient resistance in *Ae. aegypti* larvae and adults (22, 23); however, assessments of vector genetic resistance to pyrethroids have not been included in the local Integrated Vector Management programs. The presence, frequency, and distribution of pyrethroid kdr alleles using direct genotyping methods have not been reported in NEA to date. Within a range of 600 miles, only a Brazilian extensive study reported high kdr allele frequencies (11).

Monitoring frequencies of kdr alleles as an indicator of genetic resistance in *Ae. aegypti* populations gives public health authorities a direct assessment tool to evaluate the efficiency of control strategies and means to guide targeted interventions. In the context of the local entomological and arboviral vigilance program, we investigated the presence and distribution of alleles associated with resistance to pyrethroids, demonstrating for the first time the presence of kdr mutations in *Ae. aegypti* populations in Misiones, Argentina. Resistant (kdr) genotypes showed a nonrandom spatial distribution between contrasting socioeconomic status (SES) districts, distinguishing neighborhoods with increased pyrethroid resistance degree and *Ae. aegypti* abundance.

Methods

Experimental setting, study site, and biological material

The collection of adult specimens of *Ae. aegypti* was carried out as part of an international research collaboration network (RADAM-LAC) to investigate determinants of *Ae. aegypti* density at the household level, including factors related to household characteristics (i.e., crowding, water and waste management, and protection against mosquitoes) (9). Sampling was performed on a household basis simultaneously in three cities, i.e., Manta (Ecuador), Bage (Colombia), and Posadas (Argentina), following the same experimental design and methodology (9).

Adult Ae. aegypti were collected from 372 houses during a longitudinal study (January to December 2019) carried out in Posadas, NEA (27°22'00"S 55°53'49"O), a city of 4,00,000 inhabitants on the banks of the Paraná River, 120 m.o.s.l., with recurrent dengue epidemics. Four neighborhoods were grouped according to their population density, household crowding, household wealth, type of housing, and public services availability (water and sewage): two neighborhoods into "high" socioeconomic status (SES), privileged longstanding residential areas close to the city center [Villa Sarita (VS) and Barrio Palomar (BP)]; and two into "low" SES, less favored recent housing areas in the periphery [San Lorenzo (SL) and Nueva Esperanza (NE)] (Figure 1). Three adult mosquito traps (including one BG-Sentinel 2, one CDC miniature light trap, and one resting trap) were set in each of the 93 selected houses per neighborhood, and mosquitoes were also aspirated from indoor/outdoor surfaces using a Prokopack 1419 Aspirator [for details, see (9)]. Adult Ae. aegypti were sorted (males, fed females, and unfed females) and dissected, one piece individually stored at -20°C and the other part placed in pools of 20 individuals for subsequent molecular analyses. For the kdr assessment, 25 adult Ae. aegypti females were randomly selected from adult mosquitoes captured in different houses within each neighborhood during the highest prevalence sampling period (November-April).

Identification of knock-down resistance mutations

Individual DNA that was isolated (Wizard Genomic DNA Purification Kit, Promega) from 100 dissected adult *Ae. aegypti* (50 from each SES group) was used as a template for a direct genotyping of two kdr mutations in the *Nav* gene (kdr V1016I and kdr F1534C) using validated TaqMan SNP assays (Thermo Fisher) as published in Melo Costa et al. (11). Positive DNA controls for resistant genotypes were kindly provided by Dr. Adriana E Flores, UANL, Mexico. A separate, non-template reaction was used as a



negative control. Primer and probes sequences and reaction assays are detailed in Supplementary Table 1.

Statistical analyses

Allelic and genotypic frequencies were estimated by direct count, individually at each position (i.e., *Nav* p.1016: VV, VI, II; and *Nav* p.1534 FF, FC, CC). The frequency of combined genotypes, V1016I +F1534C, was also estimated (i.e., VV/FF, VV/FC, VV/CC, VI/FF, VI/FC, VI/CC, II/FF, II/FC, II/CC), considering that they are physically very close in the *Ae. aegypti* genome and therefore in the linkage disequilibrium (19, 24). We used the Mann–Whitney U-test to assess the differences in adult females *Ae. aegypti* count in low- vs. high-SES areas and Z-score to evaluate the proportion of resistant and wild-type genotypes in these two areas.

Results

The 2019 longitudinal study assessed 372 houses in four neighborhoods (two high and two low SES) in Posadas, Argentina, collecting mosquitoes indoors and in the peridomicile area using four validated trapping methods in each site. In total, we collected 4,391 *Culex* spp. and 1,020 *Ae. aegypti* adult mosquitoes. High-SES neighborhoods, Villa Sarita + Barrio Palomar (VS+BP), accounted for a higher number of adult *Ae. aegypti* per household and *Ae. aegypti* abundance, showing significant differences in the proportion of captured *Ae. aegypti* (z-score: -16.48225, p< 0.001) (Table 1).

TaqMan genotyping individual mosquitoes for two kdr mutations, V1016I (n = 98) and F1534C (n = 99), showed a high frequency of pyrethroid resistance alleles in local *Ae. aegypti* populations, whereas kdr V1016I mutation was present in 49% of analyzed adults, kdr F1534C was observed in 92% of individuals. Frequencies of the resistant alleles at both positions were substantially different (kdr 1016I = 0.2908; kdr 1534C = 0.7070). For each position, all three genotypes (i.e., *Nav* p.1016: VV, VI, II; *Nav* p.1534 FF, FC, CC) were identified in the assayed sample. The resistant homozygous kdr 1534C genotype (CC) was the second most frequent. Observed genotypic frequencies (Table 2) are in Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium.

The combined genotypes considering both the 1016 and 1534 *Nav* sites and their frequencies found in this study are listed in Table 3. Combined genotypic frequencies showed that 92.63% of all individuals carried at least one resistant allele and 50% at least one resistant allele in each position, i.e., VI/FC, VI/CC, and II/CC (Table 3). VI/FF, II/FC, and II/FF genotypes were not observed.

	Neighborhood	Ae. aegypti abundance	Number of adult Aedes per household
Low SES	NE	226	2.43
	SL	176	1.89
	Total	402*	2.16
High SES	VS	313	3.36
	BP	305	3.28
	Total	618*	3.32

TABLE 1 Adult Ae. aegypti captured in low (NE+SL) and high (VS+BP) socioeconomic status (SES) neighborhoods.

 * Significantly different p < 0.01. The bold values indicate totals or sub totals.

TABLE 2 Frequency of knock-down-resistant (kdr) alleles and genotypes found at Nav p.1016 and Nav p.1534 positions in Aedes aegypti from Posadas, Argentina.

kdr position	Allele	Frequency (%)	Genotype	Frequency (%)
1016	v	70.91	VV	51.02
			VI	39.80
	I*	29.08	II	9.18
				n = 98
1534	F	29.29	FF	8.08
			FC	42.42
	C*	70.70	CC	49.49
				n = 99

*Knock-down-resistant alleles at Nav p.1016 and Nav p.1534C.

The genotype counts in low- and high-SES neighborhoods were not proportional to their distribution in the whole sample (p < 0.001, Table 3). There was a higher prevalence of genotypes carrying at least one resistant allele in both positions (VI/FC, VI/CC, and II/CC) in mosquitoes collected from high-SES (67%) compared with low-SES neighborhoods (34%). In addition, the susceptible double homozygous genotype (VV/FF) was absent in high-SES districts but represented 14% of mosquitoes collected from the low-SES districts.

Discussion

The arboviral vector mosquito *Aedes aegypti* is a major threat to human health worldwide. Its control represents a vital challenge for public health authorities in subtropical and tropical countries. Genetic resistance to insecticides is well documented in several species, including *Ae. Aegypti*, and has been largely validated in physiological and molecular studies (8, 22), showing that mutations in the *Nav* gene are responsible for weakening the pyrethroid knock-down efficacy. Investigations have extensively portrayed the effect of kdrV1016I and kdrF1534C mutations and their fluctuating distribution in the Americas (1, 11, 25).

Here, we report for the first time the presence and distribution of *Ae. aegypti* kdr mutations in the northeast region of Argentina. We assessed the two main pyrethroid resistance markers in adult mosquitoes, kdrV1016I and kdrF1534C, using TaqMan SNP genotyping assays, the most widely used genotyping system. Unlike other methods, a TaqMan assay executes direct genotyping, reducing adjustments and additional confirmatory reactions to non-specific amplifications (17).

In total, 92.63% of all tested mosquitoes had at least one resistant allele. The high kdr allelic frequencies observed in this study, particularly in kdr F1534C (70.7%), derived from the predominance of homozygous resistant genotypes identified in approximately 50% of mosquitoes (Table 2). In the absence of previous *Ae. aegypti* kdr data gathered in Argentinian nearby regions (within 600 miles), our report gains relevance as a reference for future studies, particularly to assist local vector control strategies. The closest kdr survey reported was carried out in a Brazilian border city 210 miles away, showing even higher frequencies in both kdr mutations, i.e., V1016I = 70% and F1534C = 91% (11).

Co-occurrence of kdr mutations (V1016I+F1534C) presenting at least one copy of the resistant allele at each kdr site is common, reaching up to 90% in Central and South American districts (1), possibly as an outcome of the intense use of pyrethroids. According to the hypothesis of the synergistic contribution of kdr V1016I + kdr F1534C, homozygous resistant genotypes at both positions, i.e., Nav.p1016/p.1534 (II/CC), are more permethrin resistant than the VI/CC, and these, in turn, more than the VV/CC (15), demonstrating the individual contribution of kdr alleles. Our data show that VI/CC and II/CC genotypes represent ~30% of combined genotypes observed in Posadas' neighborhoods. Furthermore, almost 50% of the assayed adult *Ae. aegypti* presented at least one kdr allele in both loci, indicating a currently extensive degree of pyrethroid resistance. Combined genotypes II/FC and II/FF were not found in Posadas, in line with their exceptionally

Combined genotypes*	Whole sample (<i>N</i> = 95)	Low-SES neighborhood ($N = 50$)	High-SES neighborhood ($N = 45$)
V/V/FF	7.37	14.00	0.00
VV/FC	23.16	26.00	20.00
VV/CC	20.00	26.00	13.33
VI/FC	20.00	14.00	26.67
VI/CC	21.05	16.00	27.67
II/CC	8.42	4.00	13.33
		0.34**	0.67**

TABLE 3 Frequency (%) of combined kdr genotypes (V1016I + F1534C) in Aedes aegypti from Posadas, Argentina.

*VI/FF, II/FC–II/FF genotypes absent.

**Significant different (p < 0.001). The bold values indicate totals or sub totals.

low frequency (0.0004) reported by the comprehensive survey conducted in 123 Brazilian cities (11). Hernandez et al. (1) suggested that the low frequency of genotypes II (Nav p.1016) could be associated with their subsequent evolution after F1534C, as well as with a lower fitness of these genotypes. Selection pressure due to the extensive use of pyrethroids is also a likely scenario.

Examining the distribution of combined resistant genotypes carrying at least one kdr mutation in each position (VI/FC, VI/CC, and II/CC) among neighborhoods showed a significantly increased proportion of kdr genotypes in high-SES areas (box in Table 3). This indicates an increased degree of pyrethroid resistance in privileged SES areas in Posadas, which is confirmed by the absence of a double homozygous susceptible genotype (VV/FF) in this area. Notably, the abundance of Ae. aegypti captured in high-SES neighborhoods is also higher (p < 0.01, Table 1). Hence, in high-SES neighborhoods, we found not only more mosquitoes but also more resistant ones. The increased Ae. aegypti counts alongside prevalent resistant genotypes in high-SES areas may result from two main factors, namely (a) easier access to and more intense and widespread use of household pyrethroid insecticides in high-SES districts and (b) comparative success of usual vector control strategies mostly associated with the elimination of breeding sites and debris removal actions in low-SES areas (corroborated by City Public Health intervention frequency). In line with this, the resistance to insecticides for domestic use and the selection pressure associated with this extensive practice have already been demonstrated in Ae. aegypti (11, 26, 27). In Brazil, a non-random distribution of kdr genotypes among cities, with the absence of the wild-type in localities where chemical control inside houses played a fundamental role, was observed (11). Also, an increased frequency of kdr V1016I mutation was associated with the use of surface pyrethroid aerosols in homes in Mexico (26). Extensive chemical control operations have been performed in the north of Argentina since 1998, and systematic actions began in 2003 in Misiones, Argentina. In recent years, local health authorities have implemented controls with type 1 pyrethroids [(1-RS)-cistrans permethrin].

In this context, the consideration of *Ae. aegypti* abundance without information on the frequency of the pyrethroid resistance alleles in vector populations would have led to making inappropriate decisions on vector control management in

high SES. Crucially, the available kdr data offer the opportunity to redirect strategies and reduce the amount and/or type of pesticide spraying by a precision-guided use of insecticides within cities. Considering the lack of regional kdr data associated with *Ae. aegypti* abundance, this study contributes to the first reference dataset for local vector vigilance and insecticide resistance management programs. Continuous evaluation of permethrin resistance across neighborhoods by monitoring V1016I + F1534C kdr mutations and insecticide bioassay testing will allow the analysis of the spatiotemporal evolution of the resistance phenomenon, a chance to effectively plan localized control strategies including the use of alternate insecticides and non-chemical interventions.

This study provides evidence regarding two premises that have been poorly addressed that represent key issues in the design and implementation of vector control strategies. First, (a) between-neighborhood (subpopulations) differences in kdr genotypic frequencies: studies mostly evaluate kdr data from each city (sample), comparing results between cities in country-wide or statewide studies. In addition to the actual relevance of those analyses, here we found skewed kdr genotype frequencies between two groups of neighborhoods within the same city. Second, (b) the complex relationship among *Ae. aegypti* abundance, pyrethroid resistance, and socio-economic (cultural) determinants. Both require further experimental analyses and monitoring in different eco-epidemiological settings.

Frequency estimates are based on genotyping 100 Ae. aegypti adults, representing only \sim 10% of the captured samples. This could be interpreted as a limitation of this study; however, increasing the sample size would not imply significant changes as allele frequencies at both positions are moderate to high, and genotypic frequencies are under Hardy–Weinberg equilibrium. Notwithstanding this, the spatial expansion of the sampling by including all neighborhoods in Posadas would generate a more complete understanding of the local Ae. aegypti population structuring concerning kdr mutations.

In conclusion, this study demonstrates the relevance of kdr data for precise and focused vector control interventions and public health initiatives to reduce both *Ae. aegypti* populations and insecticide use/misuse to mitigate arboviral disease risks.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

JFa, KL, FZ, MK, JFe, CA, and MM contributed to the conception and design of the study. JFa, MBo, SE, and MBl performed the laboratory work and analysis of results. JFa, JFe, and MM wrote the first draft of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the revision of the manuscript, read, and approved the submitted version.

Funding

ImpactAR 101 fund was provided by MINCYT, Argentina. Zika project grant (108409-001) provided by CIHR-IDRC, Canada.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank Rodrigo Zarate for his contribution to figures and technical assistance and Ministerio de

References

1. Hernandez JR, Longnecker M, Fredregill CL, Debboun M, Pietrantonio PV. Kdr genotyping (V1016I, F1534C) of the Nav channel of Aedes aegypti (L.) mosquito populations in Harris County (Houston), Texas, USA, after Permanone 31–66 field tests and its influence on probability of survival. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:11. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0009833

2. Bhatt S, Gething PW, Brady OJ, Messina JP, Farlow AW, Moyes CL, et al. The global distribution and burden of dengue. *Nature*. (2013) 496:504–7. doi: 10.1038/nature12060

3. Guzman MG, Harris E. Dengue. The Lancet (2015) 385:453-65. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60572-9

4. Messina JP, Brady OJ, Golding N, Kraemer MU, Wint GR, Ray SE, et al. The current and future global distribution and population at risk of dengue. *Nat Microbiol.* (2019) 4:1508–15. doi: 10.1038/s41564-019-0476-8

5. Ministerio de Salud Argentina. *Boletín Integrado de Vigilancia*. (2023). Available online at: https://www.argentina.gob.ar/sites/default/files/biv_479.pdf (accessed February 10, 2023).

6. Fay J. Vicente J, Boaglio B, Cáceres G, Tauro L, Espíndola S, et al. *Relevamiento de la circulación de zika, dengue y chikungunya en Misiones, Argentina XIII congreso argentino de virología*. Sociedad Argentina de Virología (2021). p. 60.

7. Ministerio de Salud y Bienestar Social, Paraguay. *Arbovirosis*. (2023). Available online at: https://dgvs.mspbs.gov.py/page/#arbovirosis.html (accessed February 10, 2023).

8. Andrioli DC, Busato MA, Lutinski JA. Spatial and temporal distribution of dengue in Brazil, 1990 - 2017. *PLoS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0228346. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0228346

9. Talbot B, Sander B, Cevallos V, González C, Benítez D, Carissimo C, et al. Determinants of Aedes mosquito density as an indicator of arbovirus transmission risk in three sites affected by co-circulation of globally spreading arboviruses in Colombia, Ecuador and Argentina. *Parasit Vectors.* (2021) 14:482. doi: 10.1186/s13071-021-04984-z

10. Saavedra-Rodriguez K, Urdaneta-Marquez L, Rajatileka S, Moulton MG, Flores AE, Fernández-Salas I, et al. A mutation in the voltage-gated sodium channel gene associated with pyrethroid resistance in Latin American Aedes aegypti. *Insect Molecular Biol.* (2007) 16:785–98. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2583.2007.00774.x

Salud de Misiones, UNAM, MINCYT, and CONICET for their support. JFa receives a postdoctoral fellowship from CONICET.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1166007/full#supplementary-material

11. Melo Costa M, Campos KB, Brito LP, Roux E, Melo Rodovalho C, Bellinato DF, et al. Kdr genotyping in Aedes aegypti from Brazil on a nation-wide scale from 2017 to 2018. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:13267. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-70029-7

12. Granada Y, Mejía-Jaramillo AM, Zuluaga S, Triana-Chávez O. Molecular surveillance of resistance to pyrethroids insecticides in Colombian Aedes aegypti populations. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:1–21. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0010001

13. Amelia-Yap ZH, Chen CD, Sofian-Azirun M, Low VL. Pyrethroid resistance in the dengue vector Aedes aegypti in Southeast Asia: Present situation and prospects for management. *Parasites and Vectors*. (2018) 11:1–17. doi: 10.1186/s13071-018-2899-0

14. Zl	norov	BS,	Don	g	K.	Eluc	idation	of	pyrethro	oid and
DDT	recepto	r	sites	in	the	١	oltage-gat	ed	sodium	channel.
Neuroto	xicology		(2017)		60:171	-7.	doi:		10.1016/j.n	euro.2016.
08.013										

15. Chen M, Du Y, Nomura Y, Zhorov BS, Dong K. Chronology of sodium channel mutations associated with pyrethroid resistance in Aedes aegypti. *Arch Insect Biochem Physiol.* (2020) 104:2. doi: 10.1002/arch.21686

16. Zardkoohi A, Castañeda D, Lol JC, Castillo C, Lopez F, Marín Rodriguez R, et al. Co-occurrence of kdr mutations V1016I and F1534C and its association with phenotypic resistance to pyrethroids in Aedes aegypti (Diptera: Culicidae) populations from Costa Rica. J Med Entomol. (2020) 57:830–6. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjz241

17. Brito LP, Carrara L, de Freitas RM, Lima JBP, Martins AJ. Levels of resistance to pyrethroid among distinct kdr alleles in aedes aegypti laboratory lines and frequency of kdr alleles in 27 natural populations from Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *Biomed Res Int.* (2018) 11:2410819. doi: 10.1155/2018/2410819

Fan Y, Scott JG. The F1534C voltage-sensitive sodium channel mutation confers
to 16-fold resistance to pyrethroid insecticides in Aedes aegypti. *Pest Manag Sci.* (2020) 76:2251–9. doi: 10.1002/ps.5763

19. Linss JG, Brito LP, Garcia GA, Araki AS, Bruno RV, Lima JB, et al. Distribution and dissemination of the Val1016Ile and Phe1534Cys Kdr mutations in Aedes aegypti Brazilian natural populations. *Parasit Vectors.* (2014) 7:25. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-25

20. Alvarez LC, Ponce G, Saavedra-Rodriguez K, Lopez B, Flores AE. Frequency of V1016I and F1534C mutations in the voltage-gated sodium channel gene in Aedes aegypti in Venezuela. *Pest Manag Sci.* (2015) 71:863–9. doi: 10.1002/ps.3846

21. Rahman RU, Cosme LV, Costa MM, Carrara L, Lima JBP, Martins AJ. Insecticide resistance and genetic structure of Aedes aegypti populations from Rio de Janeiro State, Brazil. *PLoSNegl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:2. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008492

22. Llinás GA, Seccacini E, Gardenal CN, Licastro S. Current resistance status to temephos in *Aedes aegypti* from different regions of Argentina. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* (2010) 105:113–6. doi: 10.1590/S0074-027620100001 00019

23. Harburguer L, Gonzalez P, Zerba E. First report of adult *Aedes aegypti* (Diptera: Culicidae) resistance to pyrethroids in Argentina. *J Med Entomol.* (2021) 59:372–5. doi: 10.1093/jme/tj ab167

24. Macoris ML, Martins AJ, Andrighetti MT, Lima JB, Valle D. Pyrethroid resistance persists after ten years without usage against Aedes aegypti in governmental

campaigns: lessons from São Paulo State, Brazil. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2018) 12:e0006390. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006390

25. Villanueva-Segura K, Ponce-Garcia G, Lopez-Monroy B, Mora-Jasso E, Peralas L, Santillan FJ, et al. Multiplex PCR for simultaneous genotyping of kdr mutations V410L, V1016I and F1534C in Aedes aegypti (L.). *Parasites Vectors.* (2020) 13: 325. doi: 10.1186/s13071-020-04193-0

26. Gray L, Florez SD, Barreiro AM, Vadillo-Sánchez J, González-Olvera G, Lenhart A, et al. Experimental evaluation of the impact of household aerosolized insecticides on pyrethroid resistant *Aedes aegypti. Sci Rep.* (2018) 8:12535. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-30968-8

27. Smith LB, Kasai S, Scott JG. Pyrethroid resistance in Aedes aegypti and Aedes albopictus: important mosquito vectors of human diseases. *Pestic Biochem Physiol.* (2016) 133:1–12. doi: 10.1016/j.pestbp.2016.03.005

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Najoua Haouas, University of Monastir, Tunisia

REVIEWED BY Amir Horev, Soroka University Medical Center, Israel Mokni Mourad, Hôpital La Rabta, Tunisia Vikash Paudel, Patan Academy of Health Sciences, Nepal

*CORRESPONDENCE Mohammad Mahdi Gouya ⊠ mgouya57@gmail.com

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Infectious Diseases: Epidemiology and Prevention, a section of the journal Frontiers in Public Health

RECEIVED 07 November 2022 ACCEPTED 30 March 2023 PUBLISHED 28 April 2023

CITATION

Sharifi I, Khosravi A, Aflatoonian MR, Salarkia E, Bamorovat M, Karamoozian A, Nekoei Moghadam M, Sharifi F, Aghaei Afshar A, Agha Kuchak Afshari S, Gharachorloo F, Shirzadi MR, Amiri B, Zainali M, Doosti S, Zamani O and Gouya MM (2023) Cutaneous leishmaniasis situation analysis in the Islamic Republic of Iran in preparation for an elimination plan. *Front. Public Health* 11:1091709. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1091709

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Sharifi, Khosravi, Aflatoonian, Salarkia, Bamorovat, Karamoozian, Nekoei Moghadam, Sharifi, Aghaei Afshar, Agha Kuchak Afshari, Gharachorloo, Shirzadi, Amiri, Zainali, Doosti, Zamani and Gouya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Cutaneous leishmaniasis situation analysis in the Islamic Republic of Iran in preparation for an elimination plan

Iraj Sharifi¹, Ahmad Khosravi¹, Mohammad Reza Aflatoonian¹, Ehsan Salarkia¹, Mehdi Bamorovat¹, Ali Karamoozian², Mahmoud Nekoei Moghadam³, Fatemeh Sharifi⁴, Abbas Aghaei Afshar⁴, Setareh Agha Kuchak Afshari⁵, Faranak Gharachorloo⁶, Mohammad Reza Shirzadi⁶, Behzad Amiri⁶, Mohammad Zainali⁶, Sara Doosti⁶, Omid Zamani⁷ and Mohammad Mahdi Gouya⁶*

¹Leishmaniasis Research Center, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran, ²Research Center for Modeling in Health, Institute for Futures Studies in Health, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran, ³Research Center for Health Services Management, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran, ⁴Research Center of Tropical and Infectious Diseases, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran, ⁵Medical Mycology and Bacteriology Research Center, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, Kerman, Iran, ⁶Center for Communicable Diseases Control, Ministry of Health and Medical Education, Tehran, Iran, ⁷Universal Health Coverage for Communicable Diseases (UHC: CD), World Health Organization, Country Office, Tehran, Iran

Iran has invariably been under the growing public health threat of cutaneous leishmaniasis (CL), a significant barrier to local development that hinders the prevention and control efforts toward eliminating the disease. So far, no comprehensive and in-depth epidemiological analysis of the CL situation has been carried out nationwide. This study aimed to employ advanced statistical models to analyze the data collected through the Center for Diseases Control and Prevention of Communicable Diseases during 1989-2020. However, we emphasized the current trends, 2013-2020, to study temporal and spatial CL patterns. In the country, the epidemiology of CL is incredibly intricate due to various factors. This fact indicates that the basic infrastructure, the preceding supports, and the implementation plan related to preventive and therapeutic measures need crucial support. The leishmaniasis situation analysis is consistent with desperate requirements for efficient information on the control program in the area. This review provides evidence of temporally regressive and spatially expanding incidence of CL with characteristic geographical patterns and disease hotspots, signifying an urgent need for comprehensive control strategies. This information could be a suitable model and practical experience in the Eastern Mediterranean Region, where over 80% of CL is reported.

KEYWORDS

cutaneous leishmaniasis, situation analysis, prevention, elimination plan, Iran

1. Introduction

Leishmaniasis is among the most emerging and re-emerging zoonotic diseases that have long been recognized, evolved, remarkably increased, and gradually expanded beyond the traditional geographical range and progressively dispersed among different hosts and numerous vectors (1). This disease frequently occurs, spreading greater and faster than before (2). In 2018, over 253,000 new cutaneous leishmaniasis (CL) cases were reported to World Health Organization (WHO). The region accounts for over 80% of the CL caseloads worldwide, only from the Eastern Mediterranean Region (EMR) countries, representing a primary "hotspot" eco-epidemiological region (3). Cutaneous leishmaniasis is a multidimensional entity posing a severe public health concern in the WHO EMR in which 18/22 (82%) of countries and territories were endemic for CL. Several epidemiological and clinical forms indicate a challenge in managing, controlling, and eliminating the disease (4). Leishmaniasis is still the third most vector-borne disease and is frequently fatal if it remains untreated in 101 tropical and subtropical countries and territories (5, 6). Although visceral leishmaniasis (VL or kala-azar) is the deadliest type, CL is the most common form encompassing three-fourths of the total burden (7).

Over the past three decades, despite tremendous efforts to control CL in Iran, it seems that the burden of the disease is still high in some areas. This fact indicates that the basic infrastructure and the preceding support and implementation plan related to diagnostics, drugs, and vaccines are inadequate nationally and abroad (8). The leishmaniasis situation analysis and the suggested framework is consistent with desperate requirements for efficient information on the range of the control program in the area as previously outlined by the WHO Resolution (9). This resolution called for conditions that would allow WHO to assume a leadership role in scientific and technical cooperation to strengthen, initiate, maintain, and expand the leishmaniasis control program. The outcome has been streamlined, and integrated approaches have produced extraordinary gains for public health improvement. Iran is among the forefront affected countries that, together with Brazil, Peru, Columbia, Algeria, Afghanistan, Syria, and Pakistan, constitute the eight most endemic countries (5). Like the Old World, Leishmania major and L. tropica are responsible for zoonotic (ZCL) and anthroponotic CL (ACL) in Iran, respectively (10). In the country, the epidemiology of CL is incredibly intricate due to the complexity of the rural and urban life cycles, the implication of numerous reservoir hosts and varying species of phlebotomine sandfly vectors, variable response to standard medications, complex confounding factors, mixed species circulating in the endemic foci, various clinical features and recurrent emerging epidemics and main challenges and gaps (1, 11-14).

No similar comprehensive and in-depth epidemiological analysis of the CL situation has been carried out at the national level. This study analyzed the national data collected through the Center for Diseases Control and Prevention of Communicable Diseases (CDC) during 1989– 2020. However, we emphasized the current trends, 2013–2020, to study temporal and spatial CL trends and pinpoint hotspots. Identification of the persistent and high-incidence areas could help the program prepare an elimination plan for future control planning, as requested by the CDC, Ministry of Health and Medical Education (MOHME), and WHO. Herein, we provide evidence of temporally regressive and spatially expanding incidence of CL with characteristic geographical patterns and disease hotspots, signifying an urgent need for intensified, effective, and comprehensive control strategies, particularly in the hotspot settings. The information presented in this study could be a suitable model and practical experience in EMR countries and worldwide.

2. Data sources and scope

The primary data source was those reported monthly by the health surveillance system to the CDC in the country and via literature review in the area of interest relevant to the characteristics of the CL cases. We have presented the current situation of CL and reviewed various operational aspects of the current and preceding control strategies, including implementing prophylactic and therapeutic measures in humans, animal reservoirs, and sandfly vectors. We have likewise summarized significant challenges and gaps, present status, and finally listed a framework of strategic approaches and essential needs for conducting a preliminary control program toward a CL elimination plan. Furthermore, a leishmaniasis expert team comprising experienced staff and academic members affiliated with the universities at the provincial and national levels was established. During a 24-month work, 23 meetings were held together with a literature review, interviews, visits, and discussion of various leishmaniasis issues, particularly those which might interfere with the future control program. Furthermore, relevant challenges and gaps analyses linked to strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT), and a list of essential needs were presented.

3. Geographical areas

Iran consists of 31 provinces, 85 million population, and 1,648,000 km² areas. This country possesses one of the longest land borders (5,894 km) of any country in western Asia, neighboring Afghanistan, Pakistan, Turkey, Armenia, Azerbaijan, Turkmenistan, and Iraq. Iran is a vast country with inconstant and different climates: mild and relatively wet on the coast of the Caspian Sea, continental and arid in the plateau, cold in high mountains, and desert, and hot on the southern coast in the southeast. In the northwest, winters are cold with heavy snowfall and subfreezing temperatures. Spring and fall are relatively mild, while summers are dry and hot. In the south, winters are mild, and the summers are sweltering, having average daily temperatures in July exceeding 38°C. On the Khuzestan plains, the summer heat is accompanied by high humidity (15, 16). In general, Iran has a continental climate where most of the relatively scant annual precipitation falls from October through April (17). Such a diverse range of temperatures, climatic zones, and fertile land creates an opportunity for growing all kinds of crops and vegetables. These conditions brought about fertile grounds for providing multiple risk determinants and suitable breeding environments for propagating sandflies and reservoirs, contributing to an excessive number of CL cases in a geographically vast area of the country (18, 19).

4. Epidemiological characteristics

4.1. Case-definition

A confirmed CL case refers to a patient who shows clinical signs (skin lesions) along with parasitological confirmation of the organism

(positive smear or culture obtained from the edge of the skin lesion). The confirmed CL cases are routinely diagnosed to the genus level (20); however, the investigators seeking research purposes are exceptions for those identified to the species phenotype.

4.2. Surveillance and case detection

Cutaneous leishmaniasis is a notifiable disease in Iran and is integrated into the primary health surveillance system (PHC). The CL cases are reported monthly from peripheral areas to district-provincenational levels. In routine detection, passive case finding consists of screening for CL at health clinics, and rural or urban centers, while in emergencies, passive recognition, and active case detection of CL cases through house-to-house visits are carried out.

4.3. Clinico-epidemiological forms

Two main CL types are present in Iran, either alone or mixed, depending upon the endemic locality (21). Zoonotic CL (ZCL) is the most predominant and widespread form caused by L. major. The Phlebotomus papatasi female sandflies primarily transmit this species from small gerbils to humans, presumably in 80% of the foci (22) in 842 districts inhabiting 2.4 million at-risk populations. This form is endemic in many rural and municipal areas of 19 out of the 31 provinces of Iran, including Tehran, Isfahan, Kashan, Qom, Semnan, Khorasan Razavi, Khorasan Shomali, Golestan, Khorasan Jonoobi, Fars, Ilam, Lorestan, Bushehr, Khuzestan, Hormozgan, Kerman, Kermanshah, Yazd, and Sistan/Baluchestan (10, 23). The global foci of ZCL are vast, including numerous geographical areas in the Middle East, north-western China, and North Africa (10, 24). While anthroponotic CL (ACL) is caused by L. tropica and transmitted by the female Ph. sergenti sandflies from human to human, often in an urban life cycle. This form is the minor type (nearly 20%) present, more likely in 205 large and medium-sized cities and suburban settlements entailing Mashhad, Neyshbour, Sabzevar., Kashan, Yazd, Isfahan, Kerman, Bam, and Shiraz, within the country (20).

4.4. Reservoir hosts

Four species of small rodents belonging to the family Cricetidae are designated as the principal reservoir hosts for ZCL in several parts of Iran. *Rhombomys opimus* (the great gerbil) is the primary host of ZCL in central and northeast Iran, while *Meriones libycus* (the Libyan Jird) is the primary reservoir host of ZCL in the central and south of the country. *Tatera indicia* (the Indian gerbil) is the primary reservoir host of ZCL in the southeast of Iran. *Meriones hurrianae* (the desert gerbil) is implicated as the reservoir host of ZCL in Baluchistan, in southeastern Iran (25), while prominent infection has been described in *Nesokia indica* as well. Summary of presence probabilities for three main species (e.g., *R. opimus, M. libycus*, and *T. indica*) exposed to favorable environmental niches in widespread areas of 16/31 provinces (26–31). Anthroponotic CL caused by *L. tropica*, is restricted to humans, although sporadic dogs have been infected in some foci. It is assumed that dogs might be implicated in the epidemiology of the disease and play a secondary role in transmitting the *L. tropica* parasite (32, 33).

4.5. Biological vectors

Only a marginal of sandflies are biological vectors of CL in Iran. *Phlebotomus papatasi* is the primary and well-known sandfly vector of ZCL among humans and gerbils. Natural *L. major* promastigote infection has been detected in 0.2–22% of *Ph. papatasi* from rodent burrows. Some reports indicate that *Ph. salehi* is the secondary vector transmitting ZCL infections in an endemic focus of ZCL in central Iran (34–46). In contrast, ACL is found in long-lasting foci in medium and large-sized cities in highland areas. The extent of this disease was significantly influenced by anti-malaria insecticide spraying over the past decades. *Ph. sergenti* is the primary sandfly vector of ACL transmitting the organism in the endemic foci of Iran (25, 47–49).

4.6. Demographic and clinical features

We collected the CL new cases data (n = 695,541) between April 1983 and March 2020. Subsequently, a subsample (n = 129,009) from April 2013 to April 2020 was used by advanced statistical analyses. The CL patients consisted of males (58%) and females (41%) aged 1–83 years old who were interviewed, medically examined, and diagnosed for the presence of active skin lesions or scars compatible with CL by the health networks in 31 provinces of the Islamic Republic of Iran. There was a significant difference between males and females (p < 0.001). All age groups were affected, but children <10 years old performed the highest (23%), and >60 years the minor level of infection (8%) (p < 0.001). Most of the patients lived in urban areas (52%), the majority were Iranian (93%), and the remaining (7%) Afghan migrants. Most of the lesions were single (47%), 1 cm in diameter (46%), and frequently on hands (57%).

Figure 1 exhibits the nationwide CL prevalence and incidence of cases during 1983–2020. Over this period, the trend was somewhat sluggish, but more or less of fluctuating nature and steadily declined. This variation was mainly due to multiple risk factors, especially earthquakes, natural and anthropogenic environmental changes, population displacement, and drug unresponsiveness (50–52). The five provinces with the highest incidence were Ilam 143, Fars 75.3, Semnan 60.2, Isfahan 48.8, and Golestan 46 per 100,000 people. The average incidence rate was 20.7 per 100,000 persons nationally (Table 1).

Over the last decade, CL has expanded considerably, and numerous outbreaks and emerging epidemics of variable magnitudes occurred, attributed to the spread and resurgence of the disease and the provision of many confounding determinants (12, 14, 24, 53–56). Despite a significant reduction in VL cases, the geographical range of CL has remarkably enlarged. The policymakers, health authorities, and clinical practitioners have seriously overlooked the disease as they do not consider CL a severe threat and urgent public health concern in Iran and EMR. This is mainly due to the perceived no serious and under-reporting disease, other precipitation determinants, and many underlying chronic diseases (57). Iran is among the eight most affected and frontline countries where 15,000–20,000 cases of CL have



officially been reported, although the actual number of new cases is reported to be in the order of 2-5-fold higher (20).

4.7. Analysis of national incidence trends

A non-linear mixed model (random effect model) was used to explore the incidence trend in different provinces and the effect of demographic data, including age and gender, on the incidence rate over time. To be precise, we employed 'random intercept' and 'random slope' in the above model. To assess the incidence trend based on different months and the nature of the non-linearity of the data, we used two models, including the 'generalized additive model' (GAM) and 'generalized additive mixed model' (GAMM). Finally, to predict the incidence trend for the following months and years, we used the 'seasonal autoregressive integrated moving average (SARIMA) approach by ARIMA $(2,0,0) \times (2,1,0)_{12}$. To analyze the various data, we performed R4.1.1 by using nlme, smooth, forecast, gam, gamm4, simts, and sarima packages.

The outcome of both effects, 'fix' and 'random' trends in the incidence of CL in different provinces, were significant (p < 0.001) at the national level (Table 2). This trend has decreased with time (estimate: -0.88, CI: -1.70, -0.05, and covariance between intercept and year, -0.48). We concluded that the provinces with a higher incidence rate, such as Ilam, Fars, Semnan, Isfahan, and Golestan, showed a faster-declining trend than the other provinces. Therefore, implementing the interventional measures recommended by WHO during 2014–2018 has effectively reduced the disease burden in high-risk provinces (58).

Then we assessed the main effect of age and gender interactions with year on the incidence rate of CL (Table 3). There was a significant difference (p < 0.001) among <10 years old children and 10–25 or > 60 years old individuals. Similarly, there was a significant difference in the incidence of CL in males and females (p < 0.001) (Table 3). The annual trend of new cases by different age groups is

presented in Figure 2. At the same time, if the interaction of age with year is being considered, there was only a significant difference (p < 0.03) between <10 and >60 years older. No significant differences among <10 and other groups were observed (Figure 2A). Figure 2B displays the significance of the difference in incidence trend among males and females by time. There was a relatively constant trend in the incidence of CL in females and males from 2015 to 2020.

An equivalent number of affected males and females were described in public-based studies; however, investigations based on surveillance systems exposed a deceptive upsurge of males (51), possibly described by diverse clinical-seeking behaviors for both genders. A study in Iran confirmed that unresponsiveness to CL therapy is meaningfully linked with increasing age. The impairment of innate and adaptive immune systems may account for amplified drug unresponsiveness in older age groups (12). Male patients frequently do not complete the assigned medication, mainly because of insignificant treatment adherence. This partial adherence to treatment might play a critical role in treatment failure.

Then we explored the monthly trend in the incidence of the disease by the time of occurrence. Figure 2C exhibits seasonal trends reflecting non-linearity modeling tendencies. Incidence rates gradually declined during the spring and early summer from April to July, and a sharp upsurge from August to November during the cold months of the year was observed, where again, sharply decreased until March. It seems that the sandfly activities start sometime in the early months of spring (59) when the *Leishmania* agents undergo the incubation period. The CL lesions gradually appear in late summer, when a peak of CL occurs in August to November during the monsoon period. Meanwhile, the caseloads sharply dropped from January to March compared to the remaining months.

Next, we closely evaluated the incidence trends by the year of occurrence. We found that the highest number of reported morbidities appeared in 2014 and 2015 (Figure 2C). It was

Provinces	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	Average
Ilam	102.6	271.5	224.1	180.6	135.0	77.0	78.7	74.6	143.0
Fars	86.7	112.7	123.6	74.1	57.0	59.7	40.0	48.8	75.3
Semnan	28.7	30.4	29.7	48.5	30.9	41.4	95.9	175.8	60.2
Isfahan	60.3	59.7	38.1	28.1	22.9	68.3	59.1	53.6	48.8
Golestan	32.9	36.2	43.6	51.4	33.3	75.7	60.9	33.9	46.0
Khuzestan	19.2	80.5	60.4	34.9	31.0	29.7	20.7	36.1	39.1
Khorasan Razavi	63.9	53.3	42.7	40.5	34.5	26.4	23.4	15.4	37.5
Khorasan Shomali	50.7	55.5	31.1	22.6	24.8	35.5	24.0	20.0	33.0
Yazd	27.3	33.2	41.8	26.9	16.4	36.6	21.4	32.3	29.5
Kerman	41.6	32.4	25.9	25.8	23.8	22.2	17.1	13.6	25.3
Qom	18.8	15.3	13.4	1.8	11.8	25.7	21.3	19.6	16.0
Sistan and Baluchestan	13.6	15.2	9.5	6.9	5.2	6.7	12.0	18.6	11.0
Kermanshah	3.5	15.5	2.4	13.2	17.9	10.3	5.9	17.9	10.8
Lorestan	5.9	13.3	17.8	9.2	7.7	5.5	3.8	6.7	8.8
Bushehr	11.1	12.9	12.1	7.8	5.1	9.3	2.3	3.8	8.1
Kohkooliye &Boyerahmad	7.8	12.0	9.8	9.8	7.2	6.1	6.7	4.9	8.0
Hamedan	2.8	9.3	12.2	8.1	9.5	6.9	4.5	5.5	7.3
Khorasan Jonoobi	6.9	8.7	13.5	8.1	3.5	9.0	4.8	3.8	7.3
Chahar Mahal and Bakhtiari	7.4	9.5	9.1	4.7	3.6	7.6	6.1	7.7	7.0
Hormozgan	6.4	4.7	4.9	5.7	9.1	7.6	8.4	4.3	6.4
Tehran	1.9	2.2	2.2	2.8	2.3	3.9	3.1	3.3	2.7
Markazi	1.5	3.0	1.8	2.6	2.8	4.1	2.2	3.7	2.7
Alborz	1.1	2.1	2.0	1.9	1.7	2.0	2.4	2.5	2.0
Mazandaran	1.5	1.4	1.2	1.8	1.4	1.4	1.6	2.2	1.6
Ardabil	1.4	2.0	1.2	1.6	2.0	1.9	0.6	1.5	1.5
Ghazvin	1.1	0.7	0.5	0.5	2.9	2.1	1.3	1.4	1.3
Kordestan	0.5	1.6	2.4	1.5	2.4	0.7	0.4	0.6	1.3
East Azerbaijan	0.8	1.3	1.4	1.3	1.1	1.2	1.3	1.4	1.2
West Azerbaijan	0.4	0.9	1.1	0.6	1.1	0.8	1.0	1.0	0.9
Zanjan	0.5	0.5	0.5	1.1	1.0	1.2	0.5	0.7	0.7
Gilan	0.1	0.6	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.2	0.8	0.1	0.3
Average	19.6	28.9	25.1	20.1	16.4	18.9	17.1	19.8	20.7

TABLE 1 Annual incidence (per 100,000 population) trends of cutaneous leishmaniasis in various provinces of Iran, 2013–2020.

interesting to know the nature of non-linearity trends of cases in different provinces during the study. We found a robust non-linearity model analyzed by the GAMM model as the actual degrees of freedom (EDF) was 2.79 (p < 0.001) (Table 4). Further, we wanted to be sure of the non-linearity of the incidence trend; the outcome confirmed a similar distribution pattern of a non-linearity model (Figure 3A).

Figure 3B illustrates a contour analysis image based on the monthly and seasonal cycle of CL incidence by the time of occurrence. We found that in early spring, the incidence rate was static (blue color), and in early summer (July), the patients rapidly increased where they reached a peak in December (brown color) and decreased after that. This image also shows that the highest number of new cases appeared in 2014 and 2015. Considering the yellow and brown colors in the upper part of Figure 3B, we expect a peak incidence of new CL

cases from 2022 to 2023. The emergence of cases shifted from August to September in the current date and the cessation of cases is delayed from January to December. Figure 3C displays a 3-dimensional image of monthly and annual incidence peaks. One of the peaks occurred in 2014 and 2015, and the other is expected to occur in 2022 or 2023. In addition, this image (Figure 3C) shows a non-linear association of the new CL cases.

To forecast the incidence of CL in Iran, we used the Seasonal Autoregressive Integrated Moving Average (SARIMA) model. This model can be a valuable tool to predict the trend of CL in planning future public health programs. Therefore, based on the previous data, we developed a SARIMA time series model from 2013 to 2020 to predict the monthly incidence of CL for 2021 and 2022. Cutaneous leishmaniasis incidence in a given month can be assessed by the number of cases occurring in 2021 and 2022. The prediction TABLE 2 The incidence trend of cutaneous leishmaniasis in various provinces of Iran by the fix and random effect models, 2013–2020.

Fix effect				
Parameters	Estimate	SE	value of <i>p</i>	%95 CI for estimate
Intercept	27.39	6.54	<0.001	(14.02, 40.77)
Year	-0.88	0.40	0.04	(-1.70, -0.05)
Random effect				
Parameters	Variance	value	e of p	Covariance between Intercept and Year
Intercept	42.86	<0.001		0.49
Year	0.16	0.	-0.48	

TABLE 3 Age and gender interactions of cutaneous leishmaniasis incidence trend in various provinces of Iran, 2013–2020.

Variable		Estimate	SE	Value of <i>p</i>
Age	<10	0		
	10-25	-3.10	0.69	<0.001
	25-60	1.27	0.69	0.07
	≥60	-5.27	0.69	<0.001
Sex	Male	0		
	Female	-3.44	0.97	<0.001
Year		-0.57	0.21	0.008
	(<10) with year	0		
Interactions	(10-25) with year	0.20	0.30	0.52
of age with	(25–59) with year	0.16	0.30	0.59
year	(≥ 60) with year	0.63	0.30	0.03

TABLE 4 The generalized additive mixed model (GAMM) represents the strong non-linearity of cutaneous leishmaniasis in different provinces of Iran, 2013–2020.

Smooth term	EDF	RDF	F	Value of p
S (months)	2.79	3	57.51	<0.001

EDF, Effective degrees of freedom; RDF, Reference degrees of freedom; < 1 linear, 1-2 weak non-linear, and > 2 strong non-linear.

data illustrates a non-linear seasonal incidence trend similar to 2020 (Figure 3D). More supplementary data to confirm the prediction assessment are shown in Supplementary Figure 1. We presented the trend values, including months, and point forecast at 95% confidence interval (CI) (Table 5) to closely evaluate the incidence. During September and March 2022, the incidence rate coinciding with autumn and winter (cold months) was statistically significant while not substantial in other months of the year. The plan requires a deep commitment to initiate interventional measures, implement appropriate control strategies, and highlight temporal and spatial hotspots. Identification of the persistent and high-incidence areas could help the program prepare and initiate an elimination plan for future control programs, as WHO requested (58).

Furthermore, in the present study, we utilized the R 4.1.1 software and spatstat, shapefiles, maptools, rgdal, tmap, raster, sp., and spdep



packages to identify hot and cold spots in the data, as well as spatial outliers. We used both the Global and Local Moran's I to demonstrate the dimension of spatial autocorrelation statistics to detect clusters or local outliers, understand their contribution, and provide a decomposition to the Moran's I global clustering statistic. The spatial Autocorrelation (Global Moran's I) tool simultaneously measures spatial autocorrelation based on feature locations and feature values. The tool calculated Moran's Index value and both a Z-score and *p*-value to evaluate the significance of that index.

Tabular numbers and maps illustrate that high or low values tend to concentrate in some provinces more than others. These geographical patterns reflect variability in the socioeconomic and environments of the studied population and species differences of



3-dimensional monthly-annual image of the incidence trends, and (D) Predicting the trend in the number of new cutaneous leishmaniasis cases from 2013 to 2022

the causative Leishmania parasite and the host's immune response. We specifically examined the nature of the sample to distinguish the "fitted (smooth) from the "residuals" to follow descriptive data analysis terminology. This correlation may be different as low, high, or non-existent based on the variables used. Therefore, four categories were illustrated based on Moran's values related to the locations and surrounding provinces. We highlighted the connection between the Moran scatter plot and the cluster map. The Moran clustering map provides a classification of spatial association into four categories corresponding to the location of the points in the four quadrants of the plot. Locations with high values and similar neighbors are evaluated as high-high ("hotspot cluster"). Locations with low values and similar neighbors are referred to as low-low ("cold spot cluster"). Low-high locations have low-risk but highvalue neighbors (potential geographical outliers or "cold outlier areas"). A high-low ("hot outlier area") is a region with high values surrounded by provinces with low risk. The local Moran statistic is constructed from the average incidence of the neighbors, which is sensitive to the effect of outliers.

These groupings can directly interpret provincial incidence over time in the nationwide areas. Whole data were used to construct maps to interpret disease behavior and endemic provinces of the country and demonstrate the temporal expansion of disease incidence over the years and geographical areas. In the following maps (Figures 4, 5), green, yellow, brown, and red reflect Moran's I incidence rates representing a specific topographical pattern. As



Displaying distribution and average incidence rate (2013–2020) of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis and anthroponotic CL caused by *Leishmania* major and *L. tropica*, respectively. Infections with both diseases are detected in most provinces of Iran.

TABLE 5 Prediction of cutaneous leishmaniasis incidence based on 95% CI for point forecast, 2022.

The month of 2022	Point forecast	%95 CI for point forecast	
Apr	0.33	(-0.84, 1.50)	
May	0.50	(-0.67, 1.66)	
Jun	0.37	(-0.79, 1.54)	
Jul	0.42	(-0.74, 1.59)	
Aug	0.59	(-0.58, 1.75)	
Sep	1.50	(0.33, 2.67)	
Oct	2.48	(1.31, 3.65)	
Nov	3.05	(1.89, 4.22)	
Dec	2.95	(1.79, 4.12)	
Jan	2.44	(1.28, 3.61)	
Feb	1.85	(0.68, 3.02)	
Mar	0.98	(-0.18, 2.15)	

CI: Confidence intervals are zero non-significant, while the positive values are significant.

the trends shift to darker green, the spatial autocorrelation becomes positive (high-high or low-low cluster). While the colors turn to brown or red, the status of provinces shows high-low or low-high. For example, in 2013, the spatial autocorrelation demonstrated a high cluster; the incidence in Yazd province was high, and the value was also significantly high in those spatially autocorrelated provinces. In contrast, Zanjan province revealed a low-low situation simultaneously, and the incidence rate was significantly low in neighboring provinces.

In 2017 like in 2014, the spatial autocorrelation signified a low-high outlier value in the cluster map for Lorestan province. As a result, the average incidence of the neighbors turned out to be much higher than would be the case under spatial randomness. Conversely, in 2018 the situation was similar to 2013; that is, the spatial autocorrelation presented low-low cluster locations in the map exhibiting similar clusters of low incidence rates in the adjacent provinces. Also, in 2018, several provinces, including Yazd, Semnan, and Khorasan Shomali, characterized high-high cluster locations confirming both high incidence rate cluster centers (with blue outlines) as well as their neighbors. The spatial autocorrelation



Local Moran's I statistics and local cluster map for spatial autocorrelations illustrating clustering locations of cutaneous leishmaniasis distribution in different provinces of Iran, 2013–2020. Moran's value has been mapped to highlight the incidence rates according to relative importance and surrounding neighbors' behavioral relationships possessing four different categories: high-high, low-low, low-high, and high-low.

picture was substantially different in 2019 relative to 2018. The status was the same for Semnan, Khorasan Shomali, and Zanjan; (low-low), while high-low for Yazd and Qom provinces, and the incidence rates changed to a high-low value. Unlike in 2018, these latter provinces indicated high incidence rates surrounded by low-value neighbors. In 2020 the circumstance was noticeably mixed. Yazd and Golestan provinces were high-high, but Qom and Khorasan Razavi were in high-low positions.

Based on the results of this study, the average incidence rate significantly reduced during 2013–2020, and the overall spatial autocorrelation was significant (p < 0.05). However, an exception was for 2015 and 2016, which showed no significant level (p = 0.06 and p = 0.07, respectively) when the average incidence rates were evaluated (Table 6). The highest spatial autocorrelation belonged to 2018 (Moran's index=0.25) and the least related to 2016 (Moran's index=0.08).

5. Prevention and control measures

Prevention and control of CL require an integrated effort entailing a combination of intervention strategies as transmission occurs in a complex biological-environmental scheme involving the parasite, host (human and/or animal), and vector. Control measures vary from region to region and are prioritized based on an allocated budget, although the approach mainly depends on costly, ineffective, and challenging chemotherapies. Key preventive and therapeutic measures are listed below:

5.1. Personal protection

Protection of the population by repellents such as diethyltoluamide (DEET), insecticide-impregnated nets (pyrethroids), windows,

TABLE 6 Annual nationwide cutaneous leishmaniasis average incidence rates/100,000 and investigation of spatial autocorrelation using the Global Moran'I statistic, 2013–2020.

Year	Average incidence rate	Moran's I statistic	Moran's I standard deviate	Value of p
2013	19.60	0.17	1.93	0.02
2014	28.90	0.11	1.84	0.03
2015	25.10	0.10	1.55	0.06
2016	20.10	0.08	1.45	0.07
2017	16.40	0.11	1.82	0.03
2018	18.90	0.25	2.59	0.004
2019	17.10	0.21	2.38	0.008
2020	19.80	0.11	1.75	0.04

clothing, fabrics, curtains, and door fences was frequently used in different endemic foci within the country. However, their beneficial aspects have not been well evaluated in different localities (60). Dressing the skin lesions dramatically reduced contact between humans and sandflies (61).

5.2. Chemical control

The essential methods for controlling sandfly vectors with chemical insecticides are indoor residual spraying, spraying of resting sites of wild species, use of insecticide-impregnated resources including bednets and curtains, and pyrethroid-impregnated dog collars. Data indicated that insecticide-impregnated bed nets, indoor residual spraying with insecticide (IRS), and long-lasting insecticide-treated nets (LLITNs) were highly effective against ZCL and ACL primary vectors; however, they are not well accepted behaviorally by the residents (61, 62).

5.3. Environmental modification

Management of the environmental alterations has had a drastic effect on the frequency of vectors, resulting in a reduction in phlebotomine-human contact, or sandfly population, and transmission levels. This strategy may include the replacement of inhabitants away from sandfly habitations and physical modification of their environments. Elimination of propagating multiple risk factors such as solid wastes, garbage, maneuvers, leaves, organic remnants, and rubbles had a crucial role in peri-urban and high-risk areas in controlling vector densities and transmission profiles (25, 63). The destruction of the habitat followed by the exploitation of the land by settlements and farming is the only permanent way of controlling sandflies. This approach is successful but at a great expense in a highly endemic ZCL focus transmitted by *Ph. papatasi* in central Iran (64).

5.4. Gerbils and dogs' control

Control of competent reservoir hosts is fundamental in ZCL and ACL, as control strategies can be directed at these hosts. There are

numerous experiences gained by investigators in central Iran, where zinc phosphide poison mixed with wheat grains and vegetable oil (2.5%) were used in a radius of 500 m from houses, once a month during May, June, July, and September in the first year and repeated once every two years in the coming years for ZCL (49, 65). They suggested that gerbil control actions employing zinc phosphide within a 500-meter radius of houses once every two years in late April before the commencement of the active season of sandflies. In foci where dogs are reservoir hosts of L. infantum and probable hosts of L. tropica, the control of all dogs by sheltering, as practiced in a few places in Iran, is an efficient complementary means of ZVL and ACL control (66-68). As implemented in some localities in Iran and abroad, the selected culling of seropositive dogs was followed by a drop in canine infection while it is costly (69). A cheaper and more likely economic means of fitting dogs with deltamethrin-impregnated collars act as a long-term depot releasing the insecticide into the skin's lipid (64).

In Iran, guard dogs were protected against 80% of bites of *Ph. papatasi* eight days after collars were attached (70). However, the effectiveness of dog collars will depend on the importance of domestic and wild canids as reservoir hosts of *L. infantum* or probable secondary hosts of *L. tropica*.

In areas where *L. major* induces CL, reducing rodent populations by physical destruction of burrows, followed by planting, has proved to be an effective and sustainable method of controlling CL where *Psammomys obesus* is the known reservoir. Poisoning with wheat grains and vegetable oil is effective for other migrant rodents such as *Meriones* (71).

5.5. Health education

Training programs for health care providers on various aspects of leishmaniasis, including rapid detection, case management, different control modalities, and rapid response to epidemics, have continuously been carried out in provinces where CL control units or centers were functioning as Kerman, Isfahan, and Bam. Education is undoubtedly a very cost-effective preventive measure (72-74). Notifying populations in endemic areas leads to appropriate case detection, a better acceptance of preventive and therapeutic measures, and lower behavioral risk. Fortunately, significant systematic health education has been implemented to evaluate different aspects of effectiveness and health impacts at the district and provincial levels. A costeffectiveness education in Iran and elsewhere assessed the advantage of combined prevention strategies for CL-endemic areas, including applying insecticide-impregnated clothing and curtains plus premature CL diagnosis training plans for health care personnel (75, 76).

5.6. Treatment of patients

Based on the WHO guidelines, cases of ZCL do not need to be treated unless vital organs are affected. In contrast, patients with ACL must be treated since humans are the only reservoir host (77, 78). The type of treatment is based on five criteria (79), including the size of the most extensive lesion, the number of lesions, the location of lesions, the causative agent (type of *Leishmania* species), and in some

Meglumine instances. immunologic status. antimoniate (Glucantime®) is the drug of choice, administered intralesionally once a week for 8-12 weeks along with biweekly cryotherapy or intramuscular injection alone for 3-4 weeks according to the national guideline consistent with that of WHO (20, 79). Another second-line medication, mainly in combination with MA, was used on a special occasion. The overall efficacy of MA against ACL was 89% in a cohort study with a significant focus in southeastern Iran (51); however, in routine practice, variable ranges of treatment failures have been reported for ACL (80-82) and ZCL throughout the country (82, 83). In a contraindication for conventional therapy of CL, other treatment choices, particularly multiple therapies, were used (78).

6. Major challenges

6.1. Associated-risk determinants

Cutaneous leishmaniasis is linked with numerous confounding factors. The following risks are the significant determinants associated with the perpetuation of the organism, which is directly involved with the outbreaks caused by ZCL or ACL in Iran.

6.2. Agricultural developments

Launching agricultural projects has increased the risk of ZCL in rural areas. Under such conditions, anthropogenic ecological disturbances occur, and simultaneously, many non-immune immigrants intrude into the area where the sylvatic ZCL cycle is present (84, 85). Transmission to humans is promoted by people sleeping outdoors without bed nets throughout the transmission months. There are many examples of these epidemics where new agricultural developments in Iran (86, 87). One example was the epidemic of ZCL in the southern villages of Baft district with high severity in all age and sex groups in a new agricultural region.

6.3. Socioeconomic factors

Primitive and poor housing conditions and the resulting low living standards increase the risk of transmission in peri-domestic areas. These are organic remnants, manures, piles of bricks, debris, rotten leaves, and stones, which constitute potential breeding areas and resting sites for sandflies. Such places in the vicinity of poor households, and low-income individuals such as laborers, favor CL transmission. Also, many people sleeping in the shared room attract peri-domestic anthropophilic sandflies; therefore, poverty increases the disease risk. Housing sanitary conditions, including the lack of solid waste management and sewage treatment plants, could provide vectors' resting sites and enhance sandflies' proliferation potential, facilitating contact with humans. Sandflies are frequently attracted to crowded housing, which provides a good source of blood meals. The human behavioral attitude of sleeping outside and on the ground could also increase the risk of infection. Such risk-associated determinants are frequently observed as the cause of epidemics/ outbreaks in Iran (88-90).

6.4. Climate changes

Leishmaniasis is a highly climate-sensitive disease, and epidemiological characteristics can be changed in several ways: physical factors include temperature, humidity, precipitation fluctuations, influence vectors, and reservoir populations (91). Even slight fluctuations in temperature can substantially affect the biological development of the promastigote stage in the gut of sandflies contributing to the transmission of the organism in the previously non-endemic areas (18, 92). Drought, flood, starvation, and disaster contribute to enormous migration and population displacement to new endemic foci, creating an epidemic situation of variable magnitude. Such conditions provide new risk factors that favor the parasite, vector, and reservoir, leading to the disease's propagation. Extreme examples have previously been documented in the CL epidemic foci following the presentation of risk factors in favor of illness (14).

6.5. Population movement

Outbreaks of CL are often linked with population displacement from non-endemic areas to new places where the CL infection is already present. The movement of inhabitants and the creation of new settlements in suburban areas in close vicinity with endemic foci are major confounding factors and are directly connected to the incidence of CL, either leading to exposure of the susceptible and at-risk population to new hazards or contributing to the introduction of the causative parasite into new areas. The estimate of such outbreaks is related to the accessibility of ecological and epidemiological information. After the Bam earthquake in 2003, approximately 60,000 newcomers arrived to provide services to the survivors. The city was divided into 12 zones, and all zones were given to health personnel from different provinces of Iran. A massive outbreak of ACL occurred two years after the earthquake and was sustained for nearly four years. In this outbreak, the number of cases increased from 800 to 5,000. In addition to providing numerous risk factors, the new arrival population was vulnerable to CL causing such a continued and enormous epidemic with variable proportions (14, 93).

The spread of ACL in southeastern Iran, particularly in Kerman province, has resulted from population movement and the provision of many risk factors for the proliferation of vectors and transmission of the disease (14). Several emerging epidemics of ACL occurred in rural areas within and outside the County of Bam including, Dahbakri, Nazamshar, Ghal-e-shahid, and Mohammadabad (51, 52, 55, 93–97). The epidemic of CL is frequently connected with the movement of non-immune people into foci where active transmission is already present. The epidemics of varying scales have been reported due to population movements for economic reasons and agricultural development in Iran and other countries such as Afghanistan, Brazil, Libya, Iraq, Sudan, Syria, Morocco, Peru, Saudi Arabia, and Yemen (1, 24, 98–104).

6.6. Environmental changes

Ecological changes in the landscape in rural and urban areas where the disease is endemic contribute to the outbreak. As a result,

many risk factors favoring sandflies' breeding potentials will be provided, leading to a sudden or gradual increase in cases. Garbage left around houses permits some localities to store grain outside houses attacks rodents, serving as the reservoir for the propagating disease. One of the reasons for the low number of CL in the past decades was the implementation of mass insecticide spraying in highrisk areas around human and livestock dwellings (105).

7. Other challenges and gaps

7.1. Health care system

In 1985, relevant health fields and medical education were initially combined within the Ministry of Health and later on in 1993, renamed MOHME. Therefore, both sections, medical education, and health services were integrated and formed Universities of Medical Sciences and Health Services throughout the country's provinces. At present, MOHME is in charge of both tasks; providing health care services for the communities and training human resources (106, 107).

Although some posts may be subject to change over time. The healthcare system in Iran is based on three pillars including the public-governmental system, which provides most services, the private sector, and NGOs.

There are numerous health system barriers potentially affecting various segments of control programs. The government and the patients, including the heavy economic burden, sometimes logistic problems in accessing primary healthcare centers, and treatment costs, although offered free, contribute to poor adherence to treatment. Since the burden of CL has diverse dimensions, this requires sustained and tremendous efforts and actions from the government such as policy-makers and healthcare providers, private sectors, and national and international agencies, notably WHO. Other health system challenges entail insufficient capacity for surveillance, especially at the peripheral level. The number of health facilities is not adequate in some areas, health personnel often have scant experience, supplies are not adequate, and the procurement supply chain ensures that medicines available at request are not sometimes enough. Lack of sufficient budget and inter-sectoral coordination, fast turnover of health personnel, lack of district and provincial attention to control strategies, and many other related issues are often unsatisfactory.

7.2. Health services

Health services are provided at primary, secondary, and tertiary levels, including health houses, and health centers (urban and rural, hospitals at district and provincial levels). Most of the primary health needs are provided by PHCs in health houses, followed by higher professional personnel and physicians in rural and urban health centers. Hospitals are responsible for providing secondary health care services for the residents. Health expenditure has increased rapidly in the last decade, but there is still a shortage of healthcare financing. The out-of-pocket expenditure share used to be around 50%, although this ratio has significantly changed to a lower proportion during the past seven years, mainly provided by several public and non-public insurance schemes. Human resources have increased to approximately 300,000 employees, including health, clinical, and educational services at different levels. Leading health indicators have improved mainly over the past three decades, owing to the government's strong commitment to the effective delivery of PHC and inter-sectoral development (108, 109).

The decision-making body is centralized, directly influencing on-time decision-making, particularly in emergency events and responses. Decentralization of leishmaniasis control is planned, implemented, reported, monitored/evaluated locally, and supervised centrally by the health authorities at provincial and CDC members at the national levels. Retirement of staff and health personnel with no substitution retards the whole process of the control activities. Government is not entirely able to substitute retired personnel officially.

7.3. Poor follow-up assessments

There is inadequate follow-up examination of patients afflicted with CL following treatment regimens. There seem to be some patients having absent from the treatment follow-up assessment. Such underprivileged follow-up examinations contribute to treatment failure and intensification of cases, notably in ACL endemic areas. The primary barriers are as follows (51):

- i. Non-availability of medicine
- ii. Long-distance to healthcare centers
- Remote areas of living conditions and scattered residents in the affected areas
- iv. Receiving incomplete treatment adherence
- v. Work constraints

7.4. Suboptimal reporting

In addition to the insufficiencies above, which influence the control measures, there are also essential obstacles that could play a precipitating role in the optimal provision of healthcare services (110, 111).

The majority of official data are passive case detection, which is reported via the PHC surveillance system. Many cases are unreported, undiagnosed, or misdiagnosed, especially in remote areas and poor endemic villages where the availability and accessibility of diagnostic methods are scant (77, 112), while the actual burden might be worse, and the reports from the PHC surveillance system reveal only a fraction of the actual picture (7, 113).

7.5. Cross-border movements

Cross-border movement and tourism from neighboring endemic countries for ZCL and ACL are major challenges for a comprehensive control program. It is essential that some types of cooperation with the health authorities of these countries should be set up to combat, control, and settle such challenges threatening the program. Migration of non-immune populations from non-endemic areas to endemic regions and *vice-versa*, population movement, and migration from endemic areas to non-endemic localities where the conditions for propagating the parasite, vector, and reservoir are provided could gradually or promptly abrupt into epidemic conditions (52, 114, 115). Iran is connected to Turkey, Azerbaijan, Armenia to the northwest, Afghanistan, and Pakistan to the east, Turkmenistan to the north, and Iraq to the west. The country border around 499km with Turkey, 432km with Azerbaijan, 35km with Armenia, 909km with Pakistan, 936km with Afghanistan, 992km with Turkmenistan, and 1,599km with Iraq. Iran borders 650km also, along the Caspian Sea. The above boundaries are aside from 2,440km coastline sea borders with six other Arabian countries, including Kuwait, Oman, Qatar, Bahrain, the United Arab Emirates, and Saudi Arabia.

7.6. Lack of side-benefit of previous anti-malarial activities

Although it is controversial, marked changes as a side benefit of anti-malarial activity and a reduction in the number of sandflies have previously been reported. Following the cessation of spraying houses and dwelling areas, a resurgence of CL cases was observed. Discontinuation of spraying actions against malaria could be a protective factor for leishmaniasis in malaria areas where the incidence of the disease has significantly increased (49, 116). Also, house spraying with insecticides to control malaria in the 1950s and 1960s was experienced by reducing the kala-azar (VL) in India caused by *L. donovani* and transmitted by *Ph. argentipes* (116).

7.7. Demographic transition and fast urbanization

There is one-third of the population between 15–30 years old. The vulnerability of the three age groups to social and behavioral problems makes them at risk of suffering from major health problems like opium and drug addiction, violence, traffic injuries, and psychological complications, contributing to economic burden and other financial crises (117). One of the most outstanding landscapes of recent decades has been the wild urbanization rate. The urbanization pattern and socioeconomic status can promote disease transmission concentration, contributing to injustice in allocating medical and healthcare facilities and creating hotspots of diseases within communities, towns, and cities for the rapid spread of emerging diseases (118).

In Iran and most developing countries, mass human migration has lately been directed to unpredicted enlargement challenges of diverse 'megacities,' where living standards for sanitary conditions are unsatisfactory. Hence, such situations create appropriate breeding environments and augment human contact for spreading vectorborne diseases (VBDs), such as leishmaniasis (119, 120).

7.8. Cutaneous leishmaniasis outbreaks

In recent years Iran has experienced several outbreaks of CL due to natural events, man-made environmental alterations such as fast urbanization, deforestation, and population displacement for economic reasons, including agro-industrial projects, road constructions, and widespread migration more frequently from rural to urban areas in small towns and large cities (e.g., current droughts and earthquakes) (55, 56, 93, 94, 97, 121).

7.9. Natural events

Iran is highly vulnerable to natural and man-made (anthropogenic) disasters, particularly earthquakes, flash floods, and droughts (14, 86). Iran is ranked first regarding the frequency of earthquakes *per annum*, with approximately 5.0 to 7.0 on the Richter scale. This country is also ranked first in relative vulnerability and survivors each year due to earthquakes. Approximately 75% of the country's major cities are located in potential earthquake zones. Seasonal flash floods have drastically increased, whereby many local people in many provinces died, and their houses, fields, and livestock were devastated in May 2019. In Iran, it is estimated that 5 to 10% of the annual GDP budget has been allocated to manage disasters (122). Following disasters so many risk factors in favor of the propagation of vectors and multiplication of reservoirs will be created, and as a result, epidemics of varying degrees of CL will occur (96, 123–125).

7.10. Clinical forms, diagnosis, and treatment

Clinical assessment of CL lesion combined with identifying its causative *Leishmania* agents is crucial for selecting proper therapeutic modality and designing appropriate strategic approaches, especially in ACL endemic foci caused by *L. tropica* where control measures are limited to early case detection and prompt treatment of patients. Since CL lesions, acute or chronic mimic a variety of disease conditions, notably a broad range of viral (zoster, herpes-like, and wart viruses), fungal (lupus vulgaris, and sporotrichosis), bacterial infections (tuberculosis, and mycobacterial ulcers), skin diseases, tropical ulcers, myiasis, acute furunculosis, ecthyma, foreign-body granuloma, sarcoidosis as well as some parasitic infections and cancers (carcinoma of the skin); knowledge of such disease presentations and confirmation of the complication based on demonstration of the parasite is essential for any dermatologic practice in endemic areas (51, 77, 78, 126, 127).

Both CLs; ZCL, and ACL, generate a broad spectrum of disease manifestations in Iran and abroad. In addition to "dry type" and "wet type" lesions, typically represented by ACL and ZCL, respectively, there are also several atypical clinical forms that are presented depending on the condition; the causative *Leishmania* species or variant and state of the host's immune response, typical stages of skin lesion including papule, plaque, ulcerated nodule, and ulcerated plaque (52).

7.11. Drug unresponsiveness

Leishmaniasis is treated with pentavalent antimonial agents such as MA. Meglumine antimoniate (Glucantime®) and sodium stibogluconate (Pentostam®) have been a mainstay of treatment in the past 80 years, but resistance to these drugs has significantly increased in the endemic foci throughout the provinces of Iran and worldwide as well (78, 128). Failure is a frequent phenomenon reported for many years in treating CL in Iran and around the globe. Antimonial compounds have been used for many years in Iran and many countries despite their parenteral administration, toxicity, resistance, and long duration of applications. There are reasons for the emergence of resistance in Iran. Several determinants have facilitated this
phenomenon, including the high level of endemicity of the *Leishmania* species, the high proportion of routinely treated patients, and the most exclusive human-to-human transmission. Various reports have demonstrated such treatment failure in several localities within the provinces (12, 51, 129, 130).

Meglumine antimonite has extensively been used against all forms of leishmaniasis in Iran. Variable ranges of treatment failure against CL have previously been reported from endemic areas; thereby, many patients with ACL have developed unresponsiveness to Glucantime®; the rate of clinical failure of ACL patients in experimental models was reported to be approximately 12 to 15% in Mashhad, Kerman, and Bam (130, 131). L. tropica causing ACL is restricted to humans as anthroponotic species drug-refractory is a significant challenge in properly treating CL cases. Humans are the sole source of reservoir infection. The patient should be treated to prevent further dissemination of the organism to sandflies and, in turn, susceptible individuals. Also, some drug failures against ZCL have been reported from endemic foci since the disease undertakes an acute course and humans are incidental hosts. Presumably, non-treated cases have no role in transmitting the disease; although, the patients are often treated with proper compounds, accordingly. Suboptimal doses of the drug and poor treatment adherence could be predisposing factors for developing drug unresponsiveness (50, 81, 130, 132, 133).

Control of ACL caused by *L. tropica* is primarily based on early detection of the CL cases, diagnosis, identification of the causative agent, and prompt treatment via an effective surveillance system (51). Given that humans are the only reservoir host, untreated chronic cases such as leishmaniasis recidivans (lupoid leishmaniasis) remain the infective reservoir for disseminating the organism (95, 134). In general, treatment failure has been somewhat neglected in the conventional delivery of PHC services due to non-compliance with treatment protocol by patients. A robust assurance of a multidisciplinary method is necessary to make advancements in this part. Therefore, coordinated action from health experts, investigators, health providers, and strategy–makers is required. Treatment consequence is a multifactorial issue determined by the interaction of multiple factors (50, 51, 88, 135, 136).

Poor adherence to the treatment occurs for various reasons, including doubt about the expected benefits, the efficacy of treatment, unpleasant side effects, work constraints or economic situations, traveling away from home, feeling sick or depressed, and simple forgetfulness. In the evaluation of unresponsive cases, a considerable number of patients show difficulty in adhering to their recommended therapeutic regimens. The facts above represent Glucantime® mismanagement as a critical contributor to failure in the country's endemic areas. Treatment failure should be monitored to maintain the life span of existing antileishmanial drugs, delivery, and clinical response. Healthcare providers should pay special attention to CL patients who receive partial treatment regimens and closely monitor such patients to reduce the chance of drug failures (111, 137–139).

7.12. Vaccines development

Vaccination against CL has been used in humans for over 70 years. In protozoal diseases of the world, inoculating infectious organisms from the infection of a sore in naked parts of the body is an antique exercise. Iran has taken the lead in vaccine development for leishmaniasis since the 1960s. *Leishmania major* skin test antigen (LST) was first produced by Alimohammadian and colleagues at Pasteur Institute of Iran (140), and an experimental killed autoclaved *L. major* (ALM) vaccine (141) by Dr. Fesharaki in Razi Institute (Karaj, Iran). The products have been given to different countries for conducting vaccine trials against CL or VL (142). Trials of single and multiple doses of the first-generation vaccine have been used in Isfahan and Kerman and supported by TDR/WHO and MOHME in Iran (95, 143–146). At present, there is no efficacious human vaccine available against any form of leishmaniasis (147).

The only available non-approved vaccine which can be used in certain circumstances is a live virulent strain of Leishmania major. Leishmanization inoculates live Leishmania major metacyclic promastigotes from a purified culture medium to produce a selfhealing lesion. It was an occasional practice against CL in Middle East countries, mainly used in Iran, Uzbekistan, and Israel to protect against future lesion development (148). Historically, CL was found to produce lifelong immunity to reinfection. Moreover, only a tiny proportion of individuals infected with Leishmania agents develop full clinical symptoms of the disease, while most are either asymptomatic or self-curing. Leishmanization programs were initiated in a hyperendemic area (Isfahan), and a high-risk group participated in the Iran-Iraq war, where a massive epidemic of ZCL was sustained. Over two million people undertook leishmanization, and it was reported to reduce the incidence of ZCL significantly; however, it induces lesions lasting several months or years (149). The biggest problem was the development of non-healing forms at the site of inoculation (1%-3%). However, with the onset of HIV epidemics and low production quality, leishmanization has been abandoned, but it remains an option when people are at high risk of afflicting CL (150).

Currently, vaccine development against humans and even canines is under critical investigation in Iran and globally. Although some vaccines have been developed for vaccination against the disease in murine and canine models, in reality, they could not help eliminate leishmaniasis in either case (humans and dogs). During the past three decades, tremendous efforts and significant studies have been carried out in vaccine development, notably in Iran. However, due to the complexity of adaptive and innate immunity, the search for a vaccine against leishmaniasis gains an extensive opportunity to give rise to a long list of potential vaccine candidates against leishmaniasis. This also remains unsolved until more profound knowledge and tools become available.

The main challenges and limitations for the progress of an efficacious vaccine against various forms of leishmaniasis are briefly listed as follows (151):

- i. One of the main challenges in vaccine development against leishmaniasis is the poorly understood mode of host-parasite interaction and the complexity of the immune response associated with *Leishmania* species.
- ii. Another main challenge is the proper immunobiological requirements for vaccine development against all types of leishmaniasis (CL, MCL, and VL).
- iii. Lack of understanding of the many components that might cause such reactions.
- iv. Establish trustworthy methodologies and approaches for assessing vaccination effectiveness.

- v. Develop acceptable animal models for preclinical vaccination effectiveness testing.
- vi. Discovery of suitable adjuvants and delivery systems to elicit a protective immune response.
- vii. High cost of vaccine production.

Finally, long-term memory cells are generated for protection.

8. Health facilities situation

8.1. Health system

In 1985, relevant health fields and medical education were initially combined within the Ministry of Health and later on in 1993, renamed MOHME. Therefore, both sections, medical education, and health services were integrated and formed Universities of Medical Sciences and Health Services throughout the country's provinces. At present, MOHME is in charge of both tasks; providing health care services for the communities and training human resources. The health care system in Iran is based on three pillars: The public-governmental system, which provides most services, the private sector, and non-governmental organizations (NGOs).

9. Capacity and capability

9.1. Human resources

- i. There are various human resource development plans in various fields relevant to leishmaniasis, including physicians, laboratory technicians, environmental health and entomology bachelors, and masters of medical sciences. Most human resources should officially be the Iran Health Care Reform Plan initiated on May 5th, 2014. Such resources provide rural and urban health clinics, hospitals, and environmental health units for PHC and leishmaniasis management.
- ii. In addition to their educational background, human resources gain skills through periodically planned programs during the recruitment period.
- iii. There is a description of the job instructions to indicate their path, experiences, and skills, and there are opportunities for career progression at each health or clinical level. Their career pathways are also defined.

9.2. Personnel/staff/physicians at the national level

The nature of human resources is integrated, and the only exception is in the centers located in high endemic foci where the main tasks are restricted to leishmaniasis works. Presenting a precise list of human resources at various levels is impossible due to the vast variability of jobs and the integration nature of leishmaniasis in the country, where multiple CL foci in 60% of the country's provinces are present.

9.3. Training

The personnel, staff, and physicians have to be trained periodically in health and related units, but it is not complete, and there are gaps in their training careers. The training system for new personnel in health units is located at the district level, where educational and training services are available. Professional health forces residents are trained in Bahvarzi schools, where these people learn professional units relevant to PHC. Other training experiences and skills are mediated through health managers or different faculties of the related universities.

9.4. Financial resources

- i. According to the CDC authorities, an annual budget is allocated for leishmaniasis control at various levels. The amount that the government is allocated for different activities such as planning,
- ii. Implementation, surveillance, monitoring, evaluation, and reporting are not adequate to carry out routine tasks, but depending on the province, the expenses are variable.
- iii. The budget for leishmaniasis is negligible and is not adequate for most activities as this disease is neglected. Therefore, there are major constraints and gaps in providing duties, particularly at a peripheral level where an at-risk population is present. The area in which the budget is allocated include:
- iv. Disease surveillance, case detection and management, program management, reservoir host control, integrated-vector control, capacity building, and health education.
- v. It is of note that the PHC surveillance system, as previously mentioned, has its budget administered by the University of Medical Sciences (UMS) in the country, and they have their budget both for salaries and plans. For leishmaniasis, a sum of 10,400,000,000 Rials was initially allocated through CDC in 2020; but for some reason, nearly one-third of the budget was not allocated. Hence, the budget is not adequate to cover various management chains and interventions.
- vi. Furthermore, there are still other sources of budget allocation where the authorities in UMS, sometimes through the governorate budget from public sources or proprietary revenues, shift the money for specific tasks. Nevertheless, the amount precisely allocated for leishmaniasis activities due to the complex nature of health issues is not well known.
- vii. According to an inquiry from a responsible authority, the amount of money allocated annually for leishmaniasis activities is roughly around 30%–40% of the expenses required to manage the program.
- viii. There are no other sources of funds to perform the tasks, and also there is a lack of global NGOs in support of plans for leishmaniasis activities.
- ix. The post-elimination budget is another problem that the units are faced. It is supposed that the personnel should be substituted, annually regularly while it never occurs and therefore a significant amount of such deficient budget has been reduced.
- x. Approximately 10%–12% of CL patients are referred to higher hospitals or higher health facility levels for advanced therapy.

Although these cases receive thoughtful attention and proper treatment modality, they often remain untreated, and the cases become chronic or transform into resistant clinical forms, which is one of the main problems notably in ACL foci where *L. tropica* is predominant.

9.5. Intra-sectoral collaboration

There is a reasonably good collaboration between various health sections within the MOHME. This is more likely prominent when a public health campaign at national, provincial, and district levels is conducted in the health system plans such as polio or malaria. Although leishmaniasis is generally wellfocused and defined at any level, intra-sectoral collaboration needs more support.

9.6. Inter-sectoral collaboration

Since most health issues extend beyond the provision of health care services, a harmonized inter-sectoral collaboration between ministries, different governmental levels, NGOs, and stakeholders is crucial to address health issues and guide leishmaniasis actions at various levels. Basically, besides the University of Medical Sciences authorities, the health council at the provincial level strengthens and promotes such inter-sectoral cooperation, and coordination between all organizations within the ministry of health needs further attention. The council also works at the district level between the health authorities, the governor, and the representative of different administrations. Since the nature of health issues are multifactorial and multidimensional, the efficiency of such collaboration is variable.

9.7. Engaging and mobilizing communities

There is a national plan for community mobilization and participation in various health activities coordinated by the MOHME. As coordinated by health authorities and community engagement, many activities are carried out, especially in public education, awareness, and advocacy. There is a good experience with health volunteer forces participating actively in public-related health issues at different levels. However, since there is no defined monitoring and evaluation system, their effectiveness is not well apparent, although their works are well appreciated.

9.8. Surveillance system

At present, the most case detection system is based on passive case-finding approaches. This is why a substantial number of cases (2 to 5 times the detected cases) are not found (20). This under-reporting phenomenon further complicates detecting cases of ACL in endemic areas where humans serve as the primary source of infection and dissemination of the disease through the bite of the female *Ph. sergenti* at large in the area.

9.9. Case-management

In ZCL foci, since small gerbils are the primary reservoir hosts and the course of the disease is acute, there is no obligation to treat the patients unless a vital organ (e.g., face, nose, joints, and ears) is involved. However, early case detection, diagnosis, and prompt and effective treatment in ACL endemic areas are essential to reducing the principal source of infection (humans). Unfortunately, since most cases are passively detected, managing the diseases takes longer than 2-3 months. Therefore, this late treatment schedule contributes to drug unresponsiveness and leaves more complications and prominent scars. Many cases remain chronic, and some cases develop lupoid leishmaniasis, providing a source of infection for vulnerable populations in endemic areas. In addition to passive case finding, active case detection is highly recommended to decrease the disease burden. Improving public awareness and knowledge among vulnerable people to encourage early diagnosis and treatmentseeking behavior.

9.10. Basic and applied research agenda

Most basic and applied research needs and investigations, including the health research system, are centered in the UMS and research institutions. If there is a need, the above research bodies should be ordered and carried out. There is no agenda held for basic and applied research, but sometimes depending upon the priority of the needs, a research agenda will be established at the district or provincial level.

A search in Scopus reveals over 1,231 (approximately 317 articles on treatment and171 articles on epidemiology) articles of various types have been published from 2014 to 2020, and a PubMed search returns 1981 articles (including 925 articles about the treatment and 438 articles about the epidemiology of leishmaniasis) published during the same period. Most of such research is in epidemiology, treatment, and to a lesser degree, vaccine, and drug developments.

As leishmaniasis is a common disease in the country, almost all the UMS, Medical Schools, Faculty of Health, and Paramedical Schools are involved in research activities. The exceptions are leishmaniasis research centers and institutions such as the Dermatology Research Center in Isfahan, Tehran Center for Research and Training in Skin Diseases and Leprosy, Kerman Leishmaniasis Research Center, Pasteur Institute and the School of Public Health (and Parasitology Research Center), Tehran University of Medical Sciences, which are directly involved, and therefore, are responsible for most publications in the field.

Whether the research findings are reviewed, utilized, or implemented by the program is not well known, but the CDC is involved in applied research and vaccine development. Examples of this involvement are the Ampholeish project (liposomal formulation of amphotericin B) and the development of an attenuated *L. major* vaccine candidate is directly supported and assisted by the CDC.

9.11. Preventive measures

Since there are no efficacious vaccines available, prophylactic measures should be used systematically in endemic areas, but at

present, these measures are used sporadically and only in a selective manner. ITNs and LLITNs are not behaviorally well accepted (20). Most people in endemic areas sleep late at night they become infected by the bite of female sandflies early at night. The screens are not affordable, and the local villagers do not use them at peripheral levels. Furthermore, most people avoid using impregnated curtains and clothing (62). Due to budget restrictions, there is no regular use of insecticide in endemic areas. Previously, insecticide spraying was used two times per annum in malarious areas, but currently, the number of malaria cases (incidence) in different rounds of elimination programs, as supported partially by WHO, has decreased to less than 200 cases. As a result, the cases have become limited to remote and scattered areas where spraying has most likely not been practiced. Therefore, the exact frequency of insecticide resistance is not well-known. Some findings showed that Ph. papatasi was resistant to DDT, deltamethrin, permethrin, bendiocarb, and susceptible to cyfluthrin. On the other hand, the Ph. sergenti collected from indoor and outdoor sites were susceptible to all insecticides (152, 153).

9.12. Data system

At present, portable data collection and reporting systems are imperative in endemic areas. Data are reported through districts to provincial levels and then to national headquarters (CDC).

9.13. Monitoring and evaluation

Monitoring is the routine follow-up examination of the leishmaniasis program, including data collection, analysis, recording, reporting, documentation, development of actions planning, and evaluation of public health practice. The main objective of monitoring is to evaluate progress and implementation status, detect challenges and limitations, and ensure accountability and decision-making based on evidence. Generally, the used indicators measure follow-up, processes, outcomes, or impact.

The monitoring of the leishmaniasis control plan is based on the list of indicators used to evaluate the program's performance. Such indicators will provide evidence-based information on different phases of the control program at various levels: village, district, province, and national. All indicators, including epidemiological and operational indicators, are expected to be monitored and evaluated during the action plan.

10. Present status of the strategic position of leishmaniasis

10.1. Internal and external environmental analysis

A leishmaniasis expert team for assessing the gap analysis was established to find the leishmaniasis control program's strengths, weaknesses, opportunities, and threats (SWOT) toward an elimination plan. The SWOT analysis was intended to facilitate a data-driven look and fact-based at the ongoing position of the leishmaniasis organization within the country. SWOT analysis is illustrated as a square part into four quadrants, each devoted to a component of SWOT. This visual overview provided a rapid indication of the leishmaniasis position. A complete list of issues was compiled to collect data related to each component of the SWOT. Several meetings were held to screen, categorize and weigh each component. The most related information and desired data about the disease management and control program were selected to analyze the internal and external factors presented in Supplementary Table 1. Hence, a scoring matrix of the internal and external factors directly and/or indirectly associated with the application of the control program was established, and subsequently, a final score of the internal and external factors was obtained (Figure 6). Based on the scoring matrix SWOT of Bryson (154), the overall position of the national leishmaniasis situation was calculated to be in the Strength/Opportunity (SO) position. This score indicates that the national leishmaniasis strengths and opportunities are already reasonably moderate. This situation allows us to firmly step towards its activities and targets in the future elimination program.

11. Discussion and conclusions

In the last decade, CL has considerably been expanded spatially, and numerous outbreaks and emerging epidemics of variable magnitudes occurred, attributed to the dynamic of the disease and provision of many confounding determinants such as environmental changes, climatic conditions, disasters (earthquakes and floods), migration, and population movement among many others. Despite a significant reduction in VL cases, the geographical range of CL has remarkably enlarged (12, 14, 55, 56, 86, 155, 156). The policy-makers have seriously overlooked the disease, and health authorities do not consider CL a severe threat and urgent public health concern in Iran and abroad. This is mainly due to the disease's apparent non-serious and under-reporting nature, other confounding factors, and numerous chronic diseases. Iran is among the frontline-affected countries where



The present status of the strategic position of cutaneous leishmaniasis is based on the scoring scale of the strength, weakness, opportunities, and threats analysis (SWOT matrix).

many cases have officially been reported, although the actual number of new cases is assumed to be far beyond the reported statistics.

An important event in efforts against leishmaniasis was attained following the meeting held by WHO in 2007 (157); however, it underlined gains and challenges, eliciting further pledges from member states and private partners. Additional commitment is highly required to achieve the goals to control this neglected disease. Of the strategies recommended by the WHO, intensified CL management where effective treatment and confirmed vaccines are not yet available should be firmly targeted through better access to resources, organized cases detection, and decentralized clinical management to reduce morbidity and interrupt transmission (58).

Control of vector and reservoir hosts in an integrated manner combines multiple inter-sectoral interventions that enhance various measures, including efficacy, ecosystem approaches, and sustainability of disease control measures against sandflies and small gerbils. Lastly, improving socio-economic factors plays a critical role in achieving the goals. Documents compiled by the United Nations indicated that not only in Iran but also in the world as well, there are still 2.0 billion people who do not have basic sanitation facilities such as toilets or latrines (158). CL and all infectious diseases and several NTDs will not be eliminated and not eradicated until this situation improves. It is worth mentioning exploring and getting lessons from the VL regional leishmaniasis control programs in the Indian Subcontinent (159). During the past years, substantial efforts have been made, including capacity-building, strengthening improvement, accessibility to medicines and diagnostic tools, enhanced surveillance, monitoring, and evaluation.

In conclusion, analyses of the current epidemiological data indicate that Iran has made steady progress and remarkable advancement over the past decade, yet persistent challenges exist to reduce the CL burden in the country. Well-trained staff and experienced clinical practitioners must strengthen country-level capacity-building to sustain efficient control programs through the healthcare system (160). Cutaneous leishmaniasis is rooted in poverty; therefore, improving socioeconomic necessities toward basic living standards will ensure long-term control strategies and foster the elimination of the disease. A robust commitment to multidimensional approaches is critical to making advancements nationwide. This will require coordinated challenging activities through all governmental sections, including policy-makers, health professionals, clinical practitioners, senior researchers, private parties, and NGOs. Promotion of early case detection, prompt diagnosis, intensified effective treatment, increased access to available medicines, and capacity for environmental interventions on a long-term basis could hopefully facilitate the strategies and improve the prevention and control of not only CL but also neglected zoonotic diseases.

Furthermore, setting up early warning systems for CL can support forecast CL outbreaks. Hence, operational readiness and immediate response mechanisms should be in place in high-risk areas within endemic countries. However, the most decisive evidence gaps persist, and more innovative tools are critical before CL can eventually be controlled.

References

1. Mostafavi E, Ghasemian A, Abdinasir A, Nematollahi Mahani SA, Rawaf S, Salehi Vaziri M, et al. Emerging and re-emerging infectious diseases in the WHO eastern

Author contributions

IS and MG designed research and generated the study plan. FG, BA, MZ, SD, FS, AKh, MB, and AA performed the data collection in the field. IS, MG, AKh, MB, MN, OZ, and MS conducted the analysis and drafted the manuscript. IS, MG, MRF, AKa, ES, SA, and MB analyzed the data. IS, MG, OZ, AKh, MB, and MRS revised the manuscript. MG and IS had primary responsibility for final content. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This work was supported by the Center for Diseases Control and Prevention, Communicable Diseases, Tehran, Iran (grant number: 202096276) and WHO Country Office.

Acknowledgments

This study was requested by the Center for Diseases Control and Prevention, Communicable Diseases (CDC), Ministry of Health and Medical Education (MOHME), and WHO Country Office in Tehran. We express our heartfelt thanks to the Leishmaniasis Research Center, Kerman University of Medical Sciences, CDC, and WHO Office in I. R. of Iran for their sincere assistance, guidance, and constructive recommendations.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1091709/ full#supplementary-material

Mediterranean region, 2001–2018. Int J Heal policy Manag. (2021) 11:1286–300. doi: 10.34172/ijhpm.2021.13

2. Tabasi M, Alesheikh AA, Sofizadeh A, Saeidian B, Pradhan B, AlAmri A. A spatiotemporal agent-based approach for modeling the spread of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Northeast Iran. *Parasit Vectors*. (2020) 13:1–17. doi: 10.1186/ s13071-020-04447-x

3. World Health Organization. Leishmaniasis factsheet. Geneva: WHO (2020).

4. Ruiz-Postigo JA, Grout L, Saurabh J. Global leishmaniasis surveillance, 2017–2018, and first report on 5 additional indicators/surveillance mondiale de la leishmaniose, 2017–2018, et premier rapport Sur 5 indicateurs supplementaires. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec.* (2020) 95:265–80. Available at: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/332487

5. Alvar J, Vélez ID, Bern C, Herrero M, Desjeux P, Cano J, et al. Leishmaniasis worldwide and global estimates of its incidence. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e35671. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0035671

6. Kassebaum NJ, Arora M, Barber RM, Bhutta ZA, Brown J, Carter A, et al. Global, regional, and national disability-adjusted life-years (DALYs) for 315 diseases and injuries and healthy life expectancy (HALE), 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2015. *Lancet*. (2016) 388:1603–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(16)31460-X

7. Alatif H. Burden and trends of Leishmaniasis over the last one decade across the globe: trend analysis of WHO regions. Integr. *J Med Sci.* (2021):8. doi: 10.15342/ ijms.2021.295

 Yamey G, Torreele E. "The world's most neglected diseases," British Medical Journal Publishing Group. (2002) 325:176–7. doi: 10.1136/bmj.325.7357.176

9. World Health Organization. *Regional strategic plan for integrated neglected tropical diseases control in South-East Asia region, 2012–2016.* WHO Regional Office for South-East Asia (2012).

10. Shirzadi MR, Esfahania SB, Mohebalia M, Ershadia MRY, Gharachorlo F, Razavia MR, et al. Epidemiological status of leishmaniasis in the Islamic Republic of Iran, 1983-2012. *East Mediterr Health J.* (2015) 21:736–42. doi: 10.26719/2015.21.10.736

11. Holakouie-Naieni K, Mostafavi E, Boloorani AD, Mohebali M, Pakzad R. Reprint of "spatial modeling of cutaneous Leishmaniasis in Iran from 1983 to 2013". *Acta Trop.* (2017) 165:90–5. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2016.11.031

12. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Dabiri S, Shamsi Meymandi S, Karamoozian A, Amiri R, et al. Major risk factors and histopathological profile of treatment failure, relapse and chronic patients with anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis: a prospective case-control study on treatment outcome and their medical importance. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:e0009089. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0009089

13. Norouzi B, Hanafi-Bojd A-A, Moin-Vaziri V, Noorallahi A, Azari-Hamidian S. Ecology of sand flies (Diptera: Psychodidae, Phlebotominae) in a new focus of leishmaniasis in northern Iran. *Acta Trop.* (2020) 212:105649. doi: 10.1016/j. actatropica.2020.105649

14. Karimi T, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Aflatoonian B, Mohammadi MA, Salarkia E, et al. A long-lasting emerging epidemic of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in southeastern Iran: population movement and peri-urban settlements as a major risk factor. *Parasit Vectors*. (2021) 14:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s13071-021-04619-3

15. Roshan GR, Farrokhzad M, Attia S. Defining thermal comfort boundaries for heating and cooling demand estimation in Iran's urban settlements. *Build Environ.* (2017) 121:168–89. doi: 10.1016/j.buildenv.2017.05.023

16. Zohoorian-Pordel M, Bornaa R, Neisi H, Eslamian S, Ostad-Ali-Askari K, Singh VP, et al. Assessment of anthropogenic influences on the micro-climate of wetland ecosystems: the case of hoor-alazim wetland in Iran. *Int J Min Sci.* (2017) 3:34–51. doi: 10.20431/2454-9460.0304004

17. Rahimi J, Malekian A, Khalili A. Climate change impacts in Iran: assessing our current knowledge. *Theor Appl Climatol.* (2019) 135:545–64. doi: 10.1007/s00704-018-2395-7

18. Charrahy Z, Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Shirzadi MR, Akhavan AA, Rassi Y, Hosseini SZ, et al. Climate change and its effect on the vulnerability to zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2021) 69:1506–20. doi: 10.1111/tbed.14115

19. Javanbakht M, Saghafipour A, Ezimand K, Hamta A, Farahani LZ, Soltani N. Identification of climatic and environmental factors associated with incidence of cutaneous leishmaniasis in Central Iran using satellite imagery. *Asian Pac J Trop Biomed.* (2021) 11:40. doi: 10.4103/2221-1691.300730

20. Shirzadi MR, Gouya MM. National Guidelines for cutaneous leishmaniasis surveillance in Iran. *Minist Heal Med Educ (MOH) Zoonoses Control Dep Tehran Iran.* (2012):1–78.

21. Hajjaran H, Saberi R, Borjian A, Fakhar M, Hosseini SA, Ghodrati S, et al. The geographical distribution of human cutaneous and visceral Leishmania species identified by molecular methods in Iran: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *Front Public Heal.* (2021) 9:835. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.661674

22. Desjeux P. Leishmaniasis: current situation and new perspectives. *Comp Immunol Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2004) 27:305–18. doi: 10.1016/j.cimid.2004.03.004

23. Jahanifard E, Hanafi-Bojd AA, Nasiri H, Matinfar HR, Charrahy Z, Abai MR, et al. Prone regions of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in southwest of Iran: combination of hierarchical decision model (AHP) and GIS. *J Arthropod Borne Dis*. (2019) 13:310–23.

24. Ghatee MA, Taylor WR, Karamian M. The geographical distribution of cutaneous leishmaniasis causative agents in Iran and its neighboring countries, a review. *Front Public Heal.* (2020) 8:11. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2020.00011

25. Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR. Control of phlebotomine sand flies in Iran: a review article. *J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2016) 10:429–44.

26. Ahmadpour M, Moradi HV, Rezaei HR, Oshaghi MA, Hapeman P, Hosseinzadeh CA. Genetic diversity and structure of the great gerbil, Rhombomys opimus, in Iran (Mammalia: Rodentia). *Zool Middle East.* (2020) 66:1–12. doi: 10.1080/09397140.2020.1711625

27. Ramezani Azghandi S, Farashi A, Najjari M, Hosseini M. Habitat modeling of Meriones persicus species as a reservoir of leishmaniasis in Iran. *J Res Environ Heal.* (2021) 7:87–94. doi: 10.22038/jreh.2021.55908.1405

28. Azarmi S, Zahraei-Ramazani A, Mohebali M, Rassi Y, Akhavan AA, Azarm A, et al. (2020). *PCR-positivity of gerbils and their ectoparasites for Leishmania spp. in a hyperendemic focus of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Central Iran*. Research Square.

29. Mozafari O, Sofizadeh A, Shoraka HR. Distribution of Leishmania infection in humans, animal reservoir hosts and sandflies in Golestan Province, Northeastern Iran. A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Iran J Public Health*. (2020) 49:2308–19. doi: 10.18502/ijph.v49i12.4813

30. Fellahi A, Djirar N, Cherief A, Boudrissa A, Eddaikkr N. Zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis and Leishmania infection among Meriones shawi population in Setif Province, Algeria. *Biodiversitas J Biol Divers*. (2021) 22:2547–54. doi: 10.13057/biodiv/ d220701

31. Garedaghi Y, Heidarinejad S, Amirfazli BEM. Evaluation of rodent Fauna of rural cutaneous Leishmaniasis reservoir in East Azerbaijan Province of Iran during 2018-2019. *Int J Med Parasitol Epidemiol Sci.* (2020) 1:43. doi: 10.34172/ijmpes.2020.13

32. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Dabiri S, Mohammadi MAMA, Fasihi Harandi M, Mohebali M, et al. Leishmania tropica in stray dogs in Southeast Iran. *Iran J Public Health*. (2015) 44:1359–66.

33. Hajjaran H, Mohebali M, Zarei Z, Edrissian G. Leishmania tropica: another etiological agent of canine visceral Leishmaniasis in Iran. *Iran J Public Health*. (2007) 36:85–8.

34. Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Akhavan AA, Zahraei-Ramazani AR, Jalali-Zand AR, Piazak N. Bionomics of Phlebotomus papatasi (Diptera: Psychodidae) in an endemic focus of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Central Iran. *J Vector Ecol.* (2005) 30:115–8.

35. Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Javadian E, Tahvildare-Bidnmi GH. The isolation of Leishmania major from Phlebotomus (Paraphlebotomus) caucasicus, in Isfahan province, Islamic Republic of Iran. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (1994) 88:518–9. doi: 10.1016/0035-9203(94)90142-2

36. Nadim A, Faghih M. The epidemiology of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the Isfahan province of Iran: I. the reservoir II. The human disease. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (1968) 62:534–42. doi: 10.1016/0035-9203(68)90140-5

37. Nadim A, Seyedi IRMA. A brief review of the epidemiology of various types of leishmaniases in Iran. *Acta Med Iran*. (1971) 14:99–106.

38. Javadian E, Mesghali A, Nadim A. Natural leptomonad infection of sand flies with its first occurrence in *P. alexandri* in Khuzistan Province, Iran. *Ecol Leishmaniasis Coll Int CNRS*. (1977) 239:203–5.

39. Nadim A. Current situation with regard to leishmaniasis in the countries of the eastern Mediterranean region: an overview. *Res Control Strateg Leishmaniasis Toronto IDRC*. (1988):162–8.

40. Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Javadian E. Studies on sandflies in a hyperendemic area of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran. Indian J Med Res. (1997) 105:61-6.

41. Naghian A, Oshaghi MA, Moein-Vaziri V, Rassi Y, Sedaghat MM, Mostafavi E, et al. Molecular identification of leishmania species in Phlebotomus alexandri (Diptera: Psychodidae) in western Iran. *J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2020) 14:8. doi: 10.18502/jad. v14i1.2699

42. Shirani-Bidabadi L, Zahraei-Ramazani AR, Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Akhavan AA, Oshaghi MA, Enayati AA, et al. Monitoring of laboratory reared of Phlebotomus papatasi (Diptera: Psychodidae), main vector of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis to different imagicides in hyper endemic areas. Esfahan Province. *Iran J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2020) 14:116. doi: 10.18502/jad.v14i1.2718

43. Khamesipour A, Molaei S, Babaei-Pouya N, Moradi-Asl E. Cutaneous Leishmaniasis situation and predicting the distribution of Phlebotomus papatasi and P. sergenti as vectors of Leishmaniasis in Ardabil Province. *Iran Korean J Parasitol.* (2020) 58:229–36. doi: 10.3347/kjp.2020.58.3.229

44. Khoshnood S, Tavalla M, Mohaghegh MA, Khamesipour F, Hejazi SH. Genetic diversity of Leishmania major strains isolated from Phlebotomus papatasi and Phlebotomus alexandri in western Iran based on minicircle kDNA. *J Parasit Dis.* (2021) 45:838–44. doi: 10.1007/s12639-021-01369-y

45. Sofizadeh A, Akbarzadeh K, Allah Kalteh E, Karimi F. Relationship between the distribution and biodiversity of sand flies (Diptera: Psychodidae) with the incidence of zoonotic cutaneous Leishmaniasis in endemic foci of Golestan Province. *Iran J Med Entomol.* (2020) 57:1768–74. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjaa114

46. Ghaffari D, Parizi MH, Ershadi MRY, Sharifi I, Akhavan AA. A survey of reservoir hosts in two foci of cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kerman province, southeast of Iran. J Parasit Dis. (2014) 38:245–9. doi: 10.1007/s12639-013-0275-8

47. Saman IAG, Dayer MS, Pirestani M. Biodiversity, Leishmania genetic typing and host identification of phlebotomine species in endemic foci of southeastern Iran. *Heliyon*. (2019) 5:e02369. doi: 10.1016/j.heliyon.2019.e02369

48. Abdolahnejad A, Mousavi SH, Sofizadeh A, Jafari N, Shiravand B. Climate change and distribution of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis (ZCL) reservoir and vector species in Central Iran. *Model Earth Syst Environ*. (2021) 7:105–15. doi: 10.1007/ s40808-020-00860-4

49. Seyedi-Rashti MA, Nadim A. Re-establishment of cutaneous leishmaniasis after cessation of anti-malaria spraying. *Trop Geogr Med.* (1975) 27:79–82.

50. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MRMR, Sharifi H, Karamoozian A, Sharifi F, et al. Risk factors for anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in unresponsive and responsive patients in a major focus, southeast of Iran. *PLoS One*. (2018) 13:e0192236. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192236

51. Aflatoonian MR, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian B, Bamorovat M, Heshmatkhah A, Babaei Z, et al. Associated-risk determinants for anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis treated with meglumine antimoniate: a cohort study in Iran. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2019) 13:e0007423. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007423

52. Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Babaei Z, Sharifi F, Keyhani A, Salarkia E, et al. Emerging epidemics of cutaneous Leishmaniasis in Iran: operational aspects, management and implemented control approaches. *J Med Microbiol Infect Dis.* (2019) 7:52–60. doi: 10.29252/JoMMID.7.3.52

53. Jafari R, Abdoli H, Arandian MH, Shareghi N, Ghanei M, Jalali-Zand N, et al. Emerging of cutaneous leishmaniais due to leishmania major in a new focus in Esfahan Province. *Central Iran J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2020) 14:134. doi: 10.18502/jad. v14i2.3731

54. Jalali H, Enayati AA, Fakhar M, Motevalli-Haghi F, Charati JY, Dehghan O, et al. Reemergence of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in an endemic focus, northeastern Iran. *Parasite Epidemiol Control.* (2021) 13:e00206. doi: 10.1016/j.parepi.2021.e00206

55. Razavinasab SZ, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Babaei Z, Mohammadi MA, Salarkia E, et al. Expansion of urban cutaneous leishmaniasis into rural areas of southeastern Iran: clinical, epidemiological and phylogenetic profiles explored using 7SL high resolution melting-PCR analysis. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2019) 66:1602–10. doi: 10.1111/tbed.13186

56. Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Fekri AR. An epidemic of cutaneous leishmaniasis in Baft district in Kerman Province and its probable causative risk factors. *Iran J Epidemiol.* (2008) 4:53–8.

57. Azadnajafabad S, Mohammadi E, Aminorroaya A, Fattahi N, Rezaei S, Haghshenas R, et al. Non-communicable diseases' risk factors in Iran; a review of the present status and action plans. *J Diabetes Metab Disord*. (2021):1–9. doi: 10.1007/s40200-020-00709-8

58. World Health Organization. Framework for action on cutaneous leishmaniasis in the eastern Mediterranean Region 2014–2018. Geneva: WHO (2014).

59. Kayedi MH, Rassi Y, Chegeni-Sharafi A, Rostami R, Rafizadeh S, Abdali N. Control of cutaneous leishmaniasis using deltamethrin treated nets in comparison to indoors residual spraying in a rural area of Iran. *Iran J Public Health*. (2017) 46:835–42.

60. Yaghoobi-Ershadi MR, Moosa-Kazemi SH, Zahraei-Ramazani AR, Jalai-Zand AR, Akhavan AA, Arandian MH, et al. Evaluation of deltamethrin-impregnated bed nets and curtains for control of zoonotic cutaneous leish-maniasis in. *Bull Soc Pathol Exot*. (2006) 99:43–8. doi: 10.3185/pathexo2818

61. Noazin S, Shirzadi MR, Kermanizadeh A, Yaghoobi-Ershadi M-R, Sharifi I. Effect of large-scale installation of deltamethrin-impregnated screens and curtains in bam, a major focus of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2013) 107:444–50. doi: 10.1093/trstmh/trt036

62. Nadim A, Motahar M, Houshmand B, Keyghobadi K, Aflatoonian MR. *Evaluation* of pyrethroid impregnated bednets for control of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in bam (Islamic Republic of Iran). Geneva: World Health Organization (1995). 21 p.

63. Solhi M, Azar FEF, Abolghasemi J, Maheri M, Irandoost SF, Khalili S. The effect of educational intervention on health-promoting lifestyle: intervention mapping approach. *J Educ Health Promot.* (2020) 9:196. doi: 10.4103/jehp.jehp_768_19

64. Nadim A, Javadian E, Tahvildar-Bidruni G, Amini H, Pezechki Y. Control of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis by mass leishmanization in hyperendemic area of Isfahan. *Med J Islam Repub Iran.* (1988) 2:113–4.

65. Ershadi M-RY, Zahraei-Ramazani A-R, Akhavan A-A, Jalali-Zand A-R, Abdoli H, Nadim A. Rodent control operations against zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in rural Iran. *Ann Saudi Med.* (2005) 25:309–12. doi: 10.5144/0256-4947.2005.309

66. Montenegro Quiñonez CA, Runge-Ranzinger S, Rahman KM, Horstick O. Effectiveness of vector control methods for the control of cutaneous and visceral leishmaniasis: a meta-review. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:e0009309. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0009309

67. Najafi L, Omidian M, Rezaei Z, Shahabi S, Ghorbani F, Arefkhah N, et al. Molecular and serological evaluation of zoonotic visceral leishmaniasis in dogs in a rural area of Fars province, southern Iran, as a source of Leishmania infantum infection. *Vet Med Sci.* (2021) 7:1082–9. doi: 10.1002/vms3.432

68. Gavgani ASM, Hodjati MH, Mohite H, Davies CR. Effect of insecticideimpregnated dog collars on incidence of zoonotic visceral leishmaniasis in Iranian children: a matchedcluster randomised trial. *Lancet*. (2002) 360:374–9. doi: 10.1016/ S0140-6736(02)09609-5

69. Alves EB, Figueiredo FB, Rocha MF, Castro MC, Werneck GL. Effectiveness of insecticide-impregnated collars for the control of canine visceral leishmaniasis. *Prev Vet Med.* (2020) 182:105104. doi: 10.1016/j.prevetmed.2020.105104

70. Halbig P, Hodjati MH, Mazloumi-Gavgani AS, Mohite H, Davies CR. Further evidence that deltamethrin-impregnated collars protect domestic dogs from sandfly bites. *Med Vet Entomol.* (2000) 14:223–6. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2915.2000.00229.x

71. Gradoni L, López-Vélez R, Mokni M. (2017). Manual on case management and surveillance of the leishmaniases in the WHO European region.

72. Biswas D, Dolai S, Chowdhury J, Roy PK, Grigorieva EV. Cost-effective analysis of control strategies to reduce the prevalence of cutaneous Leishmaniasis, based on a mathematical model. *Math Comput Appl.* (2018) 23:38. doi: 10.3390/mca23030038

73. Saghafipour A, Nejati J, Mozaffari E, Rezaei F, Gharlipour Z, Mirheydari M. The effectiveness of education based on BASNEF model on promoting preventive behavior of cutaneous leishmaniasis in students. *Int J Pediatr.* (2017) 5:5125–36. doi: 10.22038/ ijp.2017.22373.1875

74. Ghodsi M, Maheri M, Joveini H, Rakhshani MH, Mehri A. Designing and evaluating educational intervention to improve preventive behavior against cutaneous Leishmaniasis in endemic areas in Iran. *Osong public Heal Res Perspect.* (2019) 10:253–62. doi: 10.24171/j.phrp.2019.10.4.09

75. Orellano PW, Vazquez N, Salomon OD. Cost-effectiveness of prevention strategies for American tegumentary leishmaniasis in Argentina. *Cad Saude Publica*. (2013) 29:2459–72. doi: 10.1590/0102-311X00172512

76. Sabzevari S, Teshnizi SH, Shokri A, Bahrami F, Kouhestani F. Cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Microb Pathog.* (2021) 152:104721. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2020.104721

77. WHO. Control of the leishmaniases: Report of a meeting of the WHO expert committee on the control of leishmaniases. Control of the leishmaniases: report of a meeting of the WHO expert committee on the control of leishmaniases. Geneva: World Health Organization (2010). p. 1–187

78. Firooz A, Mortazavi H, Khamesipour A, Ghiasi M, Abedini R, Balighi K, et al. Old world cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran: clinical variants and treatments. *J Dermatolog Treat*. (2020) 32:673–83. doi: 10.1080/09546634.2019.1704214

79. World Health Organization. Manual for case management of cutaneous leishmaniasis in the WHO eastern Mediterranean region. Geneva: WHO (2014).

80. Karvar M, Sharifi I, Parizi D, Hossein M, Baziar Z, Pouryazdanpanah N, et al. The efficacy, relapse and failure in the treatment of Anthroponotic cutaneous Leishmaniosis with Intralesional Glucantime along with Cryotherapy. *J Kerman Univ Med Sci.* (2016) 23:156–63.

81. Oliaee RT, Sharifi I, Afgar A, Kareshk AT, Asadi A, Heshmatkhah A, et al. Unresponsiveness to meglumine antimoniate in anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis field isolates: analysis of resistance biomarkers by gene expression profiling. *Trop Med Int Heal.* (2018) 23:622–33. doi: 10.1111/tmi.13062

82. Soleimanifard S, Arjmand R, Saberi S, Salehi M, Hejazi SH. Treatment outcome of the drug-resistant zoonotic cutaneous Leishmaniasis by Glucantime. Adv. *Biomed Res.* (2017) 6:17. doi: 10.4103/2277-9175.201329

83. Mohebali M, Fotouhi A, Hooshmand B, Zarei Z, Akhoundi B, Rahnema A, et al. Comparison of miltefosine and meglumine antimoniate for the treatment of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis (ZCL) by a randomized clinical trial in Iran. *Acta Trop.* (2007) 103:33–40. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2007.05.005

84. Khosravi A, Sharifi I, Dortaj E, Afshar AA, Mostafavi M. The present status of cutaneous leishmaniasis in a recently emerged focus in south-west of Kerman Province. *Nashrīyah-i Bihdāsht-i Īrān*. (2013) 42:182–7.

85. Gholamrezaei M, Mohebali M, Hanafi-Bojd AA, Sedaghat MM, Shirzadi MR. Ecological niche modeling of main reservoir hosts of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran. *Acta Trop.* (2016) 160:44–52. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2016.04.014

86. Askari A, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Babaei Z, Ghasemi Nejad Almani P, Mohammadi MA, et al. A newly emerged focus of zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in South-Western Iran. *Microb Pathog.* (2018) 121:363–8. doi: 10.1016/j. micpath.2018.04.053

87. Ghatee MA, Haghdoost AA, Kooreshnia F, Kanannejad Z, Parisaie Z, Karamian M, et al. Role of environmental, climatic risk factors and livestock animals on the occurrence of cutaneous leishmaniasis in newly emerging focus in Iran. *J Infect Public Health*. (2018) 11:425–33. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph.2017.12.004

88. Valero NNH, Prist P, Uriarte M. Environmental and socioeconomic risk factors for visceral and cutaneous leishmaniasis in São Paulo. *Brazil Sci Total Environ*. (2021) 797:148960. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.148960

89. El Alem MMM, Hakkour M, Hmamouch A, Halhali M, Delouane B, Habbari K, et al. Risk factors and prediction analysis of cutaneous leishmaniasis due to Leishmania tropica in southwestern Morocco. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2018) 61:84–91. doi: 10.1016/j. meegid.2018.03.017

90. Wijerathna T, Gunathilaka N, Gunawardena K, Rodrigo W. Socioeconomic, demographic and landscape factors associated with cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kurunegala District, Sri Lanka. *Parasit Vectors*. (2020) 13:1–14. doi: 10.1186/s13071-020-04122-1

91. Mohammadbeigi A, Khazaei S, Heidari H, Asgarian A, Arsangjang S, Saghafipour A, et al. An investigation of the effects of environmental and ecologic factors on cutaneous leishmaniasis in the old world: a systematic review study. *Rev Environ Health.* (2020) 36:117–28. doi: 10.1515/reveh-2020-0066

92. Motawef S, Asadi S. Migration after natural disasters, case study: "the 2003 bam earthquake". WIT Trans Ecol Environ. (2011) 148:625–32. doi: 10.2495/RAV110571

93. Aflatoonian MR, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian B, Shirzadi MR, Gouya MM, Kermanizadeh A. A review of impact of bam earthquake on cutaneous leishmaniasis and status: epidemic of old foci, emergence of new foci and changes in features of the disease. *J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2016) 10:271–80.

94. Aflatoonian MR, Sharifi I, Poursmaelian S, Hakimi-Parizi M, Ziaali N. The emergence of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis following the earthquake in southern villages of bam district, southeastern Iran, 2010. J Arthropod Borne Dis. (2013) 7:8–14.

95. Sharifi I, Fekri AR, Aflatonian M-R, Khamesipour A, Nadim A, Mousavi M-RA, et al. Randomised vaccine trial of single dose of killed Leishmania major plus BCG against anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in bam, Iran. *Lancet.* (1998) 351:1540–3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(98)09552-X

96. Sharifi I, Nakhaei N, Aflatoonian MR, Parizi MH, Fekri AR, Safizadeh H, et al. Cutaneous leishmaniasis in bam: a comparative evaluation of pre-and post-earthquake years (1999–2008). *Iran J Public Health.* (2011) 40:49–56.

97. Sharifi I, Poursmaelian S, Aflatoonian MR, Ardakani RF, Mirzaei M, Fekri AR, et al. Emergence of a new focus of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis due to Leishmania tropica in rural communities of bam district after the earthquake. *Iran Trop Med Int Heal.* (2011) 16:510–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-3156.2011.02729.x

98. Bizri NA, Alam W, Khoury M, Musharrafieh U, Ghosn N, Berri A, et al. The association between the Syrian crisis and cutaneous Leishmaniasis in Lebanon. *Acta Parasitol.* (2021) 66:1240–5. doi: 10.1007/s11686-021-00395-3

99. Salgueiro MM, Pimentel MIF, Miranda LFC, Cunha e Silva RR, LFA O, Lyra MR, et al. Parasite species variation and impact of spatial displacement of the population on cutaneous leishmaniasis in Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg. (2021) 116:70–9. doi: 10.1093/trstml/trab088

100. Hussain M, Munir S, Jamal MA, Ayaz S, Akhoundi M, Mohamed K. Epidemic outbreak of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Kohat District, Khyber Pakhtunkhwa. *Pakistan Acta Trop.* (2017) 172:147–55. doi: 10.1016/j. actatropica.2017.04.035

101. Al-Bajalan MMM, Al-Jaf SMA, Niranji SS, Abdulkareem DR, Al-Kayali KK, Kato H. An outbreak of Leishmania major from an endemic to a non-endemic region posed a public health threat in Iraq from 2014–2017: epidemiological, molecular and phylogenetic studies. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2018) 12:e0006255. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0006255

102. Sulaiman AA, Elmadhoun WM, Noor SK, Bushara SO, Almobarak AO, Awadalla H, et al. An outbreak of cutaneous leishmaniasis among a displaced population in North Sudan: review of cases. *J Fam Med Prim Care.* (2019) 8:556. doi: 10.4103/jfmpc.jfmpc_432_18

103. Hakkour M, Hmamouch A, Mahmoud El Alem M, Bouyahya A, Balahbib A, El Khazraji A, et al. Risk factors associated with Leishmaniasis in the Most affected provinces by Leishmania infantum in Morocco. *Interdiscip Perspect Infect Dis (2020).* (2020) 2020:1–9. doi: 10.1155/2020/6948650

104. Raad II, Chaftari A-M, Dib RW, Graviss EA, Hachem R. Emerging outbreaks associated with conflict and failing healthcare systems in the Middle East. *Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol.* (2018) 39:1230–6. doi: 10.1017/ice.2018.177

105. Jafari E, Moeeni M, Fadaei R, Rezayatmand R. Economic evaluation of using pesticides to control cutaneous leishmaniasis in Isfahan. *J Res Pharm Pract*. (2018) 7:123. doi: 10.4103/jrpp.JRPP_17_95

106. Sajadi HS, Ehsani-Chimeh E, Majdzadeh R. Universal health coverage in Iran: where we stand and how we can move forward. *Med J Islam Repub Iran*. (2019) 33:9. doi: 10.47176/mjiri.33.9

107. Doshmangir L, Moshiri E, Mostafavi H, Sakha MA, Assan A. Policy analysis of the Iranian health transformation plan in primary healthcare. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2019) 19:1–8. doi: 10.1186/s12913-019-4505-3

108. Bahmanziari N, Takian A. Health system stewardship in Iran: far from perfect! *Med J Islam Repub Iran.* (2020) 34:144. doi: 10.34171/mjiri.34.144

109. Poursheikhali A, Dehnavieh R. How do primary care providers work together in the Iranian PHC system? *Med J Islam Repub Iran*. (2020) 34:164. doi: 10.47176/mjiri.34.164

110. Oliveira-Ribeiro C, Pimentel MIF, de Oliveira LFA, de Vasconcellos e ÉCF, Conceição-Silva F, de Schubach AO, et al. An old drug and different ways to treat cutaneous leishmaniasis: Intralesional and intramuscular meglumine antimoniate in a reference center, Rio de Janeiro, Brazil. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2021) 15:e0009734. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0009734

111. Sabaté E, Sabaté E. Adherence to long-term therapies: evidence for action. Geneva: World Health Organization (2003).

112. Usherwood T. Encouraging adherence to long-term medication. *Aust Prescr.* (2017) 40:147–50. doi: 10.18773/austprescr.2017.050

113. World Health Organization. Report on the interregional meeting on leishmaniasis among neighbouring endemic countries in the eastern Mediterranean, African and European regions, Amman, Jordan 23–25 September 2019. Cairo, Egypt: World Health Organization, Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean (2019).

114. Hotez PJ. The rise of leishmaniasis in the twenty-first century. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2018) 112:421–2. doi: 10.1093/trstmh/try075

115. Desjeux P. The increase in risk factors for leishmaniasis worldwide. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2004) 95:239–43. doi: 10.1016/s0035-9203(01)90223-8

116. Sen GPC. Chemotherapy of leishmanial diseases, a resume of recent researches. *Ind Med Gaz.* (1953) 88:20.

117. Hekmatnia H, Kamran J, Shamsoddini A. Comparative study of population aging trend in Iran and Poland. *SocioEcon Challenges*. (2021) 5:102–16. doi: 10.21272/ sec.5(1).102-116.2021

118. Alirol E, Getaz L, Stoll B, Chappuis F, Loutan L. Urbanisation and infectious diseases in a globalised world. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2011) 11:131–41. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(10)70223-1

119. Neiderud C-J. How urbanization affects the epidemiology of emerging infectious diseases. *Infect Ecol Epidemiol.* (2015) 5:27060. doi: 10.3402/iee.v5.27060

120. United Nations. 2018 revision of world urbanization prospects. New York: Department of Economic and Social Affairs (2019).

121. Pouresmaeelian S, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR. A new focus of anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Dehbakry region of bam district, southeastern Iran 2008. *J Kerman Univ Med Sci.* (2015) 16:15–24.

122. Seddighi H, Nejad FN, Basakha M. Health systems efficiency in eastern Mediterranean region: a data envelopment analysis. *Cost Eff Resour Alloc*. (2020) 18:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12962-020-00217-9

123. Rostamian M, Rezaeian S, Hamidouche M, Bahrami F, Ghadiri K, Lorestani RC, et al. The effects of natural disasters on leishmaniases frequency: a global systematic review and meta-analysis. *Acta Trop.* (2021) 217:105855. doi: 10.1016/j. actatropica.2021.105855

124. Shokri A, Sabzevari S, Hashemi SA. Impacts of flood on health of Iranian population: infectious diseases with an emphasis on parasitic infections. *Parasite Epidemiol Control*. (2020) 9:e00144. doi: 10.1016/j.parepi.2020.e00144

125. Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Aflatoonian B, Kermanizadeh A. The severity of cutaneous leishmaniasis before and after the earthquake in bam, southeastern Iran. *J Parasit Dis.* (2015) 39:741–4. doi: 10.1007/s12639-014-0435-5

126. Khosravi A, Sharifi I, Fekri A, Kermanizadeh A, Bamorovat M, Mostafavi M, et al. Clinical features of Anthroponotic cutaneous Leishmaniasis in a major focus, southeastern Iran, 1994–2014. *Iran J Parasitol.* (2017) 12:544–53.

127. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Mohammadi MA, Eybpoosh S, Nasibi S, Aflatoonian MR, et al. Leishmania tropica isolates from non-healed and healed patients in Iran: a molecular typing and phylogenetic analysis. *Microb Pathog.* (2018) 116:124–9. doi: 10.1016/j.micpath.2018.01.021

128. Paliwal A, Gahtori R, Kumari A, Pandey P. Drug resistance and repurposing of existing drugs in Leishmaniasis. *Pathogenesis Treat Prev Leishmaniasis*. (2021):103–24. doi: 10.1016/B978-0-12-822800-5.00013-5

129. Eslami G, Hatefi S, Ramezani V, Tohidfar M, Churkina TV, Orlov YL, et al. Molecular characteristic of treatment failure clinical isolates of Leishmania major. *Peer J.* (2021) 9:e10969. doi: 10.7717/peerj.10969

130. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Tavakoli Oliaee R, Jafarzadeh A, Khosravi A. Determinants of unresponsiveness to treatment in cutaneous Leishmaniasis: a focus on Anthroponotic form due to Leishmania tropica. *Front Microbiol.* (2021) 12:1143. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.638957

131. Ezatkhah F, Sharifi I, Babaei Z, Baneshi MR, Zolala F, Kermanizadeh A, et al. Clinical and laboratory evaluation of cured and non-cured patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis treated by Glucantime. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2019) 56:351. doi: 10.4103/0972-9062.302039

132. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Aflatoonian MR, Sadeghi B, Shafiian A, Oliaee RT, et al. Host's immune response in unresponsive and responsive patients with anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis treated by meglumine antimoniate: a case-control study of Th1 and Th2 pathways. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2019) 69:321–7. doi: 10.1016/j. intimp.2019.02.008

133. Bamorovat M, Sharifi I, Rashedi E, Shafian A, Sharifi F, Khosravi A, et al. A novel diagnostic and prognostic approach for unresponsive patients with anthroponotic cutaneous leishmaniasis using artificial neural networks. *PLoS One*. (2021) 16:e0250904. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0250904

134. Gitari J, Nzou S, Wamunyokoli F, Kinyeru E, Fujii Y, Kaneko S, et al. Leishmaniasis recidivans by Leishmania tropica in central Rift Valley region in Kenya. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2018) 74:109–16. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2018.07.008

135. Ponte-Sucre A, Gamarro F, Dujardin J-C, Barrett MP, López-Vélez R, García-Hernández R, et al. Drug resistance and treatment failure in leishmaniasis: a 21st century challenge. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2017) 11:e0006052. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006052

136. Ouellette M, Drummelsmith J, Papadopoulou B. Leishmaniasis: drugs in the clinic, resistance and new developments. *Drug Resist Updat.* (2004) 7:257–66. doi: 10.1016/j.drup.2004.07.002

137. Hadighi R, Boucher P, Khamesipour A, Meamar AR, Roy G, Ouellette M, et al. Glucantime-resistant Leishmania tropica isolated from Iranian patients with cutaneous leishmaniasis are sensitive to alternative antileishmania drugs. *Parasitol Res.* (2007) 101:1319–22. doi: 10.1007/s00436-007-0638-0

138. DiMatteo MR. Social support and patient adherence to medical treatment: a meta-analysis. *Health Psychol.* (2004) 23:207–18. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.23.2.207

139. Hugtenburg JG, Timmers L, Elders PJM, Vervloet M, van Dijk L. Definitions, variants, and causes of nonadherence with medication: a challenge for tailored interventions. *Patient Prefer Adherence*. (2013) 7:675. doi: 10.2147/PPA.S29549

140. Alimohammadian M, Yousef Beig M, Darabi H. Skin testing with stsndard leishmanin of Iran. *Iran J Public Health*. (1997) 26:1–10.

141. Hashemi Fesharaki R, Ahourai P, Manhuri H, Golabi A, Baghebane Hamedi M. (2000). Study on large scale production of autoclaved and freeze-thawing inactived leishmania major vaccine against human rural cutancous leishmaniasis.

142. Khalil EAG, Ame H, Zijlstra EE, Mukhtar MM, Ghalib HW, Musa B, et al. Autoclaved Leishmania major vaccine for prevention of visceral leishmaniasis: a randomised, double-blind, BCG-controlled trial in Sudan. *Lancet.* (2000) 356:1565–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(00)03128-7

143. Noazin S, Modabber F, Khamesipour A, Smith PG, Moulton LH, Nasseri K, et al. First generation leishmaniasis vaccines: a review of field efficacy trials. *Vaccine*. (2008) 26:6759–67. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2008.09.085

144. Mohebali M, Khamesipour A, Mobedi I, Zarei Z, Hashemi-Fesharki R. Doubleblind randomized efficacy field trial of alum precipitated autoclaved Leishmania major vaccine mixed with BCG against canine visceral leishmaniasis in Meshkin-Shahr district. *IR Iran Vaccine.* (2004) 22:4097–100. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2004.03.058

145. Momeni AZ, Jalayer T, Emamjomeh M, Khamesipour A, Zicker F, Ghassemi RL, et al. A randomised, double-blind, controlled trial of a killed L. major vaccine plus BCG against zoonotic cutaneous leishmaniasis in Iran. Vaccine. (1999) 17:466–72. doi: 10.1016/S0264-410X(98)00220-5

146. Noazin S, Khamesipour A, Moulton LH, Tanner M, Nasseri K, Modabber F, et al. Efficacy of killed whole-parasite vaccines in the prevention of leishmaniasis—a metaanalysis. *Vaccine*. (2009) 27:4747–53. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2009.05.084

147. Zabala-Peñafiel A, Todd D, Daneshvar H, Burchmore R. The potential of live attenuated vaccines against cutaneous Leishmaniasis. *Exp Parasitol.* (2020) 210:107849. doi: 10.1016/j.exppara.2020.107849

148. Khamesipour A, Dowlati Y, Asilian A, Hashemi-Fesharki R, Javadi A, Noazin S, et al. Leishmanization: use of an old method for evaluation of candidate vaccines against leishmaniasis. *Vaccine*. (2005) 23:3642–8. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2005.02.015

149. Mohebali M, Nadim A, Khamesipour A. An overview of leishmanization experience: a successful control measure and a tool to evaluate candidate vaccines. *Acta Trop.* (2019) 200:105173. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2019.105173

150. Nadim A, Javadian E, Mohebali M. The experience of leishmanization in the Islamic Republic of Iran. *EMHJ*, (1997), 3, 284–289, doi: 10.26719/1997.3.2.284

151. Dantas-Torres F, dos Santos NF, Menz I, Tabanez P, da Silva SM, Ribeiro VM, et al. Vaccination against canine leishmaniasis in Brazil. *Int J Parasitol.* (2020) 50:171–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2020.01.001

152. Rassi Y, Asadollahi H, Abai MR, Kayedi MH, Vatandoost H. Efficiency of two capture methods providing live sand flies and assessment the susceptibility status of Phlebotomus papatasi (Diptera: Psychodidae) in the foci of cutaneous Leishmaniasis, Lorestan Province, Western Iran. *J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2020) 14:408. doi: 10.18502/jad.v14i4.5278

153. Rassi Y, Ebrahimi S, Abai MR, Vatandoost H, Akhavan AA, Afshar AA. Comparative testing of susceptibility levels of Phlebotomus sergenti, the Main vector of Anthroponotic cutaneous Leishmaniasis, to conventional insecticides using two capture methods in Kerman City, Southeastern Iran. *J Arthropod Borne Dis.* (2021) 15:82. doi: 10.18502/jad.v15i1.6488

154. Bryson JM. Strategic planning for public and nonprofit organizations: a guide to strengthening and sustaining organizational achievement. Hoboken, NJ: John Wiley & Sons (2018).

155. Gijón-Robles P, Abattouy N, Merino-Espinosa G, El Khalfaoui N, Morillas-Márquez F, Corpas-López V, et al. Risk factors for the expansion of cutaneous leishmaniasis by Leishmania tropica: possible implications for control programmes. *Transbound Emerg Dis.* (2018) 65:1615–26. doi: 10.1111/tbed.12914

156. Cotton JA. The expanding world of human leishmaniasis. *Trends Parasitol.* (2017) 33:341–4. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2017.02.002

157. World Health Organization. SEA/RC60/15-review of the decisions and resolutions of the sixtieth world health assembly and the 120th and 121st sessions of the executive board. Geneva: WHO (2007).

158. Nzioki JM, Korir A. Effective methods for community sanitation and hygiene promotion in the developing world: a scoping review. *Africa J Tech Vocat Educ Train.* (2020) 5:175–85. doi: 10.13140/RG.2.2.11756.39040

159. Coffeng LE, Le Rutte EA, Muñoz J, Adams ER, Prada JM, de Vlas SJ, et al. Impact of changes in detection effort on control of visceral leishmaniasis in the Indian subcontinent. *J Infect Dis.* (2020) 221:S546–53. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiz644

160. World Health Organization. Global leishmaniasis surveillance: 2019–2020, a baseline for the 2030 roadmap. Geneva: WHO (2021).

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Junxiong Pang, National University of Singapore, Singapore

REVIEWED BY Rong Zhang, Zhejiang Center for Disease Control and Prevention (Zhejiang CDC), China Basanta Sahu, Hong Kong University, China Subrat Kumar Swain, Siksha O Anusandhan University, India

*CORRESPONDENCE Rongjie Wei www08www@163.com Changhong Yang changhong_yang@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

RECEIVED 01 March 2023 ACCEPTED 11 May 2023 PUBLISHED 30 May 2023

CITATION

Zhang Y, Zhang M, Qin Y, Zhang L, Kang D, Wei R and Yang C (2023) Epidemiological analysis and risk prediction of scrub typhus from 2006 to 2021 in Sichuan, China. *Front. Public Health* 11:1177578. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1177578

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Zhang, Zhang, Qin, Zhang, Kang, Wei and Yang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Epidemiological analysis and risk prediction of scrub typhus from 2006 to 2021 in Sichuan, China

Yao Zhang[†], Mengyuan Zhang[†], Yao Qin[†], Lun Zhang, Dianju Kang, Rongjie Wei* and Changhong Yang*

Department of Emergency Management, Sichuan Center for Diseases Control and Prevention, Chengdu, China

Background: In the past decade, the number of reported cases of scrub typhus (ST) has increased dramatically in Sichuan Province. We aimed to overview the epidemiological characteristics of ST, identify the variables contributing to the spatial distribution, and estimate the risk areas of ST occurrence.

Methods: Daily ST cases reported at the county level from 2006 to 2021 and datasets on environmental and socioeconomic variables were obtained. Joinpoint regression model was utilized to examine the incidence trends and to calculate the annual percentage change. Global spatial autocorrelation analysis was employed to explore the spatial temporal patterns. Then BRT model was employed to identify variables that make sense and predict the risk areas of ST occurrence.

Result: It has been reported that there were 6,338 ST cases in Sichuan Province from 2006 to 2021, and the incidence rates continued to rise. Most cases were distributed between June and October each year, peaking in August. During the study period, the cases showed spatial clustering at the county level, mainly in the Panxi area, and then slowly spread to the northwest and northeast. Shrubs, precipitation, farmland and maximum temperature were the primary variables that affected the spatial distribution of this disease. It was estimated that the areas including Liangshan, Panzhihua, Bazhong, and Guangyuan were most at risk of transmission. and there were approximately 32.315 million people living in the areas with potential risk of infection throughout Sichuan.

Conclusion: Many counties in Sichuan Province were estimated to be susceptible to ST. Our found in this data-driven study could be used to guide the implementation of targeted prevention and control measures in high-risk areas.

KEYWORDS

scrub typhus (tsutsugamushi disease), BRT model, epidemiological feature, contributing variables, risk areas

1. Introduction

Scrub typhus (ST) is a vector-borne disease transmitted through the bites of chigger mites carrying *Orientia tsutsugamushi* (1–3). The primary manifestations of the disease are eschar, fever, headache, systemic lymphadenopathy, rash, etc. (4–6). Delayed treatment may result in pneumonia, myocarditis and even death (7, 8). Generally, chiggers are only active within a certain area of their breeding site. However, alterations in human behavior

and social environment lead to migration of vectors and hosts from one location to another, which may spread pathogens to more distant areas and cause disease transmission (9-11). ST is widespread in the "tsutsugamushi triangle" area ranging from Afghanistan in the west to the east coast of Russia in the north to northern Australia in the south (12). Approximately 1 billion people worldwide are at risk of infection, leading to at least 1 million ST cases each years (13, 14). Recently, the incidence rates of ST have begun to rise in known endemic areas such as India and Korea (15, 16), while cases have been widely reported in tropical and subtropical regions far from the "tsutsugamushi triangle" (17–19), which may be an indication for the resuscitation of this unheeded disease (13, 20).

In China, since the first ST case was detected in southern Guangdong in 1948, the natural focus of ST has been limited to the area south of the Yangtze River (21, 22). Until the 1980s, the endemic area began to expand slowly northward and westward, and multiple local outbreaks occurred (23, 24). Currently, ST cases have spread across China, and cases have been discovered in both urban and rural areas in all provinces (25). Recently, the incidence rates of the disease in our country have risen rapidly with the acceleration of urbanization, tourism exploitation of natural environment, climate alteration, and migration movement, which has become an important health problem (26–28). Sichuan Province is the focus of ST in southern China, faced with the dilemma of rapid increase in the incidence of ST (29). However, research on ST in this area is still limited.

Based on available genomic and genotyping studies (30), the antigenic and genetic diversity of *Orientia tsutsugamushi* has become a primary impediment to the development of effective vaccines, making the prediction of risk regions even more important at this stage. In recent years, spatial analysis and ecological modeling have been utilized to investigate the influencing factors associated with ST and to predict epidemic risk (28, 31). Previous studies have successfully estimated the distribution of ST in southern China (32), but studies on the distribution of the disease in Sichuan Province have still not been conducted. In this research, we analyzed the epidemiological characteristics of ST in Sichuan Province from 2006 to 2021. Transmission patterns of the disease were modeled to identify environmental and socioeconomic variables affecting distribution, and to forecast the areas at risk in Sichuan Province.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Study area

Sichuan Province is located in southwest China, having jurisdiction over 21 prefectures and 183 counties. By the end of 2020, the resident population was 83.71 million. Sichuan has complex landforms, rich soil types and obvious regional climate differences. It could be categorized into three major climatic zones in accordance with the differences in water, heat and light conditions. Briefly, the basin is a subtropical humid climate zone, warm and humid throughout the year; the southwest mountainous area is a subtropical and semi-humid climate zone, with a higher average annual temperature; and the northwest plateau is an alpine climate zone, with large altitude differences and obvious climate alterations (33).

2.2. Data collection and management

All the data of scrub typhus cases from January 2006 to December 2021 were obtained from China's National Statutory Infections Disease Reporting Information System. The data covered all reported probable cases (clinically diagnosed) and confirmed cases (laboratory diagnosed), incorporating information including gender, year, occupation, time of onset, time of reporting, and place of residence. Case definition was based on the guidelines issued by the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention¹ (details was displayed in Supplementary material). Probable cases were diagnosed by physicians based on epidemiological exposure (field activities in endemic areas 1-3 weeks before illness onset) and clinical manifestations (fever, specific eschar, or ulcers). A confirmed case was defined as a probable case meeting any of the following criteria: (1) a positive Weill-Felix test; (2) a positive indirect immunofluorescence antibody assay; (3) positive PCR; (4) the pathogen was isolated (34).

All the cases data in the current research were anonymized. And the cases data were not subject to institutional review board assessment.

Environmental variables were collected to investigate the potential contributing variables on the spatial distribution of ST. We extracted the monthly cumulative sunshine hours, monthly cumulative precipitation, monthly maximum temperature, and monthly minimum temperature between January 2006 and December 2020 from the National Earth System Science Data Center, National Science & Technology Infrastructure of China.² Simultaneously, the percentage of scrub, farmland, grassland, forest and wetland area in each county of Sichuan Province in 2010 was manually extracted from the land cover dataset of the same data center. Furthermore, the altitude data of each county were obtained from the Global Change Research Data Publishing and Repository.³ Besides, to assess the contribution of the variables to ST occurrence, socioeconomic variables were also collected. In this study, the 1 km grid GDP datasets of Sichuan Province in 2019 were obtained from the Resource and Environmental Science and Data Center⁴ to describe economic differences. Moreover, a gridded urban accessibility dataset of approximately 1 km by 1 km that were designed to estimated travel time to the nearest city of 50,000 or more people were obtained from the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission⁵ to estimate the impact of trade and travel on disease transmission. The database of contributing variables of ST was established by corresponding the variables collected above with the maps of administrative divisions at county level. The base map comes from the National Catalog Service for Geographic Information.6

¹ https://www.chinacdc.cn/tzgg/200901/t20090105_40316.htm

² http://www.geodata.cn

³ http://www.geodoi.ac.cn/WebCn/doi.aspx?Id=887

⁴ https://www.resdc.cn/DOI/DOI.aspx?DOIID=33

⁵ https://forobs.jrc.ec.europa.eu/products/gam/

⁶ https://www.webmap.cn/main.do?method=index

2.3. Analysis of epidemiological characteristics of ST

The Joinpoint regression model is mainly used to analyze the trend change characteristics of the time series data. Its dependent variables for applicable data mainly include the number of cases, incidence rate, or composition ratio, etc. It can be selected when the type of data distribution conforms to a normal, exponential or Poisson distribution (35). This method has been widely used since its introduction (25, 36). In this study, Joinpoint regression model was employed to examine the incidence trends from 2006 to 2021 and to calculate the annual percentage change. The annual incidence rates were calculated by dividing the number of ST cases by the gross population of a given year. The population data were obtained from the Sichuan Provincial Bureau of Statistics (37).

As a spatial statistical method, global spatial autocorrelation has been used to describe the relationship between study regions, measuring the degree of aggregation or dispersion (38, 39). In brief, if the Moran index is greater than 0, the distribution is spatially aggregated. If the Moran's I index is less than 0, the distribution is spatially dispersing. If the Moran's I Index is equal to 0, the distribution is spatially random. In this study, the global spatial autocorrelation method was used to investigate the spatial correlation of scrub typhus at county level in Sichuan Province each year.

Joinpoint version 4.9.1.0 was used to examine the incidence trends, ArcGIS version 10.3 was used for spatial analysis, data drawing and model output.

2.4. Assessment of the risk factors of ST occurrence

The boosting regression tree (BRT) model integrates the advantages of both regression tree model and boosting tree model. Through continuous self-learning and optimization, prediction models are built to evaluate the characteristics and outcomes of predicted unknown data (40, 41). Such models are increasingly being used to predict disease risk (32, 42). In this study, the BRT model was employed to assess the risk factors of ST occurrence. The database of contributing variables of ST were employed as the predictors for ST occurrence. The 64 counties that reported ST cases were defined as the case group, while the 119 counties that did not report ST cases were considered as the control group. The control group were randomly sampled for 300 times at a casecontrol ratio of 1:1 to construct 300 datasets together with the case group. For each dataset, training samples and verification samples accounted for 75 and 25%, respectively. We fitted a BRT model to each dataset and calculated the average contribution and response curves of each contributing variables and the average of the possible prevalence probability of ST in each county. The modeling process was performed using the "dismo" and "gbm" packages in the R statistical programming environment. The primary parameters were set as follows: tree complexity=4, learning rate = 0.005, bag fraction = 0.75, the distribution type is "Bernoulli," with others kept as default values (40). The area under the curve (AUC) was used to judge the accuracy and robustness of the model. R statistical software version 4.2.2 was used for model construction.

3. Results

3.1. Epidemiological features

It has been reported that there were 6,338 ST cases in Sichuan Province from 2006 to 2021, including 304 (4.80%) laboratory confirmed cases and 6,034 (95.20%) clinically diagnosed cases. The incidence rates increased over time, from 0.03 per 100,000 in 2006 to 1.12 per 100,000 in 2021 (Table 1). In accordance with the results of Joinpoint regression model, the annual percentage change in incidence was 15.67% (95% CI 10.78–20.76%, p < 0.001) (Figure 1).

The median age of the patients was 40 years (interquartile range [IQR], 15-54), increasing from 28 years (IQR, 9-41) in 2006 to 44 years (IQR, 17-56) in 2021. Among them, the median age of clinically diagnosed cases was 40 years (IQR, 13-55), and that of confirmed cases was 38 years (IQR, 13-55). Moreover, the 40-59 age group accounted for the largest number of cases (34.22%), The incidence rates were highest in 0-9 age group, followed by 50-59 age group, which were 0.77/100,000 and 0.63/100,000, respectively. During the study period, there were more cases reported in females. The ratio of male to female of the patients was 0.88, dropping from 1.2 in 2006 to 0.91 in 2021. Among them, this ratio of clinically diagnosed cases was 0.89, and that of confirmed cases was 0.83. Furthermore, the mean incidence rates were also higher in females (0.52/100,000) than in males (0.45/100,000). Among all ages, the incidence rates were higher in females vs. in males, except for the 0-9 and 10-19 age groups. The epidemiological surveillance of different occupations revealed that the number of cases was the largest in farmers, accounting for 67.61%. Among them, the proportion of farmers among clinically diagnosed cases and confirmed cases was 67.6 and 67.4%, respectively, both accounting for the highest percentage. Similar to the previous results of the age-specific incidence, the number of cases was also large among scattered and preschool children (14.01%) and students (13.00%). The majority of cases (75.91%) were diagnosed 3 days after the onset of illness, and approximately half of these cases were diagnosed 7 days after the onset of illness (Table 1).

3.2. Spatial and temporal distribution

Most ST cases were distributed from June to October each year, peaking in August. A total of 95.38% of the cases occurred between June and October from 2006 to 2021. During the study period, almost all cases (97.27%) occurred in the Panxi Region, including Panzhihua and Liangshan Prefecture. The epidemic has slowly expanded to the northwest and northeast since 2015, and the number of affected counties increased from 13 in 2006 to 43 in 2021. Until 2021, a total of 19 cities (90.48%) and 64 counties (34.97%) had reported ST cases in Sichuan Province (Details were displayed in Figure 2). The global spatial autocorrelation analysis revealed that the incidence rates exhibited characteristics of clustering in each year, indicating a positive spatial correlation (Table 2).

TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of ST cases in Sichuan (37).

Features	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	Total
No. confirmed cases	2	0	11	4	13	6	5	13	28	29	25	18	16	12	79	43	304
No. probable	20	15	131	178	331	207	204	277	283	207	472	557	918	592	744	898	6,034
cases Incidence (1/100,000)	0.03	0.02	0.17	0.22	0.42	0.26	0.26	0.36	0.38	0.29	0.61	0.70	1.13	0.72	0.98	1.12	0.48
Sex																	
Male	12	6	71	95	173	98	106	116	157	109	237	265	432	277	369	449	2,972
Female	10	9	71	87	171	115	103	174	154	127	260	310	502	327	454	492	3,366
Age	1			1			1						1				
0-9	6	3	33	45	67	38	44	53	62	58	89	92	130	116	137	150	1,123
10-19	3	2	14	17	43	24	22	34	33	18	48	67	112	66	90	104	697
20-29	2	0	20	7	27	18	13	22	15	14	39	49	93	59	78	79	535
30-39	5	2	20	35	45	28	26	29	36	29	58	58	105	75	96	94	741
40-49	1	1	13	33	66	45	36	70	67	42	113	113	158	89	134	139	1,120
50-59	3	4	26	24	41	23	31	43	45	37	74	100	147	104	144	203	1,049
60-69	2	2	12	11	40	28	26	21	31	26	53	60	123	61	94	101	691
70-79	0	1	3	10	14	7	9	15	18	10	17	29	56	31	42	64	326
≥80	0	0	1	0	1	2	2	3	4	2	6	7	10	3	8	7	56
Occupation	1			1			1						1				
Farmer	8	11	95	111	221	140	137	191	204	150	342	412	682	408	572	601	4,285
Scattered and preschool children	2	2	25	35	56	32	34	48	55	45	73	70	100	84	113	114	888
Student	6	2	19	24	49	28	30	35	36	25	54	73	123	89	104	127	824
Others	6	0	3	12	18	13	8	16	16	16	28	20	29	23	34	99	341
Time from illnes	ss onset to dia	gnosis, d															
<3	2	6	31	45	82	55	45	51	56	47	123	173	234	150	199	228	1,527
3-7	13	5	66	85	160	87	92	128	150	124	243	197	367	247	283	332	2,579
≥7	7	4	45	52	102	71	72	111	105	65	131	205	333	207	341	381	2,232
No. in endemic county	13	5	14	19	22	17	13	19	19	14	23	24	32	35	34	43	64

Zhang et al.

3.3. Risk assessment of the spatial distribution

The validation statistics showed that The AUC value of the training data was 0.990 ± 0.011 s.e. and the validation data were 0.916 ± 0.019 s.e., suggesting that the BRT model in the current analysis can provide a good predictive accuracy. Variables including the scrub, precipitation, farmland and maximum temperature were considered as important predictors with a total contribution of 57.05% to the BRT model (Relative contribution for each variable: scrub, 20.84% ± 2.27% s.e.; precipitation, 12.52% ± 1.94% s.e.; farmland, $12.10\% \pm 3.01\%$ s.e.; maximum temperature, $11.59\% \pm 2.90\%$ s.e.) As the most contributing variable, the risk of ST increased sharply in areas with scrub cover, while there was no further increase in risk when the proportion of scrub exceeded 2%. Furthermore, the farmland and maximum temperature were both positively correlated with the risk of the disease, a rapid rise in the risk was noted when the area of farmland exceeded 20% or the temperature was higher than 17°C. Conversely, a negative correlation was detected between the precipitation and the risk of



morbidity. When the precipitation was 70-80 mm, the risk of the disease was the highest. In addition, other variables that contributed to this model were grassland, forest, minimum temperature, wetland, and GDP (Relative contribution for each variable: grassland, 6.74±2.47%s.e.; forest, 6.41%±2.91%s.e.; minimum temperature, 5.83% ± 2.49%s.e.; wetland, 5.60% ± 2.84%s.e.; GDP, $5.10\% \pm 2.41\%$ s.e.). On the contrary, variables including sunshine, urban accessibility, and elevation did not contribute significantly to this model (Relative contribution for each variable: sunshine, 4.92% ± 2.47% s.e.; urban accessibility, 4.22% ± 1.96% s.e.; elevation, $4.13\% \pm 2.03\%$ s.e.) (Details were displayed in Figure 3).

3.4. Infection risk areas

Infection risk areas in Sichuan Province were mapped on the basis of the correlation between variables and ST in the BRT model. The areas with the highest risk of ST were concentrated in Liangshan, Panzhihua, Bazhong, and northern Guangyuan, of which Liangshan and Panzhihua were the traditional endemic areas. A small number of cases have been recorded in Bazhong and Guangyuan, however, a higher transmission risk was predicated in these zones. Moreover, our study found that some areas without case report detected a high risk of transmission, including Chengdu, Deyang, Mianyang, Ya 'an in the central plain, and parts of Neijiang and Luzhou counties in southern Sichuan (Details were displayed in Figure 4).

The population size of the potential risk areas was computed by combining the predicated map with the population data of the seventh census. First, the areas with risk level above the threshold value of 0.5 were defined as the potential risk areas for ST occurrence. Then, the population data was overlaid on the potential risk areas to compute the population at risk. There were approximately 32.315 million people in the potential risk areas in Sichuan Province, accounting for 38.62% of the total population. All the people in Liangshan, Panzhihua, Bazhong and Guangyuan were at risk of transmission, and higher proportion of people living in Neijiang, Luzhou, Ziyang and Deyang were also at risk (Population proportion: 69.05% in Neijiang, 44.52% in Luzhou, 41.19% in Ziyang, 40.10% in Deyang).



from 2006 to 2021. CP, Chengdu Plain; S, Southern Sichuan; NE, Northeastern Sichuan; NW, Northwestern Sichuan; PX, Panxi region.

TABLE 2 Global spatial autocorrelation analysis of ST in Sichuan (37).

Year	Moran's I	Z-score	<i>p</i> -value
2006	0.48	12.24	<0.001
2007	0.08	7.00	< 0.001
2008	0.32	9.21	< 0.001
2009	0.09	7.14	< 0.001
2010	0.25	6.57	<0.001
2011	0.25	8.14	<0.001
2012	0.26	8.47	<0.001
2013	0.21	9.42	<0.001
2014	0.32	9.17	<0.001
2015	0.21	6.02	< 0.001
2016	0.26	6.99	<0.001
2017	0.19	5.07	<0.001
2018	0.31	8.28	< 0.001
2019	0.30	7.81	<0.001
2020	0.30	7.71	<0.001
2021	0.27	6.97	<0.001

4. Discussion

Based on the long-term surveillance data of ST in Sichuan Province, we comprehensively overviewed the epidemiological characteristics of the disease in Sichuan from 2006 to 2021. Then the BRT model was employed to identify variables that make sense and estimate the risk areas of ST occurrence.

ST is a mite-borne disease caused by *Orientia tsutsugamushi* (43). Generally, ST is transmitted by chigger (larval mites), which feed on rodents, such as rats, rabbits, and birds. The chiggers are both the vector and the natural reservoir. ST is spread to human through bites of infected chiggers. After infection, pathogens spread along the blood stream, invading vascular endothelial cells and macrophages (Figure 5). Similar to the symptoms and complications reported in other countries (44, 45), symptoms of ST usually appear within 10 days of being bitten, may include: fever, headache, muscle pain, a dark eschar at the bite site, enlarged lymph nodes, and rash (46, 47). Furthermore, complications usually involve the lungs, liver and cardiovascular system, causing dysfunction and even life-threatening in severe cases (48). For people at risk, prevention and control of ST is essential, and for infected patients, early diagnosis and treatment will determine the prognosis of the disease.







Since ST was listed as a reported disease by the National Notifiable Disease Reporting Information System in 2006, the reported incidence rates of ST in Sichuan Province have increased dramatically. In 2009, the Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention issued the technical guidelines for the prevention and control of this disease, and more cases were discovered. With the in-depth understanding of the disease, scholars gradually realized the impact of natural environment and socioeconomic variables on the spread and transmission of the disease, and managed to estimate the risk of disease through scientific methods and provide targeted prevention and control measures (25, 32, 42, 49, 50).

In this study, we noted that the incidence rates were relatively higher in preschoolers and boys were more susceptible than girls, which are supposed to be related to the fact that boys are more interested in outdoor play and sports. However, the majority of adult cases among adults were the older adult engaged in agriculture, and the incidence rates were higher in females. Commonly, youth and older adult male population in rural areas choose to work in cities for higher incomes, while elder women remain in the countryside, doing most of the agricultural work and taking care of the children. As everyone knows, the transmission of ST depends on the hosts and vectors. Staying in the grasslands and fields can increase the exposure to rodent hosts and chigger mites (32), leading to an increase in risk of ST. These findings are partially consistent with the study conducted by Yu et al. (31), who found that the number of ST cases in Jiangsu Province presented an inverted-U relation with age, moreover, the susceptible population of ST were farmers. Therefore, personal protection and health education to farmers and child guardians is recommended in risk areas to reduce the risk of infection.

The current study found that ST has obvious seasonality and clustering properties, and outbreaks are more likely to occur in the Panxi area in summer and autumn each year, which could be due to the differences in the distribution of chigger mites. According to the record, Panzhihua and Liangshan prefecture were the foci of ST. A variety of chigger mites were widely distributed in local areas, of which Leptotrombidium tsutsugamushi was the dominant species, and its activity peaked in the hot season ranging from June to September each year (51), which is consistent with our findings. Furthermore, the current study found that the risk areas increased rapidly and gradually spread to the economically developed urban plain areas, which may be associated with the growing demand for people to choose to go to the wild or parks for outdoor exercise. Another possible explanation is the increased number of the chigger mites and rodent hosts in cities, after all, it has been confirmed that both hosts and vectors can inhabit in urban environment (11). Taken together, it is recommended that necessary steps were supposed to be adopt to reduce the densities of rodents and chigger mites in endemic areas during the epidemic season, and personal protection and health education should be strengthened for travelers entering endemic areas.

The BRT model was employed to examine the correlation between variables and ST occurrence. The relative contribution of the scrub was observed to be high in the BRT model, suggesting the crucial role of land type in ST occurrence. Similar results were also reported by Hongwu Yao et al. (50), who found that scrub and grass land were the primary factors affecting the epidemic of scrub typhus in South natural foci in southern China. In general, scrub can be used as a platform for the activity of chigger mite larvae after hatching, and provide a suitable habitat for rodent hosts. In accordance with the land cover dataset, the scrub is primarily concentrated in Panxi area, which may partially explain the high incidence rates of ST in Panxi area. Moreover, previous research has demonstrated that the secondary vegetation types with changes in ecological environment provided ideal conditions for the survival and reproduction of tsutsugamushi (52). Hence, densely vegetated places near residences, villages, and ridges and ditches are considered to be the main places of tsutsugamushi infection (42). These are the regions we need to focus on to eliminate hosts and cut off transmission routes.

Previous study reported that ST occurrence is related to meteorological variables (34). The alterations of the meteorological variables such as temperature, precipitation and sunshine can not only alter chigger mite abundance, but also affect human behavior directly (35, 36). In the current analysis, a positive correlation was noted

between maximum temperature and ST occurrence. Usually, rising temperatures provide a suitable living environment for hosts and vectors, and human activities increase as well. The main epidemic seasons for ST in Sichuan are summer and autumn (32). As temperatures rise, people spend more time in the field and their clothing becomes thinner, which increases the potential for human contact with chiggers or rats. In the current study, we noted that the Panxi region had the highest incidence of ST. The climate is primarily subtropical, with an average temperature above 20°C, which is suitable for the survival and reproduction of both host animals and chiggers. This is also relatively close to the prevailing suitable temperature proved by this study. In addition, a negative correlation was detected between precipitation and ST occurrence, which contradicts the understanding that humid environment is more conducive to chigger mite reproduction and thus increasing the risk of transmission. One possible explanation is that high humidity is detrimental to the life cycle of mites (50). In addition, several previous studies explained this phenomenon in terms of the interaction between human behavior and surrounding environment (32), namely, people were more inclined to be outside in the dry season vs. in the rainy season. Therefore, personal protection to reduce or avoid exposure to chigger mites is an effective measure for the prevention of ST.

There were more than 30 million people living in the potential risk areas in Sichuan Province. Especially those living in Liangshan, Panzhihua, Bazhong and Guangyuan. Moreover, some areas without case report detected a high risk of transmission, suggesting that surveillance in these places should be strengthened immediately.

Two limitations were noted in this research. First, our data come from a passive monitoring system, and there may be under-reporting and mis-reporting that affect the accuracy of the data. Second, we constructed our model without the use of vectors and hosts data, which are thought to be important variables affecting disease transmission. The next step is to collect more information on cases, pathogens, hosts, and vectors, including data on *O. tsutsugamushi* genotypes and the accurate distribution of Leptotrombidium mite species, and to conduct more detailed studies to formulate prevention and control.

In conclusion, we comprehensively evaluate the epidemiological characteristics of ST in Sichuan. For the first time, the BRT model was employed to investigate the underlying relationship of ST with meteorological, environmental and social variables in Sichuan Province. Many counties in Sichuan Province were estimated to be susceptible to ST. Our found can determine the priorities of disease control to achieve precise and effective allocation of resources.

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found below: The data of scrub typhus cases were available from China's National Statutory Infections Disease Reporting Information System. Demographic data was obtained from the seventh population census of the National Bureau of Statistics of China (http://www.stats.gov.cn/). The meteorological data was obtained from the National Earth System Science Data Center, National Science and Technology Infrastructure of China (http://www.geodata.cn). the altitude data of each county were obtained from

the Global Change Research Data Publishing and Repository (http:// www.geodoi.ac.cn). The 1 km grid GDP datasets of Sichuan Province in 2019 were obtained from the Resource and Environmental Science and Data Center (https://www.resdc.cn). The gridded urban accessibility dataset was obtained from the Joint Research Centre of the European Commission (https://forobs.jrc.ec.europa.eu/products/ gam/). The maps of administrative divisions at county level comes from the National Catalog Service for Geographic Information (https://www.webmap.cn/main.do?method=index).

Author contributions

CY, RW, and YZ had the idea for the article. Data analysis was performed by YZ, MZ, and YQ. The first draft of the manuscript was written by YZ and MZ. YZ, MZ, YQ, LZ, DK, RW, and CY commented on previous versions of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This study was supported by the National Institutes of Health (award no. 5RO1AI125842-02), Chongqing Science and Technology Program (cstc2020jscxcylhX0003), and Sichuan Science and Technology Program (2022YFS0641 and 2022YFS0052).

References

1. Bonell A, Lubell Y, Newton PN, Crump JA, Paris DH. Estimating the burden of scrub typhus: a systematic review. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2017) 11:e5838. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005838

2. Luce-Fedrow A, Lehman ML, Kelly DJ, Mullins K, Maina AN, Stewart RL, et al. A review of scrub typhus (Orientia tsutsugamushi and related organisms): then, now, and tomorrow. *Trop Med Infect Dis.* (2018) 3:8. doi: 10.3390/tropicalmed 3010008

3. Elliott I, Pearson I, Dahal P, Thomas NV, Roberts T, Newton PN. Scrub typhus ecology: a systematic review of Orientia in vectors and hosts. *Filaria J*. (2019) 12:513. doi: 10.1186/s13071-019-3751-x

4. Jamil M, Lyngrah KG, Lyngdoh M, Hussain M. Clinical manifestations and complications of scrub typhus: a hospital based study from north eastern India. *J Assoc Physicians India*. (2014) 62:19–23.

5. Deshpande GA, Mittal R, Jesudasan MR, Perakath B. Surgical manifestations of scrub typhus: a diagnostic dilemma. *Natl Med J India*. (2015) 28:12–3.

6. Hamaguchi S, Cuong NC, Tra DT, Doan YH, Shimizu K, Tuan NQ, et al. Clinical and epidemiological characteristics of scrub typhus and murine typhus among hospitalized patients with acute undifferentiated fever in northern Vietnam. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2015) 92:972–8. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.14-0806

7. Varghese GM, Abraham OC, Mathai D, Thomas K, Aaron R, Kavitha ML, et al. Scrub typhus among hospitalised patients with febrile illness in South India: magnitude and clinical predictors. *J Infect*. (2006) 52:56–60. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2005.02.001

8. Taylor AJ, Paris DH, Newton PN. A systematic review of mortality from untreated scrub typhus (*Orientia tsutsugamushi*). *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2015) 9:e3971. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0003971

9. Swain SK, Sahu BP, Panda S, Sarangi R. Molecular characterization and evolutionary analysis of *Orientia tsutsugamushi* in eastern Indian population. *Arch Microbiol.* (2022) 204:221. doi: 10.1007/s00203-022-02823-y

10. Yang LP, Liu J, Wang XJ, Ma W, Jia CX, Jiang BF. Effects of meteorological factors on scrub typhus in a temperate region of China. *Epidemiol Infect*. (2014) 142:2217–26. doi: 10.1017/S0950268813003208

11. Park SW, Ha NY, Ryu B, Bang JH, Song H, Kim Y, et al. Urbanization of scrub typhus disease in South Korea. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2015) 9:e3814. doi: 10.1371/journal. pntd.0003814

12. Xu G, Walker DH, Jupiter D, Melby PC, Arcari CM. A review of the global epidemiology of scrub typhus. *Plos Neglect Trop D.* (2017) 11:e6062. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0006062

Acknowledgments

The authors want to thank the family for their support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1177578/ full#supplementary-material

13. Walker DH. Scrub typhus — scientific neglect, ever-widening impact. N Engl J Med Overseas Ed. (2016) 375:913–5. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp1608499

14. Prakash J. Scrub typhus: risks, diagnostic issues, and management challenges. *Res Rep Trop Med.* (2017) 8:73–83. doi: 10.2147/RRTM.S105602

15. Lee HW, Cho PY, Moon SU, Na BK, Kang YJ, Sohn Y, et al. Current situation of scrub typhus in South Korea from 2001-2013. *Filaria J.* (2015) 8:238. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0858-6

16. Ranjan J, Prakash J. Scrub typhus re-emergence in India: contributing factors and way forward. *Med Hypotheses*. (2018) 115:61–4. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2018.03.019

17. Izzard L, Fuller A, Blacksell SD, Paris DH, Richards AL, Aukkanit N, et al. Isolation of a novel Orientia species (O. chuto sp. nov.) from a patient infected in Dubai. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2010) 48:4404–9. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01526-10

18. Maina AN, Farris CM, Odhiambo A, Jiang J, Laktabai J, Armstrong J, et al. Q fever, scrub typhus, and Rickettsial diseases in children, Kenya, 2011-2012. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 22:883–6. doi: 10.3201/eid2205.150953

19. Weitzel T, Dittrich S, López J, Phuklia W, Martinez-Valdebenito C, Velásquez K, et al. Endemic scrub typhus in South America. *New Engl J Med.* (2016) 375:954–61. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1603657

20. Paris DH, Shelite TR, Day NP, Walker DH. Unresolved problems related to scrub typhus: a seriously neglected life-threatening disease. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2013) 89:301–7. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.13-0064

21. Zhang S, Song H, Liu Y, Li Q, Wang Y, Wu J, et al. Scrub typhus in previously unrecognized areas of endemicity in China. *J Clin Microbiol.* (2010) 48:1241–4. doi: 10.1128/JCM.01784-09

22. Zhang M, Wang XJ, Zhao ZT. Current epidemic status and issues on prevention and control of scrub typhus. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi*. (2011) 32:419–23. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2011.04.021

23. Liu YX, Jia N, Suo JJ, Xing YB, Liu G, Xiao HJ, et al. Characteristics of pediatric scrub typhus in a new endemic region of northern China. *Pediatr Infect Dis J*. (2009) 28:1111–4. doi: 10.1097/INF.0b013e3181af8287

24. Yue Y, Ren D, Liu X, Wang Y, Liu Q, Li G. Spatio-temporal patterns of scrub typhus in mainland China, 2006-2017. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2019) 13:e7916. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0007916

25. Li Z, Xin H, Sun J, Lai S, Zeng L, Zheng C, et al. Epidemiologic changes of scrub typhus in China, 1952-2016. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2020) 26:1091–101. doi: 10.3201/eid2606.191168

26. Zhang WY, Wang LY, Ding F, Hu WB, Soares MR, Sun HL, et al. Scrub typhus in mainland China, 2006-2012: the need for targeted public health interventions. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2013) 7:e2493. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0002493

27. Wei Y, Huang Y, Li X, Ma Y, Tao X, Wu X, et al. Climate variability, animal reservoir and transmission of scrub typhus in southern China. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2017) 11:e5447. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0005447

28. Luo Y, Zhang L, Lv H, Zhu C, Ai L, Qi Y, et al. How meteorological factors impacting on scrub typhus incidences in the main epidemic areas of 10 provinces, China, 2006-2018. *Front Public Health*. (2022) 10:992555. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022. 992555

29. Liu YQ, Zhou XY, Hao CX, Liao XC, Yuan H, Liu LG. Epidemiological characteristics of scrub typhus in Sichuan Province from 2015 to 2021. *Chin J Hyg Insect Equip.* (2022) 28:254–7. doi: 10.19821/j.1671-2781.2022.03.017

30. Panda S, Swain SK, Sahu BP, Sarangi R. Gene expression and involvement of signaling pathways during host-pathogen interplay in *Orientia tsutsugamushi* infection. *Biotech.* (2022) 12:180. doi: 10.1007/s13205-022-03239-7

31. Yu H, Sun C, Liu W, Li Z, Tan Z, Wang X, et al. Scrub typhus in Jiangsu Province, China: epidemiologic features and spatial risk analysis. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2018) 18:372. doi: 10.1186/s12879-018-3271-x

32. Zheng C, Jiang D, Ding F, Fu J, Hao M. Spatiotemporal patterns and risk factors for scrub typhus from 2007 to 2017 in southern China. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2019) 69:1205–11. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciy1050

33. Sichuan Statistical Yearbook (2021). Sichuan provincial bureau of statistics. Available at: (http://tjj.sc.gov.cn/scstjj/c105855/nj.shtml).

34. National guideline of scrub typhus control and prevention. *Chinese Center for Disease Control and Prevention*. China. (2009).

35. Li H, Du L. Application of Joinpoint regression model in cancer epidemiological time trend analysis. *Chin J Prev Med.* (2020) 8:908–12. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn112150-20200616-00889

36. Arnold M, Rutherford MJ, Bardot A, Ferlay J, Andersson TM, Myklebust TÅ, et al. Progress in cancer survival, mortality, and incidence in seven high-income countries 1995-2014 (ICBP SURVMARK-2): a population-based study. *Lancet Oncol.* (2019) 20:1493–505. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30456-5

37. Sichuan provincial Bureau of Statistics. (2006–2021). Available at: http://tjj.sc.gov. cn/scstjj/c105855/nj.shtml ().

38. Zhang Y, Zhang M, Kang D, Sun W, Yang C, Wei R. Spatio-temporal analysis of bacillary dysentery in Sichuan province, China, 2011-2019. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2021) 21:1033. doi: 10.1186/s12879-021-06738-9

39. Flahaut B, Mouchart M, San ME, Thomas I. The local spatial autocorrelation and the kernel method for identifying black zones: a comparative approach. *Accident Anal Prev.* (2003) 35:991–1004. doi: 10.1016/S0001-4575(02)00107-0

40. Messina JP, Kraemer MU, Brady OJ, Pigott DM, Shearer FM, Weiss DJ, et al. Mapping global environmental suitability for Zika virus. *elife*. (2016) 5:5. doi: 10.7554/ eLife.15272

41. Elith J, Leathwick JR, Hastie T. A working guide to boosted regression trees. J Anim Ecol. (2008) 77:802–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2656.2008.01390.x

42. Xin H, Fu P, Sun J, Lai S, Hu W, Clements A, et al. Risk mapping of scrub typhus infections in Qingdao city, China. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2020) 14:e8757. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0008757

43. Pham XD, Otsuka Y, Suzuki H, Takaoka H. Detection of Orientia tsutsugamushi (Rickettsiales: rickettsiaceae) in unengorged chiggers (Acari: Trombiculidae) from Oita prefecture, Japan, by nested polymerase chain reaction. J Med Entomol. (2001) 38:308–11. doi: 10.1603/0022-2585-38.2.308

44. Park SW, Lee CS, Kim JH, Bae IG, Moon C, Kwak YG, et al. Severe fever with thrombocytopenia syndrome: comparison with scrub typhus and clinical diagnostic prediction. *BMC Infect Dis.* (2019) 19:174. doi: 10.1186/s12879-019-3773-1

45. Kinoshita H, Arima Y, Shigematsu M, Sunagawa T, Saijo M, Oishi K, et al. Descriptive epidemiology of rickettsial infections in Japan: scrub typhus and Japanese spotted fever, 2007-2016. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2021) 105:560–6. doi: 10.1016/j. ijid.2021.02.069

46. Wang Y, Li M, Xu W, Wang Y, Qian R, Zhao W, et al. Analysis of the clinical characteristics of severe tsutsugamushi disease in Yunnan Province from 2017 to 2018. *Zhonghua Wei Zhong Bing Ji Jiu Yi Xue*. (2019) 31:1018–23. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.2095-4352.2019.08.021

47. Guan XG, Wei YH, Jiang BG, Zhou SX, Zhang AR, Lu QB, et al. Clinical characteristics and risk factors for severe scrub typhus in pediatric and elderly patients. *Plos Neglect Trop D*. (2022) 16:e10357. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0010357

48. Rajapakse S, Rodrigo C, Fernando D. Scrub typhus: pathophysiology, clinical manifestations and prognosis. *Asian Pac J Trop Med.* (2012) 5:261–4. doi: 10.1016/S1995-7645(12)60036-4

49. Liu J, Li S, Ouyang Z, Tam C, Chen X. Ecological and socioeconomic effects of China's policies for ecosystem services. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. (2008) 105:9477–82. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0706436105

50. Yao H, Wang Y, Mi X, Sun Y, Liu K, Li X, et al. The scrub typhus in mainland China: spatiotemporal expansion and risk prediction underpinned by complex factors. *Emerg Microbes Infect*. (2019) 8:909–19. doi: 10.1080/22221751.2019.1631719

51. Li B, Guo XG, Ren TG, Peng PY, Song WY, Lv Y, et al. Analysis on infestation and related ecology of chigger mites on large Chinese voles (*Eothenomys miletus*) in five provincial regions of Southwest China. *Int J Parasitol Parasites Wildl.* (2022) 19:169–79. doi: 10.1016/j.ijppaw.2022.08.013

52. Traub R, Wisseman CJ. The ecology of chigger-borne rickettsiosis (scrub typhus). J Med Entomol. (1974) 11:237-303. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/11.3.237

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Shahid Karim, University of Southern Mississippi, United States

REVIEWED BY Yuemei Dong, Johns Hopkins University, United States Jessica Molina-Franky, Beckman Research Institute, City of Hope, United States

*CORRESPONDENCE Daiki Mizushima Mmizushima@jichi.ac.jp

RECEIVED 21 February 2023 ACCEPTED 28 June 2023 PUBLISHED 20 July 2023

CITATION

Mizushima D, Yamamoto DS, Tabbabi A, Arai M and Kato H (2023) A rare sugar, allose, inhibits the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in the *Anopheles* mosquito independently of midgut microbiota. *Front. Cell. Infect. Microbiol.* 13:1162918. doi: 10.3389/fcimb.2023.1162918

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Mizushima, Yamamoto, Tabbabi, Arai and Kato. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

A rare sugar, allose, inhibits the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in the *Anopheles* mosquito independently of midgut microbiota

Daiki Mizushima^{1*}, Daisuke S. Yamamoto¹, Ahmed Tabbabi¹, Meiji Arai² and Hirotomo Kato¹

¹Division of Medical Zoology, Department of Infection and Immunity, Jichi Medical University, Tochigi, Japan, ²Department of International Medical Zoology, Faculty of Medicine, Kagawa University, Kita-gun, Kagawa, Japan

A rare sugar, allose, was reported to inhibit the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in Anopheles mosquitoes; however, the mechanism remains unknown. The present study addressed the inhibitory mechanism of allose on the development of the Plasmodium parasite by connecting it with bacteria involvement in the midgut. In addition, further inhibitory sugars against Plasmodium infection in mosquitoes were explored. Antibiotic-treated and antibiotic-untreated Anopheles stephensi were fed fructose with or without allose. The mosquitoes were infected with luciferase-expressing Plasmodium berghei, and parasite development was evaluated by luciferase activity. Bacterial composition analysis in gut of their mosquitoes was performed with comprehensive 16S ribosomal RNA sequencing. As the result, allose inhibited the development of oocysts in mosquitoes regardless of prior antibiotic treatment. Microbiome analysis showed that the midgut bacterial composition in mosquitoes before and after blood feeding was not affected by allose. Although allose inhibited transient growth of the midgut microbiota of mosquitoes after blood feeding, neither toxic nor inhibitory effects of allose on the dominant midgut bacteria were observed. Ookinete development in the mosquito midgut was also not affected by allose feeding. Additional 15 sugars including six monosaccharides, four polyols, and five polysaccharides were tested; however, no inhibitory effect against Plasmodium development in mosquitoes was observed. These results indicated that allose inhibits parasite development in midgut stage of the mosquito independently of midgut microbiota. Although further studies are needed, our results suggest that allose may be a useful material for the vector control of malaria as a "transmissionblocking sugar."

KEYWORDS

allose, microbiota, midgut, Anopheles, Plasmodium, luciferase assay, next-generation sequencing

1 Introduction

Malaria is a life-threatening disease caused by *Plasmodium* parasites, with the estimated number of deaths reaching 627,000 per year in 2020 (World Health Organization (WHO), 2021). *Plasmodium* parasites are transmitted by *Anopheles* mosquitoes, ubiquitously distributing in endemic areas (Moffett et al., 2007; Autino et al., 2012). Vector control is a cornerstone in malaria control, owing to the lack of reliable vaccines, the emergence of drug resistance, and unaffordable potent antimalarials. Studies on transmission-blocking strategies, which aim to interrupt the life cycle of the *Plasmodium* species within mosquitoes, are progressing, and elucidation of more detailed transmission mechanisms including interaction between *Anopheles* mosquitoes and *Plasmodium* is expected.

The midgut of the mosquito is important not only for digestion and uptake of nutrients but also as the entry site of pathogens including Plasmodium parasites. When Anopheles mosquitoes ingest Plasmodium-infected blood from the host, parasites mate and develop into motile ookinetes within 16-20 h (Blandin et al., 2004). Ookinetes traverse across the midgut epithelium within 24 h after the feeding and transform into oocysts on the basal side of the midgut (Baton and Ranford-Cartwright, 2004; Blandin et al., 2004). Sporozoites develop and proliferate within oocysts over about the next 10 days. The sporozoites released from oocysts invade the salivary glands, in which they wait for transmission to the next host via a mosquito bite (Blandin et al., 2004; Frischknecht et al., 2004). The early phase of the parasite infection, from ingestion to invasion into midgut epithelium, is the bottleneck for the parasite in the mosquito cycle and, therefore, is considered to be a suitable target for a transmission-blocking strategy.

Mosquitoes develop protective mechanisms against infectious agents in the midgut, which include the immune system and biological barriers. Parasite invasion and development in the midgut are affected by immune-related factors such as thioestercontaining protein 1 (TEP1) (Blandin et al., 2004; Osta, 2004; Dong et al., 2006; Baxter et al., 2010; Povelones et al., 2011) and antimicrobial peptides such as gambicin regulated by the immune deficiency (IMD) pathway through transcription factor Rel2 (Vizioli et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2006), as well as nitric oxide and reactive oxygen species (ROS) induced by invasion of gut epithelium (Luckhart et al., 1998; Molina-Cruz et al., 2008). In addition, malaria parasites are continuously exposed to microbes in the mosquito gut. This naturally acquired microbial flora can modulate the mosquito's vectorial capacity. Comprehensive functional approaches have been undertaken to elucidate the interplay between commensal bacteria and the development of the malaria parasite in its natural vector. Mosquitoes treated with antibiotics, which diminish bacteria quantity, are known to be more susceptible to Plasmodium parasite infection (Dong et al., 2009). Administration of some characterized bacteria, such as Enterobacter sp. and Serratia marcescens, reduced the development of Plasmodium oocysts by eliciting anti-Plasmodium immunity in mosquitoes (Cirimotich et al., 2011; Bando et al., 2013; Bahia et al., 2014).

In nature, both male and female *Anopheles* mosquitoes ordinarily ingest sugars from floral nectar, but only females suck

blood at a time of reproduction. Sugars function not only as an energy source but also as prebiotics for gut microbiota. As examples, oligosaccharides, which are composed of two to 10 monosaccharides, improve the host gastrointestinal condition by promoting beneficial microbiota (Mano et al., 2018), and polyols and hydrogenated carbohydrates are known to affect the ecology of oral microflora and exhibit a cariostatic effect in mammals (Msomi et al., 2021). Sucrose, an oligosaccharide, maintains antiviral immunity in the gut of Aedes aegypti (Almire et al., 2021). A recent study reported that glucose induces the expansion of Asaia bogorensis, a commensal bacterium in the mosquito gut, that remodels glucose metabolism, resulting in the promotion of Plasmodium gametogenesis and parasite infection by increasing the pH of the mosquito midgut (Wang et al., 2021). However, a rare sugar, allose, which has been shown to influence ROS generation in mammalian and plant cells (Murata et al., 2003; Kimura et al., 2005; Kano et al., 2013), was shown to inhibit Plasmodium infection in mosquitoes (Tokuda et al., 2015). Currently, it remains unknown how allose inhibits malarial parasite development and whether it affects commensal bacterium in the mosquito gut.

The present study addressed the inhibitory mechanism of allose on the development of the *Plasmodium* parasite and the involvement of the microbiota in midgut fed allose in its mechanism. In addition, other inhibitory sugars potentially affecting the development of *Plasmodium* were explored.

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Mosquito and malaria parasite maintenance

Anopheles stephensi SDA-500 were maintained at 26°C with 60%-80% relative humidity under the condition of 13-h light/11-h dark at the Jichi Medical University. Larvae were fed with fish food, Hikari (KYORIN Co., Ltd., Hyogo, Japan). Adults were fed on filter paper soaked with 8% fructose (FUJIFILM Wako, Osaka, Japan). Luciferase-expressing P. berghei ANKA234 under the control of elongation factor 1-a promoter (Pb-luc) was injected into an Institute of Cancer Research (ICR) mouse intraperitoneally (Matsuoka et al., 2015). The mouse was intraperitoneally administered 100 µL of pyrimethamine (1 mg/mL) daily. Infected blood was stained with Giemsa's stain solution (Merck KGaA, Darmstadt, Germany) to determine parasitemia. All procedures were carried out in accordance with the ethical guidelines, and this study was approved by the Institutional Animal Experiment Committee of the Jichi Medical University (approval numbers: 20003-01).

2.2 Sugar feeding, antibiotic treatment, and infection of *An stephensi* with *P berghei*

Sixteen sugars—seven monosaccharides (D-glucose, D-fructose, D-galactose, L-sorbose, D-mannose, D-xylose, and D-allose), four polyols (D-sorbitol, xylitol, erythritol, and maltitol),

10.3389/fcimb.2023.1162918

and five oligosaccharides (sucrose, D-lactose, lactulose, D-maltose, and D-raffinose) (Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan)-were used in this study to evaluate their inhibitory effects on the development of Plasmodium. Of these, D-allose, erythritol, L-sorbose, and xylitol are categorized as rare sugars as they are rarely present in nature. Mosquitoes were fed 8% fructose with 100 mM of each abovementioned sugar for 24 h ad libitum and fasted for the following 24 h. The mosquitoes were allowed to feed on Pbluc-infected mice showing 1.5%-2.0% parasitemia for 30 min, and unfed and partially blood-fed mosquitoes were removed from cages. Fully engorged mosquitoes were maintained on 8% (444 mM) fructose containing 100 mM of each sugar for an additional 10 days at 21°C. The concentration of additional sugar was matched with the effective concentration of allose (100 mM) (Tokuda et al., 2015). For the antibiotic treatment, mosquitoes were fed 8% fructose with 100 mM allose containing penicillin (200 U/mL) and streptomycin (200 µg/mL; Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc., Waltham, MA, USA) for 24 h ad libitum. After starvation for the following 24 h, the mosquitoes were allowed to feed on Pb-lucinfected mice showing 10% parasitemia for 30 min. The mosquitoes were maintained as mentioned above. Infection of Pb-luc in mosquitoes fed with the infected blood after 10 days was determined by measuring luciferase activity and by counting oocysts in the midgut (Matsuoka et al., 2015).

2.3 Luciferase assay

Luciferase activity was measured using a Luciferase assay kit according to the manufacturer's protocol (Promega Inc., Madison, WI, USA). Briefly, the whole body of mosquitoes was individually homogenized with disposable homogenizer in a 1.5-mL tube containing cell lysis buffer. The homogenized samples were centrifuged at 15,000 × g for 1 min, and 10 μ L of each supernatant was mixed with 50 μ L of substrate in a 96-well black microplate. Luminescence was measured by a SpectraMax[®] M5 microplate reader (Molecular Devices, LLC., San Jose, CA, USA).

2.4 Effect of allose on *Plasmodium* parasite *ex vivo*

To evaluate the effect of allose on ookinete development, mosquitoes were dissected at 24 h after infection, and midguts were collected. The midgut containing ookinetes was suspended individually in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 medium (Nakarai Tesque Inc., Kyoto, Japan) supplemented with 20% heat-inactivated fetal calf serum, penicillin (100 U/mL), streptomycin (100 μ g/mL; Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.), and 25 mM Hydroxyethylpiperazine ethane sulfonic acid (HEPES) (pH 7.4; Tokyo Chemical Industry Co., Ltd.). The suspension was fixed and stained with Giemsa's stain solution, and, then, ookinetes were counted under a microscope. The number of red blood cells (RBCs) in each sample was also counted to compensate the amount of ingested blood in each mosquito, and the ookinete count per 10⁶ RBCs was determined.

2.5 Midgut sample collection and DNA extraction for microbiota analysis

Mosquitoes were collected on days 1, 3, and 7 post-infection with *Pb*-luc at 21°C and prior to the infection as a control. They were anesthetized on ice, sterilized with 70% ethanol containing 1% hypochlorite, and then rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS). Midguts were taken out and washed with sterilized PBS (–), and 10 midguts were pooled in a 2-mL tube containing 0.5 mL of PBS with 0.1-mm Zirconia/Silica beads (Bio Spec Products Inc., Bartlesville, OK, USA). The midgut samples containing microbiota in the gut were mechanically disrupted by a bead beater (TAITEC Co., Saitama, Japan) at 3,500 rpm for 1 min, and DNA was purified using the ReliaPre DNA Clean-Up and Concentration System (Promega Inc.).

2.6 *16S ribosomal RNA*-based metagenomic analysis of mosquito midgut microbiota

Bacterial 16S ribosomal RNA (16S rRNA) fragments containing hypervariable V3-V4 region were amplified, and index sequences were added by PCR with Tks Gflex DNA polymerase (Takara Bio Inc., Shiga, Japan) using primer sets according to the manufacturer's protocol (https://jp.support.illumina.com/downloads/ 16s_metagenomic_sequencing_library_preparation.html; accessed on 1 February, 2022). The amplified fragments were purified using a FastGene PCR/Gel extraction kit (Nippon Genetics Co., Ltd., Tokyo, Japan), and the concentration was quantified using a Qbit3 Fluorometer with Qbit dsDNA HS assay kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.). Paired-end sequencing analysis was conducted on the MiSeq platform with MiSeq Reagent Kit v3 for 600 cycles (Illumina, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA). Sequence data were trimmed and merged by DADA2 plugin in QIIME2 program version 2020.6 (Callahan et al., 2016; Bolyen et al., 2019). The sequences were clustered in amplicon sequence variants (ASVs) by feature-classifier plugin with the dataset of SILVA version 138 with \geq 99% sequence identity (Quast et al., 2013; Yilmaz et al., 2014; Bokulich et al., 2018). To compare the diversities between groups, beta-diversity analyses with the Bray-Curtis dissimilarity index were performed with the q2-diversity plugin in QIIME2 at a sampling depth of 1,500 (Anderson, 2001).

2.7 Quantification of midgut bacteria in mosquitoes

Midgut bacteria in mosquitoes were quantified by quantitative PCR (qPCR) with KOD -SYBR- (TOYOBO Co., Ltd., Osaka, Japan) using Thermal Cycler Dice Real Time System Lite (Takara Bio Inc.). The bacterial *16S rRNA* was used as the target, and the *An. stephensi glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase* (*Asgapdh*) was used as the reference. The primer sequences were 5'-ACHCCTACGGGDGGCWGCAG-3' (16S-q-337F) and 5'-GTDTYACCGCGGYTGCTGGCAC-3' (16S-q-514R) for amplification of the bacterial 16S rRNA gene and 5'- GCCGTCGGCAAGGTCATCCC-3' (Asgapdh-q-F) and 5'-TTCATCGGTCCGTTGGCGGC-3' (Asgapdh-q-R) for that of the *Asgapdh* (Yamamoto et al., 2016). Relative quantities of *16S rRNA* were determined by the comparative cycle threshold ($\Delta\Delta$ Ct) method using the *Asgapdh* as the reference.

2.8 Isolation and identification of mosquito midgut bacteria

Mosquitoes were anesthetized on ice and washed with 70% ethanol containing 1% hypochlorite followed by sterilized PBS (-). The midgut was removed, rinsed with sterilized PBS (-), and homogenized in 20 µL of sterilized PBS (-). Ten microliters of the homogenate was spread on brain-heart infusion agar plate (Sigma Aldrich Inc., St. Louis, MO, USA), and the plate was incubated at 28°C for 3 days under aerobic and anaerobic conditions. For the identification of bacteria, the bacterial 16S rRNA was amplified with KOD -One- (TOYOBO Co., Ltd.) using a pair of primers: 27F (5'-AGAGTTTGATCCTGGCTCAG-3') and 1492R (5'-GGTTACCTTGTTACGACTT-3') (Delong, 1992). The amplicon was purified using a FastGene PCR/Gel extraction Kit (Nippon Genetics Co., Ltd.), and the sequence was determined by the dideoxy chain termination method with a specific primer, 519F (5'-CAGCMGCCGCGGTAAT-3'), using a BigDye Terminator v.3.1 Cycle Sequencing Kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.). Homology was performed with the nucleotide BLAST tool (https://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi), and a search was conducted of the taxonomic database (https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/taxonomy) of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) database.

2.9 Effect of allose on bacterial growth *in vitro*

A single colony of bacteria isolated from mosquito midgut was cultured in Luria-Bertani (LB) liquid medium at 28°C overnight. A part of the bacterial culture was transferred into LB liquid medium containing 8% fructose with 100 mM glucose or allose, and the optical density at a wavelength of 600 nm (OD_{600}) of the suspensions was adjusted to 0.02 by spectrophotometer. The bacteria were further cultured at 28°C, and the growth was monitored for 36 h.

2.10 Sequence data availability

The microbiome sequencing data obtained in this study were registered in the NCBI/GenBank/ the DNA data bank of Japan (DDBJ) database under the accession numbers DRR337101-DRR337141. The *16S rRNA* sequences of *Leucobacter* sp. and *Phyllobacterium* sp. isolated from mosquito midgut are available under the accession numbers LC669551 and LC669552, respectively.

2.11 Statistical analysis

Statistical analyses were performed using R version 4.0.3. Welch's *t*-test with Bonferroni's modification was applied to ookinete counting, quantification of bacteria by qPCR, and evaluation of bacterial growth. Wilcoxon rank sum test with Bonferroni's modification was conducted for the development of *Plasmodium* parasites within mosquitoes given different sugars. One-way analysis of variance with Holm's modification was applied to assess the quantification of midgut bacterial amount the time-dependent changes of the relative abundance of the six dominant midgut bacteria genera.

3 Results

3.1 Allose inhibits development of *Plasmodium* parasite in the antibiotic-treated mosquito

Allose inhibits the development of *P. berghei* within *An. stephensi* by assessing the development of oocysts (Tokuda et al., 2015). To reconfirm this finding, luciferase activity was investigated in allose-fed mosquitoes infected with *Pb*-luc. As shown in Figure 1; Supplementary Figure 4, luciferase activities in the infected mosquitoes were consistent with oocyst counts at 10 days after *Pb*-luc infection. The inhibitory effect of allose was evaluated in mosquitoes treated with antibiotics, which have diminished microbiota in the midgut. Similar to untreated mosquitoes, the development of *Plasmodium* was inhibited by allose feeding in the antibiotic-treated mosquitoes (Figure 2). This result suggested that allose inhibits development of the *Plasmodium* parasite in the mosquito through a midgut microbiota-independent mechanism.

3.2 Allose affects the proliferation of midgut microbiota but not bacterial composition

As ingested sugars can affect midgut microbiota that may impact the development of parasites directly or indirectly, quantitative and qualitative changes of bacterial communities in the midgut of allose-fed mosquitoes were assessed. Midgut microbiota was quantified by qPCR. The relative quantity tended to be suppressed in allose-fed mosquitoes at 3 days after infection with no significant difference compared to allose-unfed mosquitoes and was comparable between groups on day 7 (Figure 3A). The decrease of bacterial quantities in the allose-fed group seemed to be attributed to inhibition of the rapid proliferation of gut bacteria initiated by blood feeding (Figure 3A). The composition of midgut bacteria was identified by 16S rRNA-based metagenomic analysis and compared between allose-fed and allose-unfed mosquitoes. In total, 2,706,788 reads were obtained from 40 pooled samples, and de novo assembly of the reads generated 427 ASV. Of these, 113 ASVs consisting of 1,146,318 reads (42.4% of total reads) were not



Allose inhibits oocyst development in the mosquito midgut. Allose-fed and allose-unfed mosquitoes were infected by luciferase-expressing *Plasmodium berghei*, and infectivity was determined 10 days post-infection by counting of the number of oocysts (A) and by measuring the luciferase activity (B). The number of mosquitoes is indicated under each group. The prevalence of infection was calculated number of detected oocyst or luminescence sample divided by number of total sample. The results represent the standard deviation of the mean (SD) of biological replicates. Statistical significance was determined by Wilcoxon's rank sum test with Bonferroni's modification. **P* < 0.01.

categorized in bacteria at the taxonomic level in the SILVA classifier, and, finally, 314 ASVs consisting of 1,497,066 reads (57.6%) were classified into families and genera of bacteria (Supplementary Table S1). The most abundant bacteria belong to the genus Phyllobacterium in the family Rhizobiaceae (51.4% of bacterial reads, 769,144 reads, 25 ASVs), followed by the genus Leucobacter in the family Microbacteriaceae (19.9% of bacterial reads, 297,535 reads, 12 ASVs), the genus Staphylococcus in the family Staphylococcaceae (3.5% of bacterial reads, 51,813 reads, 34 ASVs), the family Peptococcaceae (2.7% of bacterial reads, 40,358 reads, 23 ASVs), the genus Proteus in the family Morganellaceae (2.4% of bacterial reads, 35,621 reads, 7 ASVs), and the genus Pseudomonas in the family Pseudomonadaceae (2.3% of bacterial reads, 33,916 reads, 8 ASVs) (Supplementary Table S1). Other bacteria families consisting of less than 2% of reads were categorized as "others" in this study (17.9% of bacterial reads, 268,679 reads, 205 ASVs). More detailed information obtained by the metagenomic analysis is provided in Supplementary Table S1; Figure 3B shows the time-dependent changes of the relative abundance of the six dominant midgut bacteria genera. The most abundant genus, Phyllobacterium, consisted of 35.6%-57.0%, on average, in the allose-unfed group, and the abundance did not change dramatically before (day 0) or after the infection (days 1–7). In the allose-fed group, Phyllobacterium consisted of 19.3%-73.1% on average during the course before (day 0) and after post infection (days 0-7), and a slight decrease of the composition ratio (19.3%) was observed on day 1 post-infection with no significant difference compared to the allose-unfed group. The composition ratio of the second most abundant genus, Leucobacter, was slightly increased in the allose-unfed group during the course before (day 0) and after post infection (days 0-3), whereas the ratio of the allose-fed group

was slightly decreased on day 1 post-infection with no significant difference compared to the allose-unfed group, similar to that of *Phyllobacterium*. Similarly, although the composition ratio of the other four genera—*Staphylococcus*, *Peptococcaeae*, *Proteus*, and *Pseudomonas*—were slightly changed during the course before (day 0) and after infection (days 0–7), the differences between two groups were not significant (Figure 3B). In addition, heatmap clustering analysis based on the relative abundance of each genus and beta-diversity analysis showed an allose-independent cluster formation (Supplementary Figure S1) and no significant diversity between the allose-fed and allose-unfed groups during the course (Supplementary Table S1; PERMANOVA, pseudo-F = 1.03, P = 0.371), respectively. These results strongly suggested that allose affects the transient growth of midgut microbiota initiated by blood feeding but not their diversity.

3.3 Allose did not inhibit growth of bacteria isolated from mosquito midgut

A bacterial growth assay *in vitro* was performed to assess whether allose inhibits the growth of bacteria in the midgut. Two bacteria in the mosquito midgut were successfully isolated and identified as *Leucobacter* sp. and *Phyllobacterium* sp., both of which are dominant in the gut, based on the sequencing analysis of *16S rRNA* fragments with 96.8%–99.7% and 96.4%–99.2% identities, respectively, in the BLASTn analysis. The effect of allose on the growth of these bacteria was assessed *in vitro*. The growth of *Leucobacter* sp. in LB medium containing 100 mM allose and 8% fructose was comparable with that containing 100 mM glucose and 8% fructose as a control (Table 1). In addition to the growth rate,



FIGURE 2

Allose inhibits the development of *Plasmodium* parasite in the mosquito by a midgut microbiota-independent mechanism. Antibiotic-treated and antibiotic-untreated mosquitoes were fed fructose with or without allose and then infected by luciferase-expressing *Plasmodium berghei*. Infectivity was determined by a luciferase assay. The number of mosquitoes is indicated under each group. The prevalence of infection was calculated number of detected oocyst or luminescence sample divided by number of total sample. The results represent the standard deviation of the mean (SD) of biological replicates. Statistical significance was determined by Wilcoxon's rank sum test with Bonferroni's modification. **P* < 0.01.

the maximum of the growth (stationary phase) in LB medium containing 100 mM allose and 8% fructose was comparable with that containing 8% fructose with 100 mM glucose as a control (Supplementary Figure S3A). Similarly, the growth of *Phyllobacterium* sp. in LB medium containing 100 mM allose was comparable with that containing 100 mM glucose as a control (Table 1; Supplementary Figure S3B) although the growth was inhibited by the presence of 8% fructose in the medium. These results indicated that allose does not have a bactericidal or growth inhibitory effect on these bacteria.

3.4 Effect of allose on ookinete development in the mosquito gut

Allose might impact the development of *Plasmodium* parasites rather than midgut microbiota. The effect of allose on ookinete development within infected mosquitoes was evaluated *ex vivo*. The number of ookinetes in the midgut of allose-fed mosquitoes was comparable to that observed in mosquitoes fed fructose alone at 24 h after infection (Figure 4). In addition, ookinetes showing abnormal morphology were not observed in the midgut of allosefed mosquitoes compared with that in the midgut of alloseunfed mosquitoes (Supplementary Figure S2). These results indicated that allose feeding did not inhibit ookinete development of *Plasmodium* parasites at the midgut stage of the infected mosquito.

3.5 Exploration of sugars that impact *Plasmodium* development

Additional sugars that impact the development of *Plasmodium* in mosquitoes were explored by targeting the 16 sugars listed above in the Materials and Methods section. Their sugars about the ability to block *Plasmodium* parasites have not been evaluated, except for glucose (Wang et al., 2021). As shown in Figure 5, no apparent inhibitory effects on the development of *Plasmodium* in the mosquito were observed with most of the sugars tested. Although fructose, sorbitol, and xylitol slightly inhibited the development of the *Plasmodium* parasite, the inhibition was not significant. These results indicated that these sugars do not appear to have inhibitory effects on the development of *Plasmodium* in mosquitoes.

4 Discussion

The midgut stage in the mosquito is one of the bottlenecks in the life cycle of *Plasmodium* parasites, and it can be a target of a transmission-blocking strategy. A previous study showed that allose inhibits oocyst development of *Plasmodium* parasites in the mosquito. However, the underlying mechanism remains unknown (Tokuda et al., 2015). The present study showed that inhibition by allose is effective even when mosquitoes were treated with antibiotics, strongly suggesting that the primary inhibitory mechanism is independent of the midgut microbiota of the mosquito. In addition, ookinete development in the mosquito was not inhibited by allose feeding. These results suggested that allose mainly inhibits development of the parasite after or possibly during its traverse across the midgut epithelium, e.g., ookinete migration across the midgut epithelium, ookinete-to-oocyst developmental transition, and the early phase of oocyst formation.

The interaction of ookinetes with the midgut surface via specific molecules is crucial for the invasion into midgut epithelium (Osta, 2004). Multiple pathways associated with protein-protein interactions between ookinete proteins [enolase, von Willebrand factor A domain-related protein (WARP), membrane-attack ookinete protein (MAOP), Plasmodium perforin-like proteins (PPLP5), subtilisin-like protease (SUB2), cell-traversal protein for ookinetes and sporozoites (CelTOS), secreted ookinete adhesive protein (SOAP), and ookinete surface P28 and P25 proteins] and mosquito midgut surface molecules [enolase-binding protein (EBP), aminopeptidase 1 (APN1), annexin-like proteins, carboxypeptidase B, croquemort scavenger receptor homolog, and calreticulin] were suggested to be involved in the invasion process (Siden-Kiamos et al., 2000; Soo Han et al., 2001; Tomas et al., 2001; Yuda et al., 2001; Dessens et al., 2003; Kadota et al., 2004; Kotsyfakis et al., 2005; Kariu et al., 2006; Dinglasan et al., 2007; Ecker et al., 2007; Lavazec et al., 2007; Rodríguez M del et al., 2007; González-Lázaro et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2011). In addition, several carbohydrate-binding proteins, i.e., lectins, bind specifically to the midgut epithelial cells of mosquitoes, and carbohydrate moieties are suggested to play a part in the binding of ookinetes to midgut epithelium of the mosquito (Rudin and Hecker, 1989; Zieler et al.,



circle) and allose-unfed (open triangle) mosquitoes was determined by 16S rRNA-based metagenomic analysis. The relative abundance of the six dominant genera—*Phyllobacterium*, *Leucobacter*, *Staphylococcus*, *Peptococcaceae*, *Proteus*, and *Pseudomonas*—are shown. The results are expressed as the mean titer and standard deviation for five biological experiments in each group.

1999; Osta, 2004). Interestingly, *Plasmodium gallinaceum* ookinetes were reported to specifically interact with a carbohydrate ligand on the midgut surface of *Aedes aegypti*, and the specific interaction was competitively blocked by the monosaccharide N-acetylneuraminic acid (Zieler et al., 1999). Therefore, allose may inhibit specific

binding of *P. berghei* to midgut epithelium of *Anopheles* mosquitoes. Another possible inhibitory mechanism of allose is related to mosquito immunity against *Plasmodium* parasites. Parasite invasion and development in the midgut is affected by host immunity, including immune-related factors (Blandin et al.,

TABLE 1 In vitro growth of Phyllobacterium sp. and Leucobacter sp.

Bacteria	Cultures	Growth rate (OD ₆₀₀ /h)
Leucobacter sp.	LB	0.3459 ± 0.0187
	LB + 8% fructose	0.0507 ± 0.0006
	LB + 8% fructose + 100 mM allose	0.0330 ± 0.0013 a ^{,b}
	LB + 8% fructose + 100 mM glucose	0.0337 ± 0.0013 a ^{,b}
Phyllobacterium sp.	LB	0.0515 ± 0.0013
	LB + 100 mM allose	0.0352 ± 0.0013 ^c
	LB + 100 mM glucose	0.0315 ± 0.0017 ^c

^aP < 0.01, compared with LB culture in Leucobacter sp.

 $^{b}P < 0.01$, compared with LB + 8% fructose culture in Leucobacter sp.

^cP < 0.01, compared with LB culture in Phyllobacterium sp.



Allose does not inhibit ookinete development in the mosquito midgut. Ten mosquitoes were dissected 24 h after infection, and ookinete count per a midgut was determined. The experiment was repeated three times, and the results are represented as the standard deviation of the mean (SD) of biological replicates.

2004; Osta, 2004; Dong et al., 2006; Baxter et al., 2010; Povelones et al., 2011), antimicrobial peptides (Vizioli et al., 2001; Dong et al., 2006), and nitric oxide and ROS (Luckhart et al., 1998; Molina-Cruz et al., 2008). ROS have been shown to have a role in insect innate immune responses as a potent pathogen-killing agent, and allose is reported to induce ROS generation by activating nicotinamide

adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) oxidase through the activity of glucose 6-phosphate dehydrogenase (Kano et al., 2013). RNA interference (RNAi)-mediated silencing of catalase, a ROS detoxification enzyme, was reported to result in decreased *P. berghei* infection (Molina-Cruz et al., 2008) and decreased bacterial load in the mosquito midgut (Bahia et al., 2013). These findings suggest that allose might inhibit the development of *Plasmodium* parasites and affect midgut bacteria via ROS generation in the mosquito midgut.

Several gut symbiotic bacteria, such as Serratia spp., Enterobacter sp., Chromobacterium sp., and Asaia sp., are reported to confer resistance to Plasmodium infection through activation of mosquito immunity (Cirimotich et al., 2011; Bando et al., 2013; Bahia et al., 2014; Ramirez et al., 2014; Bai et al., 2019; Wang et al., 2021). Initially, we expected that allose may work as a prebiotic for such symbiotic bacteria, resulting in the inhibition of Plasmodium development in the mosquito. However, the composition of midgut microbiota in the mosquito was not affected by allose. It seems that allose does not promote the growth of specific bacteria in the gut. In addition, none of the abovementioned bacteria were detected as a major midgut microbiota in our colonized mosquitoes. The microbial community of mosquitoes varies among populations and is associated with locality, climate, and their nutrition (Boissière et al., 2012; Muturi et al., 2018; Sandeu et al., 2022). Because the principal inhibitory mechanism of allose to Plasmodium is independent from commensal microbes, allose is expected to inhibit Plasmodium development in any population of mosquitoes.

Allose inhibited transient growth of midgut microbiota of mosquitoes initiated by blood feeding without toxic and inhibitory effects on the dominant bacteria. Several probable reasons may explain this observation: 1) allose is not suitable nutrition for midgut microbiota, 2) allose inhibits the bacterial metabolic system necessary for growth, and 3) allose enhances innate immune responses, resulting in the inhibition of bacterial



Effect of various sugars on oocyst development in the mosquito midgut. Mosquitoes were fed 8% fructose with 100 mM of each sugar and infected by luciferase-expressing *Plasmodium berghei*. Infectivity was determined by a luciferase assay. Infection of Pb-luc in mosquitoes fed the infected blood after 10 days was determined by measuring luciferase assay. Relative luminescence indicates the luminescence of each explored sugar-fed group normalized by mean luminescence of control group not added their explored sugar in 8% fructose. The number of mosquitoes is indicated under each group. The prevalence of infection was calculated number of detected oocyst or luminescence sample divided by number of total sample. The results represent the standard deviation of the mean (SD) of biological replicates. Statistical significance was determined by Wilcoxon's rank sum test with Bonferroni's modification. *P < 0.01.

growth. In this study, an equal amount of fructose was given to allose-fed mosquitoes as the control group, and allose was shown to be catabolized in several bacteria such as *Aerobacter aerogenes*, *Escherichia coli*, and *Listeria monocytogenes* (Gibbins and Simpson, 1964; Poulsen et al., 1999; Zhang et al., 2018). In addition, allose did not inhibit the *in vitro* growth of *Leucobacter* sp. and *Phyllobacterium* sp., the dominant bacteria isolated from the mosquito midgut. Recently, modulation of the pH of the mosquito midgut by changing its bacterial composition and metabolites was reported to influence *Plasmodium* gametogenesis (Wang et al., 2021). Our preliminary study showed that allose did not change the pH of the mosquito gut (data not shown). These findings suggested that allose does not directly affect the growth of microbiota in the mosquito gut; rather, the event might be caused by host immunity such as ROS generation.

This study explored 15 additional sugars that might impact the development of Plasmodium in mosquitoes. These sugars having various properties were screened, but none of the sugars tested inhibited parasite development, suggesting that allose has unique characteristics. Although pure allose is costly, an affordable and commercially available sweetener, Rare Sugar Sweet (https:// www.matsutani.co.jp/english/products/raresugar.html), which contains D-allose in addition to D-glucose, D-fructose, D-mannose, and another rare sugar, D-psicose, inhibits the development of Plasmodium in mosquitoes (Tokuda et al., 2015). Recently, toxic sugar baits were reported to be used as a mosquito control strategy (Fiorenzano et al., 2017); the principle is using fruits and plant as an attractant to attract mosquitoes, but it has some risks for other organisms. Because allose is an eco-friendly natural product, there are fewer limitations to using the attractive toxic sugar bait applications: mixing this sugar instead of an insecticide in a field study to control transmission of Plasmodium parasites by mosquitoes.

The present study showed that allose inhibited the development of *Plasmodium* parasites in the mosquito independently of midgut microbiota. Such unique activity appears to be specific to allose. Further study will be needed to disclose the underlying mechanisms, especially focusing on the mosquito immunity elicited by allose. This sugar may be a useful material for vector control of malaria as a "transmission-blocking sugar" in the future (Ferreira et al., 2018).

Data availability statement

The datasets presented in this study can be found in online repositories. The names of the repository/repositories and accession number(s) can be found in the article/Supplementary Material.

Ethics statement

The animal study was reviewed and approved by Institutional Animal Experiment Committee of Jichi Medical University (approval numbers: 22002-01).

Author contributions

Conceptualization: DM, MA, and HK. Methodology: DM, DY, AT, MA, and HK. Software: DM. Validation: DM, AT, MA, and HK. Formal analysis: DM. Investigation: DM and MA. Resources: DM, DY, AT, MA, and HK. Writing—original draft preparation, DM and HK. Writing—review and editing: DM, DSY, AT, MA, and HK; visualization: DM; supervision: AM and HK; project administration: DM and HK. Funding acquisition: DM and HK. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

Funding

This study was supported by JSPS KAKENHI grant numbers 19K23849, 20K16237, and 20H03155.

Acknowledgments

We would like to thank Dr. Shinya Watanabe (Division of Bacteriology, Department of Infection and Immunity, Jichi Medical University) for the technical support of Miseq analysis. We also would like to thank Chisato Seki and Keiko Watano (Division of Medical Zoology, Jichi Medical University) for maintenance of the mosquito colony.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fcimb.2023.1162918/ full#supplementary-material

10.3389/fcimb.2023.1162918

References

Almire, F., Terhzaz, S., Terry, S., McFarlane, M., Gestuveo, R. J., Szemiel, A. M., et al. (2021). Sugar feeding protects against arboviral infection by enhancing gut immunity in the mosquito vector aedes aegypti. *PloS Pathog.* 17, e1009870. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1009870

Anderson, M. J. (2001). A new method for non-parametric multivariate analysis of variance. *Austral Ecology*. 26, 32–46. doi: 10.1111/j.1442-9993.2001.01070.pp.x

Autino, B., Noris, A., Russo, R., and Castelli, F. (2012). Epidemiology of malaria in endemic areas. *Mediterr J. Hematol. Infect. Dis.* 4, e2012060. doi: 10.4084/MJHID.2012.060

Bahia, A. C., Dong, Y., Blumberg, B. J., Mlambo, G., Tripathi, A., BenMarzouk-Hidalgo, O. J., et al. (2014). Exploring *Anopheles* gut bacteria for *Plasmodium* blocking activity. *Environ. Microbiol.* 16, 2980–2994. doi: 10.1111/1462-2920.12381

Bahia, A. C., Oliveira, J. H. M., Kubota, M. S., Araújo, H. R. C., Lima, J. B. P., Ríos-Velásquez, C. M., et al. (2013). The role of reactive oxygen species in *Anopheles aquasalis* response to *Plasmodium vivax* infection. *PloS One* 8, e57014. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0057014

Bai, L., Wang, L., Vega-Rodríguez, J., Wang, G., and Wang, S. (2019). A gut symbiotic bacterium *Serratia marcescens* renders mosquito resistance to *Plasmodium* infection through activation of mosquito immune responses. *Front. Microbiol.* 10. Available: https://www.frontiersin.org/article/doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2019.01580

Bando, H., Okado, K., Guelbeogo, W. M., Badolo, A., Aonuma, H., Nelson, B., et al. (2013). Intra-specific diversity of *Serratia marcescens* in *Anopheles* mosquito midgut defines *Plasmodium* transmission capacity. *Sci. Rep.* 3, 1641. doi: 10.1038/srep01641

Baton, L. A., and Ranford-Cartwright, L. C. (2004). *Plasmodium falciparum* ookinete invasion of the midgut epithelium of *Anopheles stephensi* is consistent with the time bomb model. *Parasitology*. 129, 663–676. doi: 10.1017/S0031182004005979

Baxter, R. H. G., Steinert, S., Chelliah, Y., Volohonsky, G., Levashina, E. A., and Deisenhofer, J. (2010). A heterodimeric complex of the LRR proteins LRIM1 and APL1C regulates complement-like immunity in anopheles gambiae. *PNAS* 107, 16817–16822. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1010575107

Blandin, S., Shiao, S.-H., Moita, L. F., Janse, C. J., Waters, A. P., Kafatos, F. C., et al. (2004). Complement-like protein TEP1 is a determinant of vectorial capacity in the malaria vector anopheles gambiae. *Cell* 116, 661–670. doi: 10.1016/S0092-8674(04) 00173-4

Boissière, A., Tchioffo, M. T., Bachar, D., Abate, L., Marie, A., Nsango, S. E., et al. (2012). Midgut microbiota of the malaria mosquito vector *Anopheles gambiae* and interactions with *Plasmodium falciparum* infection. *PloS Pathogens.* 8, e1002742. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1002742

Bokulich, N. A., Kaehler, B. D., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M., Bolyen, E., Knight, R., et al. (2018). Optimizing taxonomic classification of marker-gene amplicon sequences with QIIME 2's q2-feature-classifier plugin. *Microbiome.* 6, 90. doi: 10.1186/s40168-018-0470-z

Bolyen, E., Rideout, J. R., Dillon, M. R., Bokulich, N. A., Abnet, C. C., Al-Ghalith, G. A., et al. (2019). Reproducible, interactive, scalable and extensible microbiome data science using QIIME 2. *Nat. Biotechnol.* 37, 852–857. doi: 10.1038/s41587-019-0209-9

Callahan, B. J., McMurdie, P. J., Rosen, M. J., Han, A. W., Johnson, A. J. A., and Holmes, S. P. (2016). DADA2: high-resolution sample inference from illumina amplicon data. *Nat. Methods* 13, 581–583. doi: 10.1038/nmeth.3869

Cirimotich, C. M., Dong, Y., Clayton, A. M., Sandiford, S. L., Souza-Neto, J. A., Mulenga, M., et al. (2011). Natural microbe-mediated refractoriness to *Plasmodium* infection in anopheles gambiae. *Science* 332, 855–858. doi: 10.1126/science.1201618

Delong, E. F. (1992). Archaea in coastal marine environments. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A. 89, 5685–5689. doi: 10.1073/pnas.89.12.5685

Dessens, J. T., Sidén-Kiamos, I., Mendoza, J., Mahairaki, V., Khater, E., Vlachou, D., et al. (2003). SOAP, a novel malaria ookinete protein involved in mosquito midgut invasion and oocyst development. *Mol. Microbiol.* 49, 319–329. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2958.2003.03566.x

Dinglasan, R. R., Kalume, D. E., Kanzok, S. M., Ghosh, A. K., Muratova, O., Pandey, A., et al. (2007). Disruption of *Plasmodium falciparum* development by antibodies against a conserved mosquito midgut antigen. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 104, 13461–13466. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0702239104

Dong, Y., Aguilar, R., Xi, Z., Warr, E., Mongin, E., and Dimopoulos, G. (2006). *Anopheles gambiae* immune responses to human and rodent *Plasmodium* parasite species. *PloS Pathogens.* 2, e52. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.0020052

Dong, Y., Manfredini, F., and Dimopoulos, G. (2009). Implication of the mosquito midgut microbiota in the defense against malaria parasites. *PloS Pathogens.* 5, e1000423. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1000423

Ecker, A., Pinto, S. B., Baker, K. W., Kafatos, F. C., and Sinden, R. E. (2007). *Plasmodium berghei: plasmodium* perforin-like protein 5 is required for mosquito midgut invasion in anopheles stephensi. *Exp. Parasitol.* 116, 504–508. doi: 10.1016/ j.exppara.2007.01.015

Ferreira, T. N., Pita-Pereira, D., Costa, S. G., Brazil, R. P., Moraes, C. S., Díaz-Albiter, H. M., et al. (2018). Transmission blocking sugar baits for the control of *Leishmania* development inside sand flies using environmentally friendly beta-glycosides and their aglycones. *Parasites Vectors.* 11, 614. doi: 10.1186/s13071-018-3122-z

Fiorenzano, J. M., Koehler, P. G., and Xue, R.-D. (2017). Attractive toxic sugar bait (ATSB) for control of mosquitoes and its impact on non-target organisms: a review. *IJERPH*. 14, 398. doi: 10.3390/ijerph14040398

Frischknecht, F., Baldacci, P., Martin, B., Zimmer, C., Thiberge, S., Olivo-Marin, J.-C., et al. (2004). Imaging movement of malaria parasites during transmission by *Anopheles* mosquitoes. *Cell. Microbiol.* 6, 687–694. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2004.00395.x

Ghosh, A. K., Coppens, I., Gårdsvoll, H., Ploug, M., and Jacobs-Lorena, M. (2011). *Plasmodium* ookinetes coopt mammalian plasminogen to invade the mosquito midgut. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 108, 17153–17158. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1103657108

Gibbins, L. N., and Simpson, F. J. (1964). The incorporation of d-allose into the glycolytic pathway by aerobacter aerogenes. *Can. J. Microbiol.* 10, 829–836. doi: 10.1139/m64-108

González-Lázaro, M., Dinglasan, R. R., Hernández-Hernández F de la, C., Rodríguez, M. H., Laclaustra, M., Jacobs-Lorena, M., et al. (2009). *Anopheles gambiae* croquemort SCRBQ2, expression profile in the mosquito and its potential interaction with the malaria parasite plasmodium berghei. *Insect Biochem. Mol. Biol.* 39, 395–402. doi: 10.1016/j.ibmb.2009.03.008

Kadota, K., Ishino, T., Matsuyama, T., Chinzei, Y., and Yuda, M. (2004). Essential role of membrane-attack protein in malarial transmission to mosquito host. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 101, 16310–16315. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0406187101

Kano, A., Fukumoto, T., Ohtani, K., Yoshihara, A., Ohara, T., Tajima, S., et al. (2013). The rare sugar d-allose acts as a triggering molecule of rice defence via ROS generation. *J. Exp. Botany.* 64, 4939–4951. doi: 10.1093/jxb/ert282

Kariu, T., Ishino, T., Yano, K., Chinzei, Y., and Yuda, M. (2006). CelTOS, a novel malarial protein that mediates transmission to mosquito and vertebrate hosts. *Mol. Microbiol.* 59, 1369–1379. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.05024.x

Kimura, S., Zhang, G.-X., Nishiyama, A., Nagai, Y., Nakagawa, T., Miyanaka, H., et al. (2005). D-allose, an all-cis aldo-hexose, suppresses development of salt-induced hypertension in Dahl rats. *J. Hypertension.* 23, 1887–1894. doi: 10.1097/01.hjh.0000182523.29193.e3

Kotsyfakis, M., Ehret-Sabatier, L., Siden-Kiamos, I., Mendoza, J., Sinden, R. E., and Louis, C. (2005). *Plasmodium berghei* ookinetes bind to *Anopheles gambiae* and *Drosophila melanogaster* annexins. *Mol. Microbiol.* 57, 171–179. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2958.2005.04664.x

Lavazec, C., Boudin, C., Lacroix, R., Bonnet, S., Diop, A., Thiberge, S., et al. (2007). Carboxypeptidases b of anopheles gambiae as targets for a *Plasmodium falciparum* transmission-blocking vaccine. *Infection Immunity.* 75, 1635–1642. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.00864-06

Luckhart, S., Vodovotz, Y., Cui, L., and Rosenberg, R. (1998). The mosquito anopheles stephensi limits malaria parasite development with inducible synthesis of nitric oxide. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U.S.A.* 95, 5700–5705. doi: 10.1073/pnas.95.10.5700

Mano, M. C. R., Neri-Numa, I. A., da Silva, J. B., Paulino, B. N., Pessoa, M. G., and Pastore, G. M. (2018). Oligosaccharide biotechnology: an approach of prebiotic revolution on the industry. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.* 102, 17–37. doi: 10.1007/s00253-017-8564-2

Matsuoka, H., Tomita, H., Hattori, R., Arai, M., and Hirai, M. (2015). Visualization of malaria parasites in the skin using the luciferase transgenic parasite, plasmodium berghei. *Trop. Med. Health* 43, 53–61. doi: 10.2149/tmh.2014-18

Moffett, A., Shackelford, N., and Sarkar, S. (2007). Malaria in Africa: vector species' niche models and relative risk maps. *PloS One* 2, e824. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0000824

Molina-Cruz, A., DeJong, R. J., Charles, B., Gupta, L., Kumar, S., Jaramillo-Gutierrez, G., et al. (2008). Reactive oxygen species modulate *Anopheles gambiae* immunity against bacteria and *Plasmodium**. *J. Biol. Chem.* 283, 3217–3223. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M705873200

Msomi, N., Erukainure, O., and Islam, M. (2021). Suitability of sugar alcohols as antidiabetic supplements: a review. *J. Food Drug Analysis*. 29, 1–14. doi: 10.38212/2224-6614.3107

Murata, A., Sekiya, K., Watanabe, Y., Yamaguchi, F., Hatano, N., Izumori, K., et al. (2003). A novel inhibitory effect of d-allose on production of reactive oxygen species from neutrophils. *J. Bioscience Bioengineering*. 96, 89–91. doi: 10.1016/S1389-1723(03) 90104-6

Muturi, E. J., Lagos-Kutz, D., Dunlap, C., Ramirez, J. L., Rooney, A. P., Hartman, G. L., et al. (2018). Mosquito microbiota cluster by host sampling location. *Parasites Vectors*. 11, 468. doi: 10.1186/s13071-018-3036-9

Osta, M. A. (2004). Effects of mosquito genes on *Plasmodium* development. *Science*. 303, 2030–2032. doi: 10.1126/science.1091789

Poulsen, T. S., Chang, Y.-Y., and Hove-Jensen, B. (1999). D-allose catabolism of *Escherichia coli:* involvement of alsI and regulation of als regulon expression by allose and ribose. *J. Bacteriol.* 181, 7126–7130.

Povelones, M., Upton, L. M., Sala, K. A., and Christophides, G. K. (2011). Structurefunction analysis of the *Anopheles gambiae* LRIM1/APL1C complex and its interaction with complement C3-like protein TEP1. *PloS Pathogens*. 7, e1002023. doi: 10.1371/ journal.ppat.1002023

Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., et al. (2013). The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 41, D590–D596. doi: 10.1093/nar/gks1219

Ramirez, J. L., Short, S. M., Bahia, A. C., Saraiva, R. G., Dong, Y., Kang, S., et al. (2014). Chromobacterium Csp_P reduces malaria and dengue infection in vector mosquitoes and has entomopathogenic and *in vitro* anti-pathogen activities. *PloS Pathogens.* 10, e1004398. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1004398

Rodríguez M del, C., Martínez-Barnetche, J., Alvarado-Delgado, A., Batista, C., Argotte-Ramos, R. S., Hernández-Martínez, S., et al. (2007). The surface protein Pvs25 of *Plasmodium vivax* ookinetes interacts with calreticulin on the midgut apical surface of the malaria vector anopheles albimanus. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitol.* 153, 167–177. doi: 10.1016/j.molbiopara.2007.03.002

Rudin, W., and Hecker, H. (1989). Lectin-binding sites in the midgut of the mosquitoes *Anopheles stephensi* liston and *Aedes aegypti* l. (*Diptera: Culicidae*). *Parasitol. Res.* 75, 268–279. doi: 10.1007/BF00931811

Sandeu, M. M., Maffo, C. G. T., Dada, N., Njiokou, F., Hughes, G. L., and Wondji, C. S. (2022). Seasonal variation of microbiota composition in *Anopheles gambiae* and *Anopheles coluzzii* in two different eco-geographical localities in Cameroon. *Med. Vet. Entomol.* 36, 3. doi: 10.1111/mve.12583

Siden-Kiamos, I., Vlachou, D., Margos, G., Beetsma, A., Waters, A. P., Sinden, R. E., et al. (2000). Distinct roles for pbs21 and pbs25 in the *in vitro* ookinete to oocyst transformation of plasmodium berghei. *J. Cell Sci.* 113, 3419–3426. doi: 10.1242/jcs.113.19.3419

Soo Han, Y., Thompson, J., Kafatos, F. C., and Barillas-Mury, C. (2001). Molecular interactions between *Anopheles stephensi* midgut cells and *Plasmodium berghei*: the time bomb theory of ookinete invasion of mosquitoes. *EMBO J.* 20, 1483–1483. doi: 10.1038/sj.emboj.7593651b

Tokuda, M., Arai, M., and Okuma, K. (2015) Malaria transmission prevention agent having rare sugar as effective component thereof and malarial parasite growth regulating agent. In: *Japanese Patent JP 201406207*. Available at: https://patentimages.storage.googleapis.com/16/8e/a6/35ab0e2cf2f05b/EP3124028B1.pdf (Accessed 13 July 2022).

Tomas, A. M., Margos, G., Dimopoulos, G., van Lin, L. H. M., de Koning-Ward, T. F., Sinha, R., et al. (2001). P25 and P28 proteins of the malaria ookinete surface have

multiple and partially redundant functions. EMBO J. 20, 3975-3983. doi: 10.1093/emboj/20.15.3975

Vizioli, J., Bulet, P., Hoffmann, J. A., Kafatos, F. C., Muller, H.-M., and Dimopoulos, G. (2001). Gambicin: a novel immune responsive antimicrobial peptide from the malaria vector anopheles gambiae. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* 98, 12630–12635. doi: 10.1073/pnas.221466798

Wang, M., An, Y., Gao, L., Dong, S., Zhou, X., Feng, Y., et al. (2021). Glucose-mediated proliferation of a gut commensal bacterium promotes *Plasmodium* infection by increasing mosquito midgut pH. *Cell Rep.* 35, 108992. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2021.108992

World Health Organization (WHO) (2021) World malaria report. Available at: https://www.who.int/publications-detail-redirect/9789240040496 (Accessed 10 Feb).

Yamamoto, D. S., Sumitani, M., Kasashima, K., Sezutsu, H., and Matsuoka, H. (2016). Inhibition of malaria infection in transgenic anopheline mosquitoes lacking salivary gland cells. *PloS Pathogens.* 12, e1005872. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1005872

Yilmaz, P., Parfrey, L. W., Yarza, P., Gerken, J., Pruesse, E., Quast, C., et al. (2014). The SILVA and "All-species living tree project (LTP)" taxonomic frameworks. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 42, D643–D648. doi: 10.1093/nar/gkt1209

Yuda, M., Yano, K., Tsuboi, T., Torii, M., and Chinzei, Y. (2001). Von willebrand factor a domain-related protein, a novel microneme protein of the malaria ookinete highly conserved throughout *Plasmodium* parasites. *Mol. Biochem. Parasitology*. 116, 65–72. doi: 10.1016/S0166-6851(01)00304-8

Zhang, L., Wang, Y., Liu, D., Luo, L., Wang, Y., and Ye, C. (2018). Identification and characterization of als genes involved in d-allose metabolism in lineage II strain of listeria monocytogenes. *Front. Microbiol.* 9. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2018.00621

Zieler, H., Nawrocki, J. P., and Shahabuddin, M. (1999). *Plasmodium gallinaceum* ookinetes adhere specifically to the midgut epithelium of *Aedes aegypti* by interaction with a carbohydrate ligand. *J. Exp. Biol.* 202, 485–495. doi: 10.1242/jeb.202.5.485

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Abdulaziz Alouffi, King Abdulaziz City for Science and Technology, Saudi Arabia

REVIEWED BY

Hayley Danielle Yaglom, Translational Genomics Research Institute, United States Armando Reyna-Bello, Universidad De las Fuerzas Armadas ESPE, Ecuador Mourad Ben Said, University of Manouba, Tunisia Abid Ali, Abdul Wali Khan University Mardan, Pakistan

*CORRESPONDENCE Manuel Calvopiña Izi manuel.calvopina@udla.edu.ec; Izi manuelcalvopina@gmail.com

RECEIVED 24 October 2022 ACCEPTED 17 July 2023 PUBLISHED 04 August 2023

CITATION

Calvopiña M, Montesdeoca-Andrade M, Bastidas-Caldes C, Enriquez S, Rodríguez-Hidalgo R, Aguilar-Rodríguez D and Cooper P (2023) Case report: First report on human infection by tick-borne Babesia bigemina in the Amazon region of Ecuador. *Front. Public Health* 11:1079042. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1079042

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Calvopiña, Montesdeoca-Andrade, Bastidas-Caldes, Enriquez, Rodríguez-Hidalgo, Aguilar-Rodríguez and Cooper. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Case report: First report on human infection by tick-borne *Babesia bigemina* in the Amazon region of Ecuador

Manuel Calvopiña^{1*}, María Montesdeoca-Andrade², Carlos Bastidas-Caldes^{3,4}, Sandra Enriquez⁵, Richar Rodríguez-Hidalgo^{5,6}, Dayana Aguilar-Rodríguez⁷ and Philip Cooper^{7,8}

¹One Health Research Group, Facultad de Medicina, Universidad de las Américas (UDLA), Quito, Ecuador, ²Departamento de Hemodiálisis, Hospital de Especialidades Carlos Andrade Marín, Quito, Ecuador, ³One Health Research Group, Facultad de Ingeniería y Ciencias Aplicadas (FICA), Universidad de las Américas (UDLA), Quito, Ecuador, ⁴Programa de Doctorado en Salud Pública y Animal, Universidad de Extremadura, Cáceres, Extremadura, Spain, ⁵Instituto de Investigación en Zoonosis (CIZ), Universidad Central del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador, ⁶Facultad de Medicina Veterinaria y Zootecnia, Universidad Central del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador, ⁷Escuela de Medicina, Universidad Internacional del Ecuador, Quito, Ecuador, ⁸Institute of Infection and Immunity, St. George's University of London, London, United Kingdom

Babesiosis is a protozoan disease acquired by the bite of different species of ticks. More than 100 Babesia spp. infect wild and domestic animals worldwide, but only a few have been documented to infect humans. Generally, babesiosis is asymptomatic in immunocompetent persons; however, in immunocompromised can be life-threatening. A 13-year-old boy from the Amazon region presented with a 3-month evolution of fever, chills, general malaise, and arthralgia accompanied by anemia and jaundice. In the last 4 years was diagnosed with chronic kidney failure. By nested-PCR using 18S RNA ribosomal gene as target and DNA sequencing, the phylogenetic analysis showed Babesia bigemina as the causative agent in the blood. Treatment with oral quinine plus clindamycin for six continuous weeks was effective with no relapse occurring during 12 months of follow-up. This is the second human case in Ecuador but the first caused by the zoonotic B. bigemina which confirms the existence of active transmission that should alert public health decision-making authorities on the emergence of this zoonosis and the need for research to determine strategies to reduce tick exposure.

KEYWORDS

babesiosis, Babesia bigemina, case report, zoonosis, tick-borne, Ecuador, Amazon

Introduction

Babesiosis is an emerging tick-borne zoonosis with a worldwide distribution. The number of reported human cases in the literature has increased over recent years, indicating an extension of risk areas (1). Human infections are caused by some species of *Babesia*, that include but are not limited to *B. microti, B. divergens, B. duncani, B. motasi, B. crassa*, and two *Babesia* strains, i.e., *Babesia* spp. KO1 and *Babesia* spp. CN1; the latter two may represent a new *Babesia* species (1, 2). The predominant species causing human infections in the North America is *B. microti*,

in Europe it is *B. divergens*, while in Asia several cases with *B. microti*, *B. venatorum*, and *B. crassa*-like have been reported (3). Other species, such as *B. microti* Kobe-type, *B. microti*-like, and some *B. divergens*-like parasites, have also been implicated in human infections (1, 2, 4). There are rare cases where *Babesia* spp. that normally infect cattle and other animals, cause disease in humans especially if they are asplenic or immunocompromised (5).

Few human cases have been diagnosed from South America. There were two from Brazil without molecular identification of the *Babesia* spp. (6). In Colombia in 2003, the first parasitological confirmed case was reported by *B. bovis*, along with three serological positive cases for *B. bovis* and one for *B. bigemina* (7). In a subsequent study, using PCR, four asymptomatic cases due to *B. bovis* and two of *B. bigemina* were detected (8). However, both reports have been disputed given a lack of more definitive evidence from DNA sequencing (9). In a study in Bolivia, 3.3% of persons were positive for *B. microti* by microscopy and PCR, while seroprevalence was 45.7% (2). A traveler from Uruguay to Spain presented mild symptoms due to *B. microti* infection (10). The only symptomatic case reported to have originated in Ecuador and diagnosed in USA was caused by *B. microti* (11).

Ecuador, located in the northwest of South America, is crossed by the Andes belt that divide into three ecoregions: the Andean temperate region, the Pacific Coast tropical region, and the interior tropical Amazon basin. Non-continental Ecuador includes the Galápagos Islands at 1,369 km from the Pacific coast. Babesiosis in cattle is considered endemic and is a national veterinary public health problem where the main tick vector is the Rhipicephalus microplus, a species widely distributed in the tropics, subtropics and Andes, between 0 and 2,600 m altitude (12-14). Furthermore, Rh. microplus collected from tropical regions resulted positive for B. bovis, B. bigemina and co-infections (12, 13). At least 41 Ixodid tick species, 32 species of hard ticks (Ixodidae) and 9 species of soft ticks (Argasidae), belonging to Amblyomma, Dermacentor, Haemaphysalis, Ixodes, and Rhipicephalus genera have been documented in Ecuador, including Galapagos Islands (15, 16), with additional species recorded in the Andes region (17).

The clinical manifestations of babesiosis in immunocompetent persons range from asymptomatic to a mild illness. In contrast, severe illness requiring hospital admission is common in persons who are immunosuppressed or splenectomised; or who have cancer, human immunodeficiency virus infection, haemoglobinopathy, or chronic heart, lung, kidney, or liver disease. The severity of babesiosis depends primarily on the immune status of the patient and may cause death (18). With an infection by *B. divergens*, *B. duncani* and *B. venatorum*, there seems to be a higher probability of severe disease (19). After a gradual onset of malaise and fatigue, the most common clinical sign is fever, sometimes as high as 40.9°C (105.6°F), with chills and sweats accompanied by headache, myalgia, anorexia, arthralgia, and nausea. In severe infections, fever may be accompanied by splenomegaly, hepatomegaly, jaundice, and acute respiratory failure (18). Babesiosis is a protozoal infection like malaria, confusing both clinical and laboratory diagnosis, and more so in areas where the two diseases are overlapping (11).

The diagnosis of babesiosis is based on epidemiology and clinical presentation (4). Laboratory findings that are consistent with hemolytic anemia include a low hematocrit, hemoglobin, and haptoglobin levels, but elevated reticulocyte count and lactate dehydrogenase level; thrombocytopenia is commonly observed (18). Because of difficulties in the laboratory identification of *Babesia* species that have a similar morphology and because of antigenic crossreactivity, molecular techniques such as PCR and DNA sequencing are often required for species identification (1). DNA sequencing for the phylogenetic analysis of *Babesia* provides data on nucleotide sequences present in an amplified target gene sequence while PCR generates a large number of copies of a specific DNA fragment, represented as a single band (20). PCR is more sensitive and specific than blood smear (19). Among DNA-based assays, nested-PCR based on 18S RNA small subunit fragment for *Babesia* species have been used extensively for the diagnosis of babesiosis, and is highly sensitive, even at low levels of parasitemia (21).

Patients with mild to moderate babesiosis are treated with combination therapy of atovaquone and azithromycin, and severe cases with clindamycin plus quinine. Based on multiple case reports, a 7-to-10-day course of clindamycin-quinine combination is often used to treat severe babesiosis (3). A minimum of 6 weeks for highly immunocompromised patients is recommended (21).

Here we report a severe case of babesiosis caused by *B. bigemina* in an immunocompromised Ecuadorian child from the Amazon basin region who was treated successfully with the combination of clindamycin plus quinine.

Case report

A 13-year-old boy, Amerindian of the Shuar ethnic group, was born and raised on a farm located in Guayusa (Lat = -0.24837, Long=-77.06041), province of Orellana, northern part of the Ecuadorian Amazon, 8 hours from Quito, the capital of Ecuador. An important antecedent was that he had suffered from stage 3 chronic kidney disease for the previous 4 years (glomerular filtration rate of 49 mL/min), secondary to an anatomical malformation of the urinary tract. He had never received a blood transfusion. Clinical history revealed that for 3 months the child had presented a clinical picture characterized by a fever of 38 to 39.4°C, accompanied by chills, sweating, anorexia, general malaise, and arthralgia. One month prior to hospital admission, the fever was accompanied by jaundice, initially affecting the sclera and later became generalized, with pain of moderate intensity in the right flank. The child had always resided in the Amazon region where the presence of numerous wild animals including deer (Mazama americana), rodents, and insects such as mosquitoes, sandflies, and ticks are abundant. He was first medically managed with antipyretics and antibiotics in a local health center and provincial hospital. Since the fever did not subside and the clinical picture of kidney failure worsened, he was transferred to a referral hospital in Quito. Upon admission, he had a fever of 38°C, heart rate of 114 beats/min, respiratory rate of 22/min, oxygen saturation of 97%, blood pressure 129/65 mm Hg, weight 35.4 Kg, height 136.5 cm, abdominal pain, arthralgia, myalgia, and urinary incontinence with dark urine. On physical examination, pale skin and mucous membranes were observed, as were multiple scratching excoriations on the lower extremities.

The blood tests revealed a white blood cell count of 19,500 mm3 with 67% neutrophils, 19% lymphocytes, 11% eosinophils, 2% basophils, and 1% monocytes. Hemoglobin 6.3 mg/dL, hematocrit 19.7%, platelets 139,000 mm³, urea 145 mg/dL (12–54 mg/dL),

creatinine 3.5 mg/dL (0.7 to 1.2 mg/dL for men), blood urea nitrogen (BUN) 29 mg/dL (7–20 mg/dL), alanine-aminotransferase 64 U/L (4 to 36 U/L) and aspartate aminotransferase 61 U/L (8 to 33 U/L). The direct Coombs test was positive, and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) was 295 U/L (140 to 280 U/L). Serological studies for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), viral hepatitis and immunological tests for malaria, Chagas, leptospirosis, and Lyme disease were all negative. Peripheral thick and thin blood smears for *Plasmodium* spp. and *Trypanosoma cruzi* were negative. No intraerythrocytic structures compatible with *Babesia* spp. were observed.

In imaging studies with sonography, hydroureteronephrosis of the right kidney was observed, while the left one was decreased in size with a loss of corticomedullary relationship and ectasia. The right kidney showed the presence of two ureters that ended together ipsilaterally. A bilobed bladder separated by a septum with a paravesical diverticulum was also observed.

Genomic DNA of whole-blood samples was isolated using commercial Qiagen DNA[™]-blood MiniPrep kit. A nested PCR for the long fragment of 18S rRNA gene for detection of Babesia species were performed. The first PCR step was amplified using the primer set PiroF (5'-GCCAGTAGTC ATATGCTTGTGTTA-3') and Piro6R (5'-CTCCTTCCTYTAAG TGATAAGGTTCAC-3'). Another pair of primers, Piro1F (5'- CCATGCAGTTCTWAGTAYAARCTTTTA-3') and Piro5.5R (5'-CCTYTAAGTGATAAGGTTCACAAAACTT-3') were used in the second PCR (22). In a 2% agarose gel, a clear band of approximately 1,670 bp was observed. The amplicon was sequenced using the Sanger sequencing by an external provider (Macrogen-South Korea). The chromatogram sequence of the gene, obtained with forward and reverse primers, were assembled and consensus sequence was edited using MEGA XI software. The Nucleotide Blast, for the final sequence of 1,546 bp, show a query coverage of 100% and identity of 99.87% for B. bigemina using the NCBI resources and a GenBank accession number was obtained (OQ607820.1). The sequences were aligned and compared using the MEGA XI. A phylogenetic tree was constructed through Neighbor Joining method with a Bootstrap of 500 replicates, comparing eleven NCBI sequences from GenBank (Figure 1). Purified DNA of B. bovis and B. bigemina, kindly supplied by Instituto de Genética de la Universidad Nacional de Colombia, were used as positive controls.

After 32 days of clinical management in the nephrology unit, BUN and creatinine values decreased to 118 mg/dL and 2.2 mg/dL, respectively. Whereas hemoglobin and hematocrit rose to 12.8 mg/dL and 38.8%, respectively. The leukocyte count decreased to 13,400 mm³. Anti-*Babesia* treatment was started with oral quinine 300 mg every 8 hours plus clindamycin 300 mg every 12 h, which was continued as an outpatient treatment for 6 continuous weeks. No adverse effects were reported to any of the drugs. Symptoms subsided after 7 days of treatment. No symptomatology was reported at 3-, 6- and 12-month controls and no parasitic forms compatible with *Babesia* were observed in peripheral blood smears. His mother signed the consent for the publication of the case.

Discussion

Reports of symptomatic cases of human babesiosis worldwide are rare, although in recent years the increased numbers have led experts to consider it as an emerging disease, especially in tropical and subtropical regions (1). The report of this case with severe symptoms in an immunosuppressed boy with the identification of the *Babesia* specie is important in documenting the geographic distribution of human disease in South America and particularly in Ecuador. This is the second symptomatic case in Ecuador, but the first in the Amazon region with *B. bigemina* identified as the causative agent using molecular methods (e.g., n-PCR and DNA sequencing). The first case, which came from the tropical Pacific coastal region and diagnosed in the USA, was caused by *B. microti* (11). This shows that human *Babesia* infection is present in the two tropical ecoregions of the country.

Most human infections are caused by B. microti and B. divergens and rarely by other species (1, 2, 4, 9). Few human cases by B. bigemina have been reported from Colombia and Ecuador in asymptomatic persons residing in the Amazon (7, 8). However, these cases were not confirmed by DNA sequencing: the use of PCR and or serology cannot confirm the Babesia species with certainty (1, 9, 20, 23). Babesia bigemina is widely distributed geographically and, together with B. bovis, is highly infective in livestock (12, 14). In Ecuador, B. bigemina has been reported to infect cattle and ticks from the tropical regions, as well as the Andean region (12, 13). Therefore, it is imperative to consider B. bigemina as a potential infectious agent which causes severe disease in immunosuppressed patients, as occurred in the present case. We believe that there is underdiagnosis of human babesiosis in Ecuador due to the lack of information among physicians and laboratory technicians, unavailability of sensitive diagnostic tests, and lack of epidemiological studies. Furthermore, there could be a misinterpretation of intra-erythrocytic microorganisms on blood smear with Plasmodium spp. (11) since malaria is endemic in Ecuador (24). There is a report of other febrile illnesses transmitted by ticks in the Amazon such as Rickettsia (25). Therefore, the presence of Babesia infections should be investigated in febrile patients.

The *Babesia* species that infect cattle and livestock in South America are *B. bigemina* and *B. bovis* (2, 26). Using PCR targeting the 18S ribosomal gene in cattle from the Coast and Andes identified both *B. bigemina* and *B. bovis* (12). This information indicates that active transmission in domestic animals is occurring with a permanent risk of infection to humans. The main vectors of *B. bigemina* and *B. bovis* in cattle are ticks of the genus *Rhipicephalus*, *Rh. sanguineus* but mainly *Rh. microplus*, species widely distributed in the tropics and subtropics of South America (13, 26). Although few studies on ticks exist in the country, several tick species of different genera that could act as potential vectors of *B. bigemina* and others, have been documented (12, 14, 15, 17).

The severe clinical symptoms of the present case are a consequence of the child being immunosuppressed due to his chronic kidney failure and delay in the diagnosis (18, 19, 21). In the hematological profile, the observed decrease in hemoglobin and hematocrit was most probably due to the hemolytic anemia. Associated laboratory findings, such as thrombocytopenia, elevation of liver and kidney enzyme levels, jaundice, and dark urine a month before hospitalization, are consistent with a *Babesia* infection confirmed later by nested-PCR and DNA sequencing. In addition, the history of exposure to ticks also supports the diagnosis. No intraerythrocytic forms of *Babesia* spp. were observed, probably due to it being a chronic infection with 3 months of evolution. In chronic cases, parasites may be undetectable



by microscopy, so it is important to use the molecular-based techniques, which detects a specific sequence of the nucleic acids of the parasite (20, 23). Along with the progress in molecular techniques, the knowledge of *Babesia* is further expanding and more species will probably be discovered.

Because the boy was with severe and chronic infection was treated using the combination of quinine plus clindamycin for 6 weeks, as recommended by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) guidelines (3). Clinical symptoms and parasites may relapse in immunocompromised patients despite 7 to 10 days of antimicrobial therapy and may persist for more than a year if the infection is not adequately treated (18, 19, 21). He recovered completely clinical and did not present any adverse reactions during the 12 months of follow-up.

The report of this human case confirms the existence of the disease and active transmission in Ecuador, as well as its wide geographical distribution, should alert human and veterinary physicians and decision-making authorities of the importance of this emerging zoonosis and the needed research to determine preventive and control strategies. Information on the distribution of *Babesia* species is essential for the diagnosis and prevention of the disease. Unfortunately, surveillance of ticks and tick-borne pathogens do not exist in the country. We recommend strengthening the research capacity in a One Health context in order to develop control strategies

that reduce the direct and indirect health and economic burden caused by ticks and tick-borne diseases.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Ethics statement

Ethical review and approval was not required for the study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

Author contributions

MC: overall coordination, writing, editing, and revision of manuscript. MM-A: diagnosis and management of patient, writing, and editing of manuscript. CB-C, RR-H, and SE: parasitological and molecular diagnosis, writing, and editing of manuscript. PC and DA-R: molecular diagnosis and editing of the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

References

1. Yang Y, Christie J, Köster L, Du A, Yao C. Emerging human Babesiosis with "ground zero" in North America. *Microorganisms.* (2021) 9:440. doi: 10.3390/microorganisms9020440

2. Gabrielli S, Totino V, Macchioni F, Zuñiga F, Rojas P, Lara Y, et al. Human Babesiosis, Bolivia, 2013. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2016) 22:1445-7. doi: 10.3201/eid2208.150195

3. Krause PJ, Auwaerter PG, Bannuru RR, Branda JA, Falck-Ytter YT, Lantos PM, et al. Clinical practice guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA): 2020 guideline on diagnosis and Management of Babesiosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2021) 72:185–9. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciab050

4. Kumar A, O'Bryan J, Krause PJ. The global emergence of human Babesiosis. *Pathogens*. (2021) 10:1447. doi: 10.3390/pathogens10111447. Erratum in: Pathogens. 2022 May 23;11(5): Erratum in: Pathogens. 2022 Aug 17;11(8)

5. Hunfeld K, Hildebrandt A, Gray J. Babesiosis: recent insights into an ancient disease. *Int J Parasitol*. (2008) 38:1219–37. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2008.03.001

6. Rech A, Bittar CM, de Castro CG, Azevedo KR, dos Santos RP, Machado ARL, et al. Asymptomatic Babesiosis in a child with Hepatoblastoma. *J Pediatr Hematol Oncol.* (2004) 26:213. doi: 10.1097/00043426-200403000-00015

7. Ríos L, Alvarez G, Blair S. Serological and parasitological study and report of the first case of human babesiosis in Colombia. *Rev Soc Bras Med Trop.* (2003) 36:493–8. doi: 10.1590/S0037-86822003000400010

8. Gonzalez J, Echaide I, Pabón A, Gabriel Piñeros JJ, Blair S, Tobón-Castaño A. Babesiosis prevalence in malaria-endemic regions of Colombia. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2018) 55:222. doi: 10.4103/0972-9062.249480

 Silva-Ramos CR, Faccini-Martínez ÁA. Call for Caution to Consider Babesia bovis and Babesia bigemina as Anthropozoonotic Agents in Colombia. Comment on Kumar et al. The Global Emergence of Human Babesiosis. Pathogens 2021, 10, 1447. Pathogens. (2022) 11:263. doi: 10.3390/pathogens11020263

10. Arsuaga M, Gonzalez LM, Lobo CA, de la Calle F, Bautista JM, Azcárate IG, et al. First report of *Babesia microti* -caused Babesiosis in Spain. *Vector-Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2016) 16:677–9. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2016.1946

11. Al Zoubi M, Kwak T, Patel J, Kulkarni M, Kallal CA. Atypical challenging and first case report of babesiosis in Ecuador. *IDCases.* (2016) 4:15–7. doi: 10.1016/j. idcr.2016.02.003

12. Chávez-Larrea MA, Cholota-Iza C, Medina-Naranjo V, Yugcha-Díaz M, Ron-Román J, Martin-Solano S, et al. Detection of Babesia spp. in high altitude cattle in

Funding

This study was supported by Universidad de las Américas (UDLA), Quito, Ecuador.

Acknowledgments

We greatly thank the mother for consenting to publication of this case report.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Ecuador, possible evidence of the adaptation of vectors and diseases to new climatic conditions. *Pathogens*. (2021) 10:1593. doi: 10.3390/ pathogens10121593

13. OIE. (2023). Organización Mundial de Sanidad Animal. Capitulo 3.4.2. Babesiosis bovina. Manual de las Pruebas de Diagnóstico y de las Vacunas para los Animales Terrestres 2021. Actualizacion. Available at: https://www.oie.int/es/que-hacemos/normas/codigos-y-manuales/acceso-en-linea-al-manual-terrestre/ (Accessed February 10, 2023).

14. Rodríguez-Hidalgo R, Pérez-Otáñez X, Garcés-Carrera S, Vanwambeke SO, Madder M, Benítez-Ortiz W. The current status of resistance to alpha-cypermethrin, ivermectin, and amitraz of the cattle tick (*Rhipicephalus microplus*) in Ecuador. *PLoS One.* (2017) 12:652. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0174652

15. Enríquez S, Guerrero R, Arrivillaga-Henríquez J, Araujo P, Villacrés E, Enríquez A, et al. New Records of Ticks of genus Amblyomma Koch, 1844 (Acari: Ixodidae) for Ecuador. *Acta Parasitol.* (2020) 65:430–40. doi: 10.2478/s11686-020-00173-7

16. Dusbábek FAA, Guglielmone A, Estrada-Peña JE, Keirans RG. Robbins: ticks (Acari: Ixodida) of the Neotropical zoogeographic region. *Folia Parasitol (Praha)*. (2004) 51:375–5. doi: 10.14411/fp.2004.048

17. Pesquera C, Portillo A, Palomar AM, Oteo JA. Investigation of tick-borne bacteria (Rickettsia spp., Anaplasma spp., Ehrlichia spp. and Borrelia spp.) in ticks collected from Andean tapirs, cattle and vegetation from a protected area in Ecuador. *Parasit Vectors*. (2015) 8:46. doi: 10.1186/s13071-015-0662-3

18. Vannier E, Krause PJ. Human Babesiosis. N Engl J Med. (2012) 366:2397–407. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra1202018

19. Anettová L, Kazimírová M. Human Babesiosis: Ecoepidemiology, diagnosis and treatment. In: *Vector-Borne Diseases & Treatment*. eds. A Alberti, L Falsone G Faviav (Cambridge: Open Access Book). (2019). 29.

20. Criado-Fornelio A, Martinez-Marcos A, Buling-Saraña A, Barba-Carretero JC. Molecular studies on Babesia, Theileria and Hepatozoon in southern Europe. Part II. Phylogenetic analysis and evolutionary history. *Vet Parasitol.* (2003) 114:173–94. doi: 10.1016/S0304-4017(03)00141-9

21. Sanchez E, Vannier E, Wormser GP, Hu LT. Diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of Lyme disease, human granulocytic Anaplasmosis, and Babesiosis. *JAMA*. (2016) 315:1767. doi: 10.1001/jama.2016.2884

22. Liu J, Guan G, Li Y, Liu A, Luo J, Yin H. A molecular survey of Babesia species and detection of a new Babesia species by DNA related to *B. venatorum* from white yaks in Tianzhu, China. *Front Microbiol.* (2017) 8:419. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2017.00419

23. Mtshali MS, Mtshali PS. Molecular diagnosis and phylogenetic analysis of *Babesia bigemina* and *Babesia bovis* hemoparasites from cattle in South Africa. *BMC Vet Res.* (2013) 9:154. doi: 10.1186/1746-6148-9-154

24. MSP. (2019). Diagnóstico y Tratamiento de Malaria Acuerdo 0346–2019. Available at: https://www.salud.gob.ec/catalogo-de-normas-politicas-reglamentos-protocolos-manuales-planes-guias-y-otros-del-msp/ (Accessed January 18, 2023).

25. de Bravo NB, Smalligan RD, Russell KL, Manock SR, Espín JF, Jacobsen KH, et al. Etiology of acute undifferentiated febrile illness in the Amazon basin of Ecuador. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2009) 81:146–51. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2009. 81.146

26. Montenegro-James S. Prevalence and control of Babesiosis in the Americas. *Mem Inst Oswaldo Cruz.* (1992) 87:27–36. doi: 10.1590/S0074-02761992000700003
Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Miguel Angel Garcia Bereguiain, University of the Americas, Ecuador

REVIEWED BY Gerhard Wunderlich, University of São Paulo, Brazil Stephen Rogerson, The University of Melbourne, Australia

*CORRESPONDENCE Vineeta Singh ⊠ vineetas_2000@yahoo.com

RECEIVED 24 January 2023 ACCEPTED 25 September 2023 PUBLISHED 19 October 2023

CITATION

Kojom Foko LP and Singh V (2023) Malaria in pregnancy in India: a 50-year bird's eye. *Front. Public Health* 11:1150466. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1150466

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Kojom Foko and Singh. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Malaria in pregnancy in India: a 50-year bird's eye

Loick Pradel Kojom Foko and Vineeta Singh *

Parasite and Host Biology Group, ICMR-National Institute of Malaria Research, New Delhi, India

Introduction: In 2021, India contributed for ~79% of malaria cases and ~83% of deaths in the South East Asia region. Here, we systematically and critically analyzed data published on malaria in pregnancy (MiP) in India.

Methods: Epidemiological, clinical, parasitological, preventive and therapeutic aspects of MiP and its consequences on both mother and child were reviewed and critically analyzed. Knowledge gaps and solution ways are also presented and discussed. Several electronic databases including Google scholar, Google, PubMed, Scopus, Wiley Online library, the Malaria in Pregnancy Consortium library, the World Malaria Report, The WHO regional websites, and ClinicalTrials.gov were used to identify articles dealing with MiP in India. The archives of local scientific associations/journals and website of national programs were also consulted.

Results: Malaria in pregnancy is mainly due to *Plasmodium falciparum (Pf)* and P. vivax (Pv), and on rare occasions to P. ovale spp. and P. malariae too. The overall prevalence of MiP is $\sim 0.1-57.7\%$ for peripheral malaria and $\sim 0-29.3\%$ for placental malaria. Peripheral Pf infection at antenatal care (ANC) visits decreased from ~13% in 1991 to ~7% in 1995-1996 in Madhya Pradesh, while placental Pf infection at delivery unit slightly decreased from ~1.5% in 2006-2007 to ~1% in 2012-2015 in Jharkhand. In contrast, the prevalence of peripheral Pv infection at ANC increased from ~1% in 2006-2007 to ~5% in 2015 in Jharkhand, and from ~0.5% in 1984-1985 to ~1.5% in 2007-2008 in Chhattisgarh. Clinical presentation of MiP is diverse ranging from asymptomatic carriage of parasites to severe malaria, and associated with comorbidities and concurrent infections such as malnutrition, COVID-19, dengue, and cardiovascular disorders. Severe anemia, cerebral malaria, severe thrombocytopenia, and hypoglycemia are commonly seen in severe MiP, and are strongly associated with tragic consequences such as abortion and stillbirth. Congenital malaria is seen at prevalence of $\sim 0-12.9\%$. Infected babies are generally small-for-gestational age, premature with low birthweight, and suffer mainly from anemia, thrombocytopenia, leucopenia and clinical jaundice. Main challenges and knowledge gaps to MiP control included diagnosis, relapsing malaria, mixed Plasmodium infection treatment, selfmedication, low density infections and utility of artemisinin-based combination therapies.

Conclusion: All taken together, the findings could be immensely helpful to control MiP in malaria endemic areas.

KEYWORDS

malaria, pregnancy, epidemiology, outcomes, prevention, treatment, India

1. Introduction

Globally, an estimated 247 million cases and 619,000 deaths were due to malaria in 2021 (1). This burden has significantly increased compared to previous years, partially due to the current COVID-19 pandemics (2, 3). Malaria is due to five *Plasmodium* species that are transmitted to human through infecting bites of female *Anopheles* mosquitoes (4). *Plasmodium falciparum* (*Pf*) and *Plasmodium vivax* (*Pv*) are the predominant malaria species around the world; *Pf* is the most severe and dangerous species while *Pv* is the most geographically spread but can also induce severe clinical attacks (5, 6).

The sub-Saharan Africa (sSA) and South East Asia (SEA) regions are affected by malaria, especially children under 5 years of age and pregnant women (2). Malaria during pregnancy (MiP) poses an important problem to both; the future mother and unborn child. During pregnancy, malaria infection is associated with several maternal, fetal and birth complications including growth restriction, stillbirth, premature delivery, spontaneous abortions, low birth weight (LBW), and even death of mother and/or child (7, 8). The clinical spectrum and outcomes of MiP are various with distinct features depending on factors such as epidemiological situation of the setting, malaria species, gravidity, and coverage of malaria control measures preventive treatment intermittent with [e.g., sulfadoxine+pyrimethamine - IPTp-SP, indoor residual spraying (IRS), and long lasting insecticide-treated nets (LLINs)] (2).

India accounted for ~79% of malaria cases and ~83% of deaths seen in SEA in 2021 (2). In the present review, we reviewed the situation of MiP in India with emphasis on its epidemiology, clinical presentation, determinants, outcomes, prevention, and treatment. A brief overview of neonatal and congenital malaria (NCM) characteristics is also presented. Finally, we identify knowledge gaps on MiP research and propose solutions for future directions.

2. Materials and methods

2.1. Search strategy

The strategy used to identify relevant studies was inspired from MiP reviews reported previously (7, 9). Briefly, we used Google scholar, Google, PubMed, Scopus, Wiley Online library, the Malaria in Pregnancy Consortium library, the World Malaria Report, The WHO regional websites, and ClinicalTrials.gov to search for articles dealing with MiP in India published in last 50 years. The archives of local scientific associations/journals (e.g., Indian Journal of Medical Research, Indian Journal of Malariology now known as Journal of Vector Borne Diseases) and websites of national programs were also consulted. We used the search terms "malaria," "pregnancy," "pregnant woman," "burden," "prevalence," "epidemiology," "outcome," "placental infection," "congenital malaria," "neonatal malaria," "diagnostic," "prevention," "control," "management," "India," and Indian regions (Tamil Nadu, Chandigarh, Andaman and Nicobar, Assam, Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Daman and Diu, Goa, Delhi, Gujarat, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu and Kashmir, Jharkhand, Kerala, Kolkata, Karnataka, Lakshadweep, Maharashtra, Manipur, Mizoram, Madhya Pradesh, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Odisha, Pondicherry, Rajasthan, Sikkim, Tripura, Uttarakhand, Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, Haryana, and West Bengal). Boolean operators including "AND" and "OR" were used in combination with the above mentioned search terms to identify relevant papers through databases such as PubMed. The search strategy was tailored to each of the search databases using search terms and Boolean operators (AND, OR). We also included all publications on neonatal and congenital malaria (NCM). To do so, the same search strategy used for MiP papers was used with some differences. For example search terms for NCM papers were "malaria," "placental infection," "congenital malaria," "neonatal malaria," "India," and Indian regions (Tamil Nadu, Chandigarh, Andaman and Nicobar, Assam, Andhra Pradesh, Bihar, Chhattisgarh, Daman and Diu, Goa, Delhi, Gujarat, Himachal Pradesh, Jammu and Kashmir, Jharkhand, Kerala, Kolkata, Karnataka, Lakshadweep, Maharashtra, Manipur, Mizoram, Madhya Pradesh, Meghalaya, Nagaland, Odisha, Pondicherry, Rajasthan, Sikkim, Tripura, Uttarakhand, Uttar Pradesh, Punjab, Haryana, and West Bengal).

2.2. Screening strategy

Titles and abstracts of studies retrieved from databases were independently reviewed by the authors in order to identify those relevant to the study. The full texts were retrieved and scrutinized to extract data of interest. Principal investigators were kindly contacted to request full length paper and/or more details on studies. We also contacted editors-in-chief of national journals to request full length papers in case of a negative reply or no reply at all from principal investigators. Additionally, we reviewed relevant articles cited in references of identified literature and included them as primary sources.

2.3. Eligibility criteria

Only papers published in English and Hindi were included. Publications were considered of interest if they addressed any aspect of MiP and NCM in India including prevalence, clinical presentation, determinants, maternal and fetal/neonatal outcomes, diagnostic, prevention, and treatment. The list of studies is presented in Supplementary Tables 1–5.

2.4. Data extraction

Data of interest were independently extracted from eligible publications, and these consisted of (i) characteristics of studies (first author' name, year of publication, study design, area, state/union territory, urbanization setting, and year of sample collection); (ii) demographical, obstetrical, and gynecological data (age, timing of screening, parity, trimester of gestation, and route of delivery); (iii) clinical characteristics of MiP and NCM (type of malaria, clinical signs/ symptoms, presence of comorbidities, and levels of hemoglobin, blood cells, and biochemical markers); (iv) parasitological information (blood source, parasitological screening method, malaria species, total number of individuals included, total number of malaria infected individuals, number of mono-infections for each malaria species, and number of mixed infections), (v) factors associated with malaria infection in pregnant women and babies; (vi) MiP and NCM outcomes, (vii) malaria preventive methods used, and (viii) efficacy of treatments to control MiP. Setting urbanization was categorized as urban, semi-urban, rural, and not specified. Timing of screening consisted of women screened for malaria parasites in community or at health facility for delivery (DU) and antenatal care visit (ANC). Type of malaria was defined either as asymptomatic malaria, uncomplicated malaria (UM) or severe malaria (SM). In the early 90s, the WHO defined a set of criteria used for diagnosing severe malaria (SM) in children and adults (Table 1) (6, 10, 12–16). The latest WHO guideline lists 12 SM-associated signs/symptoms by malarial species and age group: severe malarial anemia (SMA), severe renal impairment, cerebral malaria (CM; prostration, impaired consciousness/coma, and multiple convulsions), jaundice, hypoglycemia, acidosis/acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), significant bleeding, pulmonary edema, circulatory collapse/shock, and hyperparasitemia (10).

2.5. Data management

Data were keyed into an Excel spreadsheet (Microsoft Office, United States) by reviewer authors and then coded and verified for consistency, and removed any duplicates. Any discrepancies between the authors were resolved through discussion and consensus. Data were analyzed using StatView 5.0 for Windows (SAS Institute, Inc., Chicago, Illinois, United States) and GraphPad v8.01 for Windows (GraphPad, Inc., California, United States), and summarized as percentages and mean in tables and charts where appropriate. Overall aggregation of data using sophisticated approaches such as metaanalysis was not possible due to the heterogeneity of studies related to study design, diagnostic methods, timing of screening, blood origin, analysis conducted, and effect measures presented. Thus, only summaries of study findings stratified by variables such as diagnostic methods, timing of screening and blood origin are presented in this review. In addition, findings from studies with minimum sample size of 30 were extracted to generate charts (17). We think that this approach of analysis is more appropriate to provide reliable results and avoid misleading conclusions on Indian scenario of MiP and NCM.

3. Results

3.1. Burden of malaria in India

Malaria burden profoundly decreased in last two decades in India, and this is due to diverse strategies implemented and/or scaled up over the country (e.g., LLINs, IRS) (6). The recent national data from National Vector Borne Disease Control Program (NVBDCP) indicated that malaria transmission is low with annual parasite incidence (API) < 1 in most of the areas of India (https://nvbdcp.gov. in; Figure 1A). Malaria control needs to be reinforced in some areas including Bihar, Delhi, Uttarakhand, Orissa, Chhattisgarh, and West Bengal where API is >2 (Figure 1A). The risk of malaria infection is highest in two North-Eastern areas of India namely Tripura and Mizoram with API > 10.

The *Pf* and *Pv* species are major species in the country, with ratio close to one at the country level but varied between the different regions (Figure 1B) (18–20). Other species including *P. ovale* (*Po*), *P. malariae* (*Pm*), and *P. knowlesi* (*Pk*) are also found in India but much fewer in extent than that of *Pf* and *Pv* (21–24). The *Pm* species was reported from Madhya Pradesh, Andhra Pradesh, Tamil Nadu,

Kerala, Karnataka, and Orissa; while *Po* spp. was mainly seen in Uttar Pradesh, Assam, and Gujarat states (21, 23). Tyagi and colleagues reported the circulation of *Pk* in patients living in the Andaman and Nicobar Islands (24). Recently, *Pk* was reported from Bihar, Uttar Pradesh, and Delhi (22).

3.2. Burden of MiP in India

Data on the epidemiology of MiP in India are largely heterogeneous due to variation in diagnostic methods (LM, PCR, RDT, and histology), timing of screening (ANC, DU, and community), and blood origin (peripheral and placental blood). Again, results are more documented from forested, tribal, and rural areas of three states viz. Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan, and Chhattisgarh (Table 2; Figure 2). Information on MiP epidemiology is lacking in highly malaria prevalent areas such as Delhi, Bihar, and some North Eastern states (e.g., Arunachal Pradesh and Nagaland). On ANC visits, prevalence of MiP in Madhya Pradesh state ranged from 1.9 to 17.9% using LM for detecting malaria parasites in the peripheral blood (Table 2). In Chhattisgarh, peripheral blood-based MiP prevalence ranged from 20.6 and 29.3% using RDT (42, 49). Combining different diagnostic methods, several authors reported placental malaria prevalence at DU of 2.2 and 29.3% in Madhya Pradesh (35, 40), and 21.9% in Uttar Pradesh (26). In Madhya Pradesh and Chhattisgarh, placental malaria was diagnosed at higher rates using PCR compared to impression smear and LM (44, 47), thereby outlining a high proportion of submicroscopic infections during pregnancy. Fewer studies reported MiP burden in community where peripheral malaria prevalence rates of 55.5% using LM and 0.81% using RDT were reported in Madhya Pradesh and Chhattisgarh, respectively (33, 54).

3.3. Plasmodium species involved in MiP

The information on Plasmodium species-wise MiP proportion is mainly originated from hospital based studies, in a limited number of states such as Madhya Pradesh, Jharkhand, Maharashtra, Rajasthan, and Chhattisgarh (Figure 2). Pf and Pv are predominant species involved in MiP irrespective of diagnostic method and timing of screening. In Madhya Pradesh, Pf was the main MiP-associated malaria species on ANC visits and DU with overall peripheral Pf mono-infections prevalence of 3.4-48.5% based on LM (Figure 3) (28, 30, 31, 33, 36, 43). Likewise, a trend of Pf dominance was also seen in Chhattisgarh with LM-based placental prevalence of Pf monoinfections ranging from 1.2 to 3.2% (Figure 4), even though the contribution of plasmodial species can vary within the same state (41, 47, 57). Singh and colleagues conducted a study in two districts of Chhattisgarh with different malarial endemicity level (i.e., Rajnandgaon and Bastar), and showed that Pv was dominant in Rajnandgaon (low endemic area) both at ANC and DU while Pf was dominant in Bastar (high endemic area; Figure 3) (41). The same team reported Pm as additional cause of MiP in Chhattisgarh using PCR method (47). Similarly, Po was detected as mixed infection with Pf in a multicentric study (58). One study from Rajasthan reported the predominance of Pv species which accounted for 96.2% of all LM-detected peripheral infections among women attending ANC visits (Figure 3) (50).

Signs/ symptoms	Definitions	1990	2000	2006	2010	2012	2014	2015
Severe anemia* ^{,&}	■ Hemoglobin (Hb) <5 g/dL, or Hematocrit (Hct) < 15%							
	 Hb < 5 g/dL, or Hct < 15% (Children) Hb < 7 g/dL, or Hct < 20% (Adults) 							
	 Hb <5 g/dL, or Hct < 15% (Children <12 years) with parasitemia >10,000 p/µL Hb <7 g/dL, or Hct <20% (Adults) with parasitemia >10,000 p/µL 							
Severe renal impairment*	 Urine output <12 mL/kg/24 h, or plasma creatinine concentration above the age-related normal values (Children)/Urine output <400 mL/kg/24 h, or/and a serum creatinine >3 mg/dL (Adult), and despite adequate volume repletion/rehydration 							
	■ Serum creatinine concentration > 265 µmol/L (3 mg/dL)							
	■ Serum creatinine concentration > 265 µmol/L (3 mg/dL) or blood urea >20 mmol							
Shock/Circulatory collapse*	 Systolic blood pressure (SBP) < 70 mmHg (Adults) and < 50 mmHg (Children 1–5 years) 							
	■ SBP<80 mmHg (Adults) and <50 mmHg (Children)							
	■ <i>Compensated shock</i> : capillary refill ≥3 s or temperature gradient on leg (mid to proximal limb), but no hypotension. <i>Decompensated shock</i> : SBP < 70 mmHg (Children) or < 80 mmHg (Adults) with confirmation of impaired perfusion (prolonged capillary refill or cool peripheries)							
Abnormal bleeding*	 Spontaneous bleeding from gums, nose, gastrointestinal tract, and venipuncture sites. Clinical evidence of bleeding using tests (e.g., prothrombin time, platelet) 							
	 Recurrent or prolonged bleeding from nose gums, gastro-intestinal tract, or venipuncture sites; hematemesis or melena 							
Disseminated intravascular coagulation (DIC)	 Laboratory evidence (e.g., prothrombin time prolonged >3 s of the control) 							
Multiple convulsions	 More than 2 convulsions observed within 24 h 							
Metabolic acidosis*	 Plasma bicarbonate <15 mmol/L 							
	■ Plasma bicarbonate <15 mmol/L or base excess (\geq 10 mmol/L)							
	 A base deficit of >8 mEq/L or, if unavailable, a plasma bicarbonate of <15 mM or venous plasma lactate >5 mM 							

 TABLE 1 Evolution of WHO definitions of severe malaria clinical and laboratory manifestations due to Plasmodium falciparum (1990–2015),

 Plasmodium vivax (2006–2015), and Plasmodium knowlesi (2012–2015) in children, non-pregnant adults, and pregnant women (10–16).

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Signs/ symptoms	Definitions	1990	2000	2006	2010	2012	2014	2015
Hemoglobinuria*	 Hemolysis not secondary to glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency 							
	 Urine is dark or black, and urinalysis dipstick test is positive for Hb, associated with absence of microscopic hematuria (i.e., presence of blood in urine) 							
Impaired consciousness/ Cerebral malaria*.§	 Rousable coma (impaired consciousness)/Unarousable come (cerebral malaria) 							
	 A Glasgow coma Score < 9 (Adults), or a Blantyre coma score < 2 (Children) 							
	 A Glasgow coma Score < 11 (Adults), or a Blantyre coma score < 3 (Children) 							
Prostration*	 Weakness so that the patient cannot sit or walk, with no obvious neurological explanation 							
	 The inability to sit upright or to drink (Children), Extreme weakness (Adults) 							
	 Generalized weakness so that the patient is unable walk or sit up without assistance 							
Clinical jaundice*	■ Plasma/serum bilirubin concentration > 50 µmol/L (3 mg/dL) ^a							
	■ Plasma/serum bilirubin concentration > 50 µmol/L (3 mg/dL) ^b							
	 Plasma/serum bilirubin concentration > 50 µmol/L (3 mg/dL) with parasite density > 20,000 parasites/µL^c 							
	 Plasma/serum bilirubin concentration > 50 µmol/L (3 mg/dL) with parasite density > 100,000 parasites/µL^{a,c} 							
Multi-organ dysfunction	 Clinical jaundice, and evidence of other vital organ dysfunction 							
Pulmonary oedema*	 Diagnosed upon radiological examination 							
	 Diagnosed upon radiological examination, or oxygen saturation < 92% on room air with a respiratory rate > 30/min, often with chest indrawing and crepitations on auscultation 							
Acidotic breathing	 Deep breathing and respiratory distress 							
Hypoglycaemia	 Whole blood glucose concentration < 2.2 mmol/L (40 mg/dL) 							
Hyperpyrexia	■ Core body temperature>40°C							
Hyperlactatemia*	■ Plasma lactate 5 mmol/L (Children) and > 6 mmol/L (Adults)							
	 Plasma lactate >5 mmol/L 							

(Continued)

TABLE 1 (Continued)

Signs/ symptoms	Definitions	1990	2000	2006	2010	2012	2014	2015
Failure to feed	■ n.a (observable)							
Hyperparasitemia*	 No parasitemia threshold defined^a 							
	 Parasitemia >4% (unstable malaria endemicity), > 20% (stable malaria endemicity)^a 							
	 Parasitemia >5% (low malaria endemicity), > 10% (high malaria endemicity)^a 							
	 Parasitemia >2% (low malaria endemicity), > 5% (high malaria endemicity)^a 							
	 Parasitemia >20% in any epidemiological context^a 							
	 Parasitemia >10% in any epidemiological context^a 							
	■ Parasitemia >2% ^c							

DIC, Disseminated intravascular coagulation; Hb, Hemoglobin; Hct, Hematocrit; n.a, Not applicable; *Pf, Plasmodium falciparum*; *Pk, Plasmodium knowlesi; Pv, Plasmodium vivax*; SBP, Systolic blood pressure; WHO, World Health Organization. *These signs/symptoms have been revised by the WHO. *Defined as severe normocytic anemia in the previous guidelines (1990–2012). ⁵Impaired consciousness (rousable coma) and cerebral malaria (unarousable coma) were clinically differentiated before advent of coma scales (16). *Pv* and *Pk* have been first mentioned as able to induce severe malaria in the 2006 and 2012 WHO guidelines, respectively. Manifestations of severe malaria due to *Pv* parasites may present to with some symptoms similar to severe *Pf* malaria. Manifestations of severe malaria due to *Pk* parasites are similar to those of severe *Pf* malaria with the exception of coma. "Used for *P. falciparum* severe malaria only. ^bUsed for *P. vivax* severe malaria only. ^cUsed for *P. knowlesi* severe malaria only. The color is related to linking the definition of a given sign/symptom to the period where this definition was retained in global WHO guidelines to diagnose severe malaria.

Temporal analysis of burden of MiP was limited in regions such as Madhya Pradesh, Jharkhand, and Chhattisgarh (Figures 3, 4). In Madhya Pradesh, the prevalence of peripheral Pf infection at ANC decreased from ~13% in 1991 to ~7% in 1995-1996, while prevalence of peripheral Pv infection at ANC levels off at ~5% between 1991 and 1997–1998. In Jharkhand, the prevalence of Pv infection at ANC increased from ~1% in 2006-2007 to ~5% in 2015. The same trend was observed for peripheral Pf infection among women attending ANCs in Chhattisgarh where the prevalence of this species increased from ~0.5% in 1984-1985 to ~1.5% in 2007-2008 (Figure 3). In contrast, an increase in prevalence of peripheral Pv infection at DU was noted in Jharkhand (~0.5% in 2006-2007 to ~4% in 2015). Regarding placental infection, the burden of Pf infection slightly decreased from ~1.5% in 2006-2007 to ~1% in 2012-2015 in women living in Jharkhand (Figure 4). There are few studies that analyzed temporal trends of MiP burden in other settings such as sSA and Latin Americas where malaria endemicity patterns are different. One study reported an apparent reduction in Pf MiP burden from ~60 to 5% during years 1994-2019 in different malaria eco-epidemiological regions (coastal savannah zone, middle forest zone, and northern savannah zone) in Ghana (59).

3.4. Clinical and parasitological features of MiP

Clinical presentation of MiP in India is diverse with *Plasmodium* infections ranging from asymptomatic carriage of the parasites to severe clinical forms.

3.4.1. Asymptomatic malaria

The detection of Plasmodium parasitemia of any density, in the absence of fever or other acute symptoms, in individuals who have not received recent antimalarial treatment is known as asymptomatic malaria (60). All plasmodial species can elicit asymptomatic infections during pregnancy with higher parasitemia in Pf infections compared to non-Pf infections (50). Data on asymptomatic MiP are greatly lacking from India. The burden of asymptomatic malaria varies across Indian areas, and this heterogeneity is related to several factors such as using diagnostic techniques with varying sensitivity and specificity. Using RDT, Corrêa and colleagues reported that ~10% of Plasmodium spp-infected women were asymptomatic in tribal areas of Chhattisgarh, Telangana, and Andhra Pradesh (49). In Jharkhand state, it was reported that >70% of MiP cases were asymptomatic in a randomized trial (53). Another study in the same state reported same results both, at ANC (70.6%) and DU (75.7%) (46). Similarly, a community based study found that asymptomatic cases accounted for 76.7% of all malaria cases in rural areas in Chhattisgarh (54). There is a link between asymptomatic infections and parasite density, with many asymptomatic infections being found at submicroscopic levels and thus can only be detected using molecular tools (61). A recent meta-analysis reported overall prevalence of submicroscopic Plasmodium infections of 0.4-38.4% in general Indian population (62), which is lower estimates as seen in MiP. In Chhattisgarh, Singh and colleagues found significant proportion of both peripheral and placental Plasmodium spp. submiscroscopic infections, for which the extent was species-dependent, among majorly primigravidae/ secundigravidae women (47). More than 60% of peripheral and placental infections were submicroscopic with higher rates seen in Pv compared to Pf infections (placental: 66.7 vs. 64.7%, peripheral: 90.5

vs. 50%) (47). Tracking asymptomatic and submicroscopic *Plasmodium* infections is vital for malaria elimination strategies in endemic areas (63), especially in India where malaria burden significantly decreased in last years.

3.4.2. Uncomplicated malaria

The fraction of asymptomatic infections that will become clinically symptomatic is shaped by a cocktail of factors such as level of transmission, control measure coverage, comorbidities (e.g., human immunodeficiency virus—HIV, malnutrition), host and parasite factors (64, 65). Uncomplicated malaria (UM) encompasses non-pathognomonic and flu-like signs and symptoms which often comprise fever, nausea, rigors, chills, headache, muscle pains, etc. (66). Symptoms usually occur 7–30 days after mosquito bite and last for 6–10h sequentially three stages: cold, hot, and sweating (67). The same clinical malaria symptomatology is seen in pregnant women living in endemic areas such as India. Most of the *Pf* and *Pv* UM-related symptoms reported in Indian pregnant women attending ANC and/or DU included fever, weakness/fatigue, body/joint pain, headache, loss of appetite, diarrhea, dizziness, hepato-splenomegaly, and nausea/vomiting (33, 43, 44, 46, 49, 50, 52, 54).

Malaria is also associated with cell and biochemical changes in multiple organs and tissues. One of the most dominant MiP-associated signs is anemia for which risk is increased in pregnant women and malaria-infected pregnant women (46, 55). The pathophysiological mechanism includes hemolysis of both Plasmodium-infected and uninfected red blood cells (RBCs) and impaired/suppressed hematopoiesis (67, 68). The sequestration pathophysiological phenomenon is known and described well in Pf parasites (69), but not for Pv and Pk though few reports showed ability of Pv- and Pk-infected RBCs to cytoadhere to endothelial cells in placenta, bloodstream vessels and brain even though low cytoadherence of Pk-infected RBCs to cerebral microvascular endothelial cells was found (70-72). In India, malarial anemia during pregnancy is due to Pf and Pv with overall prevalence of 36.6–100% varying across the country (39–43, 46, 47, 50, 58, 73), with mild and moderate forms accounting for >85% of all anemia cases (28, 41, 46, 49). The extent of MiP-associated anemia seems to be higher in primigravidae/secundigravidae and ANC patients. On ANC visits anemia prevalence of ~67-88.3% against ~59.6-83.9% at DU through studies conducted in Jharkhand, Chhattisgarh, and Rajasthan (39, 46, 47, 50).

3.4.3. Severe malaria

Pregnant women are particularly susceptible to *Plasmodium* infections and its severe forms in malaria endemic regions of India (31, 57, 74). Available data outline that *Pf* is the principal contributor to severe MiP cases and maternal/fetal outcomes, and few reports about *Pv* causing SM attacks (75, 76). No severe MiP case due to non-*Pf/Pv* species has been documented in the world so far. Using systematic review and meta-analysis approach, we recently showed that the overall prevalence of SM in individuals with *Pv* mono-infection was 29.3% in India, with lowest and highest rates in Karnataka (15.3%) and Uttarakhand (57.8%), respectively (5). In pregnant women, data on SM prevalence are greatly missing in India, and the studies on clinical patterns of severe MiP are focused and/or have evaluated few particular presentations only (e.g., ARDS, CM) (77, 78). One study from Karnataka reported that 32.4% of malaria-infected patients were diagnosed with SM, and *Pv* was the main

contributor of SM cases (56.6%) (52). Most of severe *Pf* MiP cases occurred in primigravidae as reported by Singh et al. in Madhya Pradesh (29), and Kochar et al. in Rajasthan (79). No severe MiP case with *Po*, *Pm*, and *Pk* have been documented in India till now.

3.4.3.1. Severe malarial anemia

Malaria infection is a risk factor for severe anemia in Indian pregnant women (47, 50). Based on the available data, severe anemia is found at prevalence of 3-15.6% in Plasmodium-infected pregnant women (28, 39, 41, 46, 47, 49, 50, 52, 74). Pf and Pv as mono- and mixed infections are the species responsible for this severe hematological condition, with higher rates seen in Pf-MiP as reported in Karnataka state (52). However, these estimates do not reflect the real burden of MiP related SMA in Indian context for at least four reasons: (i) different thresholds for hemoglobin level were used for diagnosing severe anemia (e.g., Hb<5g/dL or<7g/dL), (ii) in some studies, moderate and severe anemia were collectively diagnosed with the same Hb threshold (e.g., Hb < 9 g/dL) (41), (iii) very few studies appraised other severe anemia-inducing conditions such as malnutrition (49), and (iv) none of the studies included parasitemia threshold for defining SMA as per WHO guidelines (Tables 2, 3). In this context, it is needed to document the real contribution of SMA in pregnancy in India.

3.4.3.2. Cerebral malaria

Cerebral malaria is a common severe manifestation in Indian pregnant women (38, 77, 84, 87, 88), as high CM prevalence of 60 and 76% reported among malaria-infected individuals from Orissa and Rajasthan states, respectively (79, 82). Routinely, CM is more frequently seen in primigravidae/secundigravidae compared to multigravidae, and is mostly associated with poor maternal and fetal outcomes (28, 31, 77, 88).

3.4.3.3. Hypoglycemia

Hypoglycemia is often reported at low rates in Indian children and non-pregnant adults diagnosed with SM. A systematic review and meta-analysis found a pooled proportion of hypoglycemia of 0.05% due to *Pv*-related mono-infections in the country (5). In SM pregnant women, prevalence of hypoglycemia is \sim 3–35% with higher rates found in *Pf* infected pregnant women compared to their *Pv* infected counterparts (Table 3). In Rajasthan, *Pv* induced hypoglycemia in 4% of malaria patients while a prevalence of 35% was reported among *Pf*-infected women in Uttar Pradesh (Table 3) (48, 74).

3.4.3.4. Acute renal failure

The etiology of acute renal failure (ARF) is multifactorial in pregnancy, and studies outline that malaria contributes toward a small fraction as reported from Gujarat state where ARF proportion is ~0–8% in pregnant women (83). A study from Rajasthan reported a *Pf*-induced ARF proportion of 20%, but this estimate was obtained on only 45 pregnant women (Table 3) (80).

3.4.3.5. Acute respiratory distress syndrome/pulmonary edema

Acute respiratory distress syndrome is diagnosed in malaria infected pregnant women at lower rates compared to SMA, CM, and ARF, with overall proportion of ~0–4% in states including Rajasthan, Gujarat, and Andhra Pradesh (Table 3). ARDS can pose a veritable



diagnostic and therapeutic dilemma as previously reported in a Pv-infected preeclamptic pregnant woman (78). Kochar et al. (81) reported that pulmonary edema occurred in 13.3% of malaria infected pregnant women just after delivery in Rajasthan.

3.4.3.6. Clinical jaundice

Jaundice is the main clinical manifestation seen in Pv SM in Indian patients (5). This condition occurs in malaria infections due to intravascular hemolysis, disseminated intravascular coagulation, and rarely the occurrence of hepatocellular jaundice in Pf malaria infection also known as "malarial hepatitis" (89). Compared to severe Pfinfections, the risk of jaundice is lower in severe Pv infections regardless of the living area and age group (5). In *Plasmodium* spp. infected pregnant women, the proportion of clinical jaundice ranges from ~4–14% with similar rates for Pf and Pv (Table 3).

3.4.3.7. Other severe malaria clinical manifestations

Severe clinical manifestations such as shock, prostration, metabolic acidosis, and abnormal bleeding can also occur in *Plasmodium* infected pregnant women, but at lower rates ($\leq 5\%$) compared to the above mentioned clinical manifestations (Table 3).

3.4.4. Other severe clinical manifestations: severe thrombocytopenia

Severe thrombocytopenia defined as level of blood platelets below 50,000/µL, is not considered as clinical marker of SM in latest WHO guidelines (10). Previous works in India reported significant fraction

of SM patients presenting this hematological disorder (5, 90, 91). *Pf* and *Pv* are able to induce severe thrombocytopenia, and available data in India on comparative analysis of these two species outline that the risk of this condition varies with area. In Karnataka, the risk of severe thrombocytopenia is nearly four times higher in *Pf*-infection compared to *Pv*-infections. In contrast, this risk is reduced by ~60% in *Pf*-infections in Rajasthan state (5). In pregnant women, few studies reported disparate findings for severe thrombocytopenia prevalence in Karnataka (6 and 26.8%) for *Plasmodium* spp. infections while 56 and 82% were found in Rajasthan and Gujarat for *Pv* mono-infections, respectively (45, 74, 84, 86).

3.5. Comorbidities and concurrent infections seen in MiP

Clinical course and outcomes of MiP are modeled by complex interaction between host, parasite, and environment (48). In addition, external factors such as comorbidities and concurrent infections can modulate interaction between host and *Plasmodium* parasites, and thus impact the natural history of malarial infection in pregnant women (Figure 5).

Concurrent infections included diseases caused by bacteria, viruses, parasites, and fungi. In late 80s, Mehta and Mehta reported toxoplasmosis in *Plasmodium* infected pregnant women from Kolkata, West Bengal (92). In the same period in Chandigarh, septicemia of bacterial origin was reported in one woman diagnosed with CM (57).

TABLE 2 Studies conducted on burden of MiP in India.

Design	Timing of screening	States (Areas)	Setting [†]	Year of collection	Screening method	N	Plasmodium spp. infection prevalence	Ref.
Case-Control	ANC	Chandigarh and neighboring villages	Rural area	1984–1985	LM	5,589	1.40%*	(25)
Cross-sectional	DU	Uttar Pradesh	Not specified	Not specified	Histology/LM	256	21.9% ^{‡&}	(26)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Gujarat (Surat)	Not specified	1987-1988	LM	Not specified	57.7%*	(27)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Jabalpur)	Rural, tribal, and urban	1991	LM	Total (831), Dry (62), Monsoon (466), and Autumn (303)	Total (17.4% [*]), Dry (19.4% [*]), Monsoon (14.8% [*]), and Autumn (21.1% [*])	(28)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Jabalpur)	Rural, tribal, and urban	1991-1993	LM	1,000	20%*	(29)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Mandla District)	Rural and Forested	1995-1996	LM	456 + 325 (781)	$\frac{12.9\%^{\#} + 11.4\%^{\#}}{(12.3\%^{\#})}$	(30)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Jabalpur)	Rural, tribal, and urban	1992-1995	LM	1,598	17.9%*	(31)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Orissa (Koraput)	Rural, tribal and with perennial hyperendemic transmission	Not specified	LM	209	11.6%*	(32)
Cross-sectional	-	Madhya Pradesh (Mandla District)	Rural and Forested	1997-1998	LM	274	55.1%*	(33) [§]
Cross-sectional	-	Madhya Pradesh (Mandla District)	Rural and Forested	1996	LM	100	30*	(34) [§]
Cross-sectional	DU	Madhya Pradesh (Mandla District)	Rural and Forested	2002-2003	LM/RDT	182	29.3%*	(35)
Cross-sectional	DU	Madhya Pradesh (Mandla and Satna	Rural, forested and tribal	2002-2003	LM	209 (Mandla), 590 (Satna)	Mandla: 5.3% [*] and 14.4% [*]	(36)
		districts)					Satna: 6.9% [‡] and 10.8% [‡]	
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Madhya Pradesh	Rural, tribal and urban	2006	LM	1,825 (ANC), 1,012 (DU)	Dry season: 1.9% [#] (ANC), 0.8% [#] (DU); Post-rainy season: 6.4% [#] (ANC), 2.9% [#] (DU)	(37)
							Dry season: 0.8% [‡] and Post-rainy season: 2.9% [‡]	
Cross-sectional	ANC	Maharashtra (Mumbai)	Not specified	Not specified	LM	416	6.5%*	(38)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Jharkhand (Ranchi, Konbir, and Gumla)	Rural, semi-urban, and urban	2006-2007	LM/RDT	Peripheral: 2,382 (ANC) and 717 (DU); Placental: 0 (ANC) and 712 (DU)	1.8% [#] (ANC) and 1.7% [#] (DU); (ANC) and 2.4% [‡] (DU)	(39)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Jabalpur)	Rural, tribal and urban	2008-2009	LM	500	1.8% [#] and 2.2% [‡]	(40)

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Design	Timing of screening	States (Areas)	Setting [†]	Year of collection	Screening method	N	Plasmodium spp. infection prevalence	Ref.
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Chhattisgarh (Bastar, Rajnandgaon)	Rural and Forested (Bastar is high endemic, Rajnandgaon is low endemic)	2007–2008	LM/RDT	Rajnandgaon: 1,498 (ANC), 547 (DU); Bastar: 1,198 (ANC), 481 (DU)	Total: 1.3% [#] (ANC), 1.9% [#] (DU) Rajnandgaon: 0.1% [#] (ANC), 0.6% [#] (DU) and 3.2% [‡] (DU); Bastar: 2.8% [#] (ANC), 3.4% [#] (DU) and 3.6% [‡] (DU)	(41)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Chhattisgarh (Maita, Mallampeta, Dharmannapeta, Pusuguppa, Tippapuram, Yampuram, and Puttapalli)	Rural and Forested	2012	RDT	1,222	Total: 20.6% [#] (Maita: 47.6% [#] , Mallampeta: 16.1% [#] , Dharmannapeta: 15.2% [#] , Pusuguppa: 16.9% [#] , Tippapuram: 13.3% [#] , Yampuram: 30.6% [#] , and Puttapalli: 24.5% [#])	(42)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Madhya Pradesh (Rewa)	Hyperendemic with 62–80% of cases due to <i>Pv</i>	2014	LM	203	35.5% [#]	(43)
Cross-sectional	DU	Madhya Pradesh (Katni, Maihar)	Katni (Semi-rural), Maihar (Rural)	2006–2007	Histology/LM/ PCR/RDT	506 (histology), 504 (incision smear), 505 (impression smear), 504 (LM), 506 (RDT), and 110 (PCR)	10.3% [‡] (histology), 4.9% [‡] (incision smear), 3.6% [‡] (impression smear), 5.4% [‡] (LM), 4.2% [‡] (RDT), and 34.5% [‡] (PCR)	(44)**
Retrospective	ANC	Karnataka (Mangaluru)	-	2014-2015	LM	12,600	0.3%#	(45)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Jharkhand (Hazaribag)	Rural and semi- urban district with low but perennial transmission of malaria	Not specified	LM	1,271 (ANC), 870 (DU)	5.4% [#] (ANC), 4.3% [#] (DU)	(46)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Chhattisgarh (Bastar, Rajnandgaon)	Rural and Forested (Bastar is high endemic, Rajnandgaon is low endemic)	2007–2008	LM/PCR	2,477 (ANC), 948 (DU)	LM: 1.2% [*] (ANC) and 1.7% [†] (DU); PCR: 3.4% [*] (ANC) and 4.2% [‡] (DU)	(47)
Cross-sectional	-	Uttar Pradesh (Aligurgh)	Not specified	Not specified	LM/QBC/RDT	156	57.0%*	(48) ^{\$}
Descriptive	ANC	Chhattisgarh, Andhra Pradesh, and Telangana	Forested	2015	RDT	563	29.3%*	(49)
Cross-sectional	DU/ANC	Rajasthan (Bikaner)	Seasonal transmission	Not specified	qPCR/LM	ANC: 2,021 (LM) and 298 (qPCR), DU: 1,206 (LM) and 297 (PCR)	LM: 1.3% [#] (ANC) and 0% [‡] (DU) qPCR: - [#] (ANC) and - [#] (DU)	(50)

(Continued)

TABLE 2 (Continued)

Design	Timing of screening	States (Areas)	Setting [†]	Year of collection	Screening method	N	<i>Plasmodium</i> spp. infection prevalence	Ref.
Case–Control	ANC	Jharkhand (Hazaribag)	Rural and semi- urban district with low and perennial transmission of malaria	2014-2015	LM/PCR/RDT	534	9.4% ^{*a}	(51)
Cross-sectional	ANC	Karnataka (Mangaluru)	-	2014-2017	LM/RDT	105	67.6%*	(52)
Cluster randomized controlled trial	ANC/DU	Jharkhand (Kamdara and Basia in Gumla district, Bano and Kolebira in Simgeda district)	Forested with malaria peak from June to October	2012-2015	RDT/PCR/ Histology	ANC ISTp: 3,163 (RDT) and 2,620 (PCR) PCD: 108 (RDT) and 2,706 (PCR) DU ISTp: 1,405 (RDT) and 1,454 (Histology) PCD: 1,540 (RDT) and 1,560	ANC ISTp: 3.2% [#] (RDT) and 5.9% [#] (PCR) PCD: 9.3% [#] (RDT) and 4.2% [#] (PCR) DU ISTp: 2.2% [#] (RDT) and 6% [#] (Histology) PCD: 2.1% [#] (RDT) and 4.2% [#]	(53)
Cross-sectional	-	Chhattisgarh (Durg, Sarguja, Bilaspur, Raipur, and Bastar)	Rural and forested with high malaria burden	2019	RDT	(Histology) 21,572	(Histology) 0.8% [*] (from 0.03% in Durg to 4.4% in Bastar)	(54) [§]
Case-Control	ANC/DU	Madhya Pradesh (Maihar)	Rural and semi- urban, and ethnic tribal populations	2010-2012	LM	3,873	1.3%* & 1.3%*	(55)
Cross-sectional	-	Karnataka (Mangaluru)	-	2015	LM/RDT	29	20.7%*	(56) [§]

ANC, Antenatal care visit; DU, Delivery unit; ISTp, Intermittent screening and treatment during pregnancy; MiP, Malaria in pregnancy; *Pf, Plasmodium falciparum*; *Pv, Plasmodium vivax*; LM, Light microscopy; PCR, Polymerase chain reaction; PCD, Passive case detection; QBC, Quantitative buffy coat; qPCR, Quantitative PCR; and RDT, Rapid diagnostic test. The list of studies used is presented as Supplementary Table 1. [†]Characteristics of the area at time of study. ^{*}Maternal peripheral blood was used for malaria parasite detection. ^{*}Placental infection included presence of malarial parasite and/or hemozoin (malarial pigment). ^{*}The study was conducted in community. [®]The study included women attending hospital and presenting signs suggestive of severe malaria. ^{**}Histology was the gold standard as method for malaria parasite detection. ^{*}Only *Pv* infections.

High diversity of viruses including dengue virus, HIV, and SARS-CoV-2 were concurrently found in malaria infected pregnant women in the country (Figure 5). In Uttar Pradesh, a case report of co-infection with Pf, Pv, and dengue virus was seen in one 6-month pregnancy (93). In Maharashtra, a co-infection case of Pv with SARS-CoV-2 responsible for the current COVID-19 pandemics was described (94).

Regarding comorbidities, mostly cardiovascular disorders such as eclampsia and pre-eclampsia were diagnosed in *Pv*–induced ARDS and CM cases in Delhi and Karnataka were seen (78, 95). The effect of poor nutritional status on malaria risk is still elusive (96). A study from three states (Chhattisgarh, Andhra Pradesh, and Telangana) found malaria infected pregnant women with poor nutritional status (i.e., mid-upper arm circumference < 230 mm) (49). Other comorbidities such as cancer, diabetes and HELLP syndrome have also been reported (Figure 5).

3.6. Factors associated with MiP in India

3.6.1. Parity and gestation trimester

Parity is one of the most important factors associated with both peripheral and placental MiP, with primigravidae much at risk of malaria infection and its deleterious consequences (97). Moreover, studies found that the level of antibodies inhibiting placental sequestration of *Pf* parasites is increasing over successive pregnancy, thereby supporting a parity-dependent acquired antimalarial immunity (98, 99). In India, many studies reported both higher peripheral and placental malaria prevalence in primigravidae/secundigravidae compared to multigravidae (27, 29, 31, 32, 39, 46, 73, 79). In Jharkhand, a study reported that peripheral infection risk was 4.23 times higher in primigravidae/secundigravidae compared to multigravidae (46). The same team reported that the risk of placental infection was increased by >3 times in primigravidae/secundigravidae, finding that was previously



reported in a study conducted in the same state (Figures 6, 7) (39, 46). It has been reported that *Plasmodium* spp. infection rates are higher during second trimester of pregnancy (65). Data from several states including Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan, Gujarat also support this observation (27, 31, 33, 80). However, one study conducted in Madhya Pradesh reported highest infection rates during third trimester (30).

3.6.2. Woman's demographical, clinical and genetic characteristics

The influence of pregnant woman's characteristics on malaria infection risk has been reported from studies conducted in India, with role of age, level of education, and clinical symptomatology. In Jharkhand, Hamer et al. (39) found that women aged <20 years attending ANC visits had 2.68 times more risk of peripheral *Plasmodium* infection compared to their older counterparts (Figures 6, 7). Similarly, an increased risk for peripheral *Plasmodium* infection was seen in women with lack of formal education in two studies conducted in Chhattisgarh and Jharkhand, respectively (39, 41). Studies reported higher *Plasmodium* infection in febrile pregnant women with signification association between diarrhea, fever or history of fever, moderate anemia and peripheral/placental infection (41, 46, 54). Fever was a stronger determinant of peripheral and placental *Plasmodium* infections both at ANC and DU (41, 46, 54).

3.6.3. Residence area

Several aspects of the residence area have been associated with MiP in India and include level of urbanization, forest cover and level of malaria endemicity (39, 41, 46, 54). In Jharkhand, MiP is more prevalent in rural areas compared to urban areas. Indeed, the risk of peripheral *Plasmodium* infection is ~4–6 times higher in rural women compared to their counterparts from urban areas. Again, the risk of placental

Plasmodium infection is increased by ~3–4 times in rural areas compared to urban areas in Jharkhand (Figures 6, 7) (39, 46). Working in two areas of Chhattisgarh differing by malaria endemicity, Singh and colleagues reported peripheral *Plasmodium* infection risk increased by ~45 times in pregnant women living in Bastar (high endemicity area) compared to those living in Rajnandgaon (low endemicity area) (41).

3.6.4. Diagnostic methods

Given detection sensitivity of malarial diagnosis tools varies, it is expected to have higher chances of detecting low (very low) *Plasmodium* parasitemia with molecular tools which have higher sensitivity than LM and RDTs (63). Using PCR and LM for detecting peripheral/placental *Pf* and *Pv* infections, Singh et al. pointed out that chances of detecting peripheral/placental infections using PCR were increased by ~2.5–2.9 times for *Plasmodium* spp. infections, ~1.7–2.6 times for *Pf* infections and ~2.5–8.1 times for *Pv* infections among women attending ANC and DU in Madhya Pradesh (Figures 6, 7) (47).

3.7. Maternal outcomes of MiP

Malaria in pregnancy has a devastating impact on health of mothers and their babies, and is an important cause of maternal and infant mortality in malaria endemic regions. In malaria endemic areas Plasmodium infections are associated with adverse maternal outcomes such as miscarriage, stillbirth, abortion, and mortality. In India, Pf and Pv have been associated with these maternal outcomes which are frequently seen in primigravidae mothers (Figure 8; Supplementary Table 2) (30, 31, 33, 80). CM, pulmonary edema and hypoglycemia were cause of maternal death reported in two studies conducted in Chandigarh and Gujarat (57, 73). The overall prevalence of MiP-related maternal death in malaria-infected individuals is ~0-77.3% in India, with disproportion among different states. Pf is the main contributor to maternal death while few rare death cases associated with Pv infections have also been reported (50, 100). Abortions and stillbirths are reported at prevalence of ~7.2-16.7 and $\sim 0{-}13.3\%$ for Pf and 0.3–8.4 and $\sim 0{-}8\%$ for $P\nu,$ respectively. The highest values of Pf-related abortions and stillbirths were reported in Rajasthan among pregnant women presenting with SM (80, 81).

Only two studies from Chhattisgarh and Rajasthan quantified the risk of maternal outcomes in MiP (47, 50). Using LM, Singh and colleagues found that pregnant women with peripheral *Plasmodium* spp. infection had 1.8 times higher risk of anemia and 13.7 times higher risk of severe anemia that their uninfected counterparts (Supplementary Table 3). Also, the risk of LBW was nearly six times higher in women with placental *Plasmodium* spp. infections compared to that with no infection (47). In Rajasthan, clinical Pv infection was associated with five-higher risk of maternal anemia (50). Likewise, the risk of maternal anemia was increased by four times in women with microscopic *Pf* infection compared to uninfected women. In the same vein, women with placental microscopic *Pf* infections were 4.28 times more at risk to give birth babies with LBW compared to those with no infection (50) (Supplementary Table 3).

3.8. Fetal/neonatal/infancy outcomes of MiP in India

Placental malaria infections are associated with adverse outcomes on fetus, newborns, and even during infancy. Malaria



parasites, especially *Pf*, have a high tropism for placenta tissue in which the parasites develop and collaterally induce important histological changes (e.g., fibrinoid necrosis, calcification) (44). Such *Plasmodium*-induced placental changes impair fetal-maternal

exchange and lead to disastrous consequences in babies such as low birth weight (LBW), prematurity, intrauterine growth retardation (IUGR), respiratory distress, and deaths in the worst case (Figure 9; Supplementary Table 3). LBW, IUGR and prematurity are the



predominant adverse outcomes in India, with Pf and Pv as main contributors.

Studies outlines that ~5.4–89 and ~14–80% of *Pf*- and *Pv*-infected women gave birth babies with LBW, respectively. In Madhya Pradesh, it was reported that almost all babies (95.2%), born to malaria infected women, had LBW (33, 36). Similarly, the prevalence of prematurity can often surpass 50% for both *Pf* and *Pv* in Indian women. It was reported that severe maternal anemia was risk factor for both LBW and

prematurity in Jharkhand (101). Growth restricted babies are also frequently seen during MiP with prevalence of ~12.8–54, ~0–9.8, and ~0–25.3% for *Plasmodium* spp., *Pf*, and *Pv*, respectively (Figure 9; Supplementary Table 4). It is now recognized that *Pv* can also cause poor birth outcomes including perinatal and intrauterine mortality, but at lower extent than its *Pf* counterpart. In Indian context, the prevalence of *Pv*-induced intrauterine death during MiP ranges from 0 to 8% while that of *Pf* is estimated at ~7.2–31.1% (Figure 9; Supplementary Table 4).

TABLE 3 Severe clinical manifestations of MiP in malaria infected individuals in India.

States	Severe anemia	СМ	ARDS/ PE	Hypoglycemia	Jaundice	Shock	ARF	Prostration	Multiple convulsions	Acidosis	Bleeding	Multiorgan dysfunction	Malaria species ^f	Ref.
Chandigarh	-	7%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(57)
Madhya Pradesh	11.5% ^c	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(28)
Rajasthan	20% ª	75.5%	4.4%	6.7%	13.3%	-	20%	-	11.1%	-	-	13.3%	Pf	(80)
Rajasthan	-	-	13.3%*	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pf	(81)
Orissa	-	60%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pf	(82)
Rajasthan	-	76%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pf	(79)
Madhya Pradesh	-	7%	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pf	(31)
Multiple states ^d	38%	-	3%	17%*	7.4%	-	8%*	-	13%	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(58)
Gujarat	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.2% [‡]	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(83)
Jharkhand	3.9-4.5% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(39)
Madhya Pradesh	-	-	9.5% ^{&}	-	-	4.7%	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(40)
Rajasthan	60%ª	0%	4%	4%	12%	-	8%	0%	-	-	-	4%	Ρν	(74)
Gujarat	-	2%	0%	20%	4%	2%	0%	2%	-	-	0%	0%	Pv	(84)
Chhattisgarh	10.7– 15.6% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(47)
Jharkhand	7.8-13.6% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(46)
Uttar Pradesh	-	26.9%	-	35%	-	-	0%	-	16.8%	-	-	-	Pf	(48)
Rajasthan	7.5-8.6% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Pv	(50)
Multiple states ^e	6.9% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(49)
West Bengal	-	-	-	29%	6%	-	3%	-	-	-	-	-	Pf	(85)
Karnataka	11.3% ^a	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(52)
Jharkhand	0.7-1.1% ^b	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	Plasmodium	(53)
Andhra Pradesh	12% ^b	22%	3%	3%	14%	4%	8%	-	12%	4%	5%	-	Plasmodium	(86)

ARDS, Acute respiratory distress syndrome; ARF, Acute renal failure; CM, Cerebral malaria; PE, Pulmonary edema; *Pf, Plasmodium falciparum*; *Pv, Plasmodium vivax*; WHO, World Health Organization; Ref., References. Estimates are percentages of each severe clinical manifestation among malaria-infected pregnant women, unless otherwise indicated. ⁴Only reported in *Pf* parasites. ⁸Pulmonary edema. ⁴Malaria was responsible for 4.2% of all ARF analyzed in the study. ⁴Hemoglobin <5 g/dL was used for defining for severe anemia. ^bHemoglobin <7 g/dL was used for defining for severe anemia. ⁶Hemoglobin <7 g/dL was used for defining for severe anemia. ⁶Hemoglobin <7 g/dL was conducted in nine Indian states (Orissa, Meghalaya, Tripura, Assam, Mizoram, Manipur, Sikkim, Andhra Pradesh, and Telangana). ⁶The estimates in the studies were found for *Plasmodium* spp., *Pf*, or *Pv*.



Malaria in pregnancy and its birth consequences are consistently correlated with increased malaria risk during infancy (102, 103). A study found an increased 2-fold risk for malaria infection and clinical malaria in small-for-gestational age babies born to Beninese women (104). Such data are scarce in India, but in one study conducted in Madhya Pradesh, mothers and their infants were followed up for 1 year. The authors reported increase in malaria prevalence, intensity and frequency during the follow up, and three of all Pf-infected infants died before their first birthday (33).

3.9. Neonatal and congenital malaria

In clinical practice, congenital malaria is defined as presence of Plasmodium asexual stages in cord blood and peripheral blood of the baby during first week of life (105). In neonatal malaria, Plasmodium asexual stages are found in neonates aged $\leq 28 \text{ days}$ (105). A recent meta-analysis estimated global NCM prevalence at 40.4 and 12%, due to several variable factors including area and detection methods (106).

The prevalence of congenital malaria in India ranges from 0 to 12.9% (Figure 9). Prevalence data on neonatal malaria are absent in India, but some case reports outlined its occurrence in the country (Supplementary Table 5). NCM cases have been reported throughout India especially in states such as West Bengal, Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan and Uttar Pradesh (Supplementary Tables 3-5). In India, NCM cases are mostly born to primigravidae women, have LBW and are aged 26 days on average with male predominance. On admission, babies present at hospital with mosaic of signs/symptoms mostly including pallor, hepatosplenomegaly, fever, jaundice/icterus, and irritability. Anemia, thrombocytopenia, leucopenia and clinical jaundice are frequently seen in newborns infected with malaria



multivariate logistic regression as reported in each included study were retained to create the image.

parasites having parasitemia in ranges from 0.1 to 25% and Pv monoinfections account for ~60% of all LM/RDT-detected NCM cases (Figure 10; Supplementary Table 5).

3.10. Prevention of MiP

In last 2 decades, India greatly scaled up large number of malaria prevention methods throughout the territory to achieve elimination objectives by 2030 (107, 108). Malaria prevention in India relies essentially on free provision of ITNs/LLINs and IRS (109). LLINs are



women in community. ^dEstimated for *Plasmodium falciparum* infections. ^eEstimated for *Plasmodium vivax* infections. ^fEstimated for *Plasmodium* spp. infections. *The estimates presented in the graph are 1/10 of real estimates found in the study.

recommended in high malaria risk areas even though no formal system exist for their distribution during ANC visits (110). Complementary control strategies such as chemoprophylaxis, sensitization campaigns for behavior changes, reduction of breeding sites for mosquito vectors and early case detection and prompt treatment are also encouraged by the Government of India. Ownership and use rates of LLINs vary greatly within and between states, and even when LLINs are present in household they are not adequately used by Indian population (111, 112). A large scale household based study reported LLINs use rates of 89 and 91% among pregnant women in the Odisha state (113). Similar rate (88.6%) was reported in pregnant women in another study conducted in the same state (114). In contrast, available data from health facility-based studies suggest that ITNs/LLINs use rates are lower than those seen in community studies. The proportion of pregnant women using ITNs/LLINs most of nights is ~18.3-82.8% and that of women sleeping under ITNs/ LLINs the last night is ~0.05-82.5% (39, 41, 44, 47, 50, 52, 115). Also, the utilization of untreated ITNs/LLINs by pregnant women was common in few areas (39, 46). IRS is generally less used in households by pregnant women compared to ITNs/LLINs, with use rates of

~0–58.5% (39, 41, 44, 47, 50). Taking malaria chemoprophylaxis is very uncommon in pregnant women as per the studies conducted in forested and tribal areas of Jharkhand, Chhattisgarh, Rajasthan, and Madhya Pradesh (39, 41, 44, 46, 47, 50).

3.11. Therapeutic approaches for MiP control and drug resistance in India

Prevention of MiP with IPTp-SP is not implemented in India, and control of the disease in pregnancy relies on passive case detection during ANC visits. Until 2010, the Indian national guidelines recommended the utilization of quinine for *Pf* malaria and CQ for *Pv* malaria regardless the trimester of gestation (116). Since then, this MiP treatment policy changed with regard to Indian state, malaria species, severity of the infection and trimester of gestation. For uncomplicated *Pv* infections, CQ is administered in all trimesters. The utilization of primaquine (PQ) for radical cure of *Pv* infection is not recommended to pregnant women and her fetus. The treatment of uncomplicated *Pf* MiP is CQ for first trimester women while ACTs artemether + lumefantrine (AL) or artesunate + sulfadoxine/pyrimethamine (AS + SP) are used for



second and third trimesters. Due to high level of SP resistance in Northeastern states, AL is recommended for treatment while AS+SP is used in other states. Parenteral quinine, artesunate, or artemether are given for SM (6, 116, 117).

Drug efficacy studies are limited in MiP in the country, but existing data outline both high efficacy and safety of AS+SP and AS+MEF (118). CQ and SP resistance are both well established, and studies reported low frequency Pfk13 mutations associated with artemisinin resistance (i.e., 446I, 539T, and 561H) in Arunachal Pradesh and West Bengal (119–121). Several mutations in the Pfk13 gene—i.e., F446I, N458Y, C469Y, M476I, Y493H, R539T, I543T, P553L, R561H, P574L, C580Y, R622I, and A675V—are strongly associated with resistance of Pf parasites to ACTs, the current antimalarial drugs recommended for treatment of uncomplicated Pf malaria (1, 119). There is a dearth of data on antimalarial drug resistance status in MiP. Using *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies, some authors found that 100 and 31.4% of Pf isolates collected from Madhya Pradesh and Uttar Pradesh states were resistant to CQ (34, 48).

Although not purposely designed for appraising drug resistance, other studies reported adequate clinical and parasitological response of ~19.7–79% in *Pf*-infected pregnant women treated with CQ at health facilities (28, 30, 58).

3.12. Challenges and future directions on MiP in India

In this quest for achieving malaria elimination objectives, MiP should also be taken into account and a certain number of challenges ranging from prevention to treatment should be investigated in future by Indian researchers. Missing links on MiP research and proposed solutions are presented below and summarized in Figure 11.

Indian researches on epidemiology of MiP have carried out in few states such as Madhya Pradesh and Chhattisgarh, and there is a dearth of cross-sectional/longitudinal studies from other areas including



Northeastern states (e.g., Mizoram, Meghalaya, and Tripura), Bihar and Uttarakhand where malaria endemicity is still high. Also, more studies on MiP and NCM in tribal and forested settings are also greatly needed (122, 123).

Minor species including *Po* and *Pm* are also associated with MiP in India (22). LM is the standard and reports pinpointed that *Po* and *Pm* infections are misdiagnosed as *Pv* and *Pf* infections using LM in the country (124, 125). It is worth determining the extent and characterizing these species in MiP as previous studies showed their ability to elicit SM and noted pathophysiological differences between *P. ovale curtisi* and *P. ovale wallikeri* (4, 126–129).

In general, MiP studies are conducted in health facility settings either during ANC or DU periods. It would be helpful to more document MiP in community setting especially the extent of asymptomatic and/or submicroscopic parasitemia and their impact on clinical course of MiP. In addition, non-*Pf* low density infections (LDI) especially Pv parasitemia are problematic given efficient transmission of Pv LDI to *Anopheles* vectors (130, 131). Clinical presentation of MiP in India encompasses asymptomatic, uncomplicated and severe malaria. In the latter clinical form, SMA is predominantly seen during pregnancy in India. However, other factors such as malnutrition and helminthiasis may also cause SMA, but these are rarely concomitantly addressed in MiP studies. Macronutrient undernutrition is a big contributor to severe adverse outcomes during pregnancy (132), but such studies are lacking in India.

As above discussed national guidelines for treatment of MiP are different for *Pf* and *Pv* species. However, studies report high rates of mixed infections on field that can hinder control of malaria in India (133, 134). Also, treatment of malaria in presence of comorbidities such as HIV may also be tricky and impact pregnancy outcome (e.g., drug–drug interactions). It was reported that severity and mortality are increased in patients co-infected with *Plasmodium* parasites and HIV (135, 136).

Pregnant women are also reservoir for gametocytes, the transmission development stage of *Plasmodium* parasites. Singh and



Characteristics of neonatal malaria cases in India. *Pf, Plasmodium falciparum, Pv, Plasmodium vivax*. The image depicts characteristics of *Plasmodium* infected babies for age (A), gender-distribution (B), signs/symptoms presented on admission/birth (C), hemoglobin level (D), platelet count (E), total leucocytes (F), white blood cell populations (G), total, direct and indirect bilirubin level (H), and malaria infection (I). We excluded data from congenital malaria due to very low number of cases (*n* = 3). In panel (C), percentage of each symptoms on admission were computed by dividing the number of times that symptom was cited to the total number of citations for all symptoms. In panel (I), malaria species were identified using LM and/or RDT.

coworkers reported gametocyte carriage rates of 54 and 73.8% in *Pf*-infected pregnant women from Madhya Pradesh (28, 30). This research area is understudied in MiP and should be investigated in future.

Plasmodium vivax parasites produce dormant stages called hypnozoites and responsible for malaria relapses, which are associated with transmittable gametocytaemia and delayed mortality (137, 138). PQ is currently recommended for preventing Pv relapses but its utilization is associated with risk of severe hemolysis in persons diagnosed with glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase (G6PD) deficiency (139). In India, G6PD testing is rarely performed at health facilities coupled with poor adherence to PQ-based 14-day regimen treatment and high prevalence of G6PD deficiency (e.g., Odisha) (5, 140, 141). This limits researches on evaluation of real burden of Pv relapses, effectiveness, and development of new hypnozoiticidal drugs.

Immunity against Pv is more rapidly acquired than that against Pf, that results in high proportion of Pv asymptomatic infections (142–144), which are often associated with high carriage of hypnozoites and undetected by LM and RDT (142, 144–146). Development of point-of-care tests based on biomarkers could be promising approach. We recently proposed a simple theoretical framework for identifying, evaluating and validating diagnostic, therapeutic prognostic and predictive biomarkers for malaria, and these could be translated to MiP (147). Longley et al. (148) proposed an interesting approach based on serological markers to detect recent Pv infection.

Another cause of lower sensitivity of RDTs in pregnant women could be likely deletions in the histidine rich protein 2 gene (*pfhrp2*)



FIGURE 11

Main research gaps and challenges to be addressed on MiP in India. ACTs, Artemisinin based combination therapies; AM, Asymptomatic malaria; ANC, Antenatal care; DU, Delivery unit; G6PD, Glucos-6-phosphate dehydrogenase; MiP, Malaria in pregnancy; NCM, Neonatal and congenital malaria; PQ, Primaquine; UM, Uncomplicated malaria; SM, Severe malaria. The image presents the main knowledge gaps and challenges on MiP research in India. (1) At community, pregnant women are exposed to infecting *Anopheles* bites and some of them will be infected (red). The plasmodial infection may exist as asymptomatic and/or symptomatic. (2) Both asymptomatic and symptomatic (UM and SM), women can attend health facilities for diverse reasons (e.g., ANC, DU, and care seeking). (3) Women attending ANC/DU can present symptoms or not, and will be managed as per national health guidelines if malaria infection is diagnosed. (4) Women came for delivery can give birth to uninfected babies (gray) or babies diagnosed with congenital malaria (red), and these will be treated as per national guidelines. (5) Women and babies discharged after successful antimalarial treatment will go back home. (6) Women and babies are treated with CQ if *Pv* infection was diagnosed, but using PQ is prohibited for them. Thus, some of them (blue) can develop recurrent malaria episodes during post-partum period and childhood due to reactivation of hypnozoites. During this itinerary for women and babies, several challenges and knowledge gaps (yellow box) have been identified and should be taken into account in future researches in India.

which encodes a *Pf*-specific protein antigen (149). No studies have evaluated *pfhrp2* deletions in pregnant women in India (150, 151), and it would be interesting to appraise the prevalence profile of such deletions at ANC, DU, and community settings.

No studies on SP and artemisinin resistance in MiP in India have been carried out. Also, data on incidence of CQ resistance in MiP, which are probably may parallel CQ resistance in normal *Pf* infections occurring in the same region, are still needed. It is required to conduct more studies especially longitudinal studies to detect temporal variation of the drug resistance gene profile in pregnancy and its association with maternal outcomes. Even though ACTs are recommended by National guidelines for treating MiP, there is a lack of studies on their effectiveness and safety in India (118). Systematic reviews and meta-analyses of prospective studies and clinical trials conducted in African and Asian settings have showed the efficacy and safety of ACTs during MiP (152, 153). In this context, further investigations are required to determine pharmacological aspects, effectiveness and inocuity profile of ACTs in MiP all around the country.

Self-medication both with traditional medicines and antimalarial drugs should also be addressed in pregnancy. Few studies reported pregnant woman were self-medicating, and this expose them to adverse effects of drugs, often of poor quality as reported in several endemic sSA and SEA areas including India (154, 155).

Some studies reported poor awareness of pregnant women toward malaria, its treatment and prevention due to several causes including social barriers. Thus, there is need to empower pregnant and childbearing women toward malaria and preventive methods and this could be achieved through sensitization during community campaigns and ANC visits.

4. Conclusion

Malaria in pregnancy is still a serious public health concern in India. Its epidemiological burden is high in Indian pregnant women, with Pv and Pf as main causative agents while minor species (Pm, Po) are also involved. The epidemiology of these species in MiP is greatly varied with important role of mother's demographic and obstetrical characteristics, geography, and ecoclimatic features of the area. Plasmodium infections in pregnant women, often associated with comorbidities and concurrent infections, may progress from asymptomatic carriage of parasites to SM, which is mostly represented by SMA, CM, and hypoglycemia, and more frequently seen in Pf infections. MiP has deleterious effects on mother and her child that can often end with death. This review provided a comprehensive overview on epidemiological situation and identified important missing links in MiP and NCM to inform population, clinicians, and researchers. There is urgent need for further studies on the different above mentioned points addressed in the present review. If adequately addressed, the future findings could be greatly helpful for efficiently controlling MiP in India through development, implementation, and scale up of control strategies and policy makers, and thus achieve malaria control and elimination objectives in the country.

Author contributions

LPKF and VS conceptualized the paper. LPKF conducted literature review and extracted and analyzed data from papers, conceived the figures and maps, performed extraction and analysis data, and drafted the first version of the final manuscript. VS revised the manuscript for important intellectual content and supervised the work at all stages. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

References

1. WHO (2022). World malaria report 2022, World Health Organization. World Health Organisation, Geneva.

2. WHO (2021). World malaria report 2021. Geneva.

3. WHO (2020). World malaria report, World Health Organization. Geneva.

4. Kojom Foko LP, Kumar A, Hawadak J, Singh V. *Plasmodium cynomolgi* in humans: current knowledge and future directions of an emerging zoonotic malaria parasite. *Infection*. (2023) 51:623–40. doi: 10.1007/s15010-022-01952-2

5. Kojom Foko LP, Arya A, Sharma A, Singh V. Epidemiology and clinical outcomes of severe *plasmodium vivax* malaria in India. *J Inf Secur.* (2021a) 82:231–46. doi: 10.1016/j.jinf.2021.03.028

6. NIMR and NVBDCP. Guidelines on Diagnosis and Treatment of Malaria in India, 2014. National Center for Vector Borne Disease Control Program. 3rd ed (2014).

Funding

LPKF is supported by the Department of Biotechnology, New Delhi, India, and The World Academy of Sciences, Trieste, Italy, in the framework of a prestigious fellowship (DBT-TWAS Postgraduate Fellowship Grant N° 3240300010).

Acknowledgments

The authors are grateful to the National Vector Borne Disease Control Program for website updated data on malaria epidemiology in India. We acknowledge the support of colleagues Monika Matlani (Department of Microbiology, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India) and Shyam Sundar Meena (Department of Pediatrics, Vardhman Mahavir Medical College & Safdarjung Hospital, New Delhi, India) for their inputs in generating Figure 5, and Rashid Perwez (Assistant Librarian & Information Officer, ICMR-NIMR, New Delhi, India) for sharing full-texts of some relevant papers included in this review. We thank ICMR-NIMR for infrastructure support toward providing a working environment.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023.1150466/ full#supplementary-material

7. Desai M, ter Kuile FO, Nosten F, McGready R, Asamoa K, Brabin B, et al. Epidemiology and burden of malaria in pregancy. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2007) 7:93–104. doi: 10.21776/ub.jitode.2017.005.01.02

8. Ngai M, Weckman AM, Erice C, McDonald CR, Cahill LS, Sled JG, et al. Malaria in pregnancy and adverse birth outcomes: new mechanisms and therapeutic opportunities. *Trends Parasitol.* (2020) 36:127–37. doi: 10.1016/j. pt.2019.12.005

9. Rijken MJ, McGready R, Boel ME, Poespoprodjo R, Singh N, Syafruddin D, et al. Malaria in pregnancy in the Asia-Pacific region. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2012) 12:75–88. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(11)70315-2

10. WHO (2015). Guidelines for the treatment of malaria-Third edition. Geneva.

11. WHO. Severe malaria. Tropical Med Int Health. (2014) 19:7–131. doi: 10.1111/ tmi.12313 12. WHO. *Management of Severe Malaria*. 3rd ed. Geneva: World Health Organization (2012).

13. WHO (2010). Guidelines for the treatment of malaria, World Health Organization. Geneva.

14. WHO (2006). Guidelines for treatment of malaria. Geneva.

15. WHO. Severe falciparum malaria. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2000) 94:S1–S90. doi: 10.1016/S0035-9203(02)90099-4

16. WHO. Severe and complicated malaria. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (1990) 84:S1–S65.

17. Kar SS, Ramalingam A. Is 30 the magic number? Issues in sample size. Nat J Commun Med. (2013) 4:175–9.

18. Anvikar AR, Shah N, Dhariwal AC, Sonal GS, Pradhan MM, Ghosh SK, et al. Epidemiology of *plasmodium vivax* malaria in India. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2016) 95:108–20. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.16-0163

19. Das A, Anvikar AR, Cator LJ, Dhiman RC, Eapen A, Mishra N, et al. Malaria in India: the center for the study of complex malaria in India. *Acta Trop.* (2013) 121:267–73. doi: 10.1016/j.actatropica.2011.11.008

20. Siwal N, Singh US, Dash M, Kar S, Rani S, Rawal C, et al. Malaria diagnosis by PCR revealed differential distribution of mono and mixed species infections by *Plasmodium falciparum* and *P. vivax* in India. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0193046. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0193046

21. Bharti PK, Chand SK, Singh MP, Mishra S, Shukla MM, Singh R. Emergence of a new focus of *plasmodium malariae* in forest villages of district Balaghat, Central India: implications for the diagnosis of malaria and its control. *Tropical Med Int Health*. (2013) 18:12–7. doi: 10.1111/tmi.12005

22. Chaturvedi R, Deora N, Bhandari D, Parvez S, Sinha A, Sharma A. Trends of neglected *plasmodium* species infection in humans over the past century in India. *One Health*. (2021b) 11:100190. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2020.100190

23. Haanshuus CG, Chandy S, Manoharan A, Vivek R. A high malaria prevalence identified by PCR among patients with acute undifferentiated fever in India. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0158816. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0158816

24. Tyagi RK, Das MK, Singh SS, Sharma YD. Discordance in drug resistanceassociated mutation patterns in marker genes of *Plasmodium falciparum* and *Plasmodium knowlesi* during coinfections. *J Antimicrob Chemother*. (2013) 68:1081–8. doi: 10.1093/jac/dks508

25. Sholapurkar S, Mahajan R, Gupta A, Prasad R. Malarial parasite density in infected pregnant women from northern India. *Indian J Med Res.* (1988b) 88:228–30.

26. Kaushik A, Sharma VK, Sadhna Kumar R, Mitra R. Malarial placental infection and low birth weight babies. Materia Medica Polona. *Pol J Med Pharm.* (1992) 24:109–10.

27. Nair LS, Nair AS. Effects of malaria infection on pregnancy. *Indian J Malariol.* (1993) 30:207–14.

28. Singh N, Shukla MM, Srivastava R, Sharma V. Prevalence of malaria among pregnant and non-pregnant women of district Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh. *Indian J Malariol.* (1995) 32:6–13.

29. Singh N, Shukla MM, Valecha N. Malaria parasite density in pregnant women of district Jabalpur, Madhya Pradesh. *Indian J Malariol.* (1996) 33:41–7.

30. Singh N, Saxena A, Chand S, Valecha N, Sharma V. Studies on malaria during pregnancy in a tribal area of Central India (Madhya Pradesh). *Indian J Malariol.* (1998) 29:10–7.

31. Singh N, Shukla MM, Sharma V. Epidemiology of malaria in pregnancy in Central India. *Bull World Health Organ.* (1999) 77:567–72.

32. Das L. Malaria during pregnancy and its effects on foetus in a tribal area of Koraput district, Orissa. *Indian J Malariol.* (2000) 37:11–7.

33. Singh N, Mehra R, Srivastava N. Malaria during pregnancy and infancy, in an area of intense malaria transmission in Central India. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol.* (2001a) 95:19–29. doi: 10.1080/00034983.2001.11813611

34. Singh N, Saxena A, Sharma V. Status of chloroquine efficacy against *plasmodium falciparum* in pregnant women in a tribal area of Central India. *Curr Sci.* (2001b) 80:618–20.

35. Singh N, Saxena A, Shrivastava R. Placental *Plasmodium vivax* infection and congenital malaria in Central India. *Ann Trop Med Parasitol.* (2003) 97:875–8. doi: 10.1179/000349803225002688

36. Singh N, Saxena A, Awadhia SB, Shrivastava R, Singh MP. Evaluation of a rapid diagnostic test for assessing the burden of malaria at delivery in India. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2005) 73:855–8. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2005.73.855

37. Ahmed R, Singh N, ter Kuile FO, Udhayakumar V, Desai M, Dash A, et al. Rapid assessment of the burden of malaria in pregnancy in Madhya Pradesh. *India Trop Med Int Health.* (2007) 12:46.

38. Chawla S, Manu V. Malaria in pregnancy. Med J Armed Forces India. (2007) 63:147–8. doi: 10.1016/S0377-1237(07)80060-8

39. Hamer DH, Singh MP, Wylie BJ, Yeboah-Antwi K, Tuchman J, Desai M, et al. Burden of malaria in pregnancy in Jharkhand state, India. *Malar J*. (2009) 8:210. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-8-210 40. Guin G, Shaw K, Khare S. Placental malaria prevalence of infestation amongst febrile pregnant women in Central India: maternal and perinatal outcome. *J Obstetr Gynecol India*. (2012) 62:25–31. doi: 10.1007/s13224-012-0153-9

41. Singh N, Singh MP, Wylie BJ, Hussain M, Kojo YA, Shekhar C, et al. Malaria prevalence among pregnant women in two districts with differing endemicity in Chhattisgarh, India. *Malar J*. (2012) 11:274. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-11-274

42. Qureshi IA, Arlappa N, Qureshi MA. Prevalence of malaria and anemia among pregnant women residing in malaria-endemic forest villages in India. *Int J Gynecol Obstet.* (2014) 127:93. doi: 10.1016/j.ijgo.2014.06.009

43. Singh J, Soni D, Mishra D, Singh HP, Bijesh S. Placental and neonatal outcome in maternal malaria. *Indian Pediatr.* (2014) 51:285–8. doi: 10.1007/s13312-014-0402-3

44. Ahmed R, Singh N, Ter Kuile FO, Bharti PK, Singh PP, Desai M, et al. Placental infections with histologically confirmed *plasmodium falciparum* are associated with adverse birth outcomes in India: a cross-sectional study. *Malar J.* (2014) 13:1–12. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-13-232

45. Palem G, Pal SJ. Maternal and fetal outcome of malaria in pregnancy. *Int J Reprod Contracept Obstet Gynecol.* (2019) 8:4040–4. doi: 10.18203/2320-1770.ijrcog20194377

46. Sohail M, Shakeel S, Kumari S, Bharti A, Zahid F, Anwar S, et al. Prevalence of malaria infection and risk factors associated with anaemia among pregnant women in semiurban community of Hazaribag, Jharkhand, India. *Biomed Res Int.* (2015) 2015:740512. doi: 10.1155/2015/740512

47. Singh N, Bharti PK, Singh MP, Singh R, Yeboah-Antwi K, Desai M, et al. What is the burden of submicroscopic malaria in pregnancy in Central India? *Pathog Glob Health*. (2015) 109:30–8. doi: 10.1179/2047773215Y.0000000002

48. Khan HM, Kirmani S, Khan PA, İslamss U. Prevalence of chloroquine resistant *plasmodium falciparum* malaria in pregnant females attending north Indian hospital. *East J Med.* (2016) 21:64–8. doi: 10.5505/ejm.2016.93377

49. Corrêa G, Das M, Kovelamudi R, Jaladi N, Pignon C, Vysyaraju K, et al. High burden of malaria and anemia among tribal pregnant women in a chronic conflict corridor in India. *Confl Heal*. (2017) 11:10. doi: 10.1186/s13031-017-0113-1

50. Bardají A, Martínez-Espinosa FE, Arévalo-Herrera M, Padilla N, Kochar S, Ome-Kaius M, et al. Burden and impact of *plasmodium vivax* in pregnancy: a multi-Centre prospective observational study. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2017) 11:e0005606. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pntd.0005606

51. Singh KP, Shakeel S, Naskar N, Bharti A, Kaul A, Anwar S, et al. Role of IL-1β IL-6 and TNF-α cytokines and TNF-α promoter variability in *plasmodium vivax* infection during pregnancy in endemic population of Jharkhand, India. *Mol Immunol.* (2018) 97:82–93. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2018.03.019

52. Chandrashekar VN, Punnath K, Dayanand KK, Achur RN, Kakkilaya SB, Jayadev P, et al. Malarial anemia among pregnant women in the south-western coastal city of Mangaluru in India. *Inform Med Unlock*. (2019) 15:100159. doi: 10.1016/j. imu.2019.02.003

53. Kuepfer I, Mishra N, Bruce J, Mishra V, Anvikar AR, Satpathi S, et al. Effectiveness of intermittent screening and treatment for the control of malaria in pregnancy: a cluster randomised trial in India. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2019) 4:1–8. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2019-001399

54. Garg S, Dewangan M, Barman O. Malaria prevalence in symptomatic and asymptomatic pregnant women in a high malaria-burden state in India. *Trop Med Health*. (2020) 48:71. doi: 10.1186/s41182-020-00259-y

55. Singh PP, Bhandari S, Sharma RK, Singh N, Bharti PK. Association of angiopoietin dysregulation in placental malaria with adverse birth outcomes. *Dis Markers*. (2020) 2020:6163487. doi: 10.1155/2020/6163487

56. Chandrashekar VN, Dayanand Kiran K, Punnath K, Achur Rajeshwara N, Kumari Suchetha N, Channe Gowda D. Epidemiology of malaria during pregnancy in Mangaluru city in the southwestern coastal region of India. *Res J Biotechnol.* (2021) 16:103–8.

57. Sholapurkar S, Gupta A, Mahajan R. Clinical course of malaria in pregnancy—a prospective controlled study from India. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (1988a) 82:376–9. doi: 10.1016/0035-9203(88)90124-1

58. Konar H. Observations on malaria in pregnancy. J Obstetr Gynecol India. (2004) 54:456–9.

59. Osarfo J, Ampofo GD, Tagbor H. Trends of malaria infection in pregnancy in Ghana over the past two decades: a review. *Malar J.* (2022) 21:3. doi: 10.1186/s12936-021-04031-3

60. Chen I, Clarke SE, Gosling R, Hamainza B, Killeen G, Magill A, et al. "Asymptomatic" malaria: a chronic and debilitating infection that should be treated. *PLoS Med.* (2016) 13:e1001942. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001942

61. Lin JT, Saunders DL, Meshnick SR. The role of submicroscopic malaria in malaria transmission: what is the evidence? *Trends Parasitol.* (2014) 30:183–90. doi: 10.1016/j. pt.2014.02.004

62. Deora N, Yadav C, Pande V, Sinha A. A systematic review and meta-analysis on sub-microscopic *Plasmodium* infections in India: different perspectives and global challenges. *Lancet Reg Health*. (2022) 2:100012. doi: 10.1016/j.lansea.2022.05.001

63. Wu L., Hoogen L.L.Van, Den Slater H., Walker P.G.T., Ghani A.C., Drakeley C.J., et al. (2015). Comparison of diagnostics for the detection of asymptomatic *Plasmodium*

falciparum infections to inform control and elimination strategies. *Nature* 7580, S86–S93. doi: 10.1038/nature16039

64. Cowman AF, Healer J, Marapana D, Marsh K. Malaria: biology and disease. Cells. (2016) 167:610–24. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.055

65. Schantz-Dunn J, Nour NM. Malaria and pregnancy: a global health perspective. *Rev Obstet Gynecol.* (2009) 2:186–92. doi: 10.3909/riog0091

66. White NJ, Pukrittayakamee S, Tinh Hien T, Abul Faiz M, Mokuolu OA, Dondorp AM. Malaria. *Lancet.* (2014) 391:1608–21. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30324-6

67. Lagerberg RE. Malaria in pregnancy: a literature review. J Midwifery Womens Health. (2008) 53:209–15. doi: 10.1016/j.jmwh.2008.02.012

68. Haldar K, Mohandas N. Malaria, erythrocytic infection, and anemia. *Hematology*. (2009):87–93. doi: 10.1182/asheducation-2009.1.87

69. Ho M, White NJ. Molecular mechanisms of cytoadherence in malaria. Am J Phys Cell Phys. (1999) 276:C1231–42. doi: 10.1177/175114370400500315

70. Carvalho BO, Lopes SCP, Nogueira PA, Orlandi PP, Bargieri DY, Blanco YC, et al. On the cytoadhesion of *Plasmodium vivax*-infected erythrocytes. *J Infect Dis.* (2010) 202:638–47. doi: 10.1086/654815

71. Chotivanich K, Udomsangpetch R, Suwanarusk R, Pukrittayakamee S, Wilairatana P, Beeson JG, et al. *Plasmodium vivax* adherence to placental glycosaminoglycans. *PLoS One.* (2012) 7:e34509. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0034509

72. Lee W-C, Shahari S, Nguee SYT, Lau Y-L, Rénia L. Cytoadherence properties of plasmodium knowlesi-infected erythrocytes. Front Microbiol. (2022) 12:804417. doi: 10.3389/fmicb.2021.804417

73. Maitra N, Joshi M, Hazra M. Maternal manifestations of malaria in pregnancy: a review. *Ind J Matern Child Health*. (1993) 4:98–101.

74. Nayak KC, Khatri MP, Gupta BK, Sirohi P, Choudhary V, Verma SK, et al. Spectrum of vivax malaria in pregnancy and its outcome: a hospital-based study. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2009) 46:299–302.

75. Matlani M, Kojom LP, Mishra N, Dogra V, Singh V. Severe vivax malaria trends in the last two years: a study from a tertiary care Centre, Delhi, India. *Ann Clin Microbiol Antimicrob*. (2020) 19:49. doi: 10.1186/s12941-020-00393-9

76. Rahimi BA, Thakkinstian A, White NJ, Sirivichayakul C, Dondorp AM, Chokejindachai W. Severe vivax malaria: a systematic review and meta-analysis of clinical studies since 1900. *Malar J*. (2014) 13:481. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-13-481

77. Arya T, Prasad R, Virk K. Cerebral malaria in pregnancy. J Assoc Physicians India. (1989) 37:592–3.

78. Sharma R, Suneja A, Yadav A, Guleria K. *Plasmodium vivax* induced acute respiratory distress syndrome—a diagnostic and therapeutic dilemma in preeclampsia. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2017) 11:QD03–QD04. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/25529.9710

79. Kochar DK, Thanvi I, Joshi A, Shubhakaran Agarwal N, Jain N. Mortality trends in falciparum malaria—effect of gender difference and pregnancy. *J Assoc Physicians India*. (1999) 47:774–8.

80. Kochar DK, Thanvi I, Joshi A, Subhakaran Aseri S, Kumawat BL. Falciparum malaria and pregnancy. *Indian J Malariol.* (1998) 35:123–30.

81. Kochar DK, Kumawat BL, Karan S, Kochar SK, Argawal RP. Severe and complicated malarial in Bikaner (Rajasthan), Western India. *Southeast Asian J Trop Med Public Health.* (1997) 28:259–67.

82. Mishra S, Mohanty S, Satpathy S, Patnaik J. Complicated falciparum malaria during pregnancy. J Obstet Gynaecol. (1998) 48:31–4.

83. Goplani K, Shah P, Gera D, Gumber M, Dabhi M, Feroz A, et al. Pregnancy-related acute renal failure: a single-center experience. *Ind J Nephrol.* (2008) 18:17–27. doi: 10.4103/0971-4065.41283

84. Hirani M, Vadhvana SK. Study of clinical profile of *P. vivax* malaria in pregnancy. *J Res Med Dental Sci.* (2015) 3:3076311. doi: 10.5455/jrmds.20153414

85. Datta M, Biswas J, Dasgupta S, Banerjee K, Choudhury S, Sengupta SK, et al. Comparative study on antenatal and perinatal outcome of vivax and falciparum malaria in a tertiary care hospital of Kolkata, India. *J Clin Diagn Res.* (2017) 11:QC01–QC04. doi: 10.7860/JCDR/2017/23051.9195

86. Rao Bhaskara VJ, Kumar AV, Deepthi V, Thotakura TM. Comparative study of *plasmodium falciparum* and *plasmodium vivax* malaria in pregnant and non-pregnant women in Visakhapatnam, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Int J Health Clin Res.* (2021) 4:404–7.

87. Mathur SL, Hakim A, Mathur S, Choudhary P. Cerebral malaria in pregnancy. J Assoc Physicians India. (1991) 39:583–4.

88. Seal SL, Mukhopadhay S, Ganguly RP. Malaria in pregnancy. J Indian Med Assoc. (2010) 108:487–90.

89. Anand AC, Puri P. Jaundice in malaria. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2005) 20:1322–32. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1746.2005.03884.x

90. Gupta P, Sharma R, Chandra J, Kumar V, Singh R, Pande V, et al. Clinical manifestations and molecular mechanisms in the changing paradigm of vivax malaria in India. *Infect Genet Evol.* (2016) 39:317–24. doi: 10.1016/j.meegid.2016.02.014

91. Kumar A, Shashirekha . Thrombocytopenia—an indicator of acute vivax malaria. *Indian J Pathol Microbiol.* (2006) 49:505–8.

92. Mehta AA, Mehta AC. Clinical presentation of toxoplasmosis in pregnant women. *J Obstet Gynaecol.* (1989) 5:165–70.

93. Pande A, Guharoy D. A case report of *Plasmodium vivax*, *Plasmodium falciparum* and dengue co-infection in a 6 months pregnancy. *Ann Med Health Sci Res.* (2013) 3:S16–7. doi: 10.4103/2141-9248.121211

94. Mahajan NN, Kesarwani SN, Shinde SS, Nayak A, Modi DN, Mahale SD, et al. Co-infection of malaria and dengue in pregnant women with SARS-CoV-2. *Int J Gynecol Obstet*. (2020) 151:459–62. doi: 10.1002/ijgo.13415

95. Jaju PB, Bhavi SB. Convulsions: eclampsia or malaria or both! J South Asian Feder Obstetr Gynaecol. (2015) 7:245–6. doi: 10.5005/jp-journals-10006-1373

96. Das D, Grais R, Okiro E, Stepniewska K, Mansoor R, van der Kam S, et al. *BMC Med.* (2018) 16:186. doi: 10.1186/s12916-018-1177-5

97. Rogerson SJ, Hviid L, Duffy PE, Leke RF, Taylor DW. Malaria in pregnancy: pathogenesis and immunity. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2007) 7:105–17. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(07)70022-1

98. Duffy PE, Fried M. Antibodies that inhibit *plasmodium falciparum* adhesion to chondroitin sulfate a are associated with increased birth weight and the gestational age of newborns. *Infect Immun.* (2003) 71:6620–3. doi: 10.1128/IAI.71.11.6620

99. O'Neil-Dunne I, Achur RN, Agbor-Enoh ST, Valiyaveettil M, Naik RS, Ockenhouse CF, et al. Gravidity-dependent production of antibodies that inhibit binding of *plasmodium falciparum*-infected erythrocytes to placental chondroitin sulfate proteoglycan during pregnancy. *Infect Immun.* (2001) 69:7487–92. doi: 10.1128/ IAI.69.12.7487-7492.2001

100. Singh N, Nagpal AC, Saxena A, Singh MP. Changing scenario of malaria in Central India, the replacement of *Plasmodium vivax* by *Plasmodium falciparum* (1986-2000). *Tropical Med Int Health.* (2004) 9:364–71. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3156.2003.01181.x

101. Kumari S, Garg N, Kumar A, Guru PKI, Ansari S, Anwar S, et al. Maternal and severe anaemia in delivering women is associated with risk of preterm and low birth weight: a cross sectional study from Jharkhand, India. *One Health*. (2019) 8:100098. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2019.100098

102. Moya-Alvarez V, Abellana R, Cot M. Pregnancy-associated malaria and malaria in infants: an old problem with present consequences. *Malar J*. (2014) 13:271. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-13-271

103. Park S, Nixon CE, Miller O, Choi NK, Kurtis JD, Friedman JF, et al. Impact of malaria in pregnancy on risk of malaria in young children: systematic review and metaanalyses. J Infect Dis. (2020) 222:538–50. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiaa139

104. Agbota G, Accrombessi M, Cottrell G, Martin-Prevel Y, Milet J, Ouedraogo S, et al. Increased risk of malaria during the first year of life in small-for-gestational-age infants: a longitudinal study in Benin. *J Infect Dis.* (2019) 219:1642–51. doi: 10.1093/infdis/jiy699

105. Olupot-Olupot P, Eregu EIE, Naizuli K, Ikiror J, Acom L, Burgoine K. Neonatal and congenital malaria: a case series in malaria endemic eastern Uganda. *Malar J*. (2018) 17:171. doi: 10.1186/s12936-018-2327-0

106. Danwang C, Bigna JJ, Nzalie RNT, Robert A. Epidemiology of clinical congenital and neonatal malaria in endemic settings: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Malar J.* (2020) 19:312. doi: 10.1186/s12936-020-03373-8

107. Ghosh SK, Rahi M. Malaria elimination in India—the way forward. J Vector Borne Dis. (2019) 56:32–40. doi: 10.4103/0972-9062.257771

108. Ministry of Health & Family Welfare (2016). National framework for malaria elimination, 2016–2030.

109. Rahi M, Sharma A. Malaria control initiatives that have the potential to be gamechangers in India's quest for malaria elimination. *Lancet Reg Health*\. (2022) 2:100009. doi: 10.1016/j.lansea.2022.04.005

110. Webster J, Mishra VK, Anvikar AR, Kuepfer I, Hoyt J, Bruce J, et al. Evaluation of implementation of intermittent screening and treatment for control of malaria in pregnancy in Jharkhand, India. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2020) 102:1343–50. doi: 10.4269/ ajtmh.19-0514

111. Raghavendra K, Chourasia MK, Swain DK, Bhatt RM, Uragayala S, Dutta GDP, et al. Monitoring of long-lasting insecticidal nets (LLINs) coverage versus utilization: a community-based survey in malaria endemic villages of Central India. *Malar J.* (2017) 16:647. doi: 10.1186/s12936-017-2117-0

112. Sundararajan R, Kalkonde Y, Gokhale C, Greenough PG, Bang A. Barriers to malaria control among marginalized tribal communities: a qualitative study. *PLoS One.* (2013) 8:e81966. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0081966

113. Department of He alth & Family Welfare (2012). Evaluation of use of long lasting insecticidal net (LLIN) by pregnant women under 'Mo Mashari' scheme and effectiveness of behavior change communication (BCC) messages. Odisha.

114. Jambulingam P, Gunasekaran K, Sahu S, Vijayakumar T. Insecticide treated mosquito nets for malaria control in India-experience from a tribal area on operational feasibility and uptake. *Mem Institut Oswaldo Cruz, Rio Jan.* (2008) 103:165–71. doi: 10.1590/s0074-02762008005000009

115. Wylie BJ, Hashmi AH, Singh N, Singh MP, Tuchman J, Hussain M, et al. Availability and utilization of malaria prevention strategies in pregnancy in eastern India. *BMC Public Health*. (2010) 10:557. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-10-557

116. Anvikar AR, Arora U, Sonal G, Mishra N, Shahi B, Savargaonkar D, et al. Antimalarial drug policy in India: past, present & future. *Indian J Med Res.* (2014) 139:205–15.

117. Pandey M, Rahi M, Sharma A. The Indian burden of malaria in pregnancy needs assessment. *Medicine*. (2021) 2:464–9. doi: 10.1016/j.medj.2021.04.017

118. Anvikar AR, Kuepfer I, Mishra V, Bruce J, Arya T, Mishra DR, et al. Efficacy of two artemisinin-based combinations for the treatment of malaria in pregnancy in India: a randomized controlled trial. *Malar J*. (2018) 17:246. doi: 10.1186/s12936-018-2393-3

119. Arya A, Kojom Foko LP, Chaudhry S, Sharma A, Singh V. Artemisinin-based combination therapy (ACT) and drug resistance molecular markers: a systematic review of clinical studies from two malaria endemic regions – India and sub-Saharan Africa. *Int J Parasitol Drugs Drug Resist.* (2021) 15:43–56. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpddr.2020.11.006

120. Chaturvedi R, Chhibber-Goel J, Verma I, Gopinathan S, Parvez S, Sharma A. Geographical spread and structural basis of sulfadoxine-pyrimethamine drug-resistant malaria parasites. *Int J Parasitol.* (2021a) 51:505–25. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2020.12.011

121. Chhibber-Goel J, Sharma A. Profiles of *Kelch* mutations in *plasmodium falciparum* across South Asia and their implications for tracking drug resistance. Int J Parasitol Drugs Drug Resist. (2019) 11:49–58. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpddr.2019.10.001

122. Ranjha R, Sharma A. Forest malaria: the prevailing obstacle for malaria control and elimination in India. *BMJ Glob Health.* (2021) 6:1–7. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-005391

123. Sharma RK, Thakor HG, Saha KB, Sonal GS, Dhariwal AC, Singh N. Malaria situation in India with special reference to tribal areas. *Indian J Med Res.* (2015) 142:537–45. doi: 10.4103/0971-5916.159510

124. Kotepui M, Masangkay FR, Kotepui KU, De Jesus Milanez G. Misidentification of *plasmodium vale* as *plasmodium vivax* malaria by a microscopic method: a metaanalysis of confirmed *P. ovale* cases. *Sci Rep.* (2020c) 10:21807. doi: 10.1038/ s41598-020-78691-7

125. Savargaonkar D, Shah N, das M, Srivastava B, Valecha N. *Plasmodium malariae* infection: a case of missed diagnosis. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2014) 51:149–51.

126. Groger M, Veletzky L, Lalremruata A, Cattaneo C, Mischlinger J, Zoleko RM, et al. Prospective clinical and molecular evaluation of potential *Plasmodium ovale curtisi* and wallikeri relapses in a high-transmission setting. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2019) 69:2119–26. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciz131

127. Kotepui M, Kotepui KU, Milanez GD, Masangkay FR. Global prevalence and mortality of severe *Plasmodium malariae* infection: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Malar J.* (2020a) 19:274. doi: 10.1186/s12936-020-03344-z

128. Kotepui M, Kotepui KU, Milanez GD, Masangkay FR. Severity and mortality of severe plasmodium ovale infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *PLoS One.* (2020b) 15:e0235014. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0235014

129. Mahittikorn A, Masangkay FR, Kotepui KU, Milanez GDJ, Kotepui M. Comparison of *plasmodium ovale curtisi* and *plasmodium ovale wallikeri* infections by a meta-analysis approach. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:6409. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-85398-w

130. Bousema T, Drakeley C. Epidemiology and infectivity of *plasmodium falciparum* and *plasmodium vivax* gametocytes in relation to malaria control and elimination. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2011) 24:377–410. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00051-10

131. Sattabongkot J, Tsuboi T, Zollner GE, Sirichaisinthop J, Cui L. *Plasmodium vivax* transmission: chances for control? *Trends Parasitol.* (2004) 20:192–8. doi: 10.1016/j. pt.2004.02.001

132. Unger HW, Ashorn P, Cates JE, Dewey KG, Rogerson SJ. Undernutrition and malaria in pregnancy—a dangerous dyad? *BMC Med.* (2016) 14:142. doi: 10.1186/ s12916-016-0695-2

133. Nema S, Singh A, Krishna S, Poriya R, Dubey S, Ali NA, et al. Unreported mixed *plasmodium* species infection may increase vivax malaria in India: a challenge for malaria elimination. *Trans R Soc Trop Med Hyg.* (2022) 116:2022. doi: 10.1093/trstmh/trac007

134. Singh US, Siwal N, Pande V, Das A. Can mixed parasite infections thwart targeted malaria elimination program in India? *Biomed Res Int.* (2017) 2017:2847548. doi: 10.1155/2017/2847548

135. Alemu A, Shiferaw Y, Addis Z, Mathewos B, Birhan W. Effect of malaria on HIV/ AIDS transmission and progression. *Parasit Vectors*. (2013) 6:18. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-6-18 136. Kwenti TE. Malaria and HIV coinfection in sub-Saharan Africa: prevalence, impact, and treatment strategies. *Res Rep Trop Med.* (2018) 9:123–36. doi: 10.2147/rrtm. s154501

137. Dini S, Douglas NM, Poespoprodjo JR, Kenangalem E, Sugiarto P, Plumb ID, et al. The risk of morbidity and mortality following recurrent malaria in Papua, Indonesia: a retrospective cohort study. *BMC Med.* (2020) 18:28. doi: 10.1186/s12916-020-1497-0

138. Price RN, Commons RJ, Battle KE, Thriemer K, Mendis K. *Plasmodium vivax* in the era of the shrinking *P. Falciparum* map. *Trends Parasitol.* (2020) 36:560–70. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2020.03.009

139. Luzzatto L, Nannelli C, Notaro R. Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase deficiency. Hematol Oncol Clin North Am. (2016) 30:373–93. doi: 10.1016/j.hoc.2015.11.006

140. Anvikar AR, Sahu P, Pradhan MM, Sharma S, Ahmed N, Yadav CP, et al. Active pharmacovigilance for primaquine radical cure of *plasmodium vivax* malaria in Odisha, India. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2022) 106:831–40. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.21-0816

141. Saravu K, Kumar R, Ashok H, Kundapura P, Kamath V, Kamath A, et al. Therapeutic assessment of chloroquine-primaquine combined regimen in adult cohort of *Plasmodium vivax* malaria from primary care centres in southwestern India. *PLoS One.* (2016) 11:e0157666. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0157666

142. Antonelli LR, Junqueira C, Vinetz JM, Golenbock DT, Ferreira MU, Gazzinelli RT. The immunology of *Plasmodium vivax* malaria. *Immunol Rev.* (2020) 293:163–89. doi: 10.1111/imr.12816

143. Lin E, Kiniboro B, Gray L, Dobbie S, Robinson L, Laumaea A, et al. Differential patterns of infection and disease with *P falciparum* and *P. vivax* in young Papua new Guinean children. *PLoS One*. (2010) 5:e9047. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009047

144. Michon P, Cole-Tobian JL, Dabod E, Schoepflin S, Igu J, Susapu M, et al. The risk of malarial infections and disease in Papua new Guinean children. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2007) 76:997–1008. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2007.76.997

145. Kojom Foko LP, Pande V, Singh V. Field performances of rapid diagnostic tests detecting human *plasmodium* species: a systematic review and meta-analysis in India, 1990-2020. *Diagnostics*. (2021b) 11:590. doi: 10.3390/diagnostics11040590

146. White NJ. Determinants of relapse periodicity in *Plasmodium vivax* malaria. *Malar J.* (2011) 10:297. doi: 10.1186/1475-2875-10-297

147. Kojom Foko LP, Narang G, Tamang S, Hawadak J, Jakhan J, Sharma A, et al. The spectrum of clinical biomarkers in severe malaria and new avenues for exploration. *Virulence.* (2022) 13:634–54. doi: 10.1080/21505594.2022.2056966

148. Longley RJ, White MT, Takashima E, Brewster J, Morita M, Harbers M, et al. Development and validation of serological markers for detecting recent *Plasmodium vivax* infection. *Nat Med.* (2020) 26:741–9. doi: 10.1038/s41591-020-0841-4

149. Poti KE, Sullivan DJ, Dondorp AM, Woodrow CJ. HRP2: transforming malaria diagnosis, but with caveats. *Trends Parasitol.* (2020) 36:112–26. doi: 10.1016/j.pt.2019.12.004

150. Kojom LP, Singh V. Prevalence of *plasmodium falciparum* field isolates with deletions in histidine-rich protein 2 and 3 genes in context with sub-Saharan Africa and India: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Malar J.* (2020) 19:46. doi: 10.1186/s12936-019-3090-6

151. Singh V, Kojom LP. Deletions in the *plasmodium falciparum* histidine-rich protein 2 gene: an emerging threat to the elimination of malaria in India. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2019) 56:85–6. doi: 10.1128/CMR.15.1.66-78.2002

152. Saito M, McGready R, Tinto H, Rouamba T, Mosha D, Rulisa S, et al. Pregnancy outcomes after first-trimester treatment with artemisinin derivatives versus non-artemisinin antimalarials: a systematic review and individual patient data meta-analysis. *Lancet.* (2023) 401:118–30. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)01881-5

153. Shibeshi W, Baye AM, Alemkere G, Engidawork E. Efficacy and safety of artemisinin-based combination therapy for the treatment of uncomplicated malaria in pregnant women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ther Clin Risk Manag.* (2021) 17:1353–70. doi: 10.2147/TCRM.S336771

154. Kojom Foko L, Ntoumba A, Nyabeyeu Nyabeyeu H, Wepnje GB, Tonga C, Lehman LG. Prevalence, patterns and predictors of self-medication with anti-malarial drugs among Cameroonian mothers during a recent illness episode. *J Med Biomed Sci.* (2018) 7:29–39. doi: 10.4314/jmbs.v7i1.4

155. Nayyar GML, Breman JG, Newton PN, Herrington J. Poor-quality antimalarial drugs in Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2012) 12:488–96. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(12)70064-6

Glossary

ACT	Artemisinin-based combination therapy
AL	Artemether + Lumefantrine
AM	Asymptomatic malaria
API	Annual parasite incidence
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
ARF	Acute renal failure
AS	Artesunate
СМ	Cerebral malaria
COVID-19	Coronavirus disease 2019
CQ	Chloroquine
DIC	Disseminated intravascular coagulation
G6PD	Glucose-6-phosphate dehydrogenase
HELLP	Hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, low platelet count
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
IFA	Indirect fluorescence antibody
IL	Interleukins
ІРТр	Intermittent preventive treatment during pregnancy
IRS	Indoor residual spraying
ISTp	Intermittent screening and treatment during pregnancy
ITN	Insecticide-treated net
IUGR	Intra-uterine growth retardation
LBW	Low birthweight
LDI	Low density infection
LLIN	Long lasting insecticide-treated net
LM	Light microscopy
MEF	Mefloquine

MiP	Malaria in pregnancy
n.a	Not applicable
NCM	Neonatal and congenital malaria
NVBDCP	National Vector Borne Disease Control Program
OR	Odds ratio
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
Pf	Plasmodium falciparum
Pk	Plasmodium knowlesi
Pm	Plasmodium malariae
Ро	Plasmodium ovale
Ρν	Plasmodium vivax
PCD	Passive case detection
pfhrp2	Plasmodium falciparum histidine rich protein 2 gene
QBC	Quantitative buffy coat
RBC	Red blood cell
RDT	Rapid diagnostic test
RR	Relative risk
SARS-CoV-2	Severe acute respiratory syndrome Coronavirus 2
SEA	South East Asia
SM	Severe malaria
SMA	Severe malarial anemia
SP	Sulfadoxine + Pyrimethamine
sSA	sub-Saharan Africa
TNF	Tumor necrosis factor
UM	Uncomplicated malaria
WHO	World Health Organization

Check for updates

OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Miguel Angel Garcia Bereguiain, University of the Americas, Ecuador

REVIEWED BY Vett Lloyd, Mount Allison University, Canada Alberto Orlando, Espiritu Santo University, Ecuador

*CORRESPONDENCE Erica Fellin ⊠ erica.fellin@mail.mcgill.ca

RECEIVED 01 February 2023 ACCEPTED 09 October 2023 PUBLISHED 03 November 2023

CITATION

Fellin E, Varin M and Millien V (2023) Risky business: human-related data is lacking from Lyme disease risk models. *Front. Public Health* 11:1113024. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2023.1113024

COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Fellin, Varin and Millien. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Risky business: human-related data is lacking from Lyme disease risk models

Erica Fellin^{1,2*}, Mathieu Varin³ and Virginie Millien^{1,2}

¹Department of Biology, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada, ²Redpath Museum, McGill University, Montréal, QC, Canada, ³Centre d'Enseignement et de Recherche en Foresterie (CERFO), Québec City, QC, Canada

Used as a communicative tool for risk management, risk maps provide a service to the public, conveying information that can raise risk awareness and encourage mitigation. Several studies have utilized risk maps to determine risks associated with the distribution of Borrelia burgdorferi, the causal agent of Lyme disease in North America and Europe, as this zoonotic disease can lead to severe symptoms. This literature review focused on the use of risk maps to model distributions of B. burgdorferi and its vector, the blacklegged tick (Ixodes scapularis), in North America to compare variables used to predict these spatial models. Data were compiled from the existing literature to determine which ecological, environmental, and anthropic (i.e., human focused) variables past research has considered influential to the risk level for Lyme disease. The frequency of these variables was examined and analyzed via a non-metric multidimensional scaling analysis to compare different map elements that may categorize the risk models performed. Environmental variables were found to be the most frequently used in risk spatial models, particularly temperature. It was found that there was a significantly dissimilar distribution of variables used within map elements across studies: Map Type, Map Distributions, and Map Scale. Within these map elements, few anthropic variables were considered, particularly in studies that modeled future risk, despite the objective of these models directly or indirectly focusing on public health intervention. Without including human-related factors considering these variables within risk map models, it is difficult to determine how reliable these risk maps truly are. Future researchers may be persuaded to improve disease risk models by taking this into consideration.

KEYWORDS

blacklegged ticks, data synthesis, human-related, Lyme disease, risk assessment, risk map

Introduction

Tick borne diseases are caused by pathogens transmitted by infected ticks to an uninfected host. As the climate warms, it becomes possible for ticks to have increased abundance, survival, and feeding activity, and to expand their geographic distribution northwards (1, 2). Human activities and their impacts on natural habitats are further altering the distribution of these disease vectors, and human-wildlife contacts are increasing through means of socio-demographics (globalization, urbanization, etc...) and public health systems [vector control and other health interventions (3)]. Due to the constant changes in the environment, it is challenging to assess the risks associated with these infections without predictive modeling. Many current and future scenario predictive risk maps have been developed to monitor zoonotic infections for public health interventions (4–7). Epidemiologic risk maps are effective visualization tools used to identify

geographical areas of high risk for disease transmission and potential future high-risk regions. Used as a communicative tool for risk management, these maps provide a service to the public, conveying information that can raise risk awareness and encourage mitigation strategies (8–10). Since climate and land use changes are constantly altering the dynamics between vector and host, continuous monitoring of the emergence and expansion of the disease vector is required. This is true of the spread of Lyme disease and other tick-borne diseases (2, 3).

In eastern North America, Lyme disease is typically caused by an infection of the spirochaete *Borrelia burgdorferi* via blacklegged ticks [*Ixodes scapularis* (11)]. In humans, the infection can result in a multisystem illness that substantially affects the individual's quality of life, if left untreated (12, 13). As a common and widespread disease (14–16) that can lead to severe conditions (17), effective communication tools for risk management of this infection are necessary.

Risk maps for Lyme disease in North America tend to focus on the impact climate change has on the distribution of blacklegged ticks (18-22), since these ectoparasites are vectors for *B. burgdorferi* (23) and their geographic range is increasing (1, 24). The geographic range of blacklegged ticks is heavily dependent on environmental variables such as temperature and precipitation (25–28). The geographical ranges of their hosts also play a major role (25). Blacklegged ticks require a single host for each life stage (29, 30), and will migrate with these hosts, such as small mammals, birds, and ruminants (31, 32).

Different variables have been considered to affect Lyme disease distribution. These include ecological variables related to blacklegged ticks [tick density, dispersion (33–35)] and their small mammal reservoir and migratory avian hosts (36, 37), as well as environmental variables such as temperature, humidity, and forest fragmentation (20, 38, 39). Recent risk map publications have adopted "One Health" approaches, which incorporate sociological, ecological, and biological knowledge into their research (40, 41). This approach aims to examine and integrate human-related or anthropic variables that may influence human health or risk (22, 42) including those variables beyond human demographics.

For instance, one may expect that human exposure and the risk of becoming infected by Lyme disease is also dependent on individual human behavior (e.g., knowledge, activity). As such, outdoor workers have been found to be more at risk for zoonotic diseases than those who are outdoors recreationally, due to their degree of exposure to the environment (43), and those with immune deficiencies may be more at risk for severe symptoms (44). Studies have included surveys of a population to gauge their knowledge on their risks to Lyme disease or tick infections (22, 42, 45, 46). Socio-economic status and ethnicity have also been found to play a role in Lyme disease risk (42, 47, 48). Knowing that not all individuals are equally at risk for being infected with diseases, including Lyme disease, it should be expected that studies in which Lyme disease risk maps are developed would include variables associated with human characteristics and behaviors. For these studies to be relevant to public health, variables associated with humans (i.e., social, economic, risk perception) should be taken into consideration, as these factors directly affect the risk posed to the public.

Here, we reviewed the literature to identify the variables past research has considered influential to the distribution of Lyme disease via blacklegged ticks in North America. Variables that researchers routinely included in risk models were examined, and those human variables that were often disregarded but may be informative were highlighted. By calling attention to the lack of human variables found in previous risk maps, future researchers may be persuaded to enhance models by including anthropic factors to improve disease risk prediction.

Methods

Collection of data

We focused on past studies that are comparable due to similarities in geography [same continent, overlapping tick populations (49, 50)], disease vector, and spirochaete strain (B. burgdorferi). For this reason, we focused on one tick vector (black-legged tick) which is endemic to eastern North America (17). On March 31, 2023, a descriptive literature review was conducted following methods by Paré and Kitsiou (51) using Google Scholar, PubMed, and CrossRef with the inclusion criteria terms: "Ixodes scapularis," "blacklegged ticks," "risk map" (exact phrase), "Lyme disease," "risk assessment," and "B. burgdorferi." This literature review concentrated on eastern North American (across Canada, the United States, and Mexico) risk assessments of Lyme disease transmitted by blacklegged ticks only. Geographical scale varied across studies, with some focusing on areas at the municipality, provincial/state, regional, or national scale. However, it should be noted that there are several risk assessments for Lyme disease concentrated in Europe and western North America where other tick species and spirochaete vectors can transmit Lyme disease (17, 20, 52). Only studies in which analyses included at least one risk map in their results was considered for this review, as we were specifically interested in comparing studies that produced risk map models to evaluate risk. We performed a systematic review following PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) guidelines (53). The initial search consisted of 145 studies published between 2000 and 2022 with the above criteria. Twenty studies were excluded, as they did not include a risk map in their results. Twelve more studies were excluded since their results were based outside of North America, another two studies were excluded as they focused on different vectors or bacteria and diseases and one article was removed from the literature review as it was retired and no longer considered relevant. Finally, 49 government reports, reviews, and theses were removed, leaving a total of 61 peerreviewed articles meeting our criteria to be included in analyses (Figure 1; Supplementary Table 1).

Once the literature review was completed, data on the models within the articles were collected. This included collecting information on the number of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used in the studies to develop risk map models. Frequency counts for the number of each ecological, environmental, and anthropic variable in a risk map model were recorded. Ecological variables included variables that influence or dictate the relationship between an organism and its environment



(i.e., tick occurrence, *B. burgdorferi* prevalence). Environmental variables included natural resource factors that define an ecosystem or habitat (i.e., temperature, humidity, land cover). Anthropic variables were defined as variables related to human beings (i.e., population density, sex, age). As Lyme disease is primarily transmitted via tick vectors (11), these observations do not provide any information on how the disease circulates within a human population. Further, certain predictor variables were simplified to allow comparisons more easily. For example, forest cover and vegetation index were categorized together, as were vapor pressure and humidity, elevation and altitude, human population size and density, and tick abundance and density (Supplementary Table 2).

Additional elements that characterized these risk models were collected and recorded, including the year of publication (Supplementary Table 3), the study's focal location (Country), Map Type (predictive vs. surveillance), the period of the study (year), the focal Scale of study (local, regional, national), the distribution of the study considered– vector (tick) vs. host (human or otherwise) vs. vector and host (both considered)—the Tick Surveillance methodology used for the model (passive vs. active vs. no tick surveillance), and the Tick Life Stage the tick data was based on (immature ticks vs. adult vs. all stages vs. no tick data; Table 1; Supplementary Table 4). Map Type (predictive vs. surveillance) was also included, whereby "predictive" maps referred to future predictive map models, as they predict future scenarios, while current predictive maps will be referred to as "surveillance" models, as they pertain to current risks.

Most risk map models are predictive as they use modeling to create these maps. However, some models are used to predict risks associated with potential future geographical ranges and

Map element		Anthropic	Environmental	Ecological
Мар Туре	Surveillance (38)	17	40	52
	Predictive (25)	3	62	30
Map distribution	Host (16)	14	24	19
	Vector (33)	5	62	38
	Host and vector (15)	2	16	26
Map scale	Local (38)	14	58	54
	Regional (17)	6	30	18
	National (9)	0	14	10
Tick life stage	Adult (3)	1	3	4
	Immature (12)	1	30	16
	All stages (32)	10	51	49
	No tick data (16)	8	18	13
Tick surveillance	Passive (18)	4	23	23
	Active (19)	5	27	26
	Active and passive (10)	0	15	16
	No surveillance data (18)	14	22	10
Country	Canada (27)	12	41	34
	USA (31)	5	55	45
	USA and Canada (3)	2	4	1
	USA and Mexico (1)	1	0	1
	USA, Canada, and Mexico (1)	0	2	1

TABLE 1 The cumulative number of anthropic, environmental, and ecological variables used across map elements in the reviewed studies.

The total number of variables for each variable group is the sum of those variables used across studies (n = 61). Numbers in brackets indicate the number of studies for that specific map element. USA, United States of America.

distributions of Lyme disease (18, 38, 39, 54, 55), while others are used to predict the current risk or prevalence (56–59). In addition, Map Scale was considered and categorized by whether the study focused their spatial scale by country (national), province or state (regional), or a smaller unit (e.g., census division; local).

Synthesis of data

A non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) analysis was performed in R [(60); version 1.4.1717] using the "*vegan*" package (version 2.6-2) to determine any significant differences in the frequency of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used across studies (n = 61), depending on their map elements: Map Type, Map Scale, Map Distribution, Year, Tick Life Stage, Map Surveillance method, and Country. Here, the NMDS, which is commonly used as an ordination for community ecology (61), was performed where "sites" were the individual studies, and "environmental data" were the map elements that influenced the abundance of "species" (ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables).

Linear models were then used to determine if groups of variables (ecological, environmental, and anthropic) differed in frequency across the different map elements identified by the NMDS. A binomial linear regression was conducted with Map Type as the response variable (surveillance vs. predictive) and the number of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used in the studies as predictors. An ordinal linear regression with the "logit" function and "equidistant" threshold was conducted (62) with Map Distribution (as a factor) as the response variable (host vs. vector. vs. host and vector), using the package "*ordinal*" [version 2019.10 (63)]. *Post-hoc* tests were conducted, and box plots were used to visualize variation within those map elements that were identified as significant by the NMDS.

Results

Comparatively, certain map elements were more frequently used across the studies assessed in this literature review. For Map Type, there were more predictive maps than surveillance. For Map Distribution, there were more vector (blacklegged tick) distributions considered than human or both human and tick distributions. Maps at the local scale were most common across studies. All stages for Tick Life Stage were most frequently considered vs. specific life stages. Both active and passive data for Tick Surveillance was most frequently included in risk map models and most studies in this assessment were based in the United States (Table 1). The most common variable included in



TABLE 2 Non-metric multidimensional scaling (NMDS) goodness of fit results of map elements classifying studies based on the frequency of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables incorporated in each risk map model (n = 61).

Variables	<i>r</i> ²	Pr (> <i>r</i>)
Year of publication	0.0421	0.289
Мар Туре	0.2268	0.001
Distribution	0.1221	0.012
Scale	0.0350	0.372
Tick life stage	0.0415	0.811
Tick surveillance	0.0352	0.653
Country	0.0468	0.730

Variables include Year of publication, Map Type, Map Distribution, Tick Life Stage, Country. Number of permutations = 999. Statistically significant results are in bold.

Lyme disease or blacklegged tick risk maps was temperature (n = 28 studies). Of the 10 most frequently used variables in these map models, six were environmental variables, four were ecological, and none were anthropic (Figure 2). The results of the NMDS analysis suggested that there were differences in the frequency of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used across Map Type and Map Distribution (Table 2; Figure 3; Supplementary Table 5).

When comparing Map Types (surveillance vs. predictive), the difference in use of environmental variables was statistically significant (p < 0.0173), with predictive maps using more of these types of variables. For both types of risk maps, anthropic variables were rarely used (Table 3; Figure 4A). Comparing across Map Distributions, studies that included host distributions in risk models considered more anthropic variables than studies that included vector distributions (p < 0.0152). Meanwhile studies that included both host and vector distributions tended to include more ecological variables (p < 0.0291; Table 4; Figure 4B). There was no significant difference across Year of publication, Surveillance Type used, Map Scale, Country of study origin, or Tick Life Stage focused on in studies (Table 2).

Discussion

Although there is a plethora of literature dedicated to identifying factors that can influence an individual's risk for Lyme disease via tick vectors directly and indirectly (48, 64, 65), risk maps that demonstrate the spatial breadth of these risks are less common. The results of this review have shown that within this subset of risk maps, there is no standardized risk score, or variable being used across studies. Temperature was the most common variable used in risk map models, however, it was included in less than half of the risk maps considered. There is extensive research on the relationship between blacklegged ticks and temperature, as it affects a tick's development, survival, and host-seeking behavior (19, 66, 67). These are significant factors that influence tick abundance and distribution, and therefore influence the distribution and incidence of Lyme disease (19, 68). In general, the most common variables included in Lyme disease (or blacklegged tick) risk map models were environmental and ecological, while anthropic were lacking. It should be noted that certain studies, such as Slatculescu et al. (69) considered many anthropic variables, including population density, walkability scores in an urban setting, median income, and drew conclusions about the contribution of an individual's variability on their Lyme disease risk, however, they did not express these results spatially in a risk map model. Similarly, several other ecological variables often studied and considered influential to Lyme disease and/or blacklegged tick distributions were rarely included in these risk map models. For instance, blacklegged tick distributions are affected by reservoir and migratory host distributions (36, 70) while Lyme disease distributions can be influenced by the genetic diversity of B. burgdorferi strains (49, 71). Without considering these variables within risk map models, it is difficult to determine how reliable these risk maps truly are.

Depending on the Map Type and Map Distribution used, studies significantly differed in the number of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used to produce risk maps. Studies that utilized different Map Types also significantly varied in their usage of environmental variables, where studies that produced predictive maps used this group of variables more often. Interestingly, predictive map studies also used anthropic variables less often. This suggests that when research focuses on future scenarios, they are reliant on how the environment may change, but do not consider human behavior. Although it is difficult to assess future trends in human behavior, it is still possible to include anthropic variables such as socio-economic status and demographic information (22) to gain a better understanding of the patterns in human attributes that could influence their risk for Lyme disease.

Across Map Distribution types, studies that included host distributions in their risk maps had more anthropic variables than other distributions (vector only or host and vector distributions). Risk maps that included vector only or both host and vector



TABLE 3 General linear model results for Map Type \sim anthropic + environmental + ecological, where family = "binomial" and the independent variables are counts (the number of variables in each category).

Variable type	Estimate	Standard error	z value	Pr (> z)
(Intercept)	0.5878	0.8051	0.730	0.4653
Anthropic	0.7311	0.6579	1.111	0.2665
Environmental	-0.6633	0.2129	-3.115	0.0018
Ecological	0.6571	0.5070	1.296	0.1950

Null deviance = 81.772 on 60 degrees of freedom, residual deviance = 64.676 on 57 degrees of freedom. AIC: 72.676, n = 61. Statistically significant results are in bold.

distributions tended to include more ecological variables. As most host distributions in these risk map models were human distributions, it is logical for human attributed variables to be included in these models. Meanwhile, research that incorporated both host and vector distributions, or only vector distributions may be more likely to include variables from the environment, as they are less directly focused on Lyme disease risk for humans specifically. Rather, they use the result of their risk map model that included disease vector distributions to indirectly make conclusions for public health risks (18, 19, 42).

This review was limited to research that included risk maps as results within a study, excluding studies that included maps within introductions and methods for context. In some cases, a single variable (e.g., tick distribution) was used as a proxy for Lyme disease distribution and correlated with environmental or humanrelated data [e.g., forest cover, urban development; (36, 72)]. Other studies considered several variables, but these distribution models were not applied to develop risk maps (38, 73). It should also be noted that despite only 20 incidences of human-related variables being included in these studies' models overall (Table 5), more recent research has begun to consider general public influence within their studies by including citizen science or "Google trends" to determine blacklegged tick and Lyme disease distributions (37, 89, 90). Other human demographic data can be acquired through public government agencies such as population densities and household incomes (69, 74–76). More personal and individualistic information can be acquired via questionnaire surveys (22, 42, 45, 46).

There is a clear understanding that environmental factors heavily influence the distribution of diseases and their vectors (21, 52, 77, 78). However, very few studies consider that human related factors may also influence these distributions (22, 69). Further, human population growth, urbanization, and travel can affect vector-borne distributions (3), particularly when human movement or land development influences animal movement, effectively altering the host dynamics of tick vectors (79, 80). This is concerning, as the risks related to Lyme disease directly affect human health, and human behavior can affect infection rates (46, 69, 81, 82). Predictive Map Type risk maps especially ignore how human-related factors may influence Lyme disease risks for humans, and this may be due to studies focusing on *B. burgdorferi* distribution rather than infection rates.

Overall, it was found that risk maps that focused on Lyme disease and blacklegged tick distributions differed across the types of variables used according to the study goal and intended use of the map. Because of these inconsistencies, it is difficult



FIGURE 4

Frequency of ecological, environmental, and anthropic variables used across studies (n = 61) for varying map elements: (A) Map Types—predictive (future scenario; n = 24) and surveillance (current distribution; n = 37), and (B) Map Distributions—host (n = 15), vector (n = 15), vector (n = 32), or both vector and host (V & H; n = 14).

TABLE 4 Cumulative link model results for map distribution \sim anthropic + environmental + ecological, where link = "logit," threshold = "equidistant" and the independent variables are counts (the number of variables in each category).

Variable type	Estimate	Standard error	z value	Pr (> z)
Anthropic	-1.7432	0.6016	-2.897	0.00376
Environmental	-0.3410	0.1790	-1.905	0.05681
Ecological	1.0577	0.4504	2.348	0.01887
Threshold- coefficients				
Threshold	-1.1201	0.7432	-1.507	_
Spacing	2.9951	0.4817	5.657	-

logLik = -51.82, AIC = 113.64, n = 61. Statistically significant results are in bold.

to compare and validate these models to accurately forecast Lyme disease risks geographically or temporally. At the same time, geospatial data related to anthropic factors can be difficult to acquire. Our results bring attention to the fact that there is no consistent "risk" variable or assessment across studies, likely because these studies tend to vary in specific objectives, despite the general intent of public health intervention. For this reason, risk maps should be scrutinized more thoroughly. As our knowledge on blacklegged ticks and B. burgdorferi increases, we must continually re-assess how risk models have predicted their geographic distributions over time. Differences in tick exposure patterns and Lyme disease risk is likely across regions and can depend on the scale and socioeconomic factors included in the assessment (69). Future studies should consider improvements for forecasting these risks, as well as exploring risk assessments beyond comparison of blacklegged ticks and Lyme disease. Expanding the scope to other tick-borne diseases or coinfections of other bacteria including Babesia and Anaplasma TABLE 5 List of peer reviewed articles included in the literature review that incorporated anthropic variables in their risk assessments where a map was produced as a result.

Paper ID	Anthropic variables used	References	
MP9	- Human population density	Lieske and Lloyd (74)	
MP15	- Human population size per county	Bisanzio et al. (76)	
MP18	- Household income	Little et al. (75)	
MS3	- Age and sex of Lyme disease patients	Tutt-Guerette et al. (84)	
MS8	 Human population density Hiking behavior and Lyme awareness survey 	Tadiri et al. (45)	
MS12	- Human population size per census division	Gasmi et al. (85)	
MS17	 "Lifestyle" categories based on surveys 	Ozdenerol et al. (42)	
MS18	 Sociobehaviours; preventive behavior score, knowledge score, and risk perception score Human population density 	Bouchard et al. (22)	
MS21	 Behavioral risk factors Reported tick exposure (by survey respondents) 	Aenishaenslin et al. (46)	
MS25	- Human population density	Self et al. (86)	
MS26	- Human population density	Glavanakov et al. (87)	
MS28	 Human population density Google trends for Lyme disease focused key words 	Kutera et al. (88)	
MS35	- Human population density	Diuk-Wasser et al. (36)	
MS36	- Human population density	Larsen et al. (72)	

Specific anthropic variables are described below along with their source.

sp. (16, 83) may demonstrate further patterns with spatial risk models.

Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

Author contributions

EF: conceptualization, methodology, formal analysis, investigation, data curation, writing—original draft, visualization, and project administration. MV: resources, writing—review and editing, project administration, and funding acquisition. VM: conceptualization, resources, writing—review and editing, supervision, project administration, and funding acquisition. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Funding

This project was funded through a Research Grant from the Institut Robert Sauvé en Santé du Travail (IRSST) Competitive Research Grant 2019-0001. VM was supported by funds from a NSERC Discovery Grant RGPIN-2017-03839.

Acknowledgments

We thank G. Joanisse and B. Chalghaf as well as the Institut Robert Sauvé en Santé du Travail (IRSST) for their support.

Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpubh.2023. 1113024/full#supplementary-material

References

1. Sonenshine DE. Range expansion of tick disease vectors in North America: implications for spread of tick-borne disease. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2018) 15:478. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15030478

2. Rocklöv J, Dubrow R. Climate change: an enduring challenge for vector-borne disease prevention and control. *Nat Immunol.* (2020) 21:479–83. doi: 10.1038/s41590-020-0648-y

3. Chala B, Hamde F. Emerging and re-emerging vector-borne infectious diseases and the challenges for control: a review. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:715759. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.715759

4. Fichet-Calvet E, Rogers DJ. Risk maps of lassa fever in West Africa. *PLoS Negl Trop Dis.* (2009) 3:e388. doi: 10.1371/journal.pntd.0000388

5. Zhao X, Thanapongtharm W, Lawawirojwong S, Wei C, Tang Y, Zhou Y, et al. Malaria risk map using spatial multi-criteria decision analysis along yunnan border during the pre-elimination period. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2020) 103:793–809. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.19-0854

6. García-Carrasco JM, Muñoz AR, Olivero J, Segura M, Real R. Mapping the risk for west nile virus transmission, Africa. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2022) 28:777-85. doi: 10.3201/eid2804.211103

7. Minigan JN, Hager HA, Peregrine AS, Newman JA. Current and potential future distribution of the American dog tick (Dermacentor variabilis, Say) in North America. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* (2018) 9:354–62. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2017.11.012

8. Dransch D, Rotzoll H, Poser K. The contribution of maps to the challenges of risk communication to the public. *Int J Digit Earth.* (2010) 3:292–311. doi: 10.1080/17538941003774668

9. Waller LA, Carlin BP. Disease mapping. *Chapman Hall CRC Handb Mod Stat Methods*. (2010) 2010:217–43. doi: 10.1201/9781420072884-c14

10. Jordan S, Jorgensen L, Mitterhofer H. Performing risk and the project: risk maps as mediating instruments. *Manag Account Res.* (2013) 24:156–74. doi: 10.1016/j.mar.2013.04.009

11. Thompson C, Spielman A, Krause PJ. Coinfecting deer-associated zoonoses: Lyme disease, babesiosis, and ehrlichiosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2001) 33:676-85. doi: 10.1086/322681

12. Wormser GP, Dattwyler RJ, Shapiro ED, Halperin JJ, Steere AC, Klempner MS, et al. The clinical assessment, treatment, and prevention of Lyme disease, human granulocytic anaplasmosis, and babesiosis: clinical practice guidelines by the infectious diseases society of America. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2006) 43:1089–134. doi: 10.1086/508667

13. Aucott JN, Yang T, Yoon I, Powell D, Geller SA, Rebman AW, et al. Risk of post-treatment Lyme disease in patients with ideally-treated early Lyme disease: a prospective cohort study. *Int J Infect Dis.* (2022) 116:230–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ijid.2022.01.033

14. Gray JS, Kirstein F, Robertson JN, Stein J, Kahl O. *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato* in *Ixodes ricinus* ticks and rodents in a recreational park in south-western Ireland. *Exp Appl Acarol.* (1999) 23:717–29.

15. Steere AC, Coburn J, Glickstein L. The emergence of Lyme disease. J Clin Invest. (2004) 113:1093–101. doi: 10.1172/JCI21681

16. Schwartz AM, Hinckley AF, Mead PS, Hook SA, Kugeler KJ. Surveillance for Lyme disease-United States, 2008–2015. *MMWR Surveill Summ.* (2017) 66:1–12. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.ss6622a1

17. Rosenberg R, Lindsey NP, Fischer M, Gregory CJ, Hinckley AF, Mead PS, et al. Vital Signs: trends in reported vectorborne disease case-United States and territories, 2004-2016. *NMWR*. (2018) 67:496–501. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6717e1

18. Leighton PA, Koffl JK, Pelcat Y, Lindsay LR, Ogden NH. Predicting the speed of tick invasion: an empirical model of range expansion for the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis* in Canada. *J App Ecol.* (2012) 49:457–64. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2664.2012.02112.x

19. Eisen RJ, Eisen L, Ogden NH, Beard CB. Linkages of weather and climate with *Ixodes scapularis* and *Ixodes pacificus* (Acari: Ixodidae), enzootic transmission of *Borrelia burgdorferi*, and Lyme disease in North America. *J Med Entomol.* (2015) 53:250–61. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjv199

20. Li S, Gilbert L, Harrison PA, Rounsevell MDA. Modelling the seasonality of lyme disease risk and the potential impacts of a warming climate within the heterogenous landscapes of Scotland. *J R Soc Interface*. (2016) 13:2016140. doi: 10.1098/rsif.2016.0140

21. Ginsberg HS, Albert M, Acevedo L, Dyer MC, Arsnoe IM, Tsao JL, et al. Environmental factors affecting survival of immature *Ixodes scapularis* and implications for geographical distribution of Lyme disease: the climate/behavior hypothesis. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0168723. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0168723

22. Bouchard C, Aenishaenslin C, Rees EE, Koffi JK, Pelcat Y, Ripoche M, et al. Integrated social-behavioral and ecological risk maps to prioritize local public health responses to Lyme disease. *Environ Health Perspect.* (2018) 15:1048. doi: 10.1289/EHP1943

23. Ostfeld R, Miller M, Hazler K. Causes and consequences of tick (*Ixodes scapularis*) burdens on white-footed mice (*Peromyscus leucopus*). J Mamm. (1996) 77:166–273. doi: 10.2307/1382727

24. Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Morshed M, Sockett PN, Artsob H. The emergence of Lyme disease in Canada. *CMAJ.* (2009) 180:1221–4. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.080148

25. Simon JA, Marrotte RR, Desrosiers N, Fiset J, Gaitan J, Gonzalez A, et al. Climate change and habitat fragmentation drive the occurrence of *Borrelia burgdorferi*, the agent of Lyme disease, at the northeastern limit of its distribution. *Evol Appl.* (2014) 7:750–64. doi: 10.1111/eva.12165

26. Burtis JC, Sullivan P, Levi T, Oggenfuss K, Fahey TJ, Ostfeld RS, et al. The impact of temperature and precipitation on blacklegged tick activity and Lyme disease incidence in endemic and emerging regions. *Parasit Vectors*. (2016) 9:606. doi: 10.1186/s13071-016-1894-6

27. Clow K, Weese M, Rousseau JS, Jardine JCM. Microbiota of field-collected *Ixodes scapularis* and *Dermacentor variabilis* from eastern and southern Ontario, Canada. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* (2018) 9:235–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2017.09.009

28. McClure M, Diuk-Wasser MA. Climate impacts on blacklegged tick host-seeking behavior. *Int J Parasit.* (2019) 49:37–47. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2018.08.005

29. Keirans J, Hutcheson JH, Durden L, Klompen JSH. *Ixodes* (Ixodes) *scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae): redescription of all active stages, distribution, hosts, geographical variation, and medical and veterinary importance. *J Med Entomol.* (1996) 33:297–318. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/33.3.297

30. Halsey S, Allan B, Miller J. The role of *Ixodes scapularis, Borrelia burgdorferi* and wildlife hosts in Lyme disease prevalence: a quantitative review. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* (2018) 9:1103–14. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2018.04.006

31. Khatchikian C, Prusinski M, Stone M, Backenson PB, Wang I, Foley E, et al. Recent and rapid population growth and range expansion of the Lyme disease tick vector, *Ixodes scapularis*, in North America. *Evolution*. (2015) 69:1678–89. doi: 10.1111/evo.12690

32. Kada S, McCoy K, Boulinier T. Impact of life stage-dependent dispersal on the colonization dynamics of host patches by ticks and tick-borne infectious agents. *Parasit Vectors*. (2017) 10:375. doi: 10.1186/s13071-017-2261-y

33. Ogden NH, Bigras-Poulin M, O'Callaghan CJ, Barker IK, Lindsay LR, Maarouf A, et al. A dynamic population model to investigate effects of climate on geographic range and seasonality of the tick *Ixodes scapularis*. *Int J Parasitol*. (2005) 35:375–89. doi: 10.1016/j.ijpara.2004.12.013

34. Pepin KM, Eisen RJ, Mead PS, Piesman J, Fish D, Hoen AG, et al. Geographic variation in the relationship between human lyme disease incidence and density of infected host-seeking *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs in the Eastern United States. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2012) 86:1062–71. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2012.11-0630

35. Ogden NH, Radojevic M, Wu X, Duvvuri VR, Leighton PA, Wu J, et al. Estimated effects of projected climate change on the basic reproductive number of the lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis*. *Environ Health Perspect*. (2014) 631–8. doi: 10.1289/ehp.1307799

36. Diuk-Wasser MA, VanAcker MC, Fernandez MP. Impact of land use changes and habitat fragmentation on the eco-epidemiology of tick-borne diseases. *J Med Entomol.* (2021) 58:1546–64. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjaa209

37. Cull B. Monitoring trends in distribution and seasonality of medically important ticks in North America using online crowdsourced records from iNaturalist. *Insects.* (2022) 13:404. doi: 10.3390/insects13050404

38. Ogden NH, St-Onge L, Barker IK, Brazeau S, Bigras-Poulin M, Charron DF, et al. Risk maps for range expansion of the Lyme disease vector, *Ixodes scapularis*, in Canada now and with climate change. *Int J Health Geogr.* (2008) 7:1–5. doi: 10.1186/1476-072X-7-24

39. Kotchi SO, Bouchard C, Brazeau S, Ogden NH. Earth observation-informed risk maps of the Lyme disease vector *Ixodes scapularis* in Central and Eastern Canada. *Remote Sens.* (2021) 3:524–44. doi: 10.3390/rs13030524

40. Kalani TJ, South A, Talmadge C, Leibler J, Whittier C, Rosenbaum M, et al. One map: using geospatial analysis to understand lead exposure across humans, animals, and the environment in an urban US city. One *Health*. (2021) 13:100341. doi: 10.1016/j.onehlt.2021.100341

41. Bouchard C, Dumas A, Baron G, Bowser N, Leighton PA, Lindsay LR, et al. Integrated human behavior and tick risk maps to prioritize Lyme disease interventions using a 'One Health' approach. *Tick Tick Borne Dis.* (2023) 14:102083. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2022.102083

42. Ozdenerol E, Bingham-Byrne RM, Seboly JD. The effects of lifestyle on the risk of lyme disease in the united states: evaluation of market segmentation systems in prevention and control strategies. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:12883. doi: 10.3390/ijerph182412883

43. Piacentino JD, Schwartz BS. Occupational risk of Lyme disease: an epidemiological review. Occup Environ Med. (2002) 59:75-84. doi: 10.1136/oem.59.2.75

44. Gutierrez-Hoffmann MG, O'Meally RN, Cole RN, Tiniakou E, Darrah E, Soloski MJ, et al. *Borrelia burgdorferi*-induced changes in the class II self-immunopeptidome displayed on HLA-DR molecules expressed by dendritic cells. *Front Med.* (2020) 7:568. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2020.00568

45. Tadiri C, Ainsworth N, De Bono N, Gavin S, Li J, Milbers K, et al. Assessment of human health risk for Lyme disease in a peri urban park in southern Quebec. *McGill Sci Undergrad Res J.* (2011) 6:56–61. doi: 10.26443/msurj.v6i1.96

46. Aenishaenslin C, Charland K, Bowser N, Perez-Trejo E, Baron G, Milord F, et al. Behavioral risk factors associated with reported tick exposure in a Lyme disease high incidence region in Canada. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:807. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13222-9

47. Fix AD, Peña CA, Strickland T. Racial differences in reported Lyme disease incidence. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2000) 152:756–9. doi: 10.1093/aje/152.8.756

48. Dong Y, Zhou G, Cao W, Xu X, Zhang Y, Ji Z, et al. Global seroprevalence and sociodemographic characteristics of *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato* in human populations: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *BMJ Global Health.* (2022) 7:e007744. doi: 10.1136/bmjgh-2021-007744

49. Xu G, Wielstra B, Rich SM. Northern and southern blacklegged (deer) ticks are genetically distinct with different histories and Lyme spirochete infection rates. *Sci Rep.* (2020) 10:10289. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-67259-0

50. Ginsberg HS, Hickling GJ, Burke RL, Ogden NH, Beati L, LeBrun RA, et al. Why Lyme disease is common in the northern US, but rare in the south: the roles of host choice, host-seeking behavior, and tick density. *PLoS Biol.* (2021) 19:e3001396. doi: 10.1371/journal.pbio.3001396

51. Paré G, Kitsiou S. Chapter 9: Methods for literature reviews. In: Lau F, Kuziemsky C, editors. *Handbook of eHealth Evaluation: An Evidence-based Approach*. Victoria, BC: University of Victoria (2017). Available online at: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK481583/ (accessed August 1, 2023).

52. Kjaer LJ, Soleng A, Edgar KS, Lindstedt HEH, Paulsen KM, Andreassen AK, et al. Predicting and mapping human risk of exposure to *Ixodes ricinus* nymphs using climatic and environmental data, Denmark, Norway and Sweden, 2016. *Euro Surveill*. (2019) 24:1800101. doi: 10.2807/1560-7917.ES.2019.24.9.1800101

53. Moher D, Shamseer L, Clarke M, Ghersi D, Liberati A, Petticrew M, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic review and meta-analysis protocols (PRISMA-P) 2015 statement. *Syst Rev.* (2015) 4:1. doi: 10.1186/2046-4053-4-1

54. Clow KM, Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Michel P, Pearl DL, Jardine CM. Distribution of ticks and the risk of lyme disease and other tick-borne pathogens of public health significance in Ontario, Canada. *Vector Borne Zoonotic Dis.* (2016) 16:215–22. doi: 10.1089/vbz.2015.1890

55. Clow KM, Leighton PA, Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Michel P, Pearl DL, et al. Northward range expansion of Ixodes scapularis evident over a short timescale in Ontario, Canada. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12: e0189393. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0189393

56. Koffi JK, Leighton PA, Pelcat Y, Trudel L, Lindsay LR, Milord F, et al. Passive surveillance for *I. scapularis* ticks: enhanced analysis for early detection of emerging Lyme disease risk. *J Med Entomol.* (2012) 49:400–9. doi: 10.1603/ME11210

57. Tokarska-Rodak M, Plewik D, Michalski AJ, Kolodziej M, Melgies A, Panczuk A, et al. Serological surveillance of vector-borne and zoonotic diseases among hunters in eastern Poland. *J Vector Borne Dis.* (2016) 53:355–61.

58. Gasmi S, Ogden NH, Lindsay LR, Burns S, Fleming S, Badcock J, et al. Surveillance for Lyme disease in Canada: 2009-2015. *Can Commun Dis Rep.* (2017) 43:194–9. doi: 10.14745/ccdr.v43i10a01

59. Chilton NB, Curry PS, Lindsay LR, Rochon K, Lysyk TJ, Dergousoff SJ, et al. Passive and active surveillance for *Ixodes scapularis* (Acari: Ixodidae) in Saskatchewan, Canada. *J Med Entomol.* (2020) 57:156–63. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjz155

60. R Studio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC (2021). Available online at: http://www.rstudio.com/ (accessed August 12, 2023).

61. Oksanen J, Blanchet FG, Friendly M, Kindt R, Legendre P, McGlinn D, et al. *vegan: Community Ecology Package. R package version 2.5-7.* (2020). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=vegan (accessed August 12, 2023).

62. Guisan A, Harrell FE. Ordinal response regression models in ecology. J Veg Sci. (2000) 11:617–26. doi: 10.2307/3236568

63. Christensen RHB. Ordinal - Regression Models for Ordinal Data. R package version 2019.12-10. (2019). Available online at: https://CRAN.R-project.org/package=ordinal (accessed August 12, 2023).

64. Fischhoff IR, Keesing F, Ostfeld RS. Risk factors for bites and diseases associated with black-legged ticks: a meta-analysis. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2019) 188:1742–50. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwz130

65. Sharareh N, Behler RP, Roome AB, Shepherd J, Garruto RM, Sabounchi NS, et al. Risk factors of Lyme disease: an intersection of environmental ecology and systems science. *Healthcare*. (2019) 7:66. doi: 10.3390/healthcare7020066

66. Diuk-Wasser MA, Gatewood AG, Cortinas MR, Yaremych-Hamer S, Tsao J, Kitron U, et al. Spatiotemporal patterns of host-seeking *Ixodes scapularis* nymphs (Acari: Ixodidae) in the United States. *J Med Entomol.* (2006) 43:166–76. doi: 10.1093/jmedent/43.2.166

67. Gray JS, Dautel H, Estrada-Pena A, Kahl O, Lindgren E. Effects of climate change on ticks and tick-borne diseases in Europe. *Interdis Perspect Infect Dis.* (2009) 2009:1–12. doi: 10.1155/2009/5 93232

68. Endo A, Amarasekare P. Predicting the spread of vector-borne diseases in a warming world. *Front Ecol Evol.* (2022) 10:758277. doi: 10.3389/fevo.2022.758277

69. Slatculescu AM, Duguay C, Ogden NH, Sander B, Desjardins M, William Cameron D, et al. Spatiotemporal trends and socioecological factors associated with Lyme disease in eastern Ontario, Canada from 2010-2017. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:736. doi: 10.1186/s12889-022-13167-z

70. Talbot B, Slatculescu A, Thickstun CR, Koffi JK, Leighton PA, McKay R, et al. Landscape determinants of density of blacklegged ticks, vectors of Lyme disease, at the northern edge of their distribution in Canada. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:16652. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-50858-x

71. Feria-Arroyo TP, Castro-Arellano I, Gordillo-Perez G, Cavazos AL, Vargas-Sandoval M, Grover A, et al. Implications of climate change on the distribution of the tick vector *Ixodes scapularis* and risk for Lyme disease in the Texs-Mexico transboundary region. *Parasit Vectors*. (2014) 7:199. doi: 10.1186/1756-3305-7-199

72. Larsen AE, MacDonald AJ, Plantinga AJ. Lyme disease risk influences human settlement in the wildland-urban interface: evidence from a longitudinal analysis of counties in the Northeastern United States. *Am J Trop Med Hyg.* (2014) 91:747–55. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.14-0181

73. Baldwin H, Landesman WJ, Borgmann-Winter B, Allen D. A geographic information system approach to map tick exposure risk at a scale for public health intervention. *J Med Entomol.* (2022) 59:162–72. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjab169

74. Lieske DJ, Lloyd VK. Combining public participatory surveillance and occupancy modelling to predict the distributional response of *Ixodes scapularis* to climate change. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* (2018) 9:695–706. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2018.01.018

75. Little EAH, Anderson JF, StaXord III KC, Eisen L, Eisen RJ, Molaei G. Predicting spatiotemporal patterns of Lyme disease incidence from passively collected surveillance data for *Borrelia burgdorferi sensu lato*-infected *Lxodes scapularis* ticks. *Ticks Tick Borne Dis.* (2019) 10:970–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ttbdis.2019. 04.010

76. Bisanzio D, Fernandez MP, Martello E, Reithinger R, Diuk-Wasser MA. Current and future spatiotemporal patterns of Lyme disease reporting in the Northeastern United States. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e200319. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.0319

77. Finch C, Al-Damluji MS, Krause PJ, Niccolai L, Steeves T, Folsom O'Keefe C, et al. Integrated assessment of behavioral and environmental risk factors for Lyme disease infection on Block Island, Rhode Island. *PLoS ONE.* (2014) 9:e84758. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0084758

78. Eisen L, Eisen RJ. Critical evaluation of the linkage between tick-based risk measures and the occurrence of Lyme Disease cases. *J Med Entomol.* (2018) 53:1050–62. doi: 10.1093/jme/tjw092

79. Fèvre EM, Bronsvoort BM, Hamilton KA, Cleaveland S. Animal movements and the spread of infectious diseases. *Trends Microbiol.* (2006) 14:125–31. doi: 10.1016/j.tim.2006.01.004

80. Muehlenbein MP. Human-wildlife contact and emerging infectious diseases. *Hum.-Environ Interact.* (2012) 1:79–94. doi: 10.1007/978-94-007-4780-7_4

81. MacDonald AJ, Larsen AE, Plantinga AJ. Missing the people for the trees: identifying coupled natural-human system feedbacks driving the ecology of Lyme disease. *J Appl Ecol.* (2019) 56:354–64. doi: 10.1111/1365-2664.13289

82. Telford S. *Human Behaviour Trumps Entomological Risk*. CABI Climate Change Series. Wallingford: CABI International. doi: 10.1079/9781789249637.0040

83. Nelder MP, Russell CB, Sheehan NJ, Sander B, Moore S, Li Y, et al. Human pathogens associated with the blacklegged tick *Ixodes scapularis*: a systematic review. *Parasit Vectors*. (2016) 9:265. doi: 10.1186/s13071-016-1529-y

84. Tutt-Guerette M, Yuan M, Szaroz D, McKinnon B, Kestens Y, Guillot C, et al. Modelling spatiotemporal patterns of Lyme disease emergence in Quebec. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:9669. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18189669

85. Gasmi S, Ogden NH, Ripoche M, Leighton PA, Lindsay RL, Nelder MP, et al. Detection of municipalities at-risk of Lyme disease using passive surveillance of *Ixodes scapularis* as an early signal: a province specific indicator in Canada. *PLoS ONE.* (2019) 14:e0212637. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0212637

86. Self SCW, Liu Y, Nordone SK, Yabsley MJ, Walden HS, Lund RB, et al. Canine vector-borne disease: mapping and the accuracy of forecasting using big data from the veterinary community. *Anim Health Res Rev.* (2019) 20:47–60. doi: 10.1017/S1466252319000045

87. Glavanakov S, White DJ, Caraco T, Lapenis A, Robinson GR, Szymanski BK, et al. Lyme disease in New York State: spatial pattern at a regional scale. *AM J Trop Med Hyg.* (2001) 65:538–45. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.2001.65.538

88. Kutera M, Berke O, Sobkowich K. Spatial epidemiological analysis of Lyme disease in southern Ontario utilizing Google Trends searches. *EHR.* (2022) 64:105–10. doi: 10.5864/d2021-025

89. Porter WT, Motyka PJ, Wachara J, Barrand ZA, Hmood Z, McLaughlin M, et al. Citizen science informs human-tick exposure in the Northeastern United States. *Int J Health Geogr.* (2019) 18: 9. doi: 10.1186/s12942-019-0173-0

90. Hart CE, Bhaskar JR, Reynolds E, Hermance M, Earl M, Mahoney M, et al. Community engaged tick surveillance and tickMAP as a public health tool to track the emergence of ticks and tick-borne diseases in New York. *PLOS Global Public Health.* (2022) 2:e0000215. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgph.0000215

Frontiers in **Public Health**

Explores and addresses today's fast-moving healthcare challenges

One of the most cited journals in its field, which promotes discussion around inter-sectoral public climate change, transportation, environmental change and even species diversity.

Discover the latest Research Topics



Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland

Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00



